
Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 1 

 
AG E N D A 

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, September 19, 2023 

6:00 PM 
 

SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD ROOM - 1231 ADDISON STREET, BERKELEY, CA 94702 
 

TELECONFERENCE LOCATION - 1404 LE ROY AVE, BERKELEY 94708 
 

JESSE ARREGUIN, MAYOR 
Councilmembers: 

DISTRICT 1 – RASHI KESARWANI  DISTRICT 5 – SOPHIE HAHN 
DISTRICT 2 – TERRY TAPLIN  DISTRICT 6 – SUSAN WENGRAF 
DISTRICT 3 – BEN BARTLETT  DISTRICT 7 – RIGEL ROBINSON 
DISTRICT 4 – KATE HARRISON  DISTRICT 8 – MARK HUMBERT 

 
This meeting will be conducted in a hybrid model with both in-person attendance and virtual participation. For in-
person attendees, face coverings or masks that cover both the nose and the mouth are encouraged. If you are 
feeling sick, please do not attend the meeting in person. 
 
Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable B-TV (Channel 33) and via internet 
accessible video stream at http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244. 
 
Remote participation by the public is available through Zoom.  To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, 
Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please use this URL: https://cityofberkeley-
info.zoomgov.com/j/1609353651  If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop 
down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  To request to speak, use the “raise 
hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the screen.  To join by phone: Dial 1-669-254-5252 or 1-833-568-8864 
(Toll Free) and enter Meeting ID: 160 935 3651 If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the 
agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.  
 
Please be mindful that the meeting will be recorded and all rules of procedure and decorum apply for in-person 
attendees and those participating by teleconference or videoconference. 
 
To submit a written communication for the City Council’s consideration and inclusion in the public record, email 
council@berkeleyca.gov. 
 
This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953 and 
applicable Executive Orders as issued by the Governor that are currently in effect. Any member of the public may 
attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 
981-6900. The City Council may take action related to any subject listed on the Agenda. Meetings will adjourn at 
11:00 p.m. - any items outstanding at that time will be carried over to a date/time to be specified. 

  

Page 1

http://berkeley.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?publish_id=1244
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1609353651
https://cityofberkeley-info.zoomgov.com/j/1609353651
mailto:council@berkeleyca.gov


Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 2 

Preliminary Matters 

Roll Call:  

Land Acknowledgement Statement: The City of Berkeley recognizes that the community we 
live in was built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun (Hooch-yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the 
Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the 
sovereign Verona Band of Alameda County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all 
of the Ohlone Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we 
acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a 
vibrant community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside in 
the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s residents have and continue to benefit from the use and 
occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s incorporation in 1878. As stewards of 
the laws regulating the City of Berkeley, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this land, but 
also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other East Bay communities 
today. The City of Berkeley will continue to build relationships with the Lisjan Tribe and to create 
meaningful actions that uphold the intention of this land acknowledgement. 

Ceremonial Matters: In addition to those items listed on the agenda, the Mayor may add additional 
ceremonial matters. 

City Manager Comments:  The City Manager may make announcements or provide information to 
the City Council in the form of an oral report.  The Council will not take action on such items but may 
request the City Manager place a report on a future agenda for discussion. 

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: Persons will be selected to address matters not on 
the Council agenda.  If five or fewer persons wish to speak, each person selected will be allotted two 
minutes each.  If more than five persons wish to speak, up to ten persons will be selected to address 
matters not on the Council agenda and each person selected will be allotted one minute each. Persons 
attending the meeting in-person and wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Council 
agenda during the initial ten-minute period for such comment, must submit a speaker card to the City 
Clerk in person at the meeting location and prior to commencement of that meeting. The remainder of the 
speakers wishing to address the Council on non-agenda items will be heard at the end of the agenda. 

Public Comment by Employee Unions (first regular meeting of the month): This 
period of public comment is reserved for officially designated representatives of City of Berkeley 
employee unions, with five minutes allocated per union if representatives of three or fewer unions wish to 
speak and up to three minutes per union if representatives of four or more unions wish to speak. 

 
Consent Calendar 
 The Council will first determine whether to move items on the agenda for “Action” or “Information” to the 

“Consent Calendar”, or move “Consent Calendar” items to “Action.” Three members of the City Council 
must agree to pull an item from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar for it to move to Action. 
Items that remain on the “Consent Calendar” are voted on in one motion as a group. “Information” items 
are not discussed or acted upon at the Council meeting unless they are moved to “Action” or “Consent”. 

No additional items can be moved onto the Consent Calendar once public comment has commenced. At 
any time during, or immediately after, public comment on Information and Consent items, any 
Councilmember may move any Information or Consent item to “Action.” Following this, the Council will 
vote on the items remaining on the Consent Calendar in one motion.  

For items moved to the Action Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons 
who spoke on the item during the Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again at the time 
the matter is taken up during the Action Calendar. 

Page 2



Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 3 

Public Comment on Consent Calendar and Information Items Only: The Council will 
take public comment on any items that are either on the amended Consent Calendar or the Information 
Calendar.  Speakers will be entitled to two minutes each to speak in opposition to or support of Consent 
Calendar and Information Items.  A speaker may only speak once during the period for public comment 
on Consent Calendar and Information items. 

Additional information regarding public comment by City of Berkeley employees and interns: Employees 
and interns of the City of Berkeley, although not required, are encouraged to identify themselves as such, 
the department in which they work and state whether they are speaking as an individual or in their official 
capacity when addressing the Council in open session or workshops. 
 

Consent Calendar 
 

1. Contract Amendment for Extending the Lease for the Real Property at 1461 
University Avenue 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt an Urgency Ordinance authorizing the City Manager to 
execute an amendment to Contract No. 32200202 with Shree Jalasai Lodging, LP for 
the real property located at 1461 University Avenue, Berkeley, extending the term for 
30 months and increasing the total cost by $5,362,043, for a new contract not-to-
exceed amount of $8,367,313, for the purposes of extending the interim 
noncongregate shelter program at this location.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Peter Radu, City Manager's Office, (510) 981-7000 

 
2. Execute contract with Housing Consortium of the East Bay (HCEB) to operate 

shelter at the Rodeway Inn 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a 
contract with Housing Consortium of the East Bay (HCEB) to operate an interim 
housing program at the Rodeway Inn (1461 University Ave.) through April 30, 2026. 
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Peter Radu, City Manager's Office, (510) 981-7000 

 
3. Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals Scheduled for Possible 

Issuance After Council Approval on September 19, 2023 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Approve the request for proposals or invitation for bids (attached 
to staff report) that will be, or are planned to be, issued upon final approval by the 
requesting department or division.  All contracts over the City Manager’s threshold 
will be returned to Council for final approval.  
Financial Implications: Various Funds - $22,472,259 
Contact: Henry Oyekanmi, Finance, (510) 981-7300 

Page 3



Consent Calendar 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 4 

4. 2024 Tax Rate: Transportation Network Company User Tax 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt first reading of an Ordinance setting the 2024 tax rate 
(effective January 1, 2024) for the transportation network company at the following 
rates: 56.162 cents on the user for each prearranged trip that originates in the City 
that is not part of a pooled prearranged trip and 27.424 for each pooled prearranged 
trip on each user who arranges each prearranged trip that originates in the City and 
which comprises part of the pooled prearranged trip.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Henry Oyekanmi, Finance, (510) 981-7300 

 
5. Contract: Options Recovery Services – Encampment-based Mobile Wellness 

Center Project 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a 
contract and any amendments with Options Recovery Services to provide Mobile 
Wellness services for individuals who are unhoused or living in encampments in 
Berkeley. The contract will be funded through California Mental Health Services Act 
(MHSA) Innovation (INN) funds, for a total not to exceed amount $2,802,400, 
through June 30, 2028.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Lisa Warhuus, Health, Housing, and Community Services, (510) 981-5400 

 
6. Authorizing a Lease of 830 University Avenue to Lifelong Medical Care 

From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt first reading of an Ordinance authorizing the City Manager 
to enter into a lease for 830 University with Lifelong Medical Care (Lifelong).  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Lisa Warhuus, Health, Housing, and Community Services, (510) 981-5400 

 
7. Revenue Grant: California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) for the 2024 “Selective 

Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP) Grant 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Chief of Police to accept the 
"Selective Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP)" grant and enter into the resultant 
grant agreement and any amendments, with the California Office of Traffic Safety. 
This OTS grant is for $269,000 for the period of October 1, 2023 through September 
30, 2024, which is Federal Fiscal Year 2024.  
Financial Implications: See report  
Contact: Jennifer Louis, Police, (510) 981-5900 

 

Page 4



Consent Calendar   

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 5 

8. Revenue Grant: Cannabis Tax Fund Grant Program (CTFGP) 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Chief of Police to accept the 
CTFGP grant and enter into the resultant grant agreement and any amendments, 
with the California Highway Patrol. This grant is for $59,168 for the period of July 1, 
2023 through June 30, 2024.  
Financial Implications: One-time Grant Program Fund - $59,168 
Contact: Jennifer Louis, Police, (510) 981-5900 

 
9. License Agreement – RM Ventures, LLC, d.b.a, In the Wood Grill & Bar for 

Nonexclusive Use of the Elmwood Parking Lot Pedestrian Paseo 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a 
ground license agreement with RM Ventures LLC d.b.a., In the Wood Grill and Bar 
(In the Wood Grill & Bar) for the nonexclusive use of a portion of the Elmwood 
Parking Lot Pedestrian Access Path (“Paseo”), a City-owned midblock pedestrian 
path connecting the City’s Elmwood Parking Lot to College Avenue in the Elmwood 
Neighborhood Shopping District, for an initial term of five (5) years and authorize the 
City Manager to execute a renewal of this license, under the same terms, after the 
termination of the initial term.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 
10. Contract No. 32200073 Amendment: Toole Design Group for Engineering 

Design and Construction Support Services for the Southside Complete Streets 
Project 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute an 
amendment to Contract No. 32200073 with Toole Design Group for engineering 
design and construction support services for the Southside Complete Streets Project, 
increasing the contract by $508,602, for a total amount not to exceed $1,790,213, 
and extending the term of the contract from December 31, 2023 to June 30, 2025.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

Page 5



Consent Calendar   

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 6 

11. Agreement with Goldsmiths for Strawberry Creek Culvert Repair 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a 
Cost Sharing Agreement and Release with Steven and Cathy Goldsmith for repair of 
a section of Strawberry Creek Culvert. The culvert was reported to have failed on or 
about October 24, 2021 and the extents of the failure is alleged to include area in 
both City right-of-way and private property under the Goldsmiths’ home. Per the 
agreement, the City would expend an amount not to exceed $75,000 toward repair of 
the creek culvert in exchange for a release of claims relating to the October 24, 2021 
culvert failure.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 
12. Amendment to the Agreement for Maintenance of State Highways in the City of 

Berkeley between the California Department of Transportation and the City of 
Berkeley 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute an 
amendment to the Agreement with the California Department of Transportation 
(Caltrans) for maintenance of the State highways within the City of Berkeley. The 
amendment will address three new traffic signals: 1) a new pedestrian hybrid beacon 
(PHB) at San Pablo Avenue and Virginia Street 2) a new PHB at San Pablo Avenue 
and Hearst Street, and 3) a new rectangular rapid flashing beacon (RRFB) at Ashby 
Avenue and California Street.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 
13. Contract No. 9977C Amendment: Portable Computer Systems dba PCS Mobile 

for Parking Permit and Citation Services 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute an 
amendment to Contract No. 9977C with Portable Computer Systems dba PCS 
Mobile, increasing the contract amount by $1,650,000 for a total amount not-to-
exceed of $3,700,000 and extending the contract term through June 30, 2029.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 

Page 6



Consent Calendar   

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 7 

14. Contract No. 32000078 and Contract No. 32000093 Amendments DC Electric 
Group, Inc. for On-Call Electrical Services 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt two Resolutions authorizing the City Manager or designee 
to Amend the contract, increasing the amounts as outlined below, and extending the 
contracts through June 30, 2026: 
1. Increasing Contract No. 32000078 with DC Electric Group, Inc. for the Facilities 
Electrical Division for on-call electrical services in the amount of $300,000 for a total 
contract amount not to exceed $475,000. 
2. Increasing Contract No. 32000093 with DC Electric Group, Inc. for the 
Transportation Division for on-call electrical services for traffic calming devices in the 
amount of $100,000 for a total contract amount not to exceed $600,000.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 
15. Contract: Turnstone Data Inc. for Parking Data Analytics Services 

From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a 
three-year contract with an option for two one-year extensions, that require no 
additional funding, with Turnstone Data Inc., to provide parking data analysis and 
visualization services in an amount not to exceed $375,000 for the period from 
January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2026.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Liam Garland, Public Works, (510) 981-6300 

 
Council Consent Items 

 
16. Budget Referral: Berkeley Food Network to address increased demand 

From: Mayor Arreguin (Author), Councilmember Harrison (Co-Sponsor), 
Councilmember Hahn (Co-Sponsor) 
Recommendation: Refer $200,000 to the November 2023 AAO #1 process to 
address the increased number of people experiencing food insecurity in Berkeley 
including people in danger of eviction due to the COVID-19 eviction moratorium 
expiration and rent debt due to inflation and rental increases. The proposed funding 
source is FY 2023-2024 Measure P tax receipts.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100  

 

Page 7



 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 8 

Action Calendar 
 

 The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action. For items moved to the Action 
Calendar from the Consent Calendar or Information Calendar, persons who spoke on the item during the 
Consent Calendar public comment period may speak again during one of the Action Calendar public 
comment periods on the item. Public comment will occur for each Action item (excluding public hearings, 
appeals, and/or quasi-judicial matters) in one of two comment periods, either 1) before the Action Calendar 
is discussed; or 2) when the item is taken up by the Council. 

A member of the public may only speak at one of the two public comment periods for any single Action 
item. 

The Presiding Officer will request that persons wishing to speak line up at the podium, or use the "raise 
hand" function in Zoom, to determine the number of persons interested in speaking at that time. Up to ten 
(10) speakers may speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the 
Presiding Officer may limit the public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are 
permitted to yield their time to one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four 
minutes. The Presiding Officer may, with the consent of persons representing both sides of an issue, 
allocate a block of time to each side to present their issue. 

Action items may be reordered at the discretion of the Chair with the consent of Council. 
 

Action Calendar – Scheduled Public Comment Period 
 During this public comment period, the Presiding Officer will open and close a comment period for each 

Action item on this agenda (excluding any public hearings, appeals, and/or quasi-judicial matters). The 
public may speak on each item. Those who speak on an item during this comment period may not speak a 
second time when the item is taken up by Council. 

Page 8



 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 9 

Action Calendar – Public Hearings 
 Staff shall introduce the public hearing item and present their comments. This is followed by five-minute 

presentations each by the appellant and applicant. The Presiding Officer will request that persons wishing 
to speak line up at the podium, or use the "raise hand" function in Zoom, to be recognized and to determine 
the number of persons interested in speaking at that time. 

Up to ten (10) speakers may speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in 
speaking, the Presiding Officer may limit the public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. 
Speakers are permitted to yield their time to one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more 
than four minutes. The Presiding Officer may with the consent of persons representing both sides of an 
issue allocate a block of time to each side to present their issue. 

Each member of the City Council shall verbally disclose all ex parte contacts concerning the subject of the 
hearing. Councilmembers shall also submit a report of such contacts in writing prior to the commencement 
of the hearing. Written reports shall be available for public review in the office of the City Clerk. 
 

17. Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and 
Repeal of Chapter 12.99 to Conform to State Law and Respond to Guidance 
from the California Department of Housing and Community Development 
(Continued from July 25, 2023) 
From: City Manager 
Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and, upon conclusion, adopt the first 
reading of an ordinance amending Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Title 23, and 
repealing BMC Chapter 12.99, relating to Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior 
Accessory Dwelling Units.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400 

 
Council Action Items  

 
18. Authorizing the City Attorney to Submit an Amicus Brief in Support of the UC 

Regents in Make UC a Good Neighbor v. Regents of University of California 
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author), Councilmember Robinson (Author), 
Councilmember Wengraf (Co-Sponsor) 
Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the City Attorney to submit an 
amicus brief in support of the University of California Regents’ in Make UC a Good 
Neighbor v. The Regents of University of California, currently before the California 
State Supreme Court on appeal. 
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor’s Office, (510) 981-7100 

Page 9



Council Action Items 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 10 

19. Referral to Rezone Gilman Street to Maximize Revenue Productivity Per Acre 
From: Councilmember Kesarwani (Author), Councilmember Taplin (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Robinson (Co-Sponsor), Councilmember Wengraf 
(Co-Sponsor) 
Recommendation: Refer to the City Manager and Planning Commission to rezone 
Gilman Street—a major thoroughfare for entering and exiting the City—from San 
Pablo Avenue to Interstate 80 to maximize revenue-generating and job-creating 
uses. Specifically, the rezoning of Gilman Street should consider the following: 
Potential for applying the Manufacturing, Research and Development (M-RD) zoning 
district currently planned for the Pacific Steel Casting site to a portion of Gilman 
street. The M-RD zoning district seeks to better align with development interest by: 
allowing research and development, office, laboratory, and light manufacturing uses 
currently not permitted by the existing Manufacturing (M) zoning; and removing 
protections for existing manufacturing uses and constraints associated with certain 
development standards; and/or Consider a new zoning designation for a portion of 
Gilman Street west of San Pablo Avenue to I-80 that maximizes revenue productivity 
per acre via permitted uses and associated development standards; and Extend 
West Berkeley Commercial District (C-W) zoning on Gilman Street from Ninth Street 
further west for a certain number of blocks and enhance the flexibility of C-W 
development standards to increase the likelihood of redevelopment—in coordination 
with “Keep Innovation in Berkeley” Council referral (passed on Sept. 13, 2022) that 
seeks to allow research and development uses in C zones. Refer $250,000 to the FY 
2024-25 budget process for consulting services to assist with the planning process 
and associated environmental review and economic analyses.  
Financial Implications: See report 
Contact: Rashi Kesarwani, Councilmember, District 1, (510) 981-7110 

 
Information Reports 

 
20. Settlement of California River Watch Notice of Intent to File Suit 

From: City Manager 
Contact: Farimah Brown, City Attorney, (510) 981-6950 

 
Public Comment – Items Not Listed on the Agenda 

Page 10



 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 11 

Adjournment 
NOTICE CONCERNING YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS: If you object to a decision by the City Council to 
approve or deny a use permit or variance for a project the following requirements and restrictions apply:  
1) No lawsuit challenging a City decision to deny (Code Civ. Proc. §1094.6(b)) or approve (Gov. Code 
65009(c)(5)) a use permit or variance may be filed more than 90 days after the date the Notice of 
Decision of the action of the City Council is mailed. Any lawsuit not filed within that 90-day period will be 
barred.  2) In any lawsuit that may be filed against a City Council decision to approve or deny a use 
permit or variance, the issues and evidence will be limited to those raised by you or someone else, orally 
or in writing, at a public hearing or prior to the close of the last public hearing on the project. 
 

Archived indexed video streams are available at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas. 

Channel 33 rebroadcasts the following Wednesday at 9:00 a.m. and Sunday at 9:00 a.m. 
 

Communications to the City Council are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic 
records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, 
addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to the City Council, will become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or 
any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 
to the City Clerk Department at 2180 Milvia Street. If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the City 
Clerk Department for further information. 
 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the City Council regarding any item on this agenda 
will be made available for public inspection at the public counter at the City Clerk Department located on 
the first floor of City Hall located at 2180 Milvia Street as well as posted on the City's website at 
https://berkeleyca.gov/. 

Agendas and agenda reports may be accessed via the Internet at: 
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas 

and may be read at reference desks at the following locations: 

City Clerk Department - 2180 Milvia Street, First Floor 
Tel:  510-981-6900, TDD:  510-981-6903, Fax:  510-981-6901 

Email:  clerk@berkeleyca.gov 
 

Libraries: Main – 2090 Kittredge Street, 
Claremont Branch – 2940 Benvenue, West Branch – 1125 University, 

North Branch – 1170 The Alameda, Tarea Hall Pittman South Branch – 1901 Russell 
 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION: 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location.  
To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or 
services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418 (V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) 
at least three business days before the meeting date. 
 
Attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive to various scents, 
whether natural or manufactured, in products and materials.  Please help the City respect these needs. 
 

 
 

Page 11

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas
https://berkeleyca.gov/
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-council/city-council-agendas


 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 12 

Captioning services are provided at the meeting, on B-TV, and on the Internet.  In addition, assisted 
listening devices for the hearing impaired are available from the City Clerk prior to the meeting, and are to 
be returned before the end of the meeting. 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this meeting of the Berkeley City Council was posted at the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 Martin Luther 
King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on September 7, 2023. 

 

 

Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
 

Communications 
Council rules limit action on Communications to referral to the City Manager and/or Boards and 
Commissions for investigation and/or recommendations. All communications submitted to Council are 
public record. Copies of individual communications are available for viewing at the City Clerk Department 
and through Records Online. 

Berkeley’s Crime 
1. Robin Kibby 
2. Shok Saidmuradov 
 
Police Matters 
3. David Freeling 
4. Alex Merenkov 
5. Carol Denney 

 
Hotel Sales 
6. Sabina McMurtry 
 
Visit Berkeley 
7. Visit Berkeley 
 
Red Curb 
8. Sherleen Brown 
9. Amy Campos 
 
Hiring Bonus’ 
10. Minda Berbeco 
 
Cannabis Policy 
11. Getting It Right from the Start 
 
Second Hand Smoke 
12. Carol Denny 
 

Page 12

https://records.cityofberkeley.info/


 

Tuesday, September 19, 2023 AGENDA Page 13 

Willard Park 
13. Vincent Casalaina 
14. Mary Oram 
 
Homelessness 
15. Sharon Sangco, on behalf of Windsor Management (2) 
16. Peter Radu, Neighborhood Services 
17. Aimee Baldwin 
 
School Expansion 
18. Leila Moncharsh 
 
Ohlone Greenway 
19. Rachel Edelson 
 
Seismic Prep 
20. John Parman 
 
UN Association Venue 
21. Dirk Neyhart 
 
New Construction 
22. Dan Auten 
 
Gus Newport 
23. Boona Cheema 
 
Black Rep 
24. Tanya Dennis, Post Newspaper Reporter 
 
Waterfront Specific Plan 
25. Claudia Kawczynska, Chair of Parks, Recreation and Waterfront Commission 

Supplemental Communications and Reports 
Items received by the deadlines for submission will be compiled and distributed as follows.  If no items 
are received by the deadline, no supplemental packet will be compiled for said deadline. 
 
• Supplemental Communications and Reports 1 

Available by 5:00 p.m. five days prior to the meeting. 
 

• Supplemental Communications and Reports 2 
Available by 5:00 p.m. the day before the meeting. 
 

• Supplemental Communications and Reports 3 
Available by 5:00 p.m. two days following the meeting. 

Page 13



Page 14



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

ACTION CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Peter Radu, Assistant to the City Manager

Subject: Contract Amendment for Extending the Lease for the Real Property at 1461 
University Avenue

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt an Urgency Ordinance authorizing the City Manager to execute an amendment to 
Contract No. 32200202 with Shree Jalasai Lodging, LP for the real property located at 
1461 University Avenue, Berkeley, extending the term for 30 months and increasing the 
total cost by $5,362,043, for a new contract not-to-exceed amount of $8,367,313, for the 
purposes of extending the interim noncongregate shelter program at this location.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Total costs for this lease are not to exceed $124 per room per night for 43 rooms, plus a 
$2000 per room fund for damages payable upon lease termination, for a total increase 
of $5,362,043, which will be paid for using State of California Encampment Resolution 
Funding grant funds, leftover UC Berkeley donation funds from the original lease, as 
well as funding from Measure U1 that will no longer be needed for Homekey. These 
funds will be appropriated in the Second Amendment to the FY2024 Annual 
Appropriations Ordinance.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On April 26, 2022, the Council adopted an urgency ordinance to enter into a lease for 
the Rodeway Inn, using a combination of a California Encampment Resolution Funding 
grant and a UC Berkeley donation to operate noncongregate interim housing at the 
Rodeway Inn for the cohort of individuals currently living in the encampment at People’s 
Park. That program, since its inception, has successfully served 110 people; of the 72 
people who have exited the program, 35 (49%) have moved directly into permanent 
housing – a success rate approaching half of all exits.

Shortly thereafter, staff issued an RFP, and eventually an application, for the State of 
California’s Homekey Program to purchase the motel and convert it to permanent 
supportive housing for people experiencing homelessness. As of the drafting of this 
report, the State is still reviewing the City's Homekey application. With the lease for the 
existing interim shelter program ending on October 31, 2023, if the application is not 

Page 1 of 41

Page 15

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
01



Contract Amendment for Extending the Lease for the Real Property at 1461 ACTION CALENDAR
University Avenue September 19, 2023

Page 2

accepted, the immediate future of this successful noncongregate shelter program will be 
at stake.

The proposed contract amendment, as specified in Exhibit A attached to this report, 
continues the existing master lease for 43 rooms at a flat price of $124 per room per 
night, as well as a renewed damage fund not to exceed $2000/room payable at the end 
of the lease, for a total amount not to exceed $5,080,450. This includes regular 
cleaning, linen service, and supplies to the rooms. Staff propose to contract with 
Housing Consortium of the East Bay (HCEB) to provide the social services component 
of the program, as the current service provider, Abode Services, is not interested in 
continuing their contract with the city. Staff are bringing a contract with HCEB to Council 
in a separate report on the 10/3/23 Council agenda. 

Increasing access to interim housing for persons experiencing homelessness is 
consistent with the City’s strategic priorities, and specifically the July, 2021 
endorsement of the All Home Regional Action Plan.

BACKGROUND
In February 2022, the City was awarded just over $4.7M in State of California 
Encampment Resolution Funding grant funds to operate the Rodeway Inn as the 
primary interim housing option for people living in People’s Park. On April 26, 2023, the 
Council approved a lease and a services contract with Abode Services to operate the 
Rodeway Inn as an interim noncongregate housing program. On October 31, 2023, the 
current lease at the Rodeway will expire.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no identifiable environmental impacts associated with this lease. Providing 
noncongregate interim housing for those currently living in encampments in Berkeley 
will reduce the negative impact of encampments on Berkeley’s environment and 
waterways.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
If adopted, this lease amendment will allow the City to continue providing safe, low-
barrier noncongregate shelter options to people living in encampments. Data from the 
Homeless Response Team (which will be the source of referrals for the extended 
Rodeway Inn program) shows that, between September 2021 and April 2023, roughly 
500 shelter (both congregate and noncongregate) offers were made to people on the 
streets in Berkeley, with an overall acceptance rate of 43%; for noncongregate offers, 
that acceptance rate increased to 84%, demonstrating the effectiveness of this 
intervention for people living in encampments.

Adopting the agreement by Urgency Ordinance is appropriate in light of the current 
shelter crisis and the imminent expiration of the existing lease contract. By adopting this 

Page 2 of 41

Page 16



Contract Amendment for Extending the Lease for the Real Property at 1461 ACTION CALENDAR
University Avenue September 19, 2023

Page 3

agreement through an Urgency Ordinance, it will be possible to execute a lease with an 
effective date of November 1, 2023.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Staff considered a short-term extension of the Rodeway Inn through March 31, 2023 (to 
get through the immediate rainy season) using existing ERF and Measure P funding 
already approved for the program, but then closing the program and saving the $8.5M in 
Homekey funding already approved by Council for a future Homekey funding 
opportunity in 2024 or some other similar use. Staff advise against this alternative action 
for three reasons:

1. There is an immediate need for continuing this interim shelter now, and no 
identified locations for those living in this program have been identified, whereas 
the future Homekey funding and real estate opportunities are unknown at this 
time; and

2. On July 12, 2021, Council adopted the All Home Regional Action Plan, which 
commits the city to a 75% reduction in unsheltered homelessness over 3 years. 
While prioritizing funding for interim housing over future permanent housing 
opportunities may seem inconsistent with the 1-2-4 framework in this plan, it is 
actually very consistent with the plan, which acknowledges that communities 
such as Berkeley may need to immediately invest in interim housing up front to 
quickly get people off the street before finding permanent solutions to their 
homelessness:

“1-2-4” is not a prescription or a one-size-fits-all solution. It’s a ratio that 
illustrates proportionate investment in three strategies simultaneously. In order to 
reduce unsheltered homelessness rapidly, most cities or counties will need to 
frontload investment into interim housing options, such as leasing or purchasing 
motels, tiny homes, mobile homes or other temporary housing options.1

Given that the All Home Regional Action Plan is the City Council’s current 
endorsed unsheltered homelessness strategy, continuing this lease using freed-
up Homekey funding now is consistent with this strategy.

3. Over the last year, the City has lost more year-round interim shelter capacity than 
it has gained: while we have added 27 beds at the Berkeley Inn and 23 beds at 
the new Super 8 program, we have lost 50 beds at Horizon and 40 safe RV 
parking spaces at SPARK (both at 742 Grayson, which closed in December 
2022) and 22 beds at the Emergency Respite trailer program (which ended June 

1 See p. 13, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07-
13%20Item%2012%20Endorse%20All%20Home%20CA%20Regional%20Action.pdf 

Page 3 of 41

Page 17

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07-13%20Item%2012%20Endorse%20All%20Home%20CA%20Regional%20Action.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07-13%20Item%2012%20Endorse%20All%20Home%20CA%20Regional%20Action.pdf


Contract Amendment for Extending the Lease for the Real Property at 1461 ACTION CALENDAR
University Avenue September 19, 2023

Page 4

2023) for a net loss of 62 beds/interim spaces. The City cannot afford to continue 
losing shelter capacity in the midst of a Council-declared shelter crisis.

CONTACT PERSON
Peter Radu, Assistant to the City Manager, 510 981-7045

Attachments: 
1: Urgency Ordinance 

Exhibit A: Contract Amendment
Exhibit B: Lease Agreement from May 1, 2022.

Page 4 of 41

Page 18



Contract Amendment for Extending the Lease for the Real Property at 1461 ACTION CALENDAR
University Avenue September 19, 2023

Page 5

ORDINANCE NO. X,XXX N.S.

AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER OR HER DESIGNEE TO EXTEND A LEASE AND 
ANY NECESSARY AMENDMENTS WITH SHREE JALASAI LODGING, LP, DBA 
RODEWAY INN, BERKELEY, FOR REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1461 
UNIVERSITY AVENUE, BERKELEY, CA.

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1.  The City Council finds as follows:
a. The City of Berkeley is facing a growing housing and homelessness crisis, in part 

exacerbated by the acute lack of affordable housing and supportive housing for 
people experiencing homelessness; and

b. Encampments in Berkeley are inherently unhealthy for their residents and 
frequently problematic for surrounding neighbors; and

c. Resolving encampments requires working with their residents to find viable 
alternatives to their unsheltered status, such as low-barrier, noncongregate interim 
housing options; and

d. April 26, 2022, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 7,807-N.S. to master lease 
the Rodeway Inn at 1461 University Avenue to operate a low-barrier 
noncongregate shelter for people living in encampments; and

e. The current lease expires on Oct. 31, 2023, putting the future of the interim 
program currently running at the Rodeway at risk of closure; and

f. The property owner, Shree Jalasai Lodging, LP, dba Rodeway Inn, Berkeley, has 
offered to extend the lease on the same terms (43 rooms at a rate of $124 per 
room per night and $2000 per room in damage funds), to the City for purposes of 
establishing a homeless shelter for an additional 30 months.

Section 2. The City Manager or her designee is hereby authorized to enter into a lease 
contract amendment starting November 1, 2023 with Shree Jalasai Lodging, LP, dba 
Rodeway Inn, Berkeley for real property located at 1461 University Avenue on 
substantially the same terms as set forth in Exhibit A. The rent will be $124 per room per 
night, including $2000 per room in damage funds, and will be paid by State of California 
Encampment Resolution Funding grant funds and City of Berkeley General Funds.

Section 3. This Ordinance is adopted as an urgency ordinance pursuant to the Charter of 
the City of Berkeley, Article XIV, Section 93 and shall be effective immediately. The City 
Council finds and determines that the adoption of this Ordinance as an urgency ordinance 
is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety of the 
residents of the City of Berkeley.

Section 4. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of Old City Hall, 2134 Martin Luther King 
Jr. Way within fifteen calendar days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be filed at 
each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a newspaper 
of general circulation.

Page 5 of 41

Page 19



Page 6 of 41

Page 20



Page 7 of 41

Page 21



Page 8 of 41

Page 22



Page 9 of 41

Page 23



Page 10 of 41

Page 24



Page 11 of 41

Page 25



Page 12 of 41

Page 26



Page 13 of 41

Page 27



Page 14 of 41

Page 28



Page 15 of 41

Page 29



Page 16 of 41

Page 30



Page 17 of 41

Page 31



Page 18 of 41

Page 32



Page 19 of 41

Page 33



Page 20 of 41

Page 34



Page 21 of 41

Page 35



Page 22 of 41

Page 36



Page 23 of 41

Page 37



Page 24 of 41

Page 38



Page 25 of 41

Page 39



Page 26 of 41

Page 40



Page 27 of 41

Page 41



Page 28 of 41

Page 42



Page 29 of 41

Page 43



Page 30 of 41

Page 44



Page 31 of 41

Page 45



Page 32 of 41

Page 46



Page 33 of 41

Page 47



Page 34 of 41

Page 48



Page 35 of 41

Page 49



Page 36 of 41

Page 50



Page 37 of 41

Page 51



Page 38 of 41

Page 52



Page 39 of 41

Page 53



Page 40 of 41

Page 54



Page 41 of 41

Page 55



Page 56



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

ACTION CALENDAR
SEPTEMBER 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Peter Radu, Assistant to the City Manager

Subject: Execute contract with Housing Consortium of the East Bay (HCEB) to 
operate shelter at the Rodeway Inn

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract with Housing 
Consortium of the East Bay (HCEB) to operate an interim housing program at the 
Rodeway Inn (1461 University Ave.) through April 30, 2026.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
If approved, this resolution will result in an expenditure contract with HCEB for an 
amount not to exceed $4,000,000 for program operations through April 30, 2026. This 
contract will be paid for using State of California Encampment Resolution Funding grant 
funds (Fund #336), leftover UC Berkeley donation funds from the original lease (Fund 
#147), as well as funding from the City General Fund (Measure P and/or U1) previously 
reserved for HomeKey. These funds will be appropriated in the Second Amendment to 
the FY2024 Annual Appropriations Ordinance.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The City is currently funding Abode Services to provide interim emergency shelter at the 
Rodeway Inn through October 31, 2023.  Abode Services is not interested in extending 
its contract with the city.  There are currently 38 households enrolled in the program 
with 79% being eligible for permanent supportive housing.  

On May 10, 2023, Health, Housing and Community Services Department, Housing and 
Community Services Division staff, in partnership with MPI Homes and HCEB, 
submitted a proposal to the State of California’s Homekey Program to purchase the 
Rodeway Inn and convert and operate it as permanent supportive housing for people 
experiencing homelessness.  As of the drafting of this report, the State is still reviewing 
the City's Homekey application. Since Abode Services will end on October 31st, a 
contract with HCEB is needed to continue to provide interim shelter services in the 
event the City is not awarded Homekey funding.  Because of the time sensitive nature 
of this item, the budget reflects service and operations through April 30, 2026 including 
some funding for HCEB to be on-site in October to get familiar with site operations and 

Page 1 of 3

Page 57

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
02



  
Execute contract with Housing Consortium of the East Bay  ACTION CALENDAR
to operate shelter at the Rodeway Inn SEPTEMBER 19, 2023

Page 2

program participants to be ready to take over full operations starting on November 1, 
2023.  

BACKGROUND
In February 2022, the City was awarded just over $4.7M in State of California 
Encampment Resolution Funding grant funds to operate the Rodeway Inn as the 
primary interim housing option for people living in People’s Park. On April 26, 2023, the 
Council approved a lease with Shree Jalasai Lodging, LP and a services contract with 
Abode Services to operate the Rodeway Inn as an interim non-congregate housing 
program.  Abode Services contract will end on October 31, 2023.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Continuing to provide interim shelter and services to previously unsheltered people 
while they wait to be permanently housed minimizes the detrimental environmental 
impacts associated with encampment homelessness, including vector and fire hazards, 
accumulation of trash and waste, and impacts on sensitive waterways.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Housing Consortium of the East Bay is an experienced non-congregate shelter provider, 
having contracted with the County to provide services at Project Roomkey sites in 
Alameda County.  They are also the co-applicant in the Homekey application for this 
site and are prepared to assume full site operations starting on November 1, 2023 
whether or not the Homekey application is awarded.  

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Staff considered circulating a competitive solicitation (request for proposals) for the 
services at the Rodeway, but determined it wasn’t feasible nor would it be in the 
program’s best interest to do so.  Specifically, this is because HCEB is the co-applicant 
in the Homekey application and is prepared to take over short- or long-term operations 
as of November 1st.   If the Homekey project is awarded, having another provider take 
over short-term operations, would have been disruptive for program participants and 
general operations.  This way, HCEB will be on-site and working with Abode Services in 
October so they are fully prepared to take over operations on November 1, 2023. 

CONTACT PERSON
Peter Radu, Assistant to the City Manager, 510-981-7045.

Attachments:
1: Resolution

Page 2 of 3

Page 58



  

RESOLUTION NO. XX,XXX N.S.

AUTHORIZING A CONTRACT WITH HOUSING CONSORTIUM OF THE EAST BAY 
(HCEB) SERVICES TO OPERATE INTERM HOUSING AT THE RODEWAY INN FOR 
A TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $4,000,000 FOR THE PERIOD 
OCTOBER 1, 2023 TO APRIL 30, 2026.

WHEREAS, the severe lack of housing affordable for people who are experiencing 
homelessness, is contributing to an acute housing shortage that is worsening the rates 
of homelessness in Berkeley; and

WHEREAS, the City received State of California Encampment Resolution Fund (ERF) 
grant funds to operate the Rodeway Inn as an intensive interim housing destination and 
the current services will end on October 31, 2023; and

WHEREAS, there are currently 38 households enrolled in the interim shelter program, 
the majority of them waiting to be referred to permanent supportive housing; 

WHEREAS, the City partnered with MPI Homes and Housing Consortium of the East 
Bay, to submit a proposal to the State of California’s Homekey Program to purchase the 
Rodeway Inn and convert it to permanent supportive housing for people experiencing 
homelessness and the State is still reviewing the application; and  

WHEREAS, Housing Consortium of the East Bay is an experienced non-congregate 
shelter provider, having contracted with the County to provide services at Project 
Roomkey sites in Alameda County and are prepared to assume full site operations 
starting on November 1, 2023 whether or not the Homekey application is awarded.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council of the City of Berkeley 
authorizes the City Manager to enter into a contract and necessary amendments for the 
period October 1, 2023 through April 30, 2026 with Housing Consortium of the East Bay 
for operating a non-congregate interim housing program at the Rodeway Inn. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the contract amount will not exceed $4,000,000 with 
a payment of $387,100 to be advanced prior to contract execution to cover staffing and 
operating costs.  Contract payments will be paid from Encampment Resolution Fund 
grant moneys, the City General Fund (Measure P and/or U1), and leftover donation 
funds from the University of California, Berkeley.  A recorded signature copy of said 
contract and any amendments will be on file in the City Clerk Department. 

Page 3 of 3

Page 59



Page 60



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Finance 

Subject: Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals Scheduled for 
Possible Issuance After Council Approval on September 19, 2023

RECOMMENDATION
Approve the request for proposals or invitation for bids (attached to staff report) that will 
be, or are planned to be, issued upon final approval by the requesting department or 
division.  All contracts over the City Manager’s threshold will be returned to Council for 
final approval.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Total estimated cost of items included in this report is $22,472,259.

PROJECT Fund Source Amount

Berkeley Fire Station 
Landscape Project 011 General Fund $172,259

Street Rehabilitation FY 
2024

127
130
133
134
501
601

State Transportation Tax
Measure B
Measure F

Measure BB
Capital Improvements

Zero Waste

$14,000,000

Berkeley Water 
Transportation Ferry Pier 
Project Traffic & Parking

606
307
336

Coastal Conservancy Grant
ACTC Grant

WETA Funding
$150,000

Berkeley Water 
Transportation Ferry Pier 
Project Design

606
307
336

Coastal Conservancy Grant
ACTC Grant

WETA Funding
$5,800,000

Page 1 of 8

Page 61

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
03



  
Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals CONSENT CALENDAR
Scheduled for Possible Issuance After Council                                                         September 19, 2023
Approval on September 19, 2023

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On May, 6, 2008, Council adopted Ordinance No. 7,035-N.S. effective June 6, 2008, 
which increased the City Manager’s purchasing authority for services to $50,000.  As a 
result, this required report submitted by the City Manager to Council is now for those 
purchases in excess of $100,000 for goods; and $200,000 for playgrounds and 
construction; and $50,000 for services.  If Council does not object to these items being 
sent out for bid or proposal within one week of them appearing on the agenda, and 
upon final notice to proceed from the requesting department, the IFB (Invitation for Bid) 
or RFP (Request for Proposal) may be released to the public and notices sent to the 
potential bidder/respondent list.

BACKGROUND
On May 6, 2008, Council adopted Ordinance No. 7,035-N.S., amending the City 
Manager’s purchasing authority for services.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
The Finance Department reviews all formal bid and proposal solicitations to ensure that 
they include provisions for compliance with the City’s environmental policies.  For each 
contract that is subject to City Council authorization, staff will address environmental 
sustainability considerations in the associated staff report to City Council. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Need for the goods and/or services.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
None.

CONTACT PERSON
Darryl Sweet, General Services Manager, Finance, 510-981-7329

Berkeley Water 
Transportation Ferry Pier 
Project Environmental

606
307
336

Coastal Conservancy Grant
ACTC Grant

WETA Funding
$2,200,000

"HARD HATS" labor 
compliance consultant 011 General Fund $150,000

Total: $22,472,259

Page 2 of 8

Page 62



  
Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals CONSENT CALENDAR
Scheduled for Possible Issuance After Council                                                         September 19, 2023
Approval on September 19, 2023

Attachments:  
1: Formal Bid Solicitations and Request for Proposals Scheduled for Possible Issuance
    After Council Approval on September 19, 2023

a. Berkeley Fire Station Landscape Project
b. Street Rehabilitation FY 2024
c. Berkeley Water Transportation Ferry Pier Project Traffic & Parking
d. Berkeley Water Transportation Ferry Pier Project Design
e. Berkeley Water Transportation Ferry Pier Project Environmental
f. HARD HATS Compliance Consultant

Note:  Original of this attachment with live signature of authorizing personnel is on file in 
General Services.

Page 3 of 8

Page 63



NEXT 30 DAYS
DATE SUBMITTED: SEPTEMBER 19, 2023

   Attachment 1

SPECIFICATION
NO.

DESCRIPTION
OF GOODS /
SERVICES

BEING
PURCHASED

APPROX.
RELEASE

DATE

APPROX. BID
OPENING

DATE

INTENDED USE ESTIMATED COST BUDGET CODE TO
BE CHARGED

DEPT. / DIVISION CONTACT NAME
& PHONE

24-11622-C Berkeley Fire
Station
Landscape
Project

October
2023

November
2023

Landscape services for
the Station 4

Demonstration Garden

$ 172,259.00 011-72-743-000-
0000-000-422-

612990

Berkeley Fire
Department,

Wildland Urban
Interface Division

Jesse Figoni
x5598

DEPT. TOTAL $ 172,259.00
24-11624-C Street

Rehabilitation FY
2024

1/1/24 March 2024 Pavement rehabilitation
of various streets

$ 14,000,000.00 127-54-623-673-
0000-000-431-

665110 -
$1,000,000

130-54-623-673-
0000-000-431-

665110 - $725,309

133-54-623-673-
0000-000-431-

665110 - $155,000

134-54-623-673-
0000-000-431-

665110 -
$3,500,000

501-54-623-673-
0000-000-431-

665110 -
$7,619,691

601-54-623-673-
0000-000-431-

66510 - $1,000,000

Total – $14,000,000

Public Works/
Engineering

Srinivas Muktevi
981-6402

Rpn Nevels
981-6439

DEPT. TOTAL $ 14,000,000.00

1 of  5

Page 4 of 8

Page 64



NEXT 30 DAYS
DATE SUBMITTED: SEPTEMBER 19, 2023

   Attachment 1

24-11625-C Berkeley Water
Transportation
Ferry Pier
Project Traffic &
Parking

10/1/23 Nov-23 Environmental services
for the Berkeley Water
Transportation Ferry

Pier Project
environmental

analyses, CEQA and
permitting support

services.

NTE $150,000 over
the course of 3 years

Multiple –

Coastal
Conservancy Grant:

606-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612990-
PRWWF24002

ACTC Grant:
307-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612990-
PRWWF24002

WETA Funding:
336-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612990-
PRWWF24002

Parks, Recreation
& Waterfront

Liza McNulty
510-542-4131

SPECIFICATION
NO.

DESCRIPTION
OF GOODS /
SERVICES

BEING
PURCHASED

APPROX.
RELEASE

DATE

APPROX. BID
OPENING

DATE

INTENDED USE ESTIMATED COST BUDGET CODE TO
BE CHARGED

DEPT. / DIVISION CONTACT NAME
& PHONE

2 of  5

Page 5 of 8

Page 65



NEXT 30 DAYS
DATE SUBMITTED: SEPTEMBER 19, 2023

   Attachment 1

24-11626-C Berkeley Water
Transportation
Ferry Pier
Project Design

10/1/23 November
2023

Design services for the
Berkeley Water

Transportation Ferry
Pier Project

NTE $5,800,000 over
the course of 3 years

Multiple –

Coastal
Conservancy Grant:

606-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612310-
PRWWF24002

ACTC Grant:
307-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612310-
PRWWF24002

WETA Funding:
336-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612310-
PRWWF24002

Parks, Recreation
& Waterfront

Liza McNulty
510-542-4131

SPECIFICATION
NO.

DESCRIPTION
OF GOODS /
SERVICES

BEING
PURCHASED

APPROX.
RELEASE

DATE

APPROX. BID
OPENING

DATE

INTENDED USE ESTIMATED COST BUDGET CODE TO
BE CHARGED

DEPT. / DIVISION CONTACT NAME
& PHONE

3 of  5

Page 6 of 8

Page 66



NEXT 30 DAYS
DATE SUBMITTED: SEPTEMBER 19, 2023

   Attachment 1

24-11627-C Berkeley Water
Transportation
Ferry Pier
Project
Environmental

10/1/23 November
2023

Environmental services
for the Berkeley Water
Transportation Ferry

Pier Project
environmental

analyses, CEQA and
permitting support

services.

NTE $2,200,000 over
the course of 3 years

Multiple –

Coastal
Conservancy Grant:

606-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612990-
PRWWF24002

ACTC Grant:
307-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612990-
PRWWF24002

WETA Funding:
336-52-545-000-
0000-000-461-

612990-
PRWWF24002

Parks, Recreation
& Waterfront

Liza McNulty
510-542-4131

DEPT. TOTAL $ 8,150,000.00

24-11631-C "HARD HATS"
labor complinace
consultant

9/26/2023 10/31/2023
Consultant to design and
implement a program to
enforce the provisions
outlined in Chapter 13.107 of
the Berkeley Municipal Code

$ 150,000.00

DEPT. TOTAL $ 150,000.00 011-21-201-000-0000-
000-412-612990

Planning/Ofc of
Director

Jenny McNulty
981-7451

TOTAL $ 22,472,259.00

SPECIFICATION
NO.

DESCRIPTION
OF GOODS /
SERVICES

BEING
PURCHASED

APPROX.
RELEASE

DATE

APPROX. BID
OPENING

DATE

INTENDED USE ESTIMATED COST BUDGET CODE TO
BE CHARGED

DEPT. / DIVISION CONTACT NAME
& PHONE

4 of  5

Page 7 of 8

Page 67



   Attachment 1

5 of 5

Page 8 of 8

Page 68



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Finance Department

Subject: 2024 Tax Rate: Transportation Network Company User Tax

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt first reading of an Ordinance setting the 2024 tax rate (effective January 1, 2024) 
for the transportation network company at the following rates: 56.162 cents on the user 
for each prearranged trip that originates in the City that is not part of a pooled prearranged 
trip and 27.424 for each pooled prearranged trip on each user who arranges each 
prearranged trip that originates in the City and which comprises part of the pooled 
prearranged trip.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The tax levy of the recommended 56.162 cents for each non-pooled prearranged trip and 
27.424 cents on each user for each pooled prearranged trip will result in estimated 
collections of $1,022,160.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The 2023 tax of 53.775 cents tax per each non-pooled prearranged trip and the 26.259 
cents tax per each pooled prearranged trip is being adjusted by the Personal Income 
Growth of 4.440% as authorized on November 3, 2020 by voter approved Measure GG 
as the voters approved the greater of the Consumer Price Index in the immediate San 
Francisco Bay Area of 4.192% or Personal Income Growth increase in California of 
4.440%. 

BACKGROUND
On November 3, 2020, over 66% of Berkeley voters approved Measure GG which 
authorized a transportation network company user tax for prearranged trips for private 
and pooled trips for general municipal services in the City until January 1, 2041.

The tax may be increased or decreased annually in May, according to the greater of the 
increase or decrease in the cost of living in the immediate San Francisco Bay Area or 
personal income growth in the state of California, as verified by official United States 
economic report.

Page 1 of 3

Page 69

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
04



  
2024 Tax Rate: Transportation Network Company User Tax CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 2

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with the 
subject of this report.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
The fiscal impact on general municipal services of forgoing an adjustment to the fiscal 
year’s transportation network company user tax would be a reduction of $2,427 in 
estimated collections.

CONTACT PERSON
Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Finance Department, 981-7326

Attachments: 
1: Ordinance

Page 2 of 3

Page 70



  

ORDINANCE NO.       -N.S.

IMPOSING A GENERAL TAX ON USERS OF TRANSPORATION NETWORK 
COMPANIES AT A RATE OF 56.162 CENTS FOR PRIVATE TRIPS AND 27.424 CENTS 
FOR POOLED TRIPS

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1.  The 2024 Tax Rate, effective January 1, 2024, to fund general municipal 
services is set at 56.162 cents for private trips and 27.424 for pooled trips.

Section 2.  This tax rate will result in estimated total collections of $1,022,160.

Section 3.  Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation.

Page 3 of 3

Page 71



Page 72



  
 

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@Berkeleyca.gov Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Lisa Warhuus, Health, Housing, and Community Services 

Subject: Contract: Options Recovery Services – Encampment-based Mobile Wellness 
Center Project

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract and any 
amendments with Options Recovery Services to provide Mobile Wellness services for 
individuals who are unhoused or living in encampments in Berkeley. The contract will be 
funded through California Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) Innovation (INN) funds, 
for a total not to exceed amount $2,802,400, through June 30, 2028.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Funding in the amount of $1,201,000 provided from the State of California Mental 
Health Services Act Fund 315, is available in the Fiscal Year 2024 budget. The 
remaining funding for this project, in the amount of $1,601,400, will be included in future 
budgets.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
In March 2023, per Bid Specification 23-11592-C a Request for Proposal (RFP) was 
released to obtain a community partner to implement this project. Following proposal 
review and rating from a panel of reviewers, which included community members, 
Options Recovery Services was selected as the vendor to implement these services in 
Berkeley.

The City Council approved, Encampment-based Mobile Wellness Center Project will 
offer a customizable menu of services (i.e. food/hygiene, service navigation, wellness 
activities, and community/enrichment) to Berkeley’s unhoused population. Services and 
activities through this project will be responsive to the changing needs of the community 
and will be planned on a weekly basis based on on-going conversations with 
encampment community members. Coordination with local partners involved in current 
homeless outreach efforts will be central to service provision. This project is funded 
through Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) Innovation (INN) funds.

Page 1 of 4

Page 73

mailto:manager@berkeleyca.gov
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
05



  
 

Contract: Options Recovery Services CONSENT CALENDAR
Encampment-based Mobile Wellness Center Project September 19, 2023 

Page 2

BACKGROUND
The State of California provides MHSA funding for local mental health services and 
supports. One of the annually recurring MHSA funding components is Innovation (INN). 
MHSA regulations require that INN funds are to be utilized on short-term pilot projects 
that increase learning in the mental health field. In order to utilize funds, stakeholder 
informed INN Plans outlining how funds are to be allocated are required to be 
developed and locally approved. MHSA INN Plans also require approval from the 
California Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission 
(MHSOAC).

Following extensive community engagement, the MHSA INN Encampment-Based 
Mobile Wellness Center Project Plan was written and circulated for a 30-Day Public 
Review. A Public Hearing before the Mental Health Commission Meeting was held at 
the end of the 30-Day Public Review Period. In April 2022, both the City Council and the 
California Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission (MHSOAC) 
approved the MHSA INN Project Plan.

Following project plan approvals, a panel which included members of the community 
was convened to inform what would be requested in the Request for Proposal (RFP). 
The RFP was released at the end of March 2023 and closed in May. A separate review 
panel that included members of the community was convened to review and rate the 
received proposals and Options Recovery Services was the selected vendor. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with the 
subject of this project.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The execution of this contract will ensure that additional mental health wellness services 
are implemented for individuals who are unhoused in Berkeley.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
No alternative actions were considered as City Council previously approved the 
Encampment-based Mobile Wellness Center Project Plan to implement services for 
unhoused individuals. 

CONTACT PERSON
Jeff Buell, Manager of Mental Health, HHCS, (510) 981-7682
Karen Klatt, Community Services Specialist III, HHCS, (510) 981-7644

Attachments: 
1: Resolution

Page 2 of 4

Page 74



  
 

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT: OPTIONS RECOVERY SERVICES – ENCAMPMENT-BASED MOBILE 
WELLNESS CENTER PROJECT

WHEREAS, the City’s Health, Housing, and Community Services, Mental Health Division 
(HHCS/MHD), currently receives Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) Innovation (INN) 
funds on an annual basis to implement short-term projects that will increase learning in 
the mental health field through strategies that increase the access, quality, or outcomes 
of services, and/or promote community collaborations; and

WHEREAS, the HHCS/MHD often collaborates with community partners in the 
implementation of MHSA INN funded services; and

WHEREAS, in order to utilize MHSA INN funds, the HHCS/MHD must have a stakeholder 
informed, local and state approved plan in place; and

WHEREAS, following an extensive community engagement process, a draft plan was 
developed to allocate $2,802,400 of INN funds to implement a Mobile Wellness Center 
for services, activities, and supports for the unhoused population in Berkeley; and

WHEREAS, on April 22, 2022, per Resolution No. 70,287-N.S, City Council authorized 
approval of the Encampment-based Mobile Wellness Center Project Plan and any 
extensions for services, activities and supports for homeless individuals in Berkeley for a 
total project amount not to exceed $2,802,400; and

WHEREAS, on April 26, 2022 the California Mental Health Oversight and Accountability 
Commission (MHSOAC) approved the Encampment-based Mobile Wellness Center 
Project Plan; and

WHEREAS, in March 2023, per Bid Specification 23-11952-C a Request for Proposal 
was released to find a local provider to implement this project; and

WHEREAS, in June 2023, following proposal review from a panel that included individuals 
from the community, Options Recovery Services was chosen as the vendor to implement 
these services in Berkeley; and 

WHEREAS, funds for this contract in the amount of $1,201,000 are available in the Fiscal 
Year 2024 budget in the Mental Health Services Act Fund 315; and

WHEREAS, funds in the amount of $1,601,400 will be available for this contract in the 
Fiscal Years 2025 through 2027 budgets in the Mental Health Services Act Fund 315. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager or her designee is hereby authorized to execute a contract and any 
amendments with Options Recovery Services to implement Mobile Wellness services to 

Page 3 of 4

Page 75



  
 

Page 2

individuals who are unhoused or living in encampments for a total contract amount not to 
exceed $2,802,400 through June 30, 2028, with a record signature copy of said contract 
and any amendments to be on file in the Office of the City Clerk.

Page 4 of 4

Page 76



Internal

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Lisa Warhuus, Director, Health, Housing, and Community Services

Subject: Authorizing a Lease of 830 University Avenue to Lifelong Medical Care

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt first reading of an Ordinance authorizing the City Manager to enter into a lease 
for 830 University with Lifelong Medical Care (Lifelong).

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Lifelong will pay $2,000 per month in facility costs for the duration of the lease. Revenue 
will be deposited into Fund 673, a building maintenance fund, so that these funds can 
be available for maintenance and repairs to this historic building.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Lifelong is currently operating a Trust Clinic in Oakland, which was created through a 
close partnership with Alameda County. The purpose of the Trust Clinic is to serve the 
mental and physical health needs of people experiencing homelessness, by being very 
accessible and offering a range of services. Lifelong proposes to duplicate the success 
of that clinic at 830 University.

Berkeley Free Clinic will be losing the site that they have occupied for years, due to 
redevelopment plans at that property, and proposes to relocate their services to 830 
University as well. The Berkeley Free Clinic is a worker-run collective that works to 
ensure that comprehensive, private health services are available to everyone.

Lifelong and Berkeley Free Clinic worked together to plan for use of the building, and 
will enter into an agreement regarding mutual responsibilities for this project prior to 
executing this lease. They are planning to make limited interior updates and 
renovations. This lease will run for five years with an option to renew. Staff anticipate 
submitting a lease with Berkeley Free Clinic for approval later this fall.

BACKGROUND
The Council previously approved $525,000 in Measure P funds for Lifelong to support 
the operation of this new Trust Clinic. Lifelong will use some of these funds to cover 
initial facility costs. Because this is a landmarked building, changes that can be made to 
the building are very limited.

Page 1 of 77

Page 77

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
06



Internal
Authorizing a Lease of 830 University Avenue CONSENT CALENDAR
to Lifelong Medical Care September 19, 2023

Page 2

The City has owned and operated the building at 830 University as a public health clinic 
since 1916. Ann Chandler (1941-2012) was a director of the Alameda County Public 
Health Laboratory for 25 years and a Berkeley City Council member from 1984 to1992. 
She backed the creation of a teen health clinic at Berkeley High School, advocated for 
people with HIV/AIDS, pressed for increased TB testing, and expanded mental health 
services, and the facility was named after her (the Ann Chandler Public Health Center).

In recent years the Department of Health, Housing, and Community Services Public 
Health Division (HHCS/PH) operated out of this site. Services included sexual and 
reproductive health, immunizations, Black Infant Health, and the Women, Infant, and 
Children (WIC) nutrition program. With changes in health insurance provision and 
benefits, demand for services decreased at this clinic over time. In 2022, HHCS/PH 
consolidated its sexual and reproductive health services at the High School Health 
Center and moved other services to the West Berkeley Family Center at 1900 Sixth 
Street, with a goal of creating a service-enhanced, welcoming environment for children 
and families.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no environmental sustainability and climate impacts associated directly with 
the subject matter of this report.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Leasing the 830 University site to Lifelong and Berkeley Free Clinic will ensure that a 
robust array of health care services, reaching both people experiencing homelessness 
and people who are not well-served or served at all by other health care options, will 
continue to be available in Berkeley. People who are based in Berkeley and going to the 
Oakland Trust Clinic will be able to access care closer to home. Lifelong and Berkeley 
Free Clinic will expand and carry on Berkeley’s more than 100 year tradition of providing 
health services at this site.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Staff did not identify another use of the site which would continue the legacy of the Ann 
Chandler Health Center and make full use of a site designed for clinic services. 

CONTACT PERSON
Amy Davidson, Deputy Director, HHCS, 510-981-5406

Attachments: 
1: Ordinance

Exhibit A: Lease by and between City of Berkeley and Lifelong Medical Care

Page 2 of 77

Page 78



Internal

ORDINANCE NO.    -N.S.

LEASING THE ANN CHANDLER HEALTH CENTER AT 830 UNIVERSITY TO 
LIFELONG MEDICAL CARE AND THE BERKELEY FREE CLINIC

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1. FINDINGS:
1. The City of Berkeley acquired 830 University Avenue in 1933 for use as a health 

clinic.
2. The Department of Health, Housing, and Community Services’ Public Health 

Division ceased operating clinic services in 830 University Avenue in early 2023.
3. Lifelong Medical Care has proposed using the site to offer homeless health care 

services, and the Berkeley Free Clinic has proposed to move their current 
operations to this location.

Section 2. AUTHORIZATION FOR CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A LEASE FOR 
830 UNIVERSITY.

The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a five-year lease agreement with 
the option for a five-year extension with Lifelong Medical Care for real property located 
at 830 University and known at the Ann Chandler Health Center. Such lease shall be on 
substantially the terms set forth in Exhibit A.

Section 3. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall 
be filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in 
a newspaper of general circulation.

Page 3 of 77

Page 79



Internal

LEASE

By and Between

CITY OF BERKELEY 
a Charter City organized and existing under the laws of the State of California

("Landlord")

and

LIFELONG MEDICAL CARE 
a non-profit corporation

("Tenant")

Dated:_________________, 2023

Page 4 of 77

Page 80



Internal

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

[TOC]

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A-1 Legal Description of Property
Exhibit A-2 Depiction of the Premises
Exhibit B May 20, 2022 Building Inspection Report by E. A. Davidovits & Co., Inc.

Page 5 of 77

Page 81



Internal

LEASE

BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

1. Landlord: City of Berkeley, a Charter City organized and existing under the laws of 
the State of California
2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor
Berkeley, CA 94704
Attn: Deputy Director, Health, Housing, and Community Services
Telephone:  510-981-5400

2. Tenant: Lifelong Medical Care, a non-profit corporation
2344 Sixth Street
Berkeley, CA 94710
Phone: 510-981-4177

3. Effective Date: _______________, 2023

4. Premises: Approximately ten thousand (10,000) rentable square feet of space in the 
building commonly known and referred to as 830 University Avenue, 
Berkeley, California 94710 (the "Premises").

5. Permitted Uses: Medical office and clinical operations to serve low income and unhoused 
residents of the City of Berkeley. Any other associated or related legal 
uses shall be permitted.

6. Initial Term: Five (5) years, commencing as of the "Commencement Date" as that 
term is defined in the Lease.

7. Rent: In lieu of base rent, a monthly Maintenance Fee of two thousand dollars 
($2,000) (hereinafter “Maintenance Fee” or “Rent”) shall be paid due 
during the Initial Term and during any Additional Term.

The Basic Lease Information set forth above and the Exhibits attached hereto are incorporated into 
and made a part of the following Lease. In the event of any conflict between the Basic Lease 
Information and terms of the Lease, the terms of the Lease shall control.

LANDLORD'S INITIALS_______ TENANT'S INITIALS_______

Page 6 of 77

Page 82



Internal

1

LEASE

This Lease Agreement ("Lease") is made and entered into as of the effective date specified in 
Section 3 of the Basic Lease Information, above ("Effective Date"), by and between City of 
Berkeley, a Charter City organized and existing under the laws of the State of California 
("Landlord" or "City"), and Lifelong Medical Care, a non-profit corporation ("Tenant").

1. PREMISES.

1.1. Premises. Landlord is the owner of the land parcel(s) on which the Premises are 
located (the "Property"). A legal description of the Property is attached hereto and incorporated 
by reference as Exhibit A-1. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from 
Landlord, the Premises together with Tenant Improvements (defined below), if any. A drawing 
depicting the general location and layout of the demised Premises is attached hereto and 
incorporated by reference as Exhibit A-2. Any improvements or alterations existing in the 
Premises, or otherwise constructed by Tenant or on Tenant's behalf therein pursuant to Section 9 
of this Lease are referred to in this Lease as "Tenant Improvements."

1.2. Commencement Date: [                 ], 2023

1.3. Delivery Condition. Except as otherwise expressly provided, Tenant shall accept 
the Premises "as is."

1.4. Premises Name. Tenant acknowledges that the Premises has been known as the 
Ann Chandler Public Health Clinic, and agrees that any name Tenant gives to its operations at 
the Premises shall include the term "Ann Chandler." By way of example, Tenant may use the 
name "Trust Clinic at the Ann Chandler Health Center."

2. TERM.

2.1. Initial Term. The "Initial Term" of this Lease shall be as set forth in Section 6 of 
the Basic Lease Information and shall commence as of the Commencement Date set forth in 
Section 1.2 of the Lease. The Initial Term together with any Renewal Term(s), if any, are 
collectively referred to herein as the "Term."

2.2. Renewal Term. Tenant shall have one (1) option to renew this Lease for a term of 
five (5) years (the "Renewal Term").

2.2.1 Right to Exercise. Tenant may exercise the option to renew this Lease 
only if it is fully compliant and current with all obligations after any applicable notice and cure 
periods as provided for under the Lease.

2.2.2 Notice. Tenant will provide Landlord with written notice of its election 
to renew the Lease with no less than six (6) months, prior to the end of the Term. If Tenant fails 
to provide such notice, its right to renew the Lease will not expire until fifteen (15) working days 
after the Tenant's receipt of Landlord's written demand that the Tenant exercise or forfeit the 
option to renew.

Page 7 of 77

Page 83



Internal

2

2.2.3 Extension of Term. Upon the commencement of a Renewal Term, all 
references to the Term of this Lease will be deemed to mean the Term as extended pursuant to 
this Section 2.2.

3. RENT

3.1. Maintenance Fees in Lieu of Base Rent. In lieu of base rent, Tenant shall pay 
Maintenance Fees as set forth in Section 7 of the Basic Lease Information. Maintenance Fees 
under this Lease shall become due as of the Commencement Date. Maintenance Fees shall be 
paid as set forth in Section 7 of the Basic Lease Information and this Section 3. Tenant shall pay 
to Landlord, at Landlord's address designated in Section 1 of the Basic Lease Information, or at 
such other address as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing to Tenant for the 
payment of Maintenance Fees, the Maintenance Fees designated in Section 7 of the Basic Lease 
Information, without notice, demand, offset or deduction, in advance, on the first day of each 
month of the Term. Upon execution of this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the first month's 
Maintenance Fees.  If Maintenance Fees are due for a period of less than a full month, the 
amount due shall be prorated for such partial month on the basis of a 30-day month.

3.1.1 Application of Payments.  All payments received by Landlord from 
Tenant shall be applied to the oldest obligation owed by Tenant to Landlord. No designation by 
Tenant, either in a separate writing, on a check or money order, or otherwise shall modify this 
clause or have any force or effect.

4. UTILITIES.

4.1. Tenant Utility and Service Costs. Tenant shall pay for all utilities and services 
required or desired by Tenant in connection with its use or occupancy of the Premises, including: 
(i) heat and air conditioning; (ii) water; (iii) gas, if applicable; (iv) elevator or lift service, if any; 
(v) electricity; (vi) telephone, computer, communications; (vii) trash pick-up; and (viii) any other 
materials, services, or utilities (individually and collectively, the "Services").

4.2. Conservation and Use Policies. Tenant, at its expense, shall comply with federal, 
state, or local governmental controls, rules, regulations, or restrictions on the use or consumption 
of energy or other utilities during the Term.

5. TAXES.

5.1. Taxes. Tenant represents and warrants that Tenant is a not for profit organization 
and is exempt from possessory interest tax.

6. INSURANCE.

6.1. Landlord. Landlord shall maintain insurance or an insurance equivalent insuring 
the Premises (excluding Tenant's Property and any Tenant Improvements) on an occurrence 
basis against fire and extended coverage (including, "all risk" coverage, earthquake/volcanic 
action, flood and/or surface water insurance) similar in type and coverage limits to that carried 
by Landlord on its other properties. At Landlord's option, such insurance or insurance equivalent 

Page 8 of 77

Page 84



Internal

3

may be carried under any blanket or umbrella policies or other insurance or insurance equivalent 
which Landlord has in force for other buildings or projects. Landlord may also carry such other 
insurance as Landlord may deem prudent or advisable, in such amounts and on such terms as 
Landlord shall determine. All such insurance or insurance equivalent maintained by Landlord 
pursuant to this Section 6.1 is referred to herein as "Landlord's Insurance."

6.2. Tenant. 

6.2.1 Tenant at its cost shall maintain public liability and property damage 
insurance with a single combined liability limit of $2,000,000, and property insurance against all 
risks of loss to any tenant improvements or betterments, at full replacement cost with no 
coinsurance penalty provision, including glass insurance and property damage limits of not less 
than $200,000 insuring against all liability of Tenant and its authorized representatives arising 
out of and in connection with Tenant's use or occupancy of the Premises. All such insurance 
shall insure performance by Tenant of the indemnity provisions set forth in Section 7. All 
insurance shall name the City of Berkeley, its officers, agents, volunteers and employees as 
additional insureds and shall provide primary coverage with respect to the City. All such 
insurance or insurance equivalent maintained by Tenant pursuant to this Section 6.2 is referred to 
herein as "Tenant's Insurance."

6.2.2 If the insurance referred to in this Section 6.2 is written on a Claims 
Made Form, then following termination of this Lease, coverage shall survive for a period of not 
less than five years. Coverage shall also provide for a retroactive date of placement coinciding 
with the effective date of this lease.

6.2.3 Tenant at its cost shall maintain on all its personal property, Tenant's 
Improvements, and alterations, in on, or about the Premises, a policy of standard fire and 
extended coverage insurance, with vandalism and malicious mischief endorsements. This 
coverage shall be considered primary, and the proceeds from any such policy shall be used by 
Tenant for the replacement of personal property or the restoration of Tenant's Improvements or 
alterations.

6.2.4 If Tenant employs any person, it shall carry workers' compensation 
and employer's liability insurance and shall provide a certificate of insurance to the Landlord. 
The workers' compensation insurance shall:  provide that the insurance carrier shall not cancel, 
terminate, or otherwise modify the terms and conditions of said insurance except upon thirty (30) 
days prior written notice to the Landlord (or, if the insurer will not agree to give such notice, 
Tenant must promptly notify the City of any such cancellation, termination or modification of 
coverage); provide for a waiver of any right of subrogation against Landlord to the extent 
permitted by law; and be approved as to form and sufficiency by the Landlord's Risk Manager, 
such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

6.2.5 Tenant shall forward copies of all insurance documents to: Department 
of Public Works, Real Property Division, 1947 Center Street, Fifth Floor, Ste. 521, Berkeley, 
California, 94704.

Page 9 of 77

Page 85



Internal

4

6.2.6 Waivers of Subrogation. Notwithstanding every other provision of this 
Lease to the contrary, Landlord shall not be liable (by way of subrogation or otherwise) to 
Tenant (or to any insurance company insuring Tenant), and Tenant shall not be liable (by way of 
subrogation or otherwise) to Landlord (or to any insurance company insuring Landlord), for any 
loss or damage to any of the property of Landlord or Tenant, as applicable, with respect to the 
Building, the Property or the Premises or any addition or improvements thereto, or any contents 
therein, to the extent covered by insurance carried or required to be carried by Landlord or 
Tenant, as applicable, even though such loss might have been occasioned by the negligence or 
willful acts or omissions of Landlord or Tenant, as applicable, or their respective employees, 
agents, contractors or invitees. Landlord and Tenant shall give their respective insurance 
providers which issue policies of insurance, with respect to the items covered by this waiver, 
written notice of the terms of this mutual waiver, and shall have such insurance policies properly 
endorsed, if necessary, to prevent the invalidation of any of the coverage provided by such 
insurance policies by reason of such mutual waiver. For the purpose of the foregoing waiver, the 
amount of any deductible applicable to any loss or damage shall be deemed covered by, and 
recoverable by Landlord or Tenant, as applicable, under the insurance policy to which such 
deductible relates.

7. INDEMNITY; LIABILITY EXEMPTION.

7.1. Indemnity. Except to the extent claims are caused by Landlord's negligence or 
willful misconduct, Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend, and hold harmless Landlord and its 
elected officials, officers, employees, volunteers, lenders, agents, representatives, contractors and 
each of their successors and assigns from and against any and all claims, judgments, causes of 
action, damages, penalties, costs, liabilities, and expenses, including all costs, attorneys' fees, 
expenses and liabilities incurred in the defense of any such claim or any action or proceeding 
brought thereon, arising at any time during or after the Term as a result (directly or indirectly) of 
or in connection with (i) any default in the performance of any obligation on Tenant's part to be 
performed under the terms of this Lease, where the same continues beyond applicable notice and 
cure periods; (ii) Tenant's use of the Premises, the conduct of Tenant's business or any activity, 
work or thing done, permitted or suffered by Tenant in or about the Premises or the Property; 
(iii) all damages, liability, fines, penalties, and any other consequences arising from any 
noncompliance or violation of any laws, Ordinances, codes, or regulations, including but not 
limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1979 and the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990; or (iv) any act, error or omission of Tenant in or about the Property or any portion 
thereof (collectively, the "Indemnification"). Tenant shall provide such Indemnification by and 
through counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord; provided, additionally, that the Berkeley 
City Attorney’s Office may participate in the response to or defense of any Indemnification 
claim under this Section 7.1 at the City’s sole expense. Without limiting Tenant's 
Indemnification obligations, Landlord shall be entitled to participate in the defense of any third 
party claim that is reasonably likely to give rise to Indemnification claim under this Section 7.1. 
Landlord shall indemnify, protect, defend, and hold harmless Tenant and its officers, employees, 
volunteers, lenders, agents, representatives, contractors and each of their successors and assigns 
from and against any and all claims, judgments, causes of action, damages, penalties, costs, 

Page 10 of 77

Page 86



Internal

5

liabilities, and expenses, including all costs, attorneys' fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in 
the defense of any such claim or any action or proceeding brought thereon, arising at any time 
during or after the Term as a result (directly or indirectly) of or in connection (1) the active 
negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, or its officers, employees, volunteers, lenders, 
agents, representatives, contractors and each of their successors and assigns, and (2) any default 
in the performance of any obligation on Landlord’s part to be performed under the terms of this 
Lease. The obligations of Tenant and Landlord under this Section 7.1 shall survive the expiration 
or other termination of this Lease with respect to any claims or liability arising prior to such 
expiration or other termination. 

7.2. Exemption of Landlord from Liability. Tenant, as a material part of the 
consideration to Landlord, hereby assumes all risk of damage to property including, but not 
limited to, Tenant's Property and any Tenant Improvements, and injury to or death of persons in, 
upon or about the Premises or the Property arising from any cause, and Tenant hereby waives all 
claims in respect thereof against Landlord, except to the extent such claims are caused by 
Landlord's active negligence or willful misconduct. Tenant hereby agrees that Landlord shall not 
be liable for injury to Tenant's business or any loss of income therefrom or for damage to the 
property of Tenant, or injury to or death of Tenant's officers, agents, or employees, or any other 
person in or about the Premises or the Property, whether such damage or injury is caused by fire, 
steam, electricity, gas, water or rain, or from the breakage, leakage or other defects of sprinklers, 
wires, appliances, plumbing, air conditioning or lighting fixtures, or from any other cause, 
whether said damage or injury results from conditions arising within or about the Premises or the 
Property or from other sources or places, except damage or injury caused by Landlord's active 
negligence or willful misconduct. Landlord shall not be liable for any damages arising from any 
act or neglect of any other tenant or occupant, if any, of the Premises or the Property except to 
the extent such damages are caused by Landlord's failure to enforce the terms of any agreements 
or any applicable law with parties other than Tenant.

8. REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE.

8.1. Landlord's Repair and Maintenance. During the Term, Landlord shall be 
responsible for maintaining in good order, condition, and repair the following elements of the 
Premises: the foundations and footings of the Premises; all structural elements of the Premises, 
including roof structure, exterior walls, and interior bearing walls. Landlord's repair and 
maintenance requirements under this Section 8.1 shall include the necessary replacement of any 
of the listed elements of the Premises; provided, however, the scope of such requirements shall 
be subject to whether landlords of comparable buildings in the City of Berkeley would make the 
replacements of the listed elements of the Premises.  

8.1.1 Performance by Tenant. If Tenant determines that any elements of the 
Premises subject to this Section 8.1 require maintenance, repair, or replacement, Tenant shall 
provide written notice of such to Landlord. Should Landlord fail to perform, within a reasonable 
time after such notice by Tenant, any maintenance, repairs, or replacements subject to this 
Section 8.1 (and expressly including Landlord's reasonably discretion hereunder), Tenant shall 
have the right (but not the obligation) to undertake such actions as may reasonably be required to 
effect a cure of Landlord's failure to so perform. Prior to undertaking any such actions, however, 

Page 11 of 77

Page 87



Internal

6

Tenant shall consult with Landlord's Director of Public Works or their designee to determine the 
appropriate scope and cost of such actions. Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for all agreed upon, 
reasonable and necessary costs of cure within thirty (30) days after Tenant's delivery if an 
itemized statement of such costs, together with reasonable supporting documentation. Tenant 
may offset against Rent and other sums due to Landlord under the Lease any undisputed sums 
not timely paid by Landlord to Tenant, including interest thereon at the maximum lawful rate.

8.2. Parking, Exterior Lighting, Landscaping. Tenant shall maintain the exterior 
lighting system and landscaping of the Building, in good order, condition, and repair.

8.3. Security. Tenant shall maintain all locks and key systems used in the Premises.

9. TENANT IMPROVEMENTS.

9.1. Pre-Approved Tenant Improvements. Subject to obtaining all required permits 
and approvals, including from the Director of Public Works representing the Landlord, Tenant 
will perform all maintenance, repairs and replacements called for by the May 20, 2022 Building 
Inspection Report by E. A. Davidovits & Co., Inc. (including all appendices but with the 
exception of roof maintenance or replacement), attached hereto as Exhibit B at its sole cost and 
expense.   

9.2. Further Tenant Improvements. Tenant may make future alterations and 
improvements to the Premises with Landlord's prior written consent, not to be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Tenant shall have no duty to remove any alterations or 
improvements unless they are not customary for medical office use and Landlord notifies Tenant 
of the removal requirement at the time Landlord gives its consent to the alterations or 
improvements. Tenant may, at its sole cost and expense, install, operate, maintain, upgrade, 
repair, or replace an alarm, access control, or other building security system. Tenant may, at its 
sole cost and expense, install, operate, maintain, upgrade, repair, or replace, a solar electric 
generating system, which may include rooftop solar panels and battery backups. Landlord 
expressly grants Tenant the right to install solar panels on the roof of the Premises, and Tenant 
shall have no duty to remove such solar panels.

9.3. Standard of Work. All work to be performed by or on behalf of Landlord and 
Tenant shall be performed diligently and in a first-class, workmanlike manner, and in 
compliance with all applicable Laws and all insurance carrier requirements. Landlord shall have 
the right, but not the obligation, to periodically inspect such work and may require changes in the 
method or quality thereof.  In no event shall such work materially obstruct access to the Property 
or any portion thereof.

9.4. Damage; Removal. Tenant shall repair all damage to the Premises, Property and 
any portions thereof caused by the installation or removal of alterations or other work performed 
by or on behalf of Tenant. If Landlord requires Tenant to remove improvements under Section 
9.2, Tenant shall remove Tenant's trade fixtures and other improvements, alterations and 
additions and restore the Premises to their condition existing prior to the construction or 
installation of any such items and perform any closure work, investigation and environmental 
remedial work required by the presence or suspected presence of any Hazardous Materials under 

Page 12 of 77

Page 88



Internal

7

Hazardous Materials Laws (as hereinafter defined) or by any other applicable Laws, but only to 
the extent Tenant, and not the Landlord or BFC (or their respective officers, employees, 
volunteers, lenders, agents, representatives, contractors and each of their successors and assigns), 
is responsible for causing the presence or suspected presence of Hazardous Materials in violation 
of Hazardous Materials Laws. All such removals and restoration shall be accomplished in a good 
and workmanlike manner so as not to cause any damage to the Premises or the Property 
whatsoever and in strict accordance with all applicable Laws.

9.5. Liens. Tenant shall promptly pay and discharge all claims for labor performed, 
supplies furnished and services rendered at the request of Tenant and shall keep the Premises and 
Property and all portions thereof free of all mechanics' and materialmen's liens in connection 
therewith. Tenant shall provide at least ten (10) business days' prior written notice to Landlord 
before any labor is performed, supplies furnished or services rendered on or at the Premises and 
Landlord shall have the right to post on the Premises notices of non-responsibility. If any lien is 
filed, Tenant shall cause such lien to be released and removed within twenty (20) days after the 
date of filing, and if Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may take such action as may be necessary to 
remove such lien, without the duty to investigate the validity of it, and Tenant shall pay Landlord 
such amounts expended by Landlord together with interest thereon, at the Applicable Interest 
Rate, from the date of expenditure.

9.6. Bonds. Landlord may require Tenant to provide Landlord, at Tenant's sole cost 
and expense, lien, performance, and payment completion bonds in an amount equal to one and 
one-half times the estimated cost of any alterations, additions, or improvements to insure 
Landlord, the Premises and the Property against any liability for mechanic's and materialmen's 
liens, and to ensure completion of the work and payment of any contractors or subcontractors.

10. USE; JOINT POSSESSION; INSPECTION; QUIET ENJOYMENT.

10.1. Usage. The Premises shall be used only for the permitted uses set forth in Section 
5 of the Basic Lease Information and for no other purpose without the prior written consent of 
Landlord. Tenant acknowledges that, except as expressly set forth in this Lease, neither Landlord 
nor any of Landlord's agents has made any representation or warranty with regard to the 
Premises, any Tenant Improvements, or the Property with respect to their suitability for the 
conduct of Tenant's business. Tenant, at Tenant's expense, shall comply with all applicable 
Hazardous Materials Laws, statutes, laws, codes, rules, orders, zoning, ordinances, directions, 
regulations, regulations, permits, or other requirements of federal, state, county, municipal, or 
other governmental authorities having jurisdiction, now in force or which may hereafter be in 
force (individually "Law" and collectively "Laws"), which shall impose any duty upon Landlord 
or Tenant with respect to the use, occupancy, or alteration of the Premises; provided, however, if 
the Hazardous Materials was pre-existing prior to the Commencement Date, then Landlord, at its 
sole cost and expense, shall remedy such condition to comply with all Laws, and further 
provided that Tenant shall not be required under this Lease to remedy any such condition to the 
extent it is caused by BFC. Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining any permit or license 
required by any governmental agency permitting Tenant's use of the Premises.

Page 13 of 77

Page 89



Internal

8

10.2. Joint Possession of and Operations on the Premises. Landlord and Tenant 
acknowledge and agree that, Landlord shall enter into a separate lease for the Premises with 
Berkeley Free Clinic ("BFC") to run concurrently with this Lease. Landlord and Tenant further 
acknowledge and agree that concurrently with the execution of this Lease, Tenant, and BFC will 
enter into a joint operating agreement ("JOA") under which Tenant will occupy the Premises 
between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. Monday through Friday, and BFC will occupy the 
Premises on weekends and during the weekday hours not devoted to Tenant's use. It is 
understood that BFC shall be required under the JOA to operate in a manner consistent with the 
terms of this Lease. The JOA, as it may be revised or amended from time to time, shall be 
subordinate to the terms of this Lease.  The parties agree their usage of the Premises space shall 
comply with any and all applicable requirements under the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act and other legal and health care regulatory requirements.  In the event that the 
lease between Landlord and BFC terminates or expires, then Tenant shall have exclusive 
possession of the Premises twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week with no 
reduction in the Maintenance Fee.  Upon the termination of expiration of the lease between 
Landlord and BFC, the JOA shall be automatically terminated.  

10.3. Inspection. Landlord, or its representative or contractor, may enter the Premises 
by prior appointment with at least two business days’ written notice between the hours of 9:00 
a.m. and 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday, holidays excepted, to determine that (i) the 
Premises is being reasonably cared for, (ii) no waste is being made and that all actions affecting 
the Premises are done in the manner best calculated to preserve the Premises, and (iii) Tenant is 
in compliance with the terms and conditions of this lease.

10.4. Quiet Enjoyment. Tenant may not commit, or suffer to be committed, any waste 
upon the Premises, or any nuisance or other act or thing that may disturb the quiet enjoyment of 
any other occupant of the Building. For so long as Tenant is in compliance with the material 
terms of this Lease, Landlord shall warrant and defend Tenant in the quiet enjoyment and 
possession of the Premises during the Term. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that possession or 
use of the Premises by BFC in a manner consistent with the terms of any JOA pursuant to 
Section 10.2 and any applicable laws shall not constitute a violation of this Section 10.4.

11. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS.

11.1. Hazardous Materials Defined. As used in this lease, the term "Hazardous 
Materials" refers to any and all pollutants, wastes, flammables, explosives, radioactive 
materials, hazardous, biohazardous, or toxic materials, hazardous, biohazardous, or toxic wastes, 
hazardous, biohazardous, or toxic substances, carcinogenic materials or contaminants, and all 
other materials governed, monitored, or regulated by any Federal, State or local law or 
regulation, including but not limited to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation and Liability Act, the Hazardous Substances Account Act, and/or the Resources 
Conservation and Recovery Act.

11.2. Warranty; Hold Harmless. Landlord warrants that Landlord has no knowledge of 
the presence of any Hazardous Materials or other contamination in or under the Premises or 
Property in violation of any laws, codes, rules, orders, ordinances, directives, regulations, 

Page 14 of 77

Page 90



Internal

9

permits, or other requirements of federal, state, county, municipal or governmental authorities 
having jurisdiction, now in force or which may hereafter be in force concerning the management, 
use, generation, storage, transportation, presence, discharge or disposal of Hazardous Materials. 
Landlord shall defend, save, protect and hold Tenant harmless from any loss arising out of the 
presence of any Hazardous Materials on the Property that was not brought to the Property by or 
at the request of Tenant, its agents, contractors, invitees or employees. Landlord acknowledges 
and agrees that Tenant has no obligation to clean up or remediate, or contribute to the cost of 
clean-up or remediation, of any Hazardous Materials unless such Hazardous Materials are 
released, discharged or spilled on or about the Property by Tenant or any of its agents, 
employees, contractors, invitees or other representatives. The obligations of this Section shall 
survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

12. DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION.

12.1. Perilous Condition. If, during the Term, Landlord's Director of Public Works 
becomes aware of a perilous condition on the Premises that, in his or her opinion, substantially 
and significantly threatens the health and safety of Tenant's employees or invitees (a "Perilous 
Condition"), the Director of Public Works, or his or her designee, will immediately notify 
Tenant of such Perilous Condition, and Tenant shall use best efforts to promptly eliminate the 
Perilous Condition. Tenant shall immediately address any condition reasonably constituting an 
emergency, whether Tenant learns of the condition through Landlord or otherwise. If Tenant 
fails to address a Perilous Condition within thirty six (36) hours after Landlord's notice or to 
immediately address an emergency situation, Landlord may attempt to resolve the Perilous 
Condition or emergency situation. Subject to repair and maintenance obligations set forth in 
Section 8, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any costs incurred by Landlord in addressing the 
Perilous Condition or emergency situation promptly upon receipt of any Landlord's invoice for 
such costs.  

12.2. Insured Casualty. If, during the Term, the Premises are totally or partially 
destroyed or utility services are cut off from any cause rendering the Premises totally or partially 
inaccessible or unusable (the "Casualty"), and if the restoration can be made under then existing 
Laws and can be completed within one hundred twenty (120) days after obtaining all necessary 
permits therefor and if the costs of such restoration are compensable by Landlord's insurance (an 
"Insured Casualty"), then Landlord shall restore the Premises (excluding Tenant's Property and 
any Tenant Improvements) to substantially the same condition as they were in immediately 
before destruction. If the existing Laws do not permit the restoration or if the costs of such 
restoration are not compensable by Landlord's insurance, either party may terminate this Lease 
by giving ninety (90) days' prior written notice to the other party. In case of Insured Casualty, 
there shall be an abatement or reduction of Maintenance Fees owed to Landlord, between the 
date of Insured Casualty and the date of completion of restoration if restoration takes place, or 
the earliest allowed date of termination if restoration does not take place and whether or not the 
Lease is terminated, based on the proportion to which the destruction renders the Premises 
unusable by Tenant for the ordinary conduct of business.  

12.3. Tenant's Fault. If the Premises, the Property, or any portion thereof, are damaged 
resulting from the negligence or breach of this Lease by Tenant or any of its agents, employees, 

Page 15 of 77

Page 91



Internal

10

contractors, invitees or other representatives and Tenant fails to cure such damage within a 
reasonable amount of time following written notice from Landlord, Maintenance Fees owed to 
Landlord shall not be reduced during the repair of such damage, Tenant shall have no right to 
terminate this Lease as provided in Section 12.1, and Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for the 
cost of the repair caused thereby to the extent such cost is not covered by insurance proceeds.  

12.4. Repair Limitation. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, 
Landlord shall not be required to repair any injury or damage, by fire or other cause, to Tenant's 
Property or any Tenant Improvements, if any, or to rebuild, repair or replace any decorations, 
alterations, partitions, fixtures, trade fixtures, additions or other improvements installed on the 
Premises by or for Tenant, unless and to the extent Landlord has received insurance proceeds 
from Tenant's property insurance as provided in Section 6.2 above, and neither Tenant or 
Landlord has opted to terminate this Lease as provided in Section 12.1.

12.5. Waiver. The provisions of this Lease contain an express agreement between 
Landlord and Tenant that applies in the event of any Casualty. Tenant fully waives the provisions 
of any statute or regulation, including California Civil Code sections 1932(2) and 1933(4) (as 
amended from time to time, and successor statutes thereto) for any rights or obligations 
concerning a Casualty.

13. EMINENT DOMAIN.

13.1. Effect on Rights and Obligations. If the whole or any substantial part of the 
Premises, or if the Property or any portion thereof which would leave the remainder of the 
Property unsuitable for the Permitted Uses, or if the land on which the Property is located or any 
material portion thereof, shall be taken or condemned for any public or quasi public use under 
governmental law, ordinance or regulation, or by right of eminent domain, or by private purchase 
in lieu thereof (each a "Taking"), then Landlord may, at its option, terminate this Lease and 
Maintenance Fees shall be abated during the unexpired portion of this Lease, effective when the 
physical taking of said Premises or said portion of the Property or land shall occur. However, if 
Landlord does not, in its sole discretion, opt to terminate this Lease in accordance with this 
Section 13, then this Lease shall remain in effect. Landlord shall maintain or terminate the leases 
of all other tenants in the Property who are similarly situated to Tenant consistent with its option 
with regard to Tenant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the whole of the Premises is subject to 
the Taking, or if the portion of the Premises not affected by the Taking is not in Tenant's 
business judgment reasonably suitable for Tenant's continued occupancy, Tenant may terminate 
this Lease as of the date of the Taking and be relieved of all obligations thereafter accruing under 
this Lease. If Tenant elects to terminate this Lease, Tenant must exercise its right to terminate by 
giving written notice to Landlord within 30 days after the Taking, as of the date of termination, 
which date shall not be earlier than 30 days nor later than 90 days after Tenant has notified 
Landlord of its election to terminate; except that this Lease shall terminate on the date of Taking 
if the date of Taking falls on a date before the date of termination as designated by Tenant. If 
Tenant does not terminate this Lease within the 30-day period, this Lease shall continue in full 
force and effect, except that the Maintenance Fees owed to Landlord thereafter to be paid shall 
be reduced on a pro-rata basis. Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing of any condemnation or 
threatened condemnation within ten (10) days after Tenant receives notice of said action or 

Page 16 of 77

Page 92



Internal

11

threatened action. Where only a portion of the Premises is subject to a Taking and neither 
Landlord nor Tenant terminates this Lease, Landlord shall promptly restore the remainder of the 
Premises into an architectural whole and functional condition and the Maintenance Fees for any 
portion of the Premises subject to (or rendered unusable by) the Taking shall be abated during 
the unexpired Term effective when the physical taking of said portion of the Premises shall 
occur.  Provided that Landlord complies with the preceding sentence, the Taking shall not be 
construed to constitute an actual or constructive eviction of Tenant or a breach of any express or 
implied covenant of quiet enjoyment.

13.2. Award. In connection with any condemnation, Landlord shall be entitled to 
receive all compensation and anything of value awarded, paid, or received in settlement or 
otherwise ("Award") and Tenant hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers to Landlord all rights 
to and interests in the Award and fully waives, releases, and relinquishes any claim to, right to 
make a claim on, or interest in the Award, including any amount attributable to any excess of the 
market value of the Premises for the remainder of the Term over the present value as of the 
termination date of the Rent payable for the remainder of the Term (commonly referred to as the 
"bonus value" of the Lease).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any portions of such award or 
proceeds which are specifically allocated by the condemning or purchasing party for the taking 
of or damage to trade fixtures of Tenant and moving and relocation costs shall be reserved 
specifically for Tenant. 

14. DEFAULT.

14.1. Events of Default. The occurrence of any of the following events shall, at 
Landlord's option, constitute an "Event of Default:"

14.1.1 As to Tenant: (i) Tenant's failure to pay Maintenance Fees within ten 
business days after receipt of a written notice of such failure from Landlord to Tenant; (ii) 
Tenant's failure to comply with any other material term or provision of this Lease if such failure 
is not remedied within thirty (30) days after receipt of a written notice specifying the nature of 
the breach in reasonably sufficient detail; provided, however, if such default cannot reasonably 
be remedied within such thirty day period, then a default will not be deemed to occur until the 
occurrence of Tenant's failure to comply within the period of time that may be reasonably 
required to remedy the default, up to an aggregate of ninety days (90), provided Tenant 
commences curing such default within thirty (30) days and thereafter diligently proceeds to cure 
such default.

14.1.2 As to Landlord: Landlord's failure to perform any obligation under this 
Lease if such failure is not remedied within thirty (30) days after receipt of a written notice from 
Tenant to Landlord specifying the nature of the breach in reasonably sufficient detail; provided, 
however, if such breach cannot reasonably be remedied within such thirty (30) day period, then a 
default will not be deemed to occur until the occurrence of Landlord's failure to perform within 
the period of time that may be reasonably required to remedy the breach, up to an aggregate of 
ninety (90) days, provided Landlord commences curing such breach within thirty (30) days and 
thereafter diligently proceeds to cure such breach. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Landlord's 
failure to perform any obligation under this Lease renders the Premises wholly or partially 

Page 17 of 77

Page 93



Internal

12

unusable by Tenant for the ordinary conduct of business for more than two (2) consecutive 
business days, then Landlord shall remedy such failure within five (5) business days after 
receiving written notice from Tenant to Landlord and Tenant shall be entitled to an abatement of 
Maintenance Fees owed to Landlord, to be prorated on the basis of a 30-day month, for the 
number of days such failure is not remedied after Landlord receives written notice from Tenant.  
For the avoidance of doubt, the abatement of rent provided for under this Section shall not be 
Tenant’s sole remedy for Landlord’s failure to perform Lease obligations.

14.2. Remedies.

14.2.1 Termination. In the event of the occurrence of any Event of Default, 
Landlord shall have the right to give a written termination notice to Tenant and, on the date 
specified in such notice (which date shall be at least three (3) business days following the date of 
delivery of such notice), this Lease shall terminate unless on or before such date all arrears of 
Rent and all other sums payable by Tenant under this Lease and all costs and expenses incurred 
by or on behalf of Landlord hereunder shall have been paid by Tenant and all other Events of 
Default at the time existing shall have been fully remedied to the satisfaction of Landlord.

A. Repossession. Following termination, without prejudice to other 
remedies Landlord may have, Landlord may (i) peaceably re-enter the Premises upon voluntary 
surrender by Tenant, or remove Tenant therefrom and any other persons occupying the Premises 
following reasonable written notice, using such legal proceedings as may be available; (ii) 
repossess the Premises or relet the Premises or any part thereof for such term (which may be for 
a term extending beyond the Term), at such rental and upon such other terms and conditions as 
Landlord in Landlord's sole discretion shall determine, with the right to make reasonable 
alterations and repairs to the Premises; and (iii) remove all personal property therefrom.

14.3. Cumulative. Each right and remedy of Landlord provided for herein or now or 
hereafter existing at Law or in equity, by statute or otherwise shall be cumulative and shall not 
preclude Landlord from exercising any other rights or remedies provided for in this Lease or now 
or hereafter existing at Law or in equity, by statute or otherwise. No payment by Tenant of a 
lesser amount than the Maintenance Fees nor any endorsement on any check or letter 
accompanying any check or payment of Maintenance Fees shall be deemed an accord and 
satisfaction of full payment thereof; and Landlord may accept such payment without prejudice to 
Landlord's right to recover the balance of such Maintenance Fees or to pursue other remedies.

15. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.

15.1. Landlord's Consent. Tenant shall not assign, sublet or otherwise transfer, whether 
voluntarily or involuntarily or by operation of Law, this Lease, the Premises or any part thereof, 
without Landlord's prior written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned, or delayed. Upon the assignment of the Lease by Tenant, the Tenant will have no 
further obligation under the Lease.

15.2. Joint Possession not a Sublease. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that 
the JOA shall not constitute a sublease or assignment under this Section 15.

Page 18 of 77

Page 94



Internal

13

16. NON-DISCRIMINATION AGAINST PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES

16.1. If Tenant provides any aid, service or benefit to others on the City's behalf, 
Tenant shall, in the provision of such aid, service or benefit, observe and comply with all 
applicable provisions of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and any 
amendments thereto.  Tenant shall further observe and comply with all applicable federal, state, 
municipal and local laws, Ordinances, codes and regulations prohibiting discrimination against 
individuals with disabilities or ensuring that individuals with disabilities are not excluded from 
participating in or receiving benefits, services or activities of the City.

16.2. If Tenant is or becomes a "public accommodation" as defined in Title III of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Tenant shall observe and comply with all applicable 
provisions of the Act and any amendments thereto, and all applicable federal, state, municipal 
and local laws, Ordinances, codes and regulations prohibiting discrimination on the basis of 
disability in the full and equal enjoyment of goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or 
accommodations offered by the Tenant.  All Tenant's activities must be in accordance with these 
laws, Ordinances, codes, and regulations, and Tenant shall be solely responsible for complying 
therewith.

17. CITY NON-DISCRIMINATION ORDINANCE

17.1. Tenant agrees to comply with the provisions of Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 
13.26 as amended from time to time.  In the performance of this lease, the Tenant agrees as 
follows:

17.1.1 The Tenant shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant 
for employment because of race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, age (over 40), sex, 
pregnancy, marital status, disability, sexual orientation or AIDS.

17.1.2 The Tenant shall permit the Landlord access to records of employment 
advertisements, application forms, EEO-1 forms, affirmative action plans and any other 
documents which, in the opinion of the Landlord, are necessary to monitor compliance with this 
non-discrimination provision, and will, in addition, fill-out in a timely fashion, forms supplied by 
the Landlord to monitor these non-discrimination provisions.

18. NUCLEAR FREE BERKELEY

18.1. Tenant agrees to comply with Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 12.90, the 
Nuclear Free Berkeley Act, as amended from time to time.

19. OPPRESSIVE STATES

19.1. In accordance with Resolution No. 59,853-N.S., Tenant certifies that it has no 
contractual relations with, and agrees during the term of this Lease to forego contractual relations 
to provide personal services to or to purchase, sell, lease or distribute commodities in the conduct 
of business with, the following entities:

Page 19 of 77

Page 95



Internal

14

(1) The governing regime in any Oppressive State.

(2) Any business or corporation organized under the authority of the governing regime of 
any Oppressive State.

(3) Any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, association, or any other commercial 
organization, and including parent-entities and wholly-owned subsidiaries (to the 
extent that their operations are related to the purpose of its contract with the City), for 
the express purpose of assisting in business operations or trading with any public or 
private entity located in any Oppressive State

19.2. For purposes of this lease, the Tibet Autonomous Region and the provinces of 
Ado, Kham, and U-Tsang shall be deemed oppressive states.

19.3. Tenant’s failure to comply with this section following thirty (30) days’ written 
notice from Landlord shall constitute a default of this lease and Landlord may terminate this 
lease pursuant to Section 14. In the event that the City terminates this lease due to a default under 
this provision, City may deem Tenant a non-responsible bidder for five (5) years from the date 
this lease is terminated.

20. BERKELEY LIVING WAGE ORDINANCE

20.1. Tenant agrees to comply with Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 13.27, the 
Berkeley Living Wage Ordinance. If Tenant employs six (6) or more part-time, full-time or 
stipend employees, and generates $350,000 or more in annual gross receipts, Tenant will be 
required to provide all eligible employees with City mandated minimum compensation during 
the term of this lease, as defined in B.M.C. Chapter 13.27, and well as comply with the terms 
enumerated herein.

20.2. Tenant shall be required to maintain all reasonable records and documents that 
would establish whether Tenant is subject to Berkeley's Living Wage Ordinance (LWO). If 
Tenant is subject to the LWO, as defined therein, Tenant shall be further required to maintain 
monthly records of those employees located on the leased Premises. These records shall include 
the total number of hours worked, the number of hours spent providing service on the leased 
property, the hourly rate paid, and the amount paid by Tenant for health benefits, if any, for each 
of its employees providing services under the lease. The records described in this Section shall 
be made available upon the City's request. The failure to produce these records upon demand 
shall be considered an Event of Default.  The City shall (i) handle such records and documents in 
accordance with any and all applicable requirements under the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act and other legal and health care regulatory requirements and (ii) not disclose 
Tenant’s Confidential Information, except as expressly permitted in this Lease or otherwise 
required by law.  

The term “Confidential Information” shall include non-public information about the Tenant’s 
business or activities that is proprietary and/or confidential, including, without limitation, all 
business, financial, technical, and other information of a party marked or designated as 
“confidential” (or some similar designation) or that, by its nature or the circumstances 

Page 20 of 77

Page 96



Internal

15

surrounding its disclosure, should reasonably be regarded as confidential. Landlord hereby 
agrees to (i) use the Confidential Information of the Tenant solely for the purpose of performing 
its obligations under this Agreement; (ii) hold the Tenant’s Confidential Information in strict 
confidence, and; (iii) not disclose such Confidential Information or any part thereof, to any 
person, except those officers, employees, agents or professional advisors (or those of its 
Affiliates) with a strict “need to know” in order for the Landlord to perform its obligations 
hereunder, provided that such officers, employees, agents or professional advisors shall prior to 
any disclosure, have agreed by signed writing or otherwise to be bound by confidentiality 
obligations no less strict than those described herein.  Confidential Information shall not include 
(i) any information already rightfully in the public domain at the time of its disclosure or 
subsequently released into the public domain by the Tenant; (ii) any information already 
rightfully in the possession of the Landlord at the time of its disclosure by the Tenant without an 
obligation to maintain its confidentiality; (iii) any information that is independently  developed 
by the Landlord without use of or reference to any Confidential Information of the Tenant, in 
either case such fact being proven through documentary evidence; (iv) information obtained by 
the Landlord from a third Party not in breach of any confidentiality obligations to the Tenant (v) 
information required to be disclosed by law, a court order or competent government authority, 
provided that in such case the Landlord shall, to the extent permitted by law, promptly inform the 
Tenant of such requirement of disclosure such that the Tenant has an opportunity to object to the 
production or disclosure by seeking a protective order.

Landlord acknowledges that the Tenant considers its Confidential Information to contain 
confidential, proprietary, trade secret information of the Tenant and that any unauthorized use or 
disclosure of such information would cause the Tenant irreparable harm for which its remedies at 
law would be inadequate. Accordingly, Landlord acknowledges and agrees that the Tenant will 
be entitled in addition to any other remedies available to it at law or in equity, to seek the 
issuance of injunctive relief, enjoin any breach or threatened breach of the Landlord’s obligations 
hereunder with respect to the Confidential Information of the Tenant, in addition to such further 
injunctive relief as any court of competent jurisdiction may deem just and proper.

20.3. If Tenant is subject to the LWO, Tenant shall include the requirements of the 
Ordinance, as defined in B.M.C. Chapter 13.27, in any and all subleases in which Tenant enters 
with regard to the subject Premises. Subtenants shall be required to comply with this Ordinance 
with regard to any employees who spend 25% or more of their compensated time on the 
Premises.

20.4. If Tenant fails to comply with the requirements of this the LWO and this Lease, 
the City shall have the rights and remedies described in this Section 20, in addition to any rights 
and remedies provided by law or equity.

20.5. Tenant's failure to comply with this Section 20 shall constitute an Event of 
Default. In addition, at City's sole discretion, Tenant may be responsible for liquidated damages 
in the amount of $50 per employee per day for each and every instance of an underpayment to an 
employee. It is mutually understood and agreed that Tenant's failure to pay any of its eligible 
employees at least the applicable living wage rate will result in damages being sustained by the 
City; that the nature and amount of the damages will be extremely difficult and impractical to 

Page 21 of 77

Page 97



Internal

16

fix; that the liquidated damages set forth herein is the nearest and most exact measure of damage 
for such breach that can be fixed at this time; and that the liquidated damage amount is not 
intended as a penalty of forfeiture for Tenant's breach.

21. BERKELEY EQUAL BENEFITS ORDINANCE

21.1. Tenant hereby agrees to comply with the provisions of the Berkeley Equal 
Benefits Ordinance, B.M.C. Chapter 13.29. If Tenant is currently subject to the Berkeley Equal 
Benefits Ordinance, Tenant will be required to provide all eligible employees with City 
mandated equal benefits during the term of this lease, as defined in B.M.C. Chapter 13.29, as 
well as comply with the terms enumerated herein.

21.2. If Tenant is currently or becomes subject to the Berkeley Equal Benefits 
Ordinance, Tenant agrees to supply the City with any records the City deems necessary to 
determine compliance with this provision. Failure to do so shall be a considered an Event of 
Default.  The City shall (i) handle such records in accordance with any and all applicable 
requirements under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and other legal and 
health care regulatory requirements and (ii) not disclose Tenant’s Confidential Information, 
except as expressly permitted in this Lease or required by law.

21.3. If Tenant fails to comply with the requirements of this Section 21, City shall have 
the rights and remedies described in this Section, in addition to any rights and remedies provided 
by law or equity.

21.4. Tenant’s failure to comply with this Section 21 shall constitute an Event of 
Default. In addition, at City’s sole discretion, Tenant may be responsible for liquidated damages 
in the amount of $50.00 per employee per day for each and every instance of violation of this 
Section 21. It is mutually understood and agreed that Tenant’s failure to provide its employees 
with equal benefits will result in damages being sustained by City; that the nature and amount of 
these damages will be extremely difficult and impractical to fix; that the liquidated damages set 
forth herein is the nearest and most exact measure of damages for such breach that can be fixed 
at this time; and that the liquidated damage amount is not intended as a penalty or forfeiture for 
Tenant’s breach.

22. SANCTUARY CITY CONTRACTING ORDINANCE

22.1. Tenant hereby agrees to comply with the provisions of the Sanctuary City 
Contracting Ordinance, B.M.C. Chapter 13.105.  In accordance with this Chapter, Tenant agrees 
not to provide the U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement Division of the United States 
Department of Homeland Security with any Data Broker or Extreme Vetting Services as defined 
herein:

a. “Data Broker” means either of the following:

1. The collection of information, including personal information about 
consumers, from a wide variety of sources for the purposes of reselling such 

Page 22 of 77

Page 98



Internal

17

information to their customers, which include both private-sector business and 
government agencies;

2. The aggregation of data that was collected for another purpose from that for 
which it is ultimately used.

b. “Extreme Vetting” means data mining, threat modeling, predictive risk analysis, or 
other similar services.  Extreme Vetting does not include:

1. The City’s computer-network health and performance tools;

2. Cybersecurity capabilities, technologies and systems used by the City of 
Berkeley Department of Information Technology to predict, monitor for, 
prevent, and protect technology infrastructure and systems owned and 
operated by the City of Berkeley from potential cybersecurity events and 
cyber-forensic based investigations and prosecutions of illegal computer-
based activity.

23. CONFLICT OF INTEREST PROHIBITED

23.1. In accordance with California Government Code Section 1090, Berkeley City 
Charter Section 36 and B.M.C. Chapter 3.64, neither Tenant nor any employee, officer, director, 
partner or member of Tenant, or immediate family member of any of the preceding, shall have 
served as an elected officer, an employee, or a committee or commission member of Landlord, 
who has directly or indirectly influenced the making of this Lease.

23.2. In accordance with California Government Code Section 1090 and the Political 
Reform Act, (Government Code Section 87100 et seq.,) no person who is a director, officer, 
partner, trustee, employee or consultant of Tenant, or immediate family member of any of the 
preceding, shall make or participate in a decision made by Landlord or any of its boards, 
commissions or committees, if it is reasonably foreseeable that the decision will have a material 
effect on any source of income, investment or interest in real property of that person or Tenant, 
except to the extent permitted by 2 California Code of Regulations, Section 18700(c)(2).

23.3. Interpretation of this paragraph shall be governed by the definitions and 
provisions use in the Political Reform Act, Government Code section 87100 et seq., its 
implementing regulations, manuals and codes, Government Code section 1090, Berkeley City 
Charter section 36 and B.M.C. Chapter 3.64, as amended from time to time.

24. RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

24.1. First Refusal Notice. If, during the Term, Landlord desires to sell or otherwise 
dispose of the Property, except as part of an Excluded Transaction (a "Proposed Transfer"), 
Tenant shall have a right of first refusal to purchase the Property in accordance with this Section 
24 ("ROFR"), and Landlord shall not consummate the sale unless Landlord shall first deliver to 
Tenant a notice (the "First Refusal Notice") setting forth: (a) the identity of the proposed 
purchaser (the "Offeree"); (b) the sale price and each of the material terms of the proposed 

Page 23 of 77

Page 99



Internal

18

transaction, including but not limited to financial terms, use restrictions, or other covenants (the 
"Purchase Terms"); and (c) the proposed closing date of the Proposed Transfer (the "Closing 
Date").

24.2. Response Period. Tenant shall, for sixty (60) days following receipt of the First 
Refusal Notice, have the exclusive right to purchase the Premises on terms and conditions set 
forth in the First Refusal Notice ("ROFR Response Period"). If Tenant notifies Landlord in 
writing of its decision to exercise its right of first refusal on or before 5:00 p.m. on the last day of 
the ROFR Response Period, then Tenant shall be bound to purchase from Landlord, and 
Landlord shall be bound to sell to Tenant, the Property on the Purchase Terms.

24.3. Waiver of ROFR. If Tenant shall either: (a) deliver written notice of rejection of 
the First Refusal Notice to Landlord; or (b) fail to deliver written notice of acceptance of the 
First Refusal Notice within the ROFR Response Period, Tenant's ROFR hereunder shall 
conclusively be deemed to be waived with respect to the sale disclosed in the First Refusal 
Notice and Landlord shall be free, for a period of one (1) year from the end of the ROFR 
Response Period, to complete the Proposed Transfer to the Offeree or to any other third party on 
the Purchase Terms, and the Offeree or such other third party shall acquire the Property free and 
clear of the Tenant's ROFR (which shall be extinguished, null, void, and of no further force or 
effect upon such sale). In addition, if as of the Closing Date, Tenant has failed to complete its 
purchase of the Property due to any act or omission by Tenant, including but not limited to any 
failure to deliver funds or otherwise meet the Purchase Terms, than Tenant's ROFR shall be 
extinguished, null, void, and of no further force or effect as to any future sale, transfer, or 
disposition of the Property.

24.4. Excluded Transactions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Section 24, Tenant's right of first refusal shall not apply to the following transactions (the 
"Excluded Transactions"):

(a) any condemnation of all or part of the Property;

(b) any transfer, conveyance, covenant, or restriction by Landlord to change or limit the 
use of the Property for any public purpose.

24.5. Lease Termination. Upon the completion of such any purchase pursuant to this 
Section 24, this Lease and all obligations and liabilities of Landlord and Tenant hereunder shall 
terminate, except for those obligations which by their terms survive the termination hereof.

25. MISCELLANEOUS.

25.1. General.

25.1.1 Integration. This Lease, together with all exhibits and attachments 
hereto, the separate lease between Landlord and BFC, and the JOA, set forth all the agreements 

Page 24 of 77

Page 100



Internal

19

between Landlord and Tenant concerning the Property and the Premises, and there are no 
agreements either oral or written other than as set forth therein.

25.1.2 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Lease.

25.1.3 Attorneys' Fees. If any action is commenced which arises out of or 
related to this Lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other party such 
sums as the court may adjudge to be reasonable attorneys' fees, expert fees, and expenses in the 
action, in addition to costs and expenses otherwise allowed by Law.  In all other situations, 
including any matter arising out of or relating to any bankruptcy or other voluntary or 
involuntary proceeding, in or out of court, for the adjustment of debtor-creditor relationships, 
Tenant agrees to pay all of Landlord's costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees and expert 
fees, which may be incurred in enforcing or protecting Landlord's rights or interests.

25.1.4 Severability. If any provision of this Lease or the application of any 
such provision shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable to any extent, the remaining provisions of this Lease and the application thereof 
shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected, impaired or invalidated.

25.1.5 Law. This Lease shall be construed and enforced in accordance with 
the Laws of the State of California, without reference to its choice of law provisions.

25.1.6 Interpretation. The titles to the sections of this Lease are not a part of 
this Lease and shall have no effect upon the construction or interpretation of any part of this 
Lease. As used in this Lease, masculine, feminine or neuter gender and the singular or plural 
number shall each be deemed to include the others where and when the context so dictates. The 
word "including" shall be construed as if followed by the words "without limitation." This Lease 
shall be interpreted as though prepared jointly by both parties.

25.1.7 No Option. Submission of this Lease to Tenant for examination or 
negotiation does not constitute an option to lease, offer to lease or a reservation of, or option for, 
the Premises; and this Lease shall become effective and binding only upon the execution and 
delivery hereof by Landlord and Tenant.

25.1.8 Successors and Assigns. This Lease shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the successors and assigns of Landlord and, subject to compliance with the terms 
of Section 15, Tenant.

25.1.9 Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing herein is intended to create any 
third party benefit.

25.1.10 No Agency, Partnership or Joint Venture. Nothing contained herein 
nor any acts of the parties hereto shall be deemed or construed by the parties hereto, nor by any 
third party, as creating the relationship of principal and agent or of partnership or of joint venture 
by the parties hereto or any relationship other than the relationship of landlord and tenant.

Page 25 of 77

Page 101



Internal

20

25.1.11 Merger. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant or a 
mutual cancellation thereof or a termination by Landlord shall not work a merger and shall, at 
the option of Landlord, terminate all or any existing subtenancies or may, at the option of 
Landlord, operate as an assignment to Landlord of any or all of such subtenancies.

25.2. Business License. Tenant certifies that it has obtained or applied for a City of 
Berkeley business license number as required by Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 9.04; or 
Tenant claims that it is exempt from the provisions of B.M.C. Ch. 9.04 and has written below the 
specific B.M.C. section under which it is exempt.

25.3. Fixtures and Signs. Tenant may (i) make any lawful and proper minor alterations 
to the Premises; (ii) attach fixtures and interior signs in and on the Premises; and attach signage 
on the exterior of Building ("Tenant Fixtures"). Any signs referring to the name of the Premises 
shall include the term "Ann Chandler" consistent with the requirements of Section 1.3. Any 
Tenant Fixtures will remain the property of Tenant and may be removed from the Premises by 
Tenant at any time during the Term. All alterations and Tenant Fixtures are subject to Landlord's 
approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed, and must comply 
with existing code requirements. All Tenant Fixtures shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense. 
Installations and removals of Tenant Fixtures shall be made in such manner as to avoid injury or 
defacement of the Premises, and Tenant shall repair any injury or defacement, including 
discoloration caused by such installation or removal. All signs on the Premises shall conform to 
the provisions of Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 20.04. Tenant shall be responsible for all 
fees, costs and expenses associated with installation and removal of Tenant Fixtures. In the event 
any such fees, costs or expenses are incurred by Landlord (whether directly or indirectly), 
Landlord shall deliver to Tenant an invoice, with reasonable supporting documentation, and 
Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for those amounts within thirty (30) days after receipt of such 
invoice.

25.4. Pesticides. All use of pesticides on the Premises shall be in compliance with the 
City of Berkeley's Pesticide Use Policy as it exists at the time of such use.

25.5. Prior Possession. Prior to the Commencement Date, Tenant has the right to (i) 
undertake Tenant Improvements, and (ii) store supplies and equipment in the Premises.

25.6. Waiver. No waiver of any default or breach hereunder shall be implied from any 
omission to take action on account thereof, notwithstanding any custom and practice or course of 
dealing.  No waiver by either party of any provision under this Lease shall be effective unless in 
writing and signed by such party. No waiver shall affect any default other than the default 
specified in the waiver and then such waiver shall be operative only for the time and to the extent 
therein stated. Waivers of any covenant shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent 
breach of the same.

25.7. Limitation of Liability. Whenever Landlord transfers its interest, Landlord shall 
be automatically released from further performance under this Lease and from all further 
liabilities and expenses hereunder and the transferee of Landlord's interest shall assume all 
liabilities and obligations of Landlord hereunder from the date of such transfer.

Page 26 of 77

Page 102



Internal

21

25.8. Notices. All notices to be given hereunder shall be in writing and mailed postage 
prepaid by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or delivered by personal or 
courier delivery, or sent by facsimile (immediately followed by one of the preceding methods), 
to Landlord's address and Tenant's address set forth in Sections 1 and 2 of the Basic Lease 
Information, or to such other place as Landlord or Tenant may designate in a written notice given 
to the other party. Notices shall be deemed served upon the earlier of receipt or three (3) days 
after the date of mailing.

25.9. Brokerage Commission. Landlord and Tenant each represents that they have not 
been represented by any broker in connection with this Lease, and that no real estate broker's 
commission, finder's fee or other compensation (individually and collectively, "Commission") is 
due or payable. Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Landlord from any claims or 
liability, including reasonable attorneys' fees, in connection with a claim by any person for a 
Commission based upon any statement, representation or agreement of Tenant.

25.10. Authorization. Each individual or entity executing this Lease on behalf of Tenant 
represents and warrants that he or she or it is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease on 
behalf of Tenant and that such execution is binding upon Tenant.

25.11. Holding Over. If, with Landlord's express written consent, Tenant holds over the 
Premises or any part thereof after expiration or earlier termination of the Term, such holding 
over shall constitute a month-to-month tenancy on all the other terms and conditions of this 
Lease, except that any obligations resulting from any JOA shall only hold over to the extent the 
JOA is still in effect. This section shall not be construed as Landlord's permission for Tenant to 
hold over. Acceptance of Maintenance Fees by Landlord following expiration or termination 
shall not constitute a renewal of this Lease or extension of the Initial Term or the Renewal Term, 
as the case may be, except as specifically set forth above. If Tenant remains in possession of the 
Premises after expiration or other termination of this Lease without Landlord's express written 
consent, Tenant's continued possession shall be on the basis of a tenancy at sufferance and 
Tenant shall pay Maintenance Fees of two thousand dollars ($2,000) per month. If Tenant fails to 
surrender the Premises upon expiration or other termination of this Lease, Tenant shall 
indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against all loss or liability resulting from or 
arising out of Tenant's failure to surrender the Premises, including, but not limited to, any 
amounts required to be paid to any tenant or prospective tenant who was to have occupied the 
Premises after the expiration or other termination of this Lease and any related attorneys' fees 
and brokerage commissions.

25.12. Surrender. Upon the expiration or other termination of this Lease or Tenant's right 
to possession of the Premises, Tenant shall peaceably and quietly leave and surrender to 
Landlord the Premises, along with appurtenances and fixtures at the Premises (except Tenant 
Fixtures), all in good condition, ordinary wear and tear, damage by casualty, condemnation, acts 
of God, and Landlord's failure to make repairs required of Landlord excepted.

25.13. Joint and Several. If Tenant consists of more than one person, the obligation of all 
such persons shall be joint and several.

Page 27 of 77

Page 103



Internal

22

25.14. Covenants and Conditions. Each provision to be performed by Tenant or Landlord 
hereunder shall be deemed to be both a covenant and a condition.

25.15. Intentionally Omitted.

25.16. Accessibility; Disability Laws. To Landlord's actual knowledge, the Premises 
have not undergone an inspection by a Certified Access Specialist.

"A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether 
the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility 
standards under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject 
premises, the commercial property owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from 
obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of 
the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the 
arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the 
CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of 
construction-related accessibility standards within the premises. "

Since compliance with the ADA and other federal and state disability laws (collectively, 
"Disability Laws") is dependent upon Tenant's specific use of the Premises, Landlord makes no 
warranty or representation as to whether or not the Premises comply with Disability Laws, 
except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease. In the event that Tenant's specific and 
particular use of the Premises, as distinguished from uses generally associated with those 
permitted under Section 5, requires modifications or additions to the Premises in order to be in 
compliance with Disability Laws, Landlord agrees to make any such necessary modifications 
and/or additions at Tenant's sole cost and expense.

25.17. OFAC Compliance. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant is not 
a party with whom Landlord is prohibited from doing business pursuant to the regulations of the 
Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, including 
those parties named on OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List. 
Tenant is currently in compliance with, and shall at all times during the term of this Lease remain 
in compliance with, the regulations of OFAC and any other governmental requirement relating 
thereto. In the event of any violation of this section, Landlord shall be entitled to immediately 
terminate this Lease and take such other actions as are permitted or required to be taken under 
law or in equity. TENANT SHALL DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS 
LANDLORD FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LOSSES, 
RISKS, LIABILITIES AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS) 
INCURRED BY LANDLORD ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO ANY BREACH OF THE 
FOREGOING CERTIFICATIONS. These indemnity obligations shall survive the expiration or 
earlier termination of this Lease.

 [SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE]

Page 28 of 77

Page 104



Internal

23

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease as of the Effective Date.

TENANT:
LIFELONG MEDIAL CARE, a non-profit 
corporation,

By:
Print Name:      David B. Vliet
Its:       Chief Executive Officer

--AND--
LANDLORD:

CITY OF BERKELEY, a California municipal 
corporation

By:
Print Name:  Dee Williams-Ridley
Its: City Manager

ATTEST:

City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

City Attorney

Page 29 of 77

Page 105



Internal

Exhibit A-1

EXHIBIT A-1
Legal Description of Property

APN: 56-1066-1

All those certain lots, pieces or parcels of land situate, lying and being in the City of Berkeley, 
County of Alameda, State of California, described as follows:

Beginning at the point of intersection of the Southern line of University Avenue with the Eastern 
line of 6th Street, as said Avenue and Street are shown on the Map hereinafter referred to; 
running thence Easterly along said line of University Avenue One Hundred and Forty-Seven 
feet; thence at right angles Southerly One Hundred feet; thence at right angles Westerly One 
Hundred Forty-Seven feet to the point of intersection thereof with said Eastern line of 6th Street; 
thence Northerly along said line of 6th Street One Hundred feet to the point of beginning.

Being all of Lots Numbered 1, 2, 3, and the Western Three feet of Lot Numbered 4, in Block 
Numbered 96, as said Lots and Block are delineated and so designated upon that certain Map 
entitled, “Map of the Sisterna Tract, Berkeley” – filed May 15, 1880 in Liber 7 of Maps, at page 
43, in the office of the County Recorder of Alameda County.

Page 30 of 77

Page 106



Internal

2

Page 31 of 77

Page 107



Internal

Exhibit A-2

EXHIBIT A-2

Depiction of Premises

Page 32 of 77

Page 108



Internal

Exhibit B
 

EXHIBIT B

May 20, 2022 Building Inspection Report by E. A. Davidovits & Co., Inc

 

Page 33 of 77

Page 109



Internal

Page 34 of 77

Page 110



l o,:~, 
m 1w101 

m 
~W.I.C. WAITIN 
Ill ROOl.4 

W9 

Exit 

830 University Avenue 
First Floor 

n--~::e.=aupw .... ~;;;:=~ 
I II 11 
I II 11 

WAITING I I I II II 
'-- _,_ -..... --"---"--

CONFERENCE 
ROOM 
lliJ 

!::::!!===== 

Ill 
Ill 

I 
Ill 
Ill 

:#=~=1: ::..-::::-:::E:::J 
Exit 

FILE ROOM 
@] 

HIV 
COORO. 

[QJ 

Second Floor 

UJ HN PROGRAM 
ffl OfFlCE 3 

m 

lit-

Olrec1or's 
OFF"ICE • If! 

Ill 

Page 35 of 77

Page 111

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Text Box
BH Consult

scottcarroll
Text Box
BH Consult

scottcarroll
Text Box
Pharmacy 

scottcarroll
Text Box
BH Consult

scottcarroll
Text Box
Exam 3

scottcarroll
Text Box
EvalExam 1

scottcarroll
Text Box
Exam 4

scottcarroll
Text Box
Exam 2

scottcarroll
Text Box
Exam 5

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental Clean Room

scottcarroll
Text Box
Medical Clean Room

scottcarroll
Text Box
Office

scottcarroll
Text Box
Washer Dryer

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental Op 5

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental Op 1

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental Op 2

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental Op 3

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental Op 4

scottcarroll
Text Box
Team Room

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental Utility Equipment

scottcarroll
Text Box
Shower

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Text Box
C8

scottcarroll
Text Box
Office 3

scottcarroll
Text Box
Office 4

scottcarroll
Text Box
Office 2

scottcarroll
Text Box
C9

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Text Box
Medical Exam Room

scottcarroll
Text Box
Storage/Utility

scottcarroll
Text Box
Shared Use

scottcarroll
Text Box
Dental

scottcarroll
Text Box
Lab or Pharmacy

scottcarroll
Text Box
Behavioral Health/Counseling

scottcarroll
Text Box
Clean Room

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle

scottcarroll
Rectangle



 

 

 
Tony Ng, Director of Facilities Management      June 3, 2022 

Shad Klein, Project Manager, New Initiatives 

Lifelong Medical Care 

PO Box 11247 

Berkeley, CA  94712 

 

Re.  ROM Pricing Estimate 

 830 University Ave. 

 Berkeley, CA  94712 

 

Gentlemen, 

 

Please see the following ROM Pricing Estimate based upon the Building Inspection performed. 

This ROM is intended as a Preliminary Estimate and should not be considered final pricing.    

 

This is based upon the visual inspection of the property and historical pricing estimates.  EA Davidovits 

reserves the right to modify the scope of work and pricing should additional information become available in the 

future.  ROM makes several assumptions pertaining to the building structure, condition and capacities that may 

not have been able to be concluded during the brief site visit process. 

 

This ROM is not intended to present guarantees or assurances.  In order to confirm pricing, additional 

inspections, plans, details and review would need to be performed.  Thank you for the opportunity to submit this 

Preliminary ROM estimate. 

 

• Structural Report Follow Up.  Includes removal of wall finishes at one location to assess substrate 

construction and condition.  Includes replacement of sheetrock, finished to match existing, and paint 

touch up.  Does not include structural reinforcement if necessary.  ROM estimate also includes 24 

additional man hours of minor (non structural) crack repair and associated touch up paint.  ROM does not 

include waterproofing or leak repair as further evaluation is necessary. 

         Estimated Cost:  $ 7,850. 

• Roof.  ROM Estimated pricing below 

o General Maintenance of Roof System   Estimated Cost:  $ 14,500. 

o Stucco Repair      Estimated Cost:  $  5,250. 

o Gutter Repair      Estimated Cost:  To Be Determined 

o Replacement of Flat Roofs (if deemed necessary) Estimated Cost:  $ 65,000. 

 

• Plumbing.  Per plumbing inspection, general condition of plumbing components is good.  No major 

improvements are recommended without first considering future usage and plans.  

   

• Electric.  No electrical improvements were recommended as a result of the electrical inspection. 

    

• Termite treatment for the control of subterranean termites.  Includes soil treatment at foundation 

Estimated Cost: $ 6,500.     

 

 Daniel May, EA Davidovits & Co. 

Page 36 of 77

Page 112



Page 37 of 77

Page 113



Page 38 of 77

Page 114



Page 39 of 77

Page 115



Page 40 of 77

Page 116



Page 41 of 77

Page 117



Page 42 of 77

Page 118



Page 43 of 77

Page 119



Page 44 of 77

Page 120



Page 45 of 77

Page 121



Page 46 of 77

Page 122



Page 47 of 77

Page 123



Page 48 of 77

Page 124



Page 49 of 77

Page 125



Page 50 of 77

Page 126



Page 51 of 77

Page 127



Page 52 of 77

Page 128



Page 53 of 77

Page 129



Page 54 of 77

Page 130



Page 55 of 77

Page 131



Page 56 of 77

Page 132



Page 57 of 77

Page 133



Page 58 of 77

Page 134



Page 59 of 77

Page 135



Page 60 of 77

Page 136



Page 61 of 77

Page 137



Page 62 of 77

Page 138



Page 63 of 77

Page 139



Page 64 of 77

Page 140



Page 65 of 77

Page 141



Page 66 of 77

Page 142



Page 67 of 77

Page 143



Page 68 of 77

Page 144



Page 69 of 77

Page 145



Page 70 of 77

Page 146



Page 71 of 77

Page 147



Page 72 of 77

Page 148



Page 73 of 77

Page 149



Page 74 of 77

Page 150



Page 75 of 77

Page 151



Page 76 of 77

Page 152



Page 77 of 77

Page 153



Page 154



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19,2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jennifer A. Louis, Chief of Police 

Subject: Revenue Grant: California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) for the 2024 
“Selective Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP) Grant

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Chief of Police to accept the "Selective Traffic 
Enforcement Program (STEP)" grant and enter into the resultant grant agreement and 
any amendments, with the California Office of Traffic Safety. This OTS grant is for 
$269,000 for the period of October 1, 2023 through September 30, 2024, which is 
Federal Fiscal Year 2024.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The total of this project will not exceed $269,000. Grant revenues will be deposited into 
budget code 309-71-703-812-0000-000-000-431-110 to offset expenditures. 
Appropriation of the expenditures is being included in the First Amendment to the 
Appropriations Ordinance. This grant will fund overtime, benefits, equipment, training 
costs, and reduce additional General Fund expenditures.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Securing OTS grant funding is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, advancing our goal to 
create a resilient, safe, connected, and prepared city. 

Currently the Traffic Bureau at the Berkeley Police Department is staffed by one Motor 
Officer, one Traffic Data Analyst, a Provisional Sergeant, and a Provisional Lieutenant. 
Motor officers’ responsibilities include injury-collision investigations and traffic 
enforcement; however, resources often deplete rapidly due to ancillary duties and 
personnel shortages in the operations/patrol division. OTS funding builds upon our 
current traffic safety efforts by allowing patrol and motor officers opportunities to 
address traffic safety issues-most significantly pedestrian and bicycle safety, distracted 
and impaired driving- in addition to and outside of their regularly scheduled duties. 
Additionally, the funds provide opportunities for leadership development and learning in 
traffic safety and DUI/impaired driving enforcement, and enhance the department's 
overall mission of public safety. This grant year’s funding also provides for the 
replacement of the department’s 2004 DUI Checkpoint Trailer.  

Page 1 of 4

Page 155

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
07



  
Revenue Grant: California Office of Traffic Safety Grant 
for the 2024 STEP Grant CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 2

BACKGROUND
Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) rankings place the City of Berkeley number one for the 
past seven years in pedestrian and bicycle related injury collisions when compared to 
fifty-nine other cities with comparable populations. Each year hundreds of people are 
injured in traffic collisions that occur in the City of Berkeley. Berkeley maintains a high 
ranking in total fatal and injury collisions, hit and run injury collisions, speed related 
collisions, nighttime collisions, and motorcycle involved collisions. With assistance from 
the 2024 Office of Traffic Safety Grant, the department will continue our efforts to 
reduce the number of community members injured in collisions whether they choose to 
walk, drive, bike or ride a motorcycle in our city. 

In 2020, the City of Berkeley was number three (3/61) for injury collisions involving 
pedestrians; number two (2/61) for collisions involving bicyclists; number four (4/61) for 
collisions involving pedestrians 65+, and twelfth (12/61) for collisions involving 
motorcyclists. Based on these statistics and OTS rankings, the City of Berkeley is one 
of the most dangerous cities in the State of California to be a pedestrian or bicyclist. 

Between 2012-2022, there have been thirty-three fatal auto collisions in the City of 
Berkeley. Sixteen of those involved pedestrians, and four of those sixteen were 
pedestrians 65+. Five fatal collisions involved a bicyclist, three involved DUI, and two 
involved a motorcycle. 

The OTS Grant and the City Council’s Vision Zero Program have shared ideologies. 
BPD’s participation directly supports two of three of Vision Zero’s tenets. BPD’s efforts 
directly support Public Awareness Education and Traffic Enforcement. Public 
Awareness through our social media, departmental messaging, and direct contact with 
the public (in the field and at community meetings) and data-driven enforcement of 
primary collision factor offenses in areas where they have the highest probability of 
occurring.   

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
The City of Berkeley continues to have one of the highest bicycle and pedestrian usage 
rates in the County of Alameda and, as a result, there are a large number of bicyclists 
and pedestrians sharing the roadway with motorists. This grant will support the City of 
Berkeley's efforts to promote more sustainable forms of transportation, reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions-with the goal of reducing traffic injuries and fatalities related 
to all modes of transportation.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The Police Department requests this funding be approved to enhance our current 
mission of providing a safer environment for pedestrians, bicyclists, motorcyclists, and 
motorists on all City of Berkeley roadways and highways.

Page 2 of 4

Page 156



  
Revenue Grant: California Office of Traffic Safety Grant 
for the 2024 STEP Grant CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 3

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
The California Office of Traffic Safety currently provides the only known grant funding 
specific to traffic enforcement and related education. Not accepting this OTS grant 
would require additional overtime expenditures from General Fund resources or could 
result in a decrease in the overall safety of the citizens of Berkeley.

CONTACT PERSON
Provisional Lieutenant Andrew Frankel, Police Traffic Bureau, (510) 981-5982

Attachment: 
1: Resolution

Page 3 of 4

Page 157



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

REVENUE GRANT: SELECTIVE TRAFFIC ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM (STEP) 
GRANT FROM THE OFFICE OF TRAFFIC SAFETY TO FUND STRATEGIES TO 
REDUCE THE NUMBER OF INJURIES AND DEATHS RELATED TO TRAFFIC 

COLLISIONS IN THE CITY OF BERKELEY

WHEREAS, the Police Department is committed to providing a safe and secure 
environment through law enforcement within the City of Berkeley; and

WHEREAS, the Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) has made grant funding available to the 
Police Department to assist them in their mission of increasing traffic safety; and

WHEREAS, this grant will provide funding to support efforts to reduce injury and fatal 
collisions involving pedestrians, bicyclists, motorcyclists, and motorists on all City of 
Berkeley roadways and highways; and

WHEREAS, grant revenues will be deposited into budget code 309-71-703-812-0000-
000-000-431110, in the DUI Enforcement Education Program Fund.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
Chief of Police is authorized to accept the Selective Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP) 
Grant and enter into the resultant grant agreement and any amendments, with the Office 
of Traffic Safety (OTS) to fund increased levels of impaired or distracted driving 
enforcement, nighttime seatbelt enforcement, motorcycle safety enforcement, and 
educational programs regarding bicycle and pedestrian collisions in the amount of 
$269,000 for the period of October 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024.

Page 4 of 4

Page 158



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jennifer A. Louis, Chief of Police 

Subject: Revenue Grant: Cannabis Tax Fund Grant Program (CTFGP) 

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Chief of Police to accept the CTFGP grant and enter 
into the resultant grant agreement and any amendments, with the California Highway 
Patrol. This grant is for $59,168.30 for the period of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The total of this project will not exceed $59,168.30. Grant revenues will be deposited 
into budget code 336-71-703-812-0000-000-000-432110 to offset expenditures. 
Appropriation of the expenditures is being included in the First Amendment to the 
Appropriations Ordinance. This grant will fund overtime, benefits, training costs, and 
reduce additional General Fund expenditures.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Securing CTFGP grant funding is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, advancing our goal to 
create a resilient, safe, connected, and prepared city. 

Currently the Traffic Bureau at the Berkeley Police Department is staffed by one motor 
officer, one traffic data analyst, a Provisional Sergeant, and a Provisional Lieutenant. 
Motor officers’ responsibilities include injury-collision investigations and traffic 
enforcement; however, resources often deplete rapidly due to ancillary duties and 
personnel shortages in the operations/patrol division. CTFGP funding builds upon our 
current traffic safety efforts by allowing patrol and motor officers opportunities to 
address traffic safety issues-most significantly impaired driving- in addition to and 
outside of their regularly scheduled duties. Additionally, the funds provide opportunities 
for leadership development and learning in traffic safety and DUI/impaired driving 
enforcement, and enhance the department's overall mission of public safety. 

BACKGROUND
Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) rankings place the City of Berkeley number one for the 
past seven years in pedestrian and bicycle related injury collisions when compared to 
fifty-nine other cities with comparable populations. Each year hundreds of people are 
injured in traffic collisions that occur in the City of Berkeley. Berkeley maintains a high 

Page 1 of 3

Page 159

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
08



  
Revenue Grant: Cannabis Tax Fund Grant Program Grant 
for 2024 CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 2

ranking in total fatal and injury collisions, hit and run injury collisions, speed related 
collisions, nighttime collisions, and motorcycle involved collisions. With assistance from 
the 2024 CTFGP Grant, the department will continue our efforts to reduce the number 
of community members injured in collisions whether they choose to walk, drive, bike or 
ride a motorcycle in our city. 

The CTFGP Grant and the City Council’s Vision Zero Program have shared ideologies. 
BPD’s participation directly supports two of three of Vision Zero’s tenets. BPD’s efforts 
directly support Public Awareness Education and Traffic Enforcement. Public 
Awareness through our social media, departmental messaging, and direct contact with 
the public (in the field and at community meetings) and data-driven enforcement of 
primary collision factor offenses in areas where they have the highest probability of 
occurring.   

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
The City of Berkeley continues to have one of the highest bicycle and pedestrian usage 
rates in the County of Alameda and, as a result, there are a large number of bicyclists 
and pedestrians sharing the roadway with motorists. This grant will support the City of 
Berkeley's efforts to promote more sustainable forms of transportation, reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions-with the goal of reducing traffic injuries and fatalities related 
to all modes of transportation.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The Police Department requests this funding be approved to enhance our current 
mission of providing a safer environment for pedestrians, bicyclists, motorcyclists, and 
motorists on all City of Berkeley roadways and highways.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
The California Highway Patrol currently provides grant funding specific to traffic 
enforcement and related education. Not accepting this grant funding would require 
additional overtime expenditures from General Fund resources or could result in a 
decrease in the overall safety of the citizens of Berkeley.

CONTACT PERSON
Provisional Lieutenant Andrew Frankel, Police Traffic Bureau, (510) 981-5982

Attachments: 
1: Resolution

Page 2 of 3

Page 160



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

REVENUE GRANT: CANNABIS TAX FUND GRANT PROGRAM GRANT (CTFGP) 
FROM THE CALIFORNIA HIGHWAY PATROL TO FUND STRATEGIES TO REDUCE 
THE NUMBER OF INJURIES AND DEATHS RELATED TO TRAFFIC COLLISIONS IN 

THE CITY OF BERKELEY

WHEREAS, the Police Department is committed to providing a safe and secure 
environment through law enforcement within the City of Berkeley; and

WHEREAS, the California Highway Patrol (CHP) has made grant funding available to the 
Police Department to assist them in their mission of increasing traffic safety; and

WHEREAS, this grant will provide funding to support efforts to reduce injury and fatal 
collisions involving pedestrians, bicyclists, motorcyclists, and motorists on all City of 
Berkeley roadways and highways; and

WHEREAS, grant revenues will be deposited into budget code 336-71-703-812-0000-
000-000-432110, in the One-time Grant Program Fund.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
Chief of Police is authorized to accept the CTFGP Grant and enter into the resultant grant 
agreement and any amendments, with the CHP to fund increased levels of impaired 
driving enforcement in the amount of $59,168.30 for the period of July 1, 2023 to June 
30, 2024.

Page 3 of 3

Page 161



Page 162



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Liam Garland, Director, Public Works

Subject: License Agreement – RM Ventures, LLC, d.b.a, In the Wood Grill & Bar for 
Nonexclusive Use of the Elmwood Parking Lot Pedestrian Paseo

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a ground license 
agreement with RM Ventures LLC d.b.a., In the Wood Grill and Bar (In the Wood Grill & 
Bar) for the nonexclusive use of a portion of the Elmwood Parking Lot Pedestrian 
Access Path (“Paseo”), a City-owned midblock pedestrian path connecting the City’s 
Elmwood Parking Lot to College Avenue in the Elmwood Neighborhood Shopping 
District, for an initial term of five (5) years and authorize the City Manager to execute a 
renewal of this license, under the same terms, after the termination of the initial term.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
This license agreement for nonexclusive use of 557 square feet anticipates total 
revenue of $8,871 for the initial five (5) year term. The initial monthly price per square 
foot is $0.25 with an annual adjustment of 3% beginning the second year after the 
Commencement Date of the lease.  The tenant is also required to maintain the entire 
width and length of the Paseo, including the pedestrian path, clean and free of trash on 
a daily basis. Rent will be deposited into the Off-Street Parking Fund for Surface 
Parking Lot Revenue. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Prospective licensee, In the Wood Grill & Bar, a restaurant located at 2930 College 
Avenue currently uses a portion of the Elmwood Parking Lot Paseo, a midblock paved 
pedestrian path connecting the City’s Elmwood Parking Lot to College Avenue in the 
Elmwood Neighborhood Shopping District, to serve food and drinks including beer and 
wine.  Owners of In the Wood Grill and Bar recently applied and had approved a 
Planning Use Permit to add license for service of distilled spirits, in addition to beer and 
wine at the restaurant and outdoor dining area. Approval of this license will correct a 
prior incorrect determination that the area is public right of way, ensure tenant has 
sufficient liability insurance coverage for the nonexclusive use of the property, and 

Page 1 of 23

Page 163

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
09



  
License Agreement: RM Ventures LLC CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 2

ensure conformance with an existing easement requiring a pedestrian access path at all 
times.

BACKGROUND
In 2022, RM Ventures applied for a Planning Use Permit to add license for service of 
distilled spirits at In the Wood Grill and Bar, a restaurant with outdoor dining area. 
During the application review process, City staff determined that previous approvals for 
the outdoor dining area incorrectly categorized the area as public right of way and 
issued approval for the use with a sidewalk café permit. Sidewalk café permits are only 
for public right of way.

The area is the Elmwood Parking Lot Paseo and is private property owned by the City 
of Berkeley. It consists of a portion of two parcels (APNs 052-156800700 and 052-
156800601) that combined with six other parcels are the City’s Elmwood Parking Lot. 
The portion of interest is a midblock, paved passageway between the parking lot and 
College Avenue. The Planning Use Permit (ZP2022-0139) to add a license for distilled 
spirits included Outdoor Dining Conditions and was approved February 23, 2023 and 
the outdoor dining area is shown in Exhibit A (Premises). With input from the City 
Attorney’s Office it was determined that a land lease granting nonexclusive use of the 
Paseo to RM Ventures, LLC is the solution that ensures appropriate liability protections 
and a fair rent is collected by the City.

If approved, the restaurant’s use of the area is nonexclusive because during 
nonoperational hours In the Wood Grill and Bar will remove all tables and chairs in the 
outdoor dining area and store them in a 60 square foot area at the west end of the 
Paseo. To ensure conformance with the existing easement agreement, the potential 
licensee and Public Works will work together to clearly mark the limits of the patio dining 
area to ensure no encroachment into the six-foot wide public access path at all times. 
This ensures adjacent business owners and operators, their customers, City 
maintenance staff, and the general public will have a generous access path at all times 
as required by the easement. The storage area and pedestrian path are shown in 
Exhibit A to License Agreement (Premises).

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no identifiable environmental effects, climate impacts, or sustainability 
opportunities associated with the subject of this report.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The Elmwood Parking Lot Paseo is not public right of way. Approval of this license will 
correct a prior incorrect determination that the area is public right of way, ensure tenant 
has sufficient liability insurance coverage for the nonexclusive use of the property, and 

Page 2 of 23

Page 164



  
License Agreement: RM Ventures LLC CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 3

ensure conformance with an existing easement requiring a pedestrian access path at all 
times.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
None.

CONTACT PERSON
Dionne Early, Community Development Project Coordinator, Public Works Department, 
(510) 981-6453

Attachments: 
1: Resolution

Exhibit A: License Agreement

Page 3 of 23

Page 165



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

LICENSE AGREEMENT BETWEEN CITY OF BERKELEY AND RM VENTURES, LLC, 
D.B.A., IN THE WOOD GRILL AND BAR

WHEREAS, the City owns six parcels upon which the Elmwood Parking Lot and Paseo, 
a midblock pedestrian pathway is located. The Paseo (located on APNs 052-156800700 
and 052-156800601) connects visitors from the parking lot to College Avenue and back; 
and

WHEREAS, an easement established when the City purchased the properties guarantees 
access through the Paseo and throughout the parking lot for all property and business 
owners adjacent to the Lot; and

WHEREAS, the City previously, and incorrectly, issued a sidewalk café permit agreement 
for partial use of the Paseo for dining and flower sales and seeks to correct the matter 
with this License; and 

WHEREAS, the City and Licensee, RM Ventures, LLC d.b.a., In the Wood Grill and Bar 
agreed to enter into this nonexclusive use land license agreement which replaces the 
previous sidewalk café permit and designates 497 square feet along the southern 
property line of 2930 College be used as an outdoor dining area, 60 square feet be used 
for storage of outdoor furniture during restaurant closures, and the remainder to be a 
minimum six-foot-wide pedestrian path maintained at all times; and  

WHEREAS, the initial term of this License shall be for a five-year term beginning 
retroactively on March 1, 2023 with the City Manager authorized to execute renewals of 
this license after the initial term. The total revenue for the initial five-year term of the 
agreement will be $8,871 which will be entered into Off-Street Parking Fund for Surface 
Parking Lot Revenue.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a five-year lease agreement with RM 
Ventures, LLC d.b.a., In the Wood Grill and Bar for real property located on parcels 
designated sections of APNs 052-156800700 and 052-156800601, with the authority 
execute renewals of this License after the initial term. Such license shall be on 
substantially the terms set forth in Exhibit A.

Exhibits 
A: License Agreement

Page 4 of 23

Page 166



   

LICENSE AGREEMENT 

This LICENSE is entered into by and between the CITY OF BERKELEY, a Charter City 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of California ("City") and RM Ventures, a 
limited liability corporation d.b.a, In the Wood Grill & Bar ("Licensee"), who agrees as follows: 

1. LICENSE 

a. City hereby grants a license to Licensee, subject to all the terms and conditions herein, 
for the nonexclusive use of a portion of the City's property, a site that measures 
approximately 557 (five hundred fifty-seven) square feet located on portions of assessor 
parcel numbers (APN) 052-156800700 and 052-1568601, adjacent to the southern 
property line of 2930 College Avenue, Berkeley, California and further described in 
Exhibit A - Premises, attached hereto and made part of this License. 

b. This License is not a lease; Licensee does not by this License obtain an exclusive right, 
against the City or the public, to any part of the Property. 

c. This License is granted for the purpose of Licensee using 497 square feet of land for 
outdoor food and beverage service during In the Wood Grill & Bar’s hours of operation 
and using an additional 60 square feet of space for storage of the outdoor dining furniture 
during hours of nonoperation as described in Exhibit B – Use of Premises, attached 
hereto and made a part of this License. If Licensee fails to use the Premises for such 
purposes, or to provide the services described herein, or uses the Premises for 
unauthorized purposes, City may, in its sole discretion, immediately terminate this 
License. 

d. Business may be conducted with the public on the licensed premises at any time on any 
day, provided that, to do business after 10:00 p.m. on any day Licensee shall have 
obtained any permit required by federal, state or local law.  Licensee shall operate the 
outdoor dining area with sufficient staff to serve patrons and only during the hours of 
operation of the associated restaurant and in conformance with any and all permits 
required by federal, state, or local law. 

e. In addition to Licensee’s agreement to abide by all other restrictions on Licensee’s use, 
Licensee shall maintain at all times a minimum six-foot wide pedestrian path parallel to 
the outdoor dining and storage area to ensure a midblock pedestrian path to and from the 
Elmwood Parking Lot and College Avenue is continuously maintained in the Paseo, 
further described in Exhibit A and Exhibit B, attached hereto.    

f. Licensee acknowledges that this License does not convey an estate in land or a leasehold 
interest in the Premises and is not a lease. 

2. TERM 

a. This License shall commence retroactively on March 1, 2023. The effective date of the 
resolution provides and shall be for a period of five (5) years and terminate February 29, 
2028, as shown in Exhibit B – Term and Payment, attached hereto and made a part of this 
License. Either party may terminate this License for any reason with thirty (30) days 
prior written notice to the other party. 

Page 5 of 23

Page 167



   

b. Additionally, City Council authorizes the City Manager to amend and renew this License 
after the first five-year term under the same terms set forth in this agreement. Licensee 
must notify the Landlord in writing no more than one year and no less than six months 
prior to the termination of the Licenses initial term as shown in Exhibit C, attached hereto 
and made a part of this License.  

3.  LICENSE FEE 

In consideration for the rights conveyed by this License, Licensee shall pay to City an initial fee 
of $0.25 per square foot per year with an annual increase of 3.0 percent (3%) each year 
beginning year two. Payment for the first year, March 1, 2023 to February 28, 2024 in the 
amount of One thousand, six hundred seventy-one Dollars ($1,671.00) is due immediately upon 
City Council approval of the License and receipt of a fully executed License. License Fee is due 
no later than March 1st of each year of the License. Licensee shall make payments to City in 
accordance with the provisions described in Exhibit C, attached hereto. 

4. SECURITY DEPOSIT 

City and Licensee acknowledge that there shall be no security deposit. 

5. NOTICES 

A written notice shall be deemed served upon mailing said notice to the other party and 
depositing the same with the U.S. Post Office, first class mail, with postage paid. For purposes of 
this License, all notices to the City shall be addressed to: 

City of Berkeley  
Public Works Real Property  
1947 Center Street, 5th Floor, Suite 521  
Berkeley, CA 94704  

 

For purposes of this License, all notices to Licensee shall be addressed to below. Licensee shall 
promptly notify City of any change of address within two weeks of any such change. 

RM Ventures, LLC – In the Wood Grill & Bar 
2930 College Avenue 
Berkeley, CA 94705 

6. MAINTENANCE AND ALTERATIONS 

a. Licensee is responsible for ensuring that the Premises meet all applicable City of 
Berkeley codes and regulations during the term of this License, and that they are in good 
order, condition and repair and present no safety issues or hazards.  

a. Licensee shall, to the City's satisfaction, keep and maintain the Premises and Licensee's 
equipment, furniture, and any other personal property of Licensee in good order, 
condition and repair. Licensee shall keep the Premises and the property immediately 
adjacent to the Premises reasonably free and clean of all debris and trash that is generated 
by Licensee or Licensee's customers.  

Page 6 of 23

Page 168



   

b. Licensee shall not construct any facilities or improvements, permanently install any 
equipment, or make any alterations to the Premises without the City's prior written 
consent, which consent shall be within the sole discretion of City to grant or withhold. 
Upon termination of this License, Licensee shall at its own expense remove all of its 
equipment and shall surrender the Premises to City in the same condition as at the 
commencement of this License, subject to reasonable wear and tear. 

c. Licensee shall keep any public and/or common areas adjacent to the Premises free and 
clear of any obstructions, barricades or barriers placed or created by Licensee or resulting 
from Licensee's operations or use of the Premises. This includes Licensee's employees, 
contractors, and customers, garbage cans, and any other impacts of the Licensee's 
business. 

7. ACCESS AND ENTRY TO THE PREMISES BY OTHERS 

g. City, its agents, employees, and representatives, have the right to inspect the Premises at 
any time, provided such entry does not cause unreasonable interference with Licensee's 
activities. 

h. City at all times shall have the right and privilege of making such changes in and to the 
Premises or adjacent areas owned by City which in its sole opinion are deemed to be 
desirable or appropriate, including the location and relocation of stairways, sidewalks, 
pathways, driveways, streets, entrances, exits, automobile parking spaces, the direction 
and flow of traffic, designation of prohibited areas, landscaped areas, utilities and all 
other facilities.  

i. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to create any liability to the City for any 
personal injury, or any damage to any furniture, equipment, or other property of 
Licensee, or its employees or others, unless solely caused by the gross negligence or 
willful misconduct of City, its agents, servants. or employees. Licensee is solely 
responsible for the security of the Premises, and for the safety of those using the 
Premises.  

j. City reserves to itself the right to grant to others in the future nonexclusive utility 
easements over, under, though, across or on the Premises in locations that will not 
unreasonably interfere with Licensee's access to or use of the Premises. Any interference 
shall be temporary, and all work on the Premises shall proceed expeditiously. Licensee 
shall be given reasonable notice before commencement of any work on the Premises.  

9. TAXES, ASSESSMENTS, AND OTHER CHARGES 

Licensee shall pay all applicable personal property taxes lawfully levied on· account of 
personal property owned by Licensee on the Premises, and pay any in-lieu, possessory 
interest, or use taxes lawfully imposed by reason of Licensee's use or occupancy of the 
Premises. Licensee shall obtain and pay for all local, state and federal permits and licenses 
necessary for the operation of its business. 

11. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLICENSING PROHIBITED 

This License is personal to Licensee. Notwithstanding references to assignees and/or sub 
licensees elsewhere in this License, if any, Licensee may not assign or sublicense this 

Page 7 of 23

Page 169



   

License in whole or in part, and any attempt to assign or sublicense this License shall 
terminate it. 

12. INDEMNIFICATION 

Licensee, for itself and its successors and assigns, agrees to release, defend, indemnify arid 
hold harmless City, its officers, agents, volunteers and employees from and against any and 
all claims, demands, liability, damages, lawsuits or other actions, including without limitation 
actions for personal injury or death or property damage arising out of or caused by Licensee's 
operations under this License, or the performance of this License by Licensee or its officers, 
employees, partners, directors, agents, invitees, or guests. 

13. INSURANCE 

k. Licensee at its cost shall maintain public liability and property damage insurance with a 
single combined liability limit of $2,000,000 and property damage limits of not less than 
$200,000 insuring against all liability of Licensee and its authorized representatives 
arising out of and in connection with Licensee's use of the Premises. All such insurance 
shall insure performance by Licensee of the preceding indemnity provisions. All 
insurance shall name the City of Berkeley, its officers, agents, volunteers and employees 
as additional insureds and shall provide primary coverage with respect to the City. 

l. If the insurance referred to above is written on a Claims Made Form, then following 
termination of this License, coverage shall survive for a period of not less than five years. 
Coverage shall also provide for retroactive date of placement coinciding with the 
effective date of this License. 

m. Licensee at its cost shall maintain on all its personal property, Licensee's improvements, 
and alterations, in on, or about the premises, a policy of standard fire and extended 
coverage insurance, with vandalism and malicious mischief endorsements. This coverage 
shall be considered primary, and the proceeds from any such policy shall be used by 
Licensee for the replacement of personal property or the restoration of Licensee's 
improvements or alterations. 

n. If Licensee employees any person, it shall carry workers' compensation and employer's 
liability insurance and shall provide a certificate of insurance to the City. The workers' 
compensation insurance shall: provide that the insurance carrier shall not cancel; 
terminate, or otherwise modify the terms and conditions of said insurance except upon 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the City; provide for a waiver of any right of 
subrogation against City to the extent permitted by law; and be approved as to form and 
sufficiency by the City's Risk Manager. 

o. Licensee shall forward all insurance documents to: 

City of Berkeley 
Public Works Real Property 
194 7 Center Street, 5th Floor, Suite 521 
Berkeley, CA 94704 

 
 

Page 8 of 23

Page 170



   

14. RISK OF LOSS 

Licensee bears all risk of loss under this License. 

15. CONFORMITY WITH LAW 

p. Licensee shall observe and comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, codes and 
regulations of governmental agencies, including federal, state, municipal and local 
governing bodies having jurisdiction over any or all of the activities of Licensee 
hereunder, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1979 as amended, all 
California Occupational Safety and Health regulations, and all applicable federal, state, 
municipal and local regulations relating to health, safety, noise, environmental protection, 
waste disposal, hazardous materials, and water and air quality. All activities conducted by 
Licensee on the Premises must be in accordance with these laws, ordinances, codes. and 
regulations. Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless City, its officers, agents, 
volunteers and employees from any and all damages, liability, fines, penalties and 
consequences from any noncompliance or violation by Licensee, or its officers, 
Employees, partners, directors, agents, invitees, or guests, of any laws, ordinances, codes 
or regulations.  

q. If a death, serious personal injury or substantial property damage occurs in connection 
with the performance of this License, Licensee shall immediately notify the City's Risk 
Manager by telephone at 510.981.6998. If any accident occurs in connection with this 
License, Licensee shall promptly submit a written report to City, in such form as the City 
may require. This report shall include the following information: 1) name and address of 
the injured or deceased person(s); 2) name and address of Licensee's liability insurance 
carrier; and 3) a detailed description of the accident, including whether any of City's 
equipment, tools or materials were involved. 

r. If a release of hazardous materials or hazardous waste occurs in connection with the 
performance of this License, Licensee shall immediately notify the Berkeley Police 
Department and the City's Toxics Management office, in addition to complying with all 
other obligations imposed by law, ordinance, code or regulation. Licensee shall not store 
hazardous materials or hazardous waste within the City of Berkeley without a proper 
permit from the City. 

16. MATERIAL SAFETY DATA SHEETS 

a. To comply with the City’s Hazard Communication Program, Licensee agrees to submit 
Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) for all “hazardous substances” Licensee intends to 
use in the performance of work under this License in any City facility. “Hazardous 
substances” are defined as those substances so designated by the Director of Industrial 
Relations pursuant to the Hazardous Substances Information and Training Act (Labor 
Code sec. 6360 et seq.). The MSDS for all products must be submitted to the City before 
commencing work. The MSDS for a particular product must be reviewed and approved 
by the City’s Risk Manager before Licensee may use that product. 

b. City will inform Licensee about hazardous substances to which it may be exposed while 
on the job site and protective measures that can be taken to reduce the possibility of 
exposure. 

Page 9 of 23

Page 171



   

17. INDEPENDENT CAPACITY 

For purposes of this License, and for the duration of this License, Licensee, including its 
agents and employees shall be, and are, an independent Licensee and not an agent or 
employee of the City. Licensee has and shall retain the right to exercise full control and 
supervision of the services, and full control over the employment, direction, compensation 
and discharge of all persons assisting Licensee in the performance of this License. Licensee 
shall be solely responsible for all matters relating to the payment of its employees, including 
compliance with Social Security withholding taxes and all other regulations governing such 
matters, and shall be solely responsible for its own acts and those of its agents and employees 

18. CITY NON-DISCRIMINATION ORDINANCE 

Licensee hereby agrees to comply with the provisions of the Berkeley Municipal Code (B.M.C.) 
Chapter 13.26 as amended from time to time. In the performance of this License, Licensee agrees 
as follows:  

a. Licensee shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, age (over 40), sex, pregnancy, 
marital status, disability, sexual orientation or AIDS. 

b. Licensee shall permit the City access to records of employment, employment 
advertisements, application forms, EEO-1 forms, affirmative action plans and any other 
documents which, in the opinion of the City, are necessary to monitor compliance with 
this non-discrimination provision. In addition, Licensee shall fill-out, in a timely fashion, 
forms supplied by the City to monitor this non-discrimination provision. 

19. CITY NON-DISCRIMINATION AGAINST PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

a. If Licensee provides any aid, service or benefit to others on the City's behalf, Licensee 
shall, in the provision of such aid; service or benefit, observe and comply with all 
applicable provisions of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and any 
amendments thereto. Licensee shall further observe and comply with all applicable 
federal, state, municipal and local laws, ordinances, codes and regulations prohibiting 
discrimination against individuals with disabilities or ensuring that individuals with 
disabilities are not excluded from participating in or receiving benefits, services or 
activities of the City. 

b. If Licensee is or becomes a "public accommodation" as defined in Title III of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Licensee shall observe and comply with all 
applicable provisions of the Act and any amendments thereto, and all applicable federal, 
state, municipal and local laws, ordinances, codes and regulations prohibiting 
discrimination on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of goods, 
services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations offered by. the Licensee. 
All Licensees' activities must be in accordance with· these laws, ordinances, codes and 
regulations and Licensee shall be solely responsible for complying therewith. 

20. CONFLICT OF INTEREST PROHIBITED 

a. In accordance with Government Code section 1090, Berkeley City Charter section 36 and 
B.M.C. Chapter 3.64, neither Licensee nor any employee, officer, director, partner or 

Page 10 of 23

Page 172



   

member of Licensee, or immediate family member of any of the preceding, shall have 
served as an elected officer, an employee, or a City board, committee or commission 
member, who has directly or indirectly influenced the making of this License. 

b. In accordance with Government Code section 1090 and the Political Reform Act, 
Government Code section 87100 et seq., no person who is a director, officer, partner, 
trustee, employee or consultant of the Licensee, or immediate family member of any of 
the preceding, shall make or participate in a decision made by the City or a City board, 
commission or committee, if it is reasonably foreseeable that the decision will have a 
material effect on any source of income, investment or interest in real property of that 
person or Licensee. 

c. Interpretation of this section shall be governed by the definitions and provisions used in 
the Political Reform Act, Government Code section 87100 et seq., its implementing 
regulations, manuals and codes, Government Code section 1090, Berkeley City Charter 
section 36 and B.M.C. Chapter 3.64. 

21. NUCLEAR FREE BERKELEY 

a. Licensee agrees to comply with B.M.C. Chapter 12.90, the Nuclear Free Berkeley Act, as 
amended from time to time. 

22. OPPRESSIVE STATES  

a. In accordance with Resolution No. 59,853-N.S., Licensee certifies that it has no 
contractual relations with, and agrees during the term of this License to forego 
contractual relations to provide personal services to, the following entities: 

1. The governing regime in any Oppressive State. 

2. Any business or corporation organized under the authority of the governing 
regime of any Oppressive State. 

3. Any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, association, or any other 
commercial organization, and including parent-entities and wholly-owned 
subsidiaries (to the extent that their operations are related to the purpose of its 
License with the City), for the express purpose of assisting in business operations 
or trading with any public or private entity located in any Oppressive State. 

b. For purposes of this License, the Tibet Autonomous Region and the provinces of Ado, 
Kham, and U-Tsang shall be deemed oppressive states.  

c. Licensee’s failure to comply with this section shall constitute a default of this License 
and City may terminate this License pursuant to Section 3. In the event that the City 
terminates Licensee due to a default under this provision, City may deem Licensee a non-
responsible bidder for not more than five (5) years from the date this License is 
terminated. 

23. BERKELEY LIVING WAGE ORDINANCE 

a. Licensee agrees to comply with Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 13.27, the Berkeley 
Living Wage Ordinance. If Licensee employs six (6) or more part-time, full-time or 

Page 11 of 23

Page 173



   

stipend employees, and generates $350,000 or more in annual gross receipts, Licensee 
will be required to provide all eligible employees with City mandated minimum 
compensation during the term of this lease, as defined in B.M.C. Chapter 13.27, and well 
as comply with the terms enumerated herein. 
 

b. Licensee shall be required to maintain all reasonable records and documents that would 
establish whether Licensee is subject to Berkeley's Living Wage Ordinance (LWO). If 
Licensee is subject to the LWO, as defined therein, Licensee shall be further required to 
maintain monthly records of those employees located on the licensed premises. These 
records shall include the total number of hours worked, the number of hours spent 
providing service on the licensed property, the hourly rate paid, and the amount paid by 
Licensee for health benefits, if any, for each of its employees providing services under 
the license. The records described in this Section shall be made available upon the City's 
request. The failure to produce these records upon demand shall be considered a default. 
 

c. If Licensee is subject to the LWO, Licensee shall include the requirements of the 
ordinance, as defined in B.M.C. Chapter 13.27, in any and all sublicenses in which 
Licensee enters with regard to the subject premises. Sublicensees shall be required to 
comply with this ordinance with regard to any employees who spend 25% or more of 
their compensated time on the licensed property. 
 

d. If Licensee fails to comply with the requirements of this the LWO and this license, the 
City shall have the rights and remedies described in this Section, in addition to any rights 
and remedies provided by law or equity. 
 

e. Licensee's failure to comply with this Section shall constitute default of the license, upon 
which City may terminate this license. 

In addition, at City's sole discretion, Licensee may be responsible for liquidated damages in the 
amount of $50 per employee per day for each and every instance of an underpayment to an 
employee. It is mutually understood and agreed that Licensee's failure to pay any of its eligible 
employees at least the applicable living wage rate will result in damages being sustained by the 
City; that the nature and amount of the damages will be extremely difficult and impractical to 
fix; that the liquidated damages set forth herein is the nearest and most exact measure of damage 
for such breach that can be fixed at this time; and that the liquidated damage amount is not 
intended as a penalty of forfeiture for Licensee's breach. 

24. SANCTUARY CITY CONTRACTING 

Licensee agrees to comply with the provisions of the Sanctuary City Contracting Ordinance, 
B.M.C. Chapter 13.105. In accordance with this Chapter, Licensee agrees not to provide the U.S. 
Immigration and Customs Enforcement Division of the United States Department of Homeland 
Security with any Data Broker or Extreme Vetting Services as defined herein. 

a. “Data Broker” means either of the following:  
i. The collection of information, including personal information about consumers, 

from a wide variety of sources for the purposes of reselling such information to 
their customers, which include both private-sector business and government 
agencies; or 

Page 12 of 23

Page 174



   

ii. The aggregation of data that was collected for another purpose from that for 
which it is ultimately used. 

b. “Extreme Vetting” means data mining, threat modeling, predictive risk analysis, or other 
similar services. Extreme Vetting does not include the City’s computer-network health 
and performance tools. 

25. BERKELEY EQUAL BENEFITS ORDINANCE 

a. Licensee hereby agrees to comply with the provisions of the Berkeley Equal Benefits 
Ordinance, B.M.C. Chapter 13.29. If Licensee is currently subject to the Berkeley Equal 
Benefits Ordinance, Licensee will be required to provide all eligible employees with City 
mandated equal benefits during the term of this license, as defined in B.M.C. Chapter 
13.29, as well as comply with the terms enumerated herein. 
 

b. If Licensee is currently or becomes subject to the Berkeley Equal Benefits Ordinance, 
Licensee agrees to supply the City with any records the City deems necessary to 
determine compliance with this provision. Failure to do so shall be a considered a default.  
 

c. If Licensee fails to comply with the requirements of this Section, City shall have the 
rights and remedies described in this Section, in addition to any rights and remedies 
provided by law or equity. 
 

d. Licensee’s failure to comply with this Section shall constitute default of the license, upon 
which City may terminate this license. 
 

e. In addition, at City’s sole discretion, Licensee may be responsible for liquidated damages 
in the amount of $50.00 per employee per day for each and every instance of violation of 
this Section. It is mutually understood and agreed that Licensee’s failure to provide its 
employees with equal benefits will result in damages being sustained by City; that the 
nature and amount of these damages will be extremely difficult and impractical to fix; 
that the liquidated damages set forth herein is the nearest and most exact measure of 
damages for such breach that can be fixed at this time; and that the liquidated damage 
amount is not intended as a penalty or forfeiture for Licensee’s breach. 

26. RECYCLED PAPER FOR WRITTEN REPORTS 

If Licensee is required by this License to prepare a written report or study, Licensee shall use 
recycled paper for said report or study when such paper is available at a cost of not more than ten 
percent more than the cost of virgin paper, and when such paper is available at the time it is 
needed. For the purposes of this License, recycled paper is paper that contains at least 50% 
recycled product. If recycled paper is not available, Licensee shall use white paper. Written 
reports or studies prepared under this License shall be printed on both sides of the page whenever 
practical. 

27. AUDIT 

Pursuant to Section 61 of the Berkeley City Charter, the City Auditor’s Office may conduct an 
audit of Licensee’s financial, performance and compliance records maintained in connection 
with the operations and services performed under this License. In the event of such audit, 

Page 13 of 23

Page 175



   

Licensee agrees to provide the City Auditor with reasonable access to Licensee’s employees and 
make all such financial, performance and compliance records available to the Auditor’s Office. 
City agrees to provide Licensee an opportunity to discuss and respond to any findings before a 
final audit report is filed. 

28. SETOFF AGAINST DEBTS 

Licensee agrees that City may deduct from any payments due to Licensee under this License any 
monies that Licensee owes City under any ordinance, License or resolution for any unpaid taxes, 
fees, licenses, unpaid checks or other amounts. 

29. GOVERNING LAW 

This License shall be deemed to have been executed in Alameda County. The formation, 
interpretation and performance of this License shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
California, excluding its conflict of laws rules. Venue for all litigation relative to the formation, 
interpretation and performance of this License shall be in Alameda County, California. 

30. AMENDMENTS 

The terms and conditions of this License or any attachments hereto shall not be altered or 
otherwise modified except by a written amendment to this License executed by City and 
Licensee. 

31. SEVERABILITY 

If any part of this License or the application thereof is declared invalid for any reason, such 
invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this License which can be given effect without 
the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of this License are declared to 
be severable. 

32. WAIVER 

Failure of City to insist on strict performance shall not constitute a waiver of any of the 
provisions of this License or a waiver of any other default of Licensee. 

33. ASSIGNMENT 

Licensee may not assign this License without the prior written consent of the City, except that 
Licensee may assign its right to any money due or to become due hereunder. 

34. SURRENDER OF PROPERTY, REMOVAL OR PERSONAL PROPERTY 

At the termination of this License, Licensee shall: 1) give up and surrender the Premises, in as 
good state and condition as reasonable use and wear and tear thereof will permit, damage by fire 
and the elements excepted; and 2) remove all property which is not a fixture of or permanent 
attachment to the Premises and which is owned and was installed by Licensee during the term of 
fire and the elements excepted; and 2) remove all property which is not a fixture of or permanent 
attachment to the Premises and which is owned and was installed by Licensee during the term of 
this License. 

35. EFFECT ON SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

Page 14 of 23

Page 176



   

This License shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors, and assigns of the parties hereto. 

36. PESTICIDES 

All use of pesticides on the Premises shall be in compliance with the City of Berkeley's Pesticide 
Use Policy as it exists at the time of such use. 

37. SIGNS 

Licensee shall not install or letter any signs on the Premises without the prior written consent of 
City. All signs on the Premises shall conform to the provisions of B.M.C. Chapter 20.04 and the 
Marina design guidelines for signs. 

38. REVIEW OF AGREEMENT BY COUNSEL; FAMILIARITY WITH CONTENTS 
AND EFFECTS 

Licensee and City each represent that in entering into this Agreement, it has relied upon the legal 
advice of its attorneys, if it so chooses. Licensee further represents that the terms of this 
Agreement. have been completely read by it, and that these terms are fully understood and 
voluntarily accepted by it, and if applicable, its attorneys. 

39. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

a. The terms and conditions of this License, all exhibits attached and any documents 
expressly incorporated by reference represent the entire agreement between the parties 
with respect to the subject matter of this License. This License shall supersede any and all 
prior agreements, oral or written, regarding the subject matter between City and Licensee. 
No other agreement, statement, or promise relating to the subject matter of this License 
shall be valid or binding except by a written amendment to this License.  

b. If any conflicts arise between· the terms and conditions of this License and the terms and 
conditions of the attached exhibits or any documents expressly incorporated, the terms 
and conditions of this License shall control. 

40. CONSULTANTS TO SUBMIT STATEMENTS OF ECONOMIC INTEREST 

The City’s Conflict of Interest Code, Resolution No. 60,788-N.S., as amended, requires 
consultants who make a governmental decision or act in a staff capacity as defined in 2 Cal. 
Code of Regs. §18700, as amended from time to time, to disclose conflicts of interest by filing a 
Statement of Economic Interest (Form 700). Consultants agree to file such statements with the 
City Clerk at the beginning of the License period and upon termination of the Licensee’s service. 

41. SECTION HEADINGS 

The sections and other headings of this License are for convenience of reference only and shall 
be disregarded in the interpretation of this License. 

42. CITY BUSINESS LICENSE, PAYMENT OF TAXES, TAX I.D. NUMBER 

Licensee has obtained a City business license as required by B.M.C. Chapter 9.04, and its license 
number is written below; or, Licensee is exempt from the provisions of B.M.C. Chapter 9.04 and 
has written below the specific B.M.C. section under which it is exempt. Licensee shall pay all 

Page 15 of 23

Page 177



   

state and federal income taxes and any other taxes due. Licensee certifies under penalty of 
perjury that the taxpayer identification number written below is correct. 

 

 

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE] 

  

Page 16 of 23

Page 178



   

 
 
CITY OF BERKELEY 

 
 
Richard Tapp, on behalf of RM Ventures, 
LLC 

 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
          City Manager 

 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
          Richard Tapp, Managing Member 

 Berkeley Business 
License No.: BL-008950  

 Taxpayer ID No.: ____________________ 
 

 

  

Page 17 of 23

Page 179



   

Exhibit A 

Premises 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Page 18 of 23

Page 180



Page 19 of 23

Page 181



(E) BAR

(E)
WAIT

STATION

(E)
WOOD OVEN(E) WALK IN

REFRIGERATOR
(E) WALK IN
FREEZER

(E) WASH & PREPARATION

(E) EXIT

(E) COOKING

(E
) E

N
TR

Y

(E) BANQUET

(E)
WAIT

STATION

(E) HCP
TOILET

(E) HALL

(E) DINING

(E
) D

IN
IN

G

LOCKED CABINET

(E) SID
EW

ALK

(E) LANDSCAPING

(E) PUBLIC PARKING LOT

C
O

LLEG
E AVEN

U
E

(E) ADJACENT BUILDING

(E
) P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

(E
) P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

(E
) P

R
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E

(E) 6' CLEARANCE

(E) ADJACENT TENANT

(E
) E

N
TR

Y

(E) TREE

(E) PUBLIC ALLEY

(E) PROPERTY LINE

(E) AWNING  ABOVE

(E) TRASH

(E) POST

(E) POST

(E) BOLLARD

HEATER

(E) 6' CLEARANCE

(E) METERS PGE

(E) PLANTER

6'-0"

388 SF 109 SF

717 SF
53'

3.3'

93'

24'
6'

17'
6.6'

(E) APPROVED PATIO30%

PROPOSED EXTENDED PATIO13%

(E) PUBLIC ALLEY57%

60 SF 6'
9.5'

Richard Tapp Associates
 Architecture •  Planning  •  Interior Design

2 COMMODORE DR. UNIT 383, EMERYVILLE CA.  94707 
(510) 701-8277   -   rtapparchitect@aol.com

T

C-26561

R

L

R K.DAHC
IC

ENSED A

PP
A

CHITECT

I
R

A

S

CFOETA
T AINROFIL

RENEWAL DATE

Feb. 2023

SITE PLAN
EXTERIOR SEATS PLAN WITH AREAS

SEATING SCHEDULE

INTERIOR SEATS: 58
EXTERIOR SEATS: 28
TOTAL SEATS: 86

2930 COLLEGE AVE.
BERKELEY, CA

01/11/23

TENANT IMPROVEMENTS

Page 20 of 23

Page 182



   

Exhibit B 

Use of Premises  

In addition to the terms and condition set forth in the License, Licensee shall use the Premises 
described on Exhibit A attached in conformity with the following: 

  a.  Licensee agrees and understands the premises is licensed in its “AS IS” 
condition and that use of the premises is nonexclusive. 

  b.  Licensee will use the premises for the purpose of outdoor dining including 
service of beer, wine, and spirits as detailed in approved Use Permit #ZP2022-0139 for the 
restaurant located at 2930 College Avenue and storage of furniture used for that outdoor dining 
area and agrees to continuously and uninterruptedly occupy and use the entire licensed premises 
for said purpose and to maintain adequate personnel for the efficient service of clients or 
customers.  Licensee shall not use nor permit the use of the whole or any part of the premises for 
any other purpose without the Landlord's prior written consent. 

  c.  Business may be conducted with the public on the licensed premises at any 
time on any day, provided that, to do business after 10:00 p.m. on any day Licensee shall have 
obtained any permit required by federal, state or local law.  Licensee shall operate the outdoor 
dining area with sufficient staff to serve patrons and only during the hours of operation of the 
associated restaurant and in conformance with any and all permits required by federal, state, or 
local law. Licensee shall serve beer, wine, and spirits in conformance with City of Berkeley Use 
Permit #ZP2022-0139 for a Type 47 ABC license. 

d.  In addition to Licensee’s agreement to abide by all other restrictions on 
Licensee’s use, Licensee shall maintain at all times a minimum six-foot wide pedestrian path 
parallel to the outdoor dining and storage area to ensure a midblock pedestrian path to and from 
the Elmwood Parking Lot and College Avenue is continuously maintained in the Paseo.  
Licensee agrees that any violation of this use restriction shall constitute a default by Licensee 
under the license, and that Landlord’s notice to Lessee of this specific use restriction shall not be 
deemed a waiver by Landlord of any other use restriction imposed on the Licensee for the use of 
the demised premises. 

 

 

  

Page 21 of 23

Page 183



   

Exhibit C 

Term and Payment 

1. The License Fee described in Paragraph 3.a of the License shall be paid in advance every 
year on or before March 1st and pro-rated for any partial month. Payments must be 
received no later than five (5) calendar days from the start of each year. Any payment 
received after this time period will be assessed a ten percent (10%) late penalty. 
 

2. Payments shall be made payable to the '"City of Berkeley" and paid in person or by mail 
to the  

City of Berkeley 
Public Works Real Property 

 1947 Center Street, 5th Floor, Suite 521  
Berkeley, CA 94704 

 
3. Please include the following account number in the notes section of checks, money 

orders, or other payments made to the City of Berkeley: 627-54-622-6665-3004-000-000-
462110- 

 
4. Failure of Licensee to make full payments on time is grounds for termination of this 

License by the City.  

 

PAYMENT SCHEDULE FOR ELMWOOD PASEO OUTDOOR DINNING & DRINKING SPACE
YEAR 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028

MARCH 1 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

APRIL 2 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

MAY 3 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

JUNE 4 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

JULY 5 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

AUGUST 6 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

SEPTEMBER 7 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

OCTOBER 8 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

NOVEMBER 9 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

DECEMBER 10 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

JANUARY 11 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      

FEBRUARY 12 139.25$      143.43$           147.73$      152.16$      156.73$      
ANNUAL TOTAL: 1,671.00$   1,721.13$        1,772.76$   1,825.95$   1,880.73$   

8,871.57$   FIVE YEAR TOTAL:

Page 22 of 23

Page 184



   

 
 

PREMISES AREA (SQFT):

MONTHLY RATE PER SQFT:

INITIAL MONTHLY RENT:

ANNUAL INCREASE:

LEASE START DATE:

INITIAL TERM:

INITIAL TERM TERMINATION DATE:

NOTIFY LANDLORD FOR RENEWAL BY

February 29, 2028

September 1, 2027

60 MONTHS

March 1, 2023

139.25$                                 

557

0.25$                                     

3.00%

Page 23 of 23

Page 185



Page 186



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Liam Garland, Director, Public Works

Subject: Contract No. 32200073 Amendment: Toole Design Group for Engineering 
Design and Construction Support Services for the Southside Complete 
Streets Project

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute an amendment to Contract 
No. 32200073 with Toole Design Group for engineering design and construction support 
services for the Southside Complete Streets Project, increasing the contract by $508,602, 
for a total amount not to exceed $1,790,213, and extending the term of the contract from 
December 31, 2023 to June 30, 2025.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Funds for the additional scope of work in the amount of $508,602 for this amendment are 
available in the FY 2024 budget for Fund 134, Alameda County Measure BB - Local 
Streets & Roads pending the first Amendment to the Annual Appropriations Ordinance.

Current contract amount $ 1,281,611
Contract amendment $ 508,602
Total revised not-to-exceed amount $ 1,790,213

The average cost associated with the development, routing, and approvals of a consent 
calendar item such as this is approximately $3,200. The average cost for an action or 
work session item is approximately $6,200.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The contract amendment will expand the scope of services with Toole Design Group 
(Toole) to include additional services during the design and construction phases of the 
Southside Complete Streets Project (Project).

The City contracted with Toole to perform planning and engineering design services for 
a scope of work that was based key elements derived from the City of Berkeley’s 
Pedestrian and Bicycle Plans and the City’s Transit-First Policy.  Toole and City staff 
conducted extensive outreach efforts with the public, outside agencies, and City 

Page 1 of 7

Page 187

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
10



  
Contract No. 32200073 Amendment: Toole Design Group for Engineering Design CONSENT CALENDAR
and Construction Support Services for the Southside Complete Streets Project September 19, 2023

Page 2

departments which resulted in a substantially updated and expanded understanding of 
the needs and expectations of both public agency stakeholders and the Berkeley 
community. This process culminated in a conceptual design that was approved by City 
Council on February 22, 2022, requiring significantly higher level of design effort than 
originally envisioned.  Consequently, City staff negotiated with Toole to develop a scope 
and fee for additional design and construction support services to augment the current 
contract, commensurate with the actual scope of the Project.

The final conceptual design resulted in the following additional work, which focused on 
improvements to safety, accessibility, optimization, and sustainable design: project 
management (including numerous meetings to discuss and coordinate additional design 
components) and changes to design documents, including: 

a. traffic signal modifications at four additional locations and a new signalized 
intersection at Bancroft Way/Barrow Way, 

b. preparation of exhibits to facilitate expedited decisions on curb space usage and 
paratransit loading/unloading locations, 

c. extensive pavement analysis and design for bus lanes and to accommodate the 
new generation of heavier electric buses, 

d. redesign of roadway layout features due to revised comments from crucial 
stakeholders, 

e. evaluating approximately 90 curb ramps for compliance with current standards and 
designing new curb ramps where needed, 

f. revised environmental clearance documents as a result of the changed Project 
scope, and 

g. coordination with Caltrans (the grant funding administrator) to expedite review of 
documents in order to meet grant funding deadlines.

The actual scope of the Project also necessitates an increase in Toole’s estimated 
design-related services during the construction phase, which will likely involve review of 
contractor’s technical submittals and requests for information; on-site meetings involving 
subsurface utility coordination, work around buried rail lines, and traffic signal phasing 
and coordination; and revisions to the plans and/or technical specifications as a result of 
unanticipated changes to the design such as unforeseen subsurface site conditions.  
Toole, as the design consultant and engineer of record, has the requisite knowledge and 
background to provide these services, which are necessary in order for the City to 
efficiently manage the construction and reduce the effects of construction on residents, 
local businesses, UC Berkeley, transit, pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorists.

The contract amendment will also extend the duration of this contract to conform with the 
anticipated completion of all construction and subsequent Project close-out activities in 
mid-2025.

The Southside Complete Streets Project is one of the Public Works Department’s Top 
Projects for FY 2023, advancing the City’s Strategic Plan Priorities to (1) provide state-

Page 2 of 7

Page 188



  
Contract No. 32200073 Amendment: Toole Design Group for Engineering Design CONSENT CALENDAR
and Construction Support Services for the Southside Complete Streets Project September 19, 2023

Page 3

of-the art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and facilities, (2) create a resilient, 
safe, connected, and prepared city, and (3) be a global leader in addressing climate 
change, advancing environmental justice, and protecting the environment.

BACKGROUND
In recent years, the Southside neighborhood has experienced continuing growth in both 
commercial activity and residential occupancy, with increased walking, biking, transit use, 
ride-hailing, and freight and small package delivery.  The Southside Complete Streets 
Project aims to meet these challenges by taking the visions laid out in City plans and 
other documents and coupling them with a community- and data-driven approach to 
design transportation improvements.

The goals of the Southside Complete Streets Project are: 

(1) Ensure safety for all street users consistent with the City’s Vision Zero policy, 
which relies in large part on the City’s Pedestrian and Bicycle plans;  

(2) Improve transit reliability consistent with the City’s Transit-First policy; and 

(3) Support the economic and cultural vitality of Berkeley’s Southside neighborhood 
consistent with the Economic Development goals of the City’s Southside Plan.

Several previous City Council actions are relevant to this report:

On June 27, 2017, City Council authorized the filing of an application and subsequent 
acceptance of funds for the Southside Complete Streets Project.  In 2018, the City 
received an $8,335,000 Federal-aid grant from Alameda County Transportation 
Commission (Alameda CTC) and the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) 
for transportation improvements in Berkeley’s Southside neighborhood.  Of this grant, $1 
million is allocated for preliminary engineering (planning, conceptual design, and public 
engagement); environmental compliance; plans, specifications and estimates (detailed 
engineering design and preparation of construction documents); and construction bid and 
engineering support.  The remaining $7,335,000 of the grant is for construction of 
transportation improvements.

On January 26, 2021, City Council authorized the City Manager to execute a contract with 
Toole for planning, design, and engineering of the Project.  The contract was 
subsequently executed on August 2, 2021.  Planning and community outreach efforts 
immediately began in earnest, culminating in recommended conceptual design options 
that were approved by Council on February 22, 2022; on that same date, City Council 
directed the City Manager to direct staff to proceed with detailed engineering design of 
the Project.

Detailed design documents were prepared by Toole and City staff, and Caltrans (as the 
grant funding administrator) reviewed and approved these documents in February 2023.  

Page 3 of 7

Page 189



  
Contract No. 32200073 Amendment: Toole Design Group for Engineering Design CONSENT CALENDAR
and Construction Support Services for the Southside Complete Streets Project September 19, 2023

Page 4

The Project advertisement and bid period ensued, and bids were received by construction 
contractors in May 2023.

On June 27, 2023, City Council took the following actions: (a) approve plans and 
specifications for the Southside Complete Streets Project (“Project”); (b) accept the bid of 
Bay Cities Paving & Grading, Inc. (Bay Cities), the lowest responsive and responsible 
bidder; and (c) authorize the City Manager to execute a contract with Bay Cities for 
construction of the Project, in an amount not to exceed $12,973,925, which included a 
contingency for unforeseen circumstances.

The construction contract with Bay Cities has since been executed, and construction of 
the project has recently begun.  On-site construction of the Project is anticipated to be 
complete in late 2024 and subsequent grant funding close-out is anticipated to extend 
into mid-2025.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Installation of protected bikeways and improved pedestrian crossings is anticipated to 
increase walking and biking, which is consistent with the 2009 Berkeley Climate Action 
Policy that calls for expanding and improving Berkeley’s bicycle and pedestrian 
infrastructure.  Installation of transit-only lanes is anticipated to improve bus reliability and 
decrease travel times, making on-street transit a more attractive mode of transportation.  
The 2009 Berkeley Climate Action Plan sets targets of reducing transportation emissions 
33% below year 2000 levels by 2020, and 80% below year 2000 levels by 2050.  The 
Plan further states that transportation modes such as public transit, walking, and bicycling 
must become the primary means of fulfilling the City’s mobility needs in order to meet 
those targets.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
In order to design and construct the Project in accordance with the Council-approved 
conceptual design, which was developed with significant input from the community, an 
amendment to Toole’s contract is required.  Successful completion of the Project requires 
contracted design and construction support services, as the City does not possess the 
necessary background information or specific technical expertise.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
If City Council chooses not to take the proposed actions at this time and instead defer the 
item to a future Council agenda, construction of the Project would likely be delayed and 
could result in increased costs to the Project.

CONTACT PERSON
Hamid Mostowfi, Acting Transportation Manager, Public Works Department 510-981-
6403
Kenneth Jung, Supervising Civil Engineer, Public Works Department 510-981-7028
Eric Anderson, Principal Planner, Public Works Department 510-981-7062

Page 4 of 7

Page 190



  
Contract No. 32200073 Amendment: Toole Design Group for Engineering Design CONSENT CALENDAR
and Construction Support Services for the Southside Complete Streets Project September 19, 2023

Page 5

Attachments:
1: Resolution

Page 5 of 7

Page 191



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT NO. 32200073 AMENDMENT:
TOOLE DESIGN GROUP FOR ENGINEERING DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 

SUPPORT SERVICES FOR THE SOUTHSIDE COMPLETE STREETS PROJECT

WHEREAS, on January 26, 2021 via Resolution No. 69,708-N.S., City Council authorized 
the City Manager to enter into a contract with Toole Design Group for planning, design, 
and engineering of the Southside Complete Streets Project for an amount not to exceed 
$1,281,611; and

WHEREAS, the City Manager executed Contract No. 32200073 with Toole Design Group 
for an amount not to exceed $1,281,611 for the period August 2, 2021 through December 
31, 2023; and

WHEREAS, on June 27, 2017 via Resolution No. 68,061-N.S., City Council authorized 
the filing of an application (and subsequent acceptance of funds) to the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission for funding for the Southside Complete Streets Project, which 
includes federal funding; and

WHEREAS, in 2018, the City received an $8,335,000 Federal-aid grant from Alameda 
County Transportation Commission and the California Department of Transportation for 
the Southside Complete Streets Project, which includes $1 million for preliminary 
engineering, environmental compliance; detailed engineering design, and design-related 
construction support services, and $7,335,000 for construction work; and

WHEREAS, the contract with Toole Design Group was based on an assumed Project 
scope with key elements derived from the Berkeley Pedestrian Plan, Berkeley Bicycle 
Plan, and the Berkeley Transit-First Policy; and

WHEREAS, City staff and Toole Design Group conducted an extensive community 
outreach effort in which input was received from various stakeholders including nearby 
businesses, residents, UC Berkeley, transit agencies, and various City departments, and 
conceptual design options were prepared that incorporated comments into the Project as 
additional scope items; and

WHEREAS, on February 22, 2022 via Resolution No. 70,241-N.S., City Council approved 
selected conceptual options for the Southside Complete Streets Project and authorized 
the City Manager direct staff proceed with the detailed engineering design; and

WHEREAS, on June 27, 2023 via Resolution No. 70,919-N.S., City Council approved 
plans and specifications for the Southside Complete Streets Project, accepted the lowest 
responsive and responsible bid for the construction, and authorized the City Manager to 
execute a contract with said bidder; and

Page 6 of 7

Page 192



  
September 19, 2023

Page 2

WHEREAS, the Southside Complete Streets Project is one of the Public Works 
Department’s Top Projects for FY 2023; and

WHEREAS, Toole Design Group, as the design consultant and engineer of record, has 
the requisite knowledge and background to provide the design services for the 
aforementioned additional scope items plus corresponding additional design-related 
services during the construction phase, which are necessary in order for the City to 
efficiently manage the project; and

WHEREAS, the construction and subsequent project close-out period is anticipated to be 
complete in mid-2025; and

WHEREAS, funding of $508,602 is available in the FY 2024 budget from the Alameda 
County Measure BB - Local Streets & Roads Fund (Fund 134) pending approval via the 
first Amendment to the Annual Appropriations Ordinance.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to execute an amendment to Contract No. 32200073 with 
Toole Design Group for engineering design and construction support services for the 
Southside Complete Streets Project, increasing the contract by $508,602, for a total 
amount not to exceed $1,790,213, and extending the term of the contract from December 
31, 2023 to June 30, 2025.

Page 7 of 7

Page 193



Page 194



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@cityofberkeley.info Website: http://www.cityofberkeley.info/manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Liam Garland, Director, Department of Public Works

Subject: Agreement with Goldsmiths for Strawberry Creek Culvert Repair

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a Cost Sharing Agreement 
and Release with Steven and Cathy Goldsmith for repair of a section of Strawberry 
Creek Culvert. The culvert was reported to have failed on or about October 24, 2021 and 
the extents of the failure is alleged to include area in both City right-of-way and private 
property under the Goldsmiths’ home. Per the agreement, the City would expend an 
amount not to exceed $75,000 toward repair of the creek culvert in exchange for a 
release of claims relating to the October 24, 2021 culvert failure.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Per the proposed cost sharing agreement, the City’s expenditure is not to exceed 
$75,000 for repair of the culvert. This funding is available in Fiscal year (FY) 2024 in the 
Capital Improvement Fund (501).

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
On or about October 24, 2021, a segment of Strawberry Creek culvert was reported to 
have failed causing damage to property located at 1749 Allston Way (“Allston Property”). 
Steven and Cathy Goldsmith (“Goldsmiths”), owners of the Allston Property, performed 
initial repairs to the culvert to secure the Allston Property. The Goldsmiths intend to 
perform additional repairs to repair the creek culvert. These repairs are estimated to cost 
approximately $125,000, plus additional fees for permits, material testing, and third-party 
inspections. 

The full scope of the culvert failure repair includes a section of culvert within the City 
right-of-way. Staff recommends that City enter into a cost sharing agreement with the 
Goldsmiths and expend a payment not to exceed the amount of $75,000 toward the 
repair of the portion of the culvert within the right-of-way. As a condition of the 
agreement, the Goldsmiths will release the City from future claims arising from the 
October, 24, 2021, culvert failure. Additional considerations of the agreement are 
outlined in the attached Cost Sharing Agreement and Release.  The City Attorney’s 
Office has reviewed the proposed agreement and approved it as to form.  

Page 1 of 3

Page 195

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
11



Agreement with Goldsmiths for Strawberry Creek Culvert Repair CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

Page 2

Repair of the creek culvert supports the Strategic Plan goals of providing state-of-the-art, 
well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and facilities, and of creating a resilient, safe, 
connected, and prepared City.

BACKGROUND
Strawberry Creek Watershed begins on the western slope of the Berkeley Hills with a 
series of springs and tributaries which converge and flow through the University of 
California, Berkeley campus. The confluence of the creek enters a culvert at Oxford 
Street at the edge of campus. Downstream of the campus, the watershed is highly 
urbanized and the creek is mostly confined to culverts. The City owns and maintains only 
those sections of Strawberry Creek culvert which run through City right-of-way or City-
owned properties.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Collaborating with the Goldsmiths on the repair of the creek culvert supports sustainable 
practices outlined by the City in its 2009 Climate Action Plan by eliminating greenhouse 
gas emissions associated from City performing a separate creek culvert repair project for 
the portion of the culvert located within the City right-of-way.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The cost sharing and release agreement allows City to provide funding for repair of a 
City owned creek culvert as part of a private creek culvert project. The agreement 
eliminates duplication of efforts associated with the design, permitting, and construction 
of separate City and private projects, conserving staff, financial, and material resources. 
The agreement protects the City’s legal interests by obtaining a release for potential 
claims relating to the October 24, 2021 culvert failure.  

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
Perform the creek culvert repair in City right-of-way as a separate City project. This 
approach would require additional staff resources and cost, and would potentially delay 
completion of the repairs for the City-owned portion of the creek culvert.

CONTACT PERSON
Ron Nevels, Interim City Engineer/Manager of Engineering, Department of Public 
Works, 981-6439
Srinivas Muktevi, Supervising Civil Engineer, Department of Public Works, 981-6402
Ricardo Salcedo, Associate Civil Engineer, Department of Public Works, 981-6407

Attachments: 
1: Resolution

Page 2 of 3

Page 196



RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

COST SHARING AND RELEASE AGREEMENT WITH GOLDSMITHS FOR 
STRAWBERRY CREEK CULVERT REPAIR

WHEREAS, on or about October 24, 2021, a segment of Strawberry Creek culvert was 
reported to have failed causing damage to property located at 1749 Allston Way (“Allston 
Property”). Steven and Cathy Goldsmith (“Goldsmiths”), owners of the Allston Property, 
at their own expense performed initial repairs to the culvert to secure their property; and

WHEREAS, the Goldsmiths intend to perform additional repairs to the creek culvert and 
these repairs are estimated to cost approximately $125,000, plus additional fees for 
permits, material testing, and third-party inspections; and

WHEREAS, the Goldsmiths proposed creek culvert repair extends beyond the Allston 
Property limits and into City right-of-way; and

WHEREAS, City staff recommends that the City enter into a cost sharing agreement 
(Agreement) with the Goldsmiths for repair of the creek culvert, to address the adjacent 
portion of City owned culvert; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement would allow the Goldsmiths to include repair of City owned 
infrastructure as part of their project and would eliminate duplication of efforts associated 
with the design, permitting, and construction of a separate City project; and

WHEREAS, the Agreement includes a release of the Goldsmiths’ potential claims against 
the City relating to the October 24, 2021 culver failure; and

WHEREAS, the agreed upon City contribution is not to exceed Seventy-Five Thousand 
Dollars ($75,000) and funding is available in Fiscal Year (FY) 2024 in the Capital 
Improvement Fund (501).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to execute the Agreement by and Between the City of 
Berkeley and Steven and Cathy Goldsmith for repair of the Strawberry Creek Culvert 
failure. 

Page 3 of 3

Page 197



Page 198



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Liam Garland, Director, Public Works Department

Subject: Amendment to the Agreement for Maintenance of State Highways in the 
City of Berkeley between the California Department of Transportation and 
the City of Berkeley

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute an amendment to the 
Agreement with the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) for maintenance 
of the State highways within the City of Berkeley. The amendment will address three 
new traffic signals: 1) a new pedestrian hybrid beacon (PHB) at San Pablo Avenue and 
Virginia Street 2) a new PHB at San Pablo Avenue and Hearst Street, and 3) a new 
rectangular rapid flashing beacon (RRFB) at Ashby Avenue and California Street.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
This amendment would modify the City’s existing maintenance agreement with Caltrans 
to include two new PHBs at the intersections of San Pablo/Virginia and San 
Pablo/Hearst and a new RRFB at Ashby/California. Under this amendment there would 
be no change to the current maximum annual authorized amount that Caltrans 
reimburses the City for maintenance of State Highway 13 (Tunnel Road and Ashby 
Avenue) and 123 (San Pablo Avenue).

Due to a persistently high vacancy rate and other pressing priorities, negotiations with 
Caltrans to update annual maximum reimbursement amount to align with the City's 
costs of providing maintenance services of State-owned right-of-way has been on hold.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Maintaining State highways within the City is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, advancing 
our goal to provide state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and 
facilities.

Caltrans recently completed construction of pedestrian safety improvements along San 
Pablo Corridor. As part of these improvements two new PHBs have been installed along 
San Pablo Avenue, one at Virginia Street and the other at Hearst Street, in addition to a 
RRFB at Ashby Avenue and California Street. The new signals will provide for a safer 
crossing of pedestrians and bicycles at these three intersections. 

Page 1 of 5

Page 199

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
12



Amendment to the Agreement for Maintenance of State Highways in the 
City of Berkeley between the California Department of Transportation 
and the City of Berkeley CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 2

The new traffic signals are within the State’s right of way. Caltrans requires that the 
existing maintenance agreement be amended to include the improvements prior to 
turning control and maintenance of these signals to the City.

BACKGROUND
The City's current maintenance agreement with Caltrans was executed on December 1, 
1988. City Council authorized execution of this Agreement on September 6, 1988, 
under Resolution No. 54,423-N.S. This Agreement replaced the previous Agreement 
from July 1, 1973, which was authorized by Council under Resolution No. 40,114-N.S.

Maintenance, as defined by Caltrans, is the preservation and keeping of right-of-way, 
and each type of roadway structure and component in safe and usable condition to 
which it had been improved or constructed, but does not include reconstruction or other 
major improvement. Under the current maintenance Agreement, the City is responsible 
for performing maintenance work and the State will reimburse the City for the actual 
cost of specified work up to a maximum annual expenditure level.

The subject amendment to the maintenance Agreement complies with the City's 
strategic plan to provide state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and 
facilities.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Modifying the maintenance agreement to include three new traffic signals along the San 
Pablo Avenue corridor and Ashby Avenue corridor is not anticipated to have any 
negative environmental or climate impacts.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Because these new Caltrans installed signals will become part of the State Highway 
which the City will maintain, the City of Berkeley is required to amend the existing 
maintenance agreement with Caltrans to extend the maintenance coverage to include 
these new signals.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
There is no alternative that would allow City of Berkeley to maintain and make 
necessary adjustments to these traffic signals. It is a Caltrans requirement that the 1988 
maintenance agreement be modified before turning over maintenance of a traffic signal 
to the City.

CONTACT PERSON
Hamid Mostowfi, Acting Transportation Manager, Public Works Department
(510) 981-6403

Page 2 of 5

Page 200



Amendment to the Agreement for Maintenance of State Highways in the 
City of Berkeley between the California Department of Transportation 
and the City of Berkeley CONSENT CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 3

Attachments:
1: Resolution

Page 3 of 5

Page 201



RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT FOR MAINTENANCE OF STATE HIGHWAYS 
IN THE CITY BETWEEN THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

AND CITY OF BERKELEY

WHEREAS, the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) recently completed 
construction of pedestrian safety improvements as part of their San Pablo Corridor safety 
improvement project; and

WHEREAS, as part of these improvements two new pedestrian hybrid beacons and one 
rectangular rapid flashing beacon have been installed along San Pablo Avenue, and 
Ashby Avenue; and

WHEREAS, the new signals will provide for a safer crossing of pedestrians and bicycles 
at these two intersections; and

WHEREAS, Caltrans requires the existing 1988 Maintenance Agreement for 
maintenance of the State highways within the City be amended to include traffic signal 
improvements at San Pablo/Virginia, San Pablo/Hearst, and at Ashby Avenue /California 
Street as a precondition to turn over the maintenance and control of the signals to City of 
Berkeley; and

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments would not change the current maximum annual 
authorized amount that Caltrans reimburses the City for maintenance of State highways 
within the City; and

WHEREAS, the City Council authorized execution of the current Citywide maintenance 
Agreement between the City and Caltrans on September 6, 1988, under Resolution No. 
54,423-N.S., and amended it on November 16, 2021 with Resolution 70,108-N.S; and

WHEREAS, City staff and Caltrans are negotiating the terms of an upcoming revision to 
the Citywide maintenance Agreement, which will replace the current Agreement and the 
subject amendment by (1) updating the improvements that have been implemented in the 
State right of way since the Agreement was executed and (2) correspondingly updating 
the maximum annual reimbursement amount that the City would receive from Caltrans 
for said maintenance work.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council of the City of Berkeley authorizes 
the City Manager to execute an amendment to the Agreement between the City and 
Caltrans originally executed on September 6, 1988 under Resolution No. 54,423-N.S., 
and as amended on November 16, 2021 with Resolution 70,108-N.S,  for maintenance 
of the State highways within the City of Berkeley to include traffic signal improvements at 

Page 4 of 5

Page 202



Page 2

San Pablo/Virginia, San Pablo/Hearst, and at Ashby Avenue/California. A record 
signature copy of said amendment will be on file in the Office of the City Clerk.

Page 5 of 5

Page 203



Page 204



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Liam Garland, Director, Department of Public Works

Subject: Contract No. 9977C Amendment: Portable Computer Systems dba PCS 
Mobile for Parking Permit and Citation Services

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute an amendment to Contract 
No. 9977C with Portable Computer Systems dba PCS Mobile, increasing the contract 
amount by $1,650,000 for a total amount not-to-exceed of $3,700,000 and extending 
the contract term through June 30, 2029. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Funding of $1,650,000 is subject to appropriation in FY 2024-FY 2029 in the Parking 
Meter Fund.
Current Contract Amount ................................................................$2,050,000
Amended Contract Amount ...............................................................$1,650,000
Total NTE                                                                                            $3,700,000
The average cost associated with the development, routing, and approvals of a consent 
calendar item such as this is approximately $3,200. The average cost for an action or 
work session item is approximately $6,200. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The City currently uses Automated License Plate Reader (ALPR) systems for issuance 
of parking citations, with the license plate reading capabilities used to conduct time limit 
enforcement and verify permits in Residential Preferential Parking (RPP) areas. 
The contract with PCS Mobile was last amended in April 2022 via Resolution 70,323-
N.S., increasing the contract not to exceed amount to $2,050,000 and extending the 
contract term. The contract is currently set to expire on June 30, 2024.  
While the ALPR units are operated by Parking Enforcement staff, the contract is 
managed by the Transportation Division’s Parking Services Unit. The City has been 
using ALPR systems for parking enforcement since 2015, and with the introduction of 
digital license plate based residential permits, the City is now reliant on ALPR for 
important baseline programs. By November 2023, all 22 systems operated by the City 
will have reached this tool’s end of useful life. This increases the risk of system failure 

Page 1 of 4

Page 205

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
13



  
Contract No. 9977C Amendment: Portable Computer Systems dba CONSENT CALENDAR
PCS Mobile September 19, 2023

Page 2

and makes ongoing maintenance by PCS Mobile challenging as replacement parts are 
increasingly difficult to find.

Due to a vacancy rate above 20% in the Transportation Division and funding 
challenges, it remains infeasible to issue a new request for proposals (RFP) for ALPR 
equipment and support at this time. Additionally, City staff are satisfied with the quality 
of customer service and support provided by PCS Mobile, and are familiar with the 
equipment after years of use. The budget increase includes one-time costs for a full 
replacement of the obsolete equipment, funding for extended warranties, and funding 
for yearly costs associated with daily operations, including preventative maintenance, 
support services, and cellular network connectivity fees. Amending the contract with 
PCS Mobile for an extension of five (5) years would ensure that existing parking permit 
and enforcement processes continue to run without a gap in service. 
BACKGROUND
Effective management of Berkeley’s public parking resources improves access to local 
businesses and reduces traffic congestion and safety hazards caused by drivers as they 
search for parking. In particular, ALPR technology enables Parking Enforcement 
Officers (PEOs) to cover more ground faster, allowing for more efficient patrols. In 
addition, ALPR is now the foundation of the City’s digital parking permit management 
system: license plates now function as annual permits, allowing faster yearly renewals 
and eliminating the need for the City to purchase and distribute physical bumper decals. 

On January 27, 2015, Council authorized Contract No. 9977 with PCS Mobile to install 
and maintain five Genetec ALPR systems as part of the goBerkeley parking 
management pilot program. The contract with PCS Mobile was first amended in 
December 2017 via Resolution 68,085-N.S, to fund the purchase of fifteen (15) 
additional ALPR systems, bringing the City’s total to twenty (20) systems, as well as 
yearly costs associated with daily operations, including preventative maintenance, 
support services, and cellular network connectivity fees through June 30, 2022. 
On May 14, 2019 via Resolution No. 68,877-N.S., Council authorized the purchase of 
fifteen (15) new Westward Industries “GO-4” parking enforcement vehicles. These new 
vehicles replaced older GO-4s that were already outfitted with ALPR systems. 
Removing ALPR systems from the old vehicles and reinstalling them onto the new GO-
4s incurred costs beyond what was originally budgeted. The May 2020 contract 
amendment provided funding to replenish the contract budget so operations could run 
smoothly through the duration of the contract. Finally, on April 26, 2022 Council 
authorized an amendment to the contract via Resolution No. 70,323-N.S. extending the 
term and adding budget to allow for operations to continue while staff could conduct a 
procurement process for ALPR equipment and services. Unfortunately, due to 
persistent funding and staff capacity constraints, such a procurement was infeasible. 
The use of ALPR equipment is guided by the Berkeley Police Department’s Policy 
#1302, Surveillance Use Policy for Automated License Plate Readers. 

Page 2 of 4

Page 206



  
Contract No. 9977C Amendment: Portable Computer Systems dba CONSENT CALENDAR
PCS Mobile September 19, 2023

Page 3

The contract with Portable Computer Systems dba PCS Mobile addresses a Strategic 
Plan Priority, advancing our goal to create a resilient, safe, connected, and prepared 
city.
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Effective parking enforcement increases compliance with parking rates and time limits, 
which are used to improve parking availability. Reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
produced by vehicular traffic is one of the City’s 2009 Climate Action Plan goals.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
ALPR is integral to current parking enforcement operations and residential permit 
management. In addition, Parking Enforcement Officers (PEOs) find the technology 
easy to use and effective at increasing enforcement capacity. This in turn increases 
compliance with existing parking management regulations, and reinforces Council-
supported programs. 

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
None. 

CONTACT PERSON
Hamid Mostowfi, Acting Transportation Manager, 510-981-6403
Noah Budnick, Senior Management Analyst, 510-981-7069

Attachments: 

1: Resolution

Page 3 of 4

Page 207



  

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT NO. 9977C AMENDMENT: PORTABLE COMPUTER SYSTEMS DBA 
PCS MOBILE TO AUGMENT BUDGET AND EXTEND CONTRACT TERM TO 

MAINTAIN PARKING PERMIT AND ENFORCEMENT SERVICES 

WHEREAS, the City of Berkeley currently uses Automated License Plate Recognition 
(ALPR) systems to conduct parking enforcement operations; and

WHEREAS, the City amended the contract on April 26, 2022 through Resolution No. 
70,323-N.S., increasing the contract not to exceed amount to $2,050,000 and extending 
its term through June 30, 2024; and

WHEREAS, the City’s parking permit and enforcement system is fully reliant on ALPR 
equipment, and all 22 existing systems will have reached equipment End of Life by 
November 2023, making them susceptible to failure and difficult to maintain; and 

WHEREAS, the City does not have adequate staff or funding capacity to complete a 
new equipment solicitation process before the contract expiration; and

WHEREAS, PCS Mobile provides satisfactory customer service and support for the 
City’s 22 ALPR systems, and the equipment is familiar to Parking Enforcement staff; 
and 

WHEREAS, the contract amendment will provide funding for full equipment 
replacement, extended warranties, and yearly support costs for a contract term 
extension of five (5) years; and 

WHEREAS, funding of $1,650,000 for this contract amendment is available from 
Parking Meter Fund budgets in FY 2024 - FY 2029.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to execute an amendment to Contract No. 9977C with PCS 
Mobile, increasing the contract not to exceed amount to $3,700,000 and extending the 
contract term through June 30, 2029.

Page 4 of 4

Page 208



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Liam Garland, Director, Public Works

Subject: Contract No. 32000078 and Contract No. 32000093 Amendments DC Electric 
Group, Inc. for On-Call Electrical Services

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt two Resolutions authorizing the City Manager or designee to amend the contract, 
increasing the amounts as outlined below, and extending the contracts through June 30, 
2026:

1. Increasing Contract No. 32000078 with DC Electric Group, Inc. for the Facilities 
Electrical Division for on-call electrical services in the amount of $300,000 for a 
total contract amount not to exceed $475,000.

2. Increasing Contract No. 32000093 with DC Electric Group, Inc. for the 
Transportation Division for on-call electrical services for traffic calming devices in 
the amount of $100,000 for a total contract amount not to exceed $600,000.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Funding is available in the FY2024 baseline budget as follows:

Contract No. 32000078
Street Light Assessment District Fund 142 $150,000
Measure BB – Local Streets and Road Fund 134 $150,000

Contract No. 32000093
State Transportation Tax Fund 127
Measure BB – Local Streets and Road Fund 134

$50,000
$50,000

Additional funding will be appropriated as part of the Annual Appropriations Ordinance 
#1 and in future fiscal years as needed. This is an on-call contract and costs will be 
incurred when services are performed. 

Page 1 of 5

Page 209

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
14



Contract No. 32000078 and Contract No. 32000093 Amendments CONSENT CALENDAR
DC Electric Group, Inc. for On-Call Electrical Services September 19, 2023

Page 2

The average cost associated with the development, routing, and approvals of a consent 
calendar item such as this is approximately $3,200. The average cost for an action or 
work session item is approximately $6,200. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Public Works’ Electrical Unit supports the City’s electrical needs and occasionally 
requires additional outside support or expertise. DC Electric Group, Inc. (DC Electric) 
provides emergency repairs for damaged street light poles, traffic signals and 
pedestrian signals, and assists with repairing/replacing Marina pier lights, electrical 
wiring, and electrical component installation as needed for City renovations and 
upgrades. 

Public Works has been utilizing the service of DC Electric at an increased capacity over 
the last 6 months to correct a back log of damaged street lights and traffic signals which 
has resulted in a need for increased contract capacity. There are still several 
intersections and street lights that require additional work beyond the capacity of City 
Electricians and there will be additional knocked down equipment throughout the 
contract year due to unforeseen events. 

In addition, the City is responsible for ensuring maintenance of electronic traffic calming 
devices, including rectangular rapid flashing beacons (RRFBs), pedestrian crossing 
flashing beacons, and speed feedback signs, and must ensure their operation for 
pedestrian, bicyclist, and driver safety. 

These contract amendments support the Strategic Plan Priority of advancing our goal to 
provide state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and facilities.

BACKGROUND
On November 3, 2016, Public Works issued a Request for Proposals, Specification No. 
16-11076-C for electrical on-call services for the Public Works Facilities Electrical 
Division focusing on Traffic Signal, Pedestrian Signal and Street Light work. Four 
proposals were submitted and two vendors were selected to ensure the availability of 
these services in the event of an emergency. Both DC Electric and Colombia were 
selected and are contracted with the City.

Additionally, a Request for Proposal (RFP) was issued on June 26, 2019, and four 
contractors responded to the RFP on July 18, 2019, meeting all requirements of the 
proposal for On-Call Electronic Traffic Calming Devices Maintenance. Resolution No. 
69,086-N.S. authorized the City Manager to execute a contract and any amendments 
with DC Electric Group, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $250,000 to repair, replace, 
maintain, and install electronic traffic calming devices for the period of October 16, 2019 
to June 30, 2024 with an option for up to three one-year extensions. Contract no. 

Page 2 of 5

Page 210



Contract No. 32000078 and Contract No. 32000093 Amendments CONSENT CALENDAR
DC Electric Group, Inc. for On-Call Electrical Services September 19, 2023

Page 3

32000093 was executed on November 4, 2019 for DC Electric Group, Inc. to maintain 
existing traffic calming devices and to install new devices as authorized by the City.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
This contract amendment is consistent with the City’s efforts to improve efficiency of
movement of people and vehicles throughout the City’s roadway network. Traffic
calming devices are expected to make the City of Berkeley a more pedestrian, bicycle,
and transit friendly community, thus working to reduce greenhouse gases and pollutants
that impact air quality. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
DC Electric continues to provide outstanding service to the City of Berkeley and are 
needed to supplement Public Works’ in-house Electrical Unit to keep up with the 
growing demand for traffic calming devices, signal modifications and repair of knocked 
down street lights and traffic signals.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
None. The City does not have adequate resources to provide the required repairs, 
replacement and maintenance in a timely and cost-effective manner.  

CONTACT PERSON
Joy Brown, Operations Manager, Public Works, 510-981-6629
Hamid Mostowfi, Acting Transportation Manager, Public Works, 510-981-6403

Attachments: 
1: Resolution – Contract No. 32000078
2: Resolution – Contract No. 32000093

Page 3 of 5

Page 211



RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT NO. 32000078 AMENDMENT DC ELECTRIC FOR ON-CALL 
ELECTRICAL SERVICES

WHEREAS, the City periodically requires emergency and non-emergency on-call electric 
services for repair, maintenance, replacement and installation of various electrical 
equipment in City facilities, and for traffic signals, street lights and other infrastructure at 
various locations; and 

WHEREAS, the City does not have sufficient resources to provide the required repairs, 
replacement and maintenance in a timely or cost-effective manner; and 

WHEREAS, the City issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) Specification No. 16-11076-C 
for on-call electrical services on November 3, 2016, four contractors responded to the 
RFP on December 8, 2016, and two contractors met all requirements and specifications 
of the proposal; and 

WHEREAS, on July 26, 2022 City Council authorized the City Manager to execute a 
contract amendment to increase the contract by $100,000 for a new not to exceed amount 
of $100,000 and extend the contract through June 30, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, staff reviewed and evaluated all proposals submitted and contracted with DC 
Electric Group, Inc. and Columbia Electric, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, this is an on-call contract and no costs will be incurred until applicable 
emergencies or City projects emerge; and

WHEREAS funding is available in the Street Light Assessment District Fund 142 and 
Measure BB – Local Streets and Road Fund 134.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to execute an amendment to Contract No. 32000078 with DC 
Electric Group, Inc., increasing the current contract amount by $300,000 for a total not to 
exceed $475,000 and extending the contract through June 30, 2026. 

Page 4 of 5

Page 212



RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT NO. 32000093 AMENDMENT: DC ELECTRIC GROUP, INC. FOR ON-
CALL ELECTRICAL SERVICES FOR TRAFFIC CALMING DEVICES

WHEREAS, the City must periodically maintain existing electronic traffic calming
devices to ensure that they are in a good operating condition and install new devices for
pedestrian, bicyclist, and motorist safety; and

WHEREAS, the City does not have internal recourses or technical expertise to provide
the required repair, replacement, maintenance, and installation in a timely or cost-
effective manner; and

WHEREAS, an invitation for a Request for Proposal (RFP) was advertised on June 26,
2019, and based on the selection criteria established in the RFP the highest scoring and
selected contractor was DC Electric Group, Inc.; and

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 69,086-N.S. authorized the City Manager to execute a
contract and any amendments with DC Electric Group, Inc. in an amount not to exceed
$250,000 to repair, replace, maintain, and install electronic traffic calming devices for
the period of October 16, 2019 to June 30, 2024; and

WHEREAS, DC Electric Group, Inc. was retained under contract no. 32000093 for On-
Call Electrical Services for Traffic Calming Devices Maintenance; and

WHEREAS, due to the increased need for new electronic traffic calming devices and
signal modifications, an additional $100,000 in contract capacity is necessary to construct 
improvements in an efficient manner; and

WHEREAS, funding for the additional $100,000 will be identified and expended only for
the actual services that are required. Therefore, funding will be subject to appropriation
in the specific fiscal year that the services are needed.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the
City Manager is authorized to execute an amendment to Contract No. 32000093 with
DC Electric Group, Inc. to increase the current contract by $100,000 for a total not to 
exceed amount of $600,000 and extend the contract through June 30, 2026. 

Page 5 of 5

Page 213



Page 214



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Liam Garland, Director, Department of Public Works

Subject: Contract: Turnstone Data Inc. for Parking Data Analytics Services

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute a three-year contract with 
an option for two one-year extensions, that require no additional funding, with Turnstone 
Data Inc., to provide parking data analysis and visualization services in an amount not 
to exceed $375,000 for the period from January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2026. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Funding is subject to appropriation in the FY 2024, FY 2025, FY2026 budgets from the 
Parking Meter Fund 631. Funding will be appropriated in FY 2027 and FY 2028 budgets 
if the contract is extended.

FY 2024..............................................................................................$75,000
FY 2025..............................................................................................$75,000
FY 2026_______________________________________________$75,000
Total Base Contract                                                                            $225,000
FY 2027 (Option Yr 1)….…………………………………………………$75,000
FY 2028 (Option Yr 2)_____________________________________$75,000
Total Max Contract                                                                              $375,000

The average cost associated with developing, routing, and approving a staff report for a 
consent calendar item such as this one is approximately $3,200. The average cost for 
an action or work session item is approximately $6,200. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The City currently manages parking at over 4,000 on-street metered spaces and three 
off-street garages using demand-responsive pricing under the goBerkeley program. 
Staff periodically analyze parking occupancy rates and adjust prices up or down to 
achieve the optimum occupancy rate of 65-85%, roughly equivalent to 1-2 open spaces 
per block.  

Page 1 of 4

Page 215

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
15



Contract: Turnstone Data Inc. for Parking Data Analytics Services CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

Page 2

Since the outset of the program in 2013, staff have primarily relied on manual data 
collection (i.e., counting cars) to understand parking behavior and make program 
adjustments. With goBerkeley now citywide, the City needs a more efficient way to view 
and analyze parking activity to make informed decisions about parking prices and/or 
time limits in multiple different commercial districts.1 Over the past several years staff 
have experimented with using license plate readers for parking data collection, but 
despite some successful results, the analysis process has proven to be time-consuming 
and does not realize significant cost savings over manual data collection.2 

With more and more cities choosing to manage their parking supplies using demand-
responsive pricing, a market has emerged for Parking Data Analytics Services. (“Data 
analytics” describes the process of analyzing data to identify trends and meaningful 
findings.) Staff identified the need for a web-based system that would analyze on-street 
and off-street parking data from the City’s existing third-party payment systems3 to 
generate intuitive maps, graphs, and tables of parking occupancy, length of stay, 
revenue, and other key metrics over multiple time periods. This system would introduce 
a new way for City staff to review the entire parking system performance in one 
convenient location, and information would be easily exportable for public reporting. 

On March 1, 2023, the City released Request for Proposals (RFP) Specification No. 23-
11578-C for Parking Data Analytics Services. Seven proposals were reviewed and 
assessed, and Turnstone received the highest overall score based on ability to meet all 
the City’s specifications and value for the service.

Due to recent departures in the Transportation Division, implementing the Parking Data 
Analytics System is not expected to occur until new parking services staff are hired. City 
Council authorization of this contract award is vital to allowing implementation to occur 
as soon as possible, given these known constraints. 

Implementing a Parking Data Analytics System is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, 
advancing our goals to: 

 Provide state-of-the-art, well-maintained infrastructure, amenities, and facilities; 
and

 Be a customer-focused organization that provides excellent, timely, easily-
accessible service and information to the community.

1 January 26, 2021 Council Meeting, Item #15: Amend BMC Chapter 14.52 Authorizing goBerkeley 
Parking Program at All Parking Meters, https://bit.ly/3oTDUVw 
2 Parking data from license plate readers may also be incorporated into the Parking Data Analytics 
System to improve accuracy of occupancy reporting, in accordance the City’s revised Surveillance Use 
Policy for Automated License Plate Readers. See Berkeley Police Department Policy Manual Policy 
#1302, pp. 908-915. https://bit.ly/3X19r4A 
3 I.e., non-identifiable transaction data from IPS parking meters, ParkMobile pay-by-phone, and SKIDATA 
parking garage equipment. 

Page 2 of 4

Page 216

https://bit.ly/3oTDUVw
https://bit.ly/3X19r4A


Contract: Turnstone Data Inc. for Parking Data Analytics Services CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

Page 3

BACKGROUND
The City uses parking meters to manage parking demand, particularly in commercial 
areas where parking availability and turnover are critical for visitor access and 
convenience. The goBerkeley program consists of a suite of strategies and initiatives 
designed to improve economic vitality and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The 
program features improved parking availability that improves pedestrian and bicyclist 
safety by reducing the likelihood of incidents of distracted driving as drivers search for 
parking. Clearer signage and longer on-street parking time limits also provide better 
customer service.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY & CLIMATE IMPACTS
The goBerkeley parking program improves the City’s ability to manage its public parking 
resources, reducing traffic congestion and vehicle emissions as drivers are anticipated 
to spend less time searching for available parking spaces. The Parking Data Analytics 
System will allow staff to more comprehensively understand how the City’s paid parking 
system is being used, and more quickly identify where changes need to be made. 
Demand-responsive parking pricing is a proven tool that will help the City meet its 
established Climate Action Plan goals, including reducing transportation emissions 80% 
below 2000 levels by 2050.4

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
After careful consideration, City staff determined Turnstone would successfully meet the 
City’s full set of specifications for the parking data analytics service, offering multiple 
ways to visualize, interact with, and export parking occupancy data. Turnstone currently 
provides similar services in Seattle, Boston, and Denver, which, while larger in size, 
have similar parking systems to Berkeley. 

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
If Council chooses not to authorize this contract, City staff would not have the ability to 
view the entire paid parking system performance in a convenient location, and would 
continue to rely on existing methods of collecting and/or analyzing parking revenue and 
occupancy data, such as manual data collection efforts which take considerable time 
and resources.

CONTACT PERSON
Hamid Mostowfi, Acting Transportation Manager, 510-981-6403
Noah Budnick, Senior Management Analyst, 510-981-7069

Attachments: 
1: Resolution

4 November 3, 2015 Council Worksession: http://bit.ly/1I1IYVV  

Page 3 of 4

Page 217

http://bit.ly/1I1IYVV


RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

CONTRACT: TURNSTONE DATA INC., FOR PARKING DATA ANALYTICS 
SERVICES

WHEREAS, the City of Berkeley uses demand-responsive pricing to manage over 4,000 
on-street metered spaces and three public parking garages under the goBerkeley 
program; and

WHEREAS, staff primarily rely on manual data collection to understand parking behavior 
and inform price and/or time limit adjustments in commercial districts across the City, 
which is costly and time-consuming; and

WHEREAS, City staff identified a need for a system that would analyze data from the 
City’s existing parking payment providers and produce intuitive maps, graphs, and tables 
of parking performance across the entire paid parking system; and 

WHEREAS, in March 2023, the City released Request for Proposals (RFP) 
Specification No. 23-11578-C for Parking Data Analytics Services, received seven 
proposals, and these were reviewed according to the RFP’s scoring criteria; and 

WHEREAS, Turnstone Data Inc. received the highest overall score based on ability to 
meet all the City’s specifications and value for the service. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Manager is authorized to execute a contract for an amount not to exceed $375,000, 
and optional two-year extensions, with Turnstone Data Inc. for Parking Data Analytics 
Services for the period from January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2026. A record 
signature copy of said contract and any amendments to be on file in the City Clerk 
Department.

Page 4 of 4

Page 218



Office of the Mayor

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7100 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@cityofberkeley.info

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Members of the City Council

From: Mayor Arreguin (Author), Councilmember Harrison (Co-Sponsor), 
Councilmember Hahn (Co-Sponsor)

Subject: Budget Referral: Berkeley Food Network to address increased demand

RECOMMENDATION
Refer $200,000 to the November 2023 AAO #1 process to address the increased 
number of people experiencing food insecurity in Berkeley including people in danger of 
eviction due to the COVID-19 eviction moratorium expiration and rent debt due to 
inflation and rental increases. The proposed funding source is FY 2023-2024 Measure 
P tax receipts. 

BACKGROUND
The Berkeley Food Network (BFN) has become the hub organization in the City of 
Berkeley addressing food insecurity serving 6,500 people per week through its 
programs, up from 1,600 per week in February 2020 at the onset of the COVID-19 
pandemic.  Over 3,000 people per week are served through Direct Programs including 
the onsite pantry, 14 mobile pantries, home delivery and grocery bagging program 
through Head Start at BUSD.   An additional 3,500 people are currently fed through 29 
partner agencies with an additional 6 partners in the queue.  Since starting food 
distribution at the West Berkeley Family Wellness Center in April 2023 the demand at 
that location has increased 6 fold.  In the span of just one month April - May 2023 there 
was a 28% increase in visits to the pantry and a 60% increase in new panty member 
registrations.

Funding for this program will support the many low-income households that remain in 
massive debt that has accrued over the course of the pandemic and have lost their Cal-
Fresh benefits. As the Statewide, County and Berkeley’s eviction moratorium have 
ended, the Eviction Defense Center has been referring clients to the pantry in order to 
offset food costs and prevent evictions which has been a factor in the significant 
increase in pantry demand.  

The purpose of this $200,000 request is to provide stop-gap funding to BFN while it 
recruits a new Executive Director and ramps up grant applications and fund raising.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Total allocation of $200,000 from Measure P tax receipts. Over 350 homeless 

Page 1 of 2

Page 219

NSalwan
Typewritten Text
16



Budget Referral: Berkeley Food Network to address increased demand CONSENT CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

Page 2

(approximately 1/3 of the Berkeley homeless population) are direct recipients of the 
pantry and BFN provides food to Dorothy Day House and Insight Housing (formerly 
Berkeley Food and Housing Project) for their daily meals 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with the
subject of this report.

CONTACT PERSON
Mayor Jesse Arreguín 510-981-7100

Page 2 of 2

Page 220



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@berkeleyca.gov  Website: https://berkeleyca.gov/

PUBLIC HEARING
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jordan Klein, Director, Planning and Development Department

Subject: Supplemental Material: Revised Amendments to Title 23 Relating to 
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 to 
Conform to State Law and Respond to Guidance from the California 
Department of Housing and Community Development

In addition to the staff report and ordinance that were included in the July 25, 2023 City 
Council meeting agenda packet, staff are submitting supplemental material for City 
Council’s consideration: 

1. A revised recommended draft ordinance (Attachment 1); 
2. Four policy alternatives related to: New Construction ADUs within the front setback; 

Building separation; Time limit for accessory structure conversions; and Neighbor 
Noticing Procedure (Attachment 2); and 

3. A table outlining the sources of proposed ADU ordinance amendments (Attachment 3).

Revisions to the Recommended Draft Ordinance

Staff propose revisions to the recommended ADU ordinance, and are providing additional 
reference materials, which are based on further discussions with City Councilmembers, 
Building and Safety Division staff, and Fire Department staff, as well as additional staff 
analysis. Staff have also added General and Specific Findings (Sections 1 and 2) to the 
adoptive ordinance to demonstrate the rationale for making these revisions to the zoning 
ordinance, elaborate upon the City’s lack of adequate public transit, and to reinforce the 
City’s concern of fire and safety hazards, particularly within the Hillside Overlay. The 
revisions are highlighted in the revised recommended draft ordinance in grey (Attachment 
1).

1. Building Separation Measurement. Staff revised the definition of building separation 
measurement to include ADUs and clarify that the measurement applies between a 
main building or ADU and the closest neighboring building. 

Page 1 of 87

Page 221

mailto:manager@berkeleyca.gov
https://berkeleyca.gov/
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
17



ADU Amendments, Supplemental Material PUBLIC HEARING
September 19, 2023

  

Page 2

2. Building Height, Maximum, Detached, New Construction. Staff revised the 
measurement for the maximum height of detached, new construction ADUs to match 
state law. SB 897 permits lots within a 0.5 mile of a major transit stop or high-quality 
transit corridor1 to build up to 18 feet, with an additional 2 feet to align with the existing 
roof pitch of the primary dwelling. It also permits lots outside of a 0.5 mile radius of a 
major transit stop or high-quality transit corridor to go up to 16 feet for single family 
dwellings, or single-story duplexes or multi-family dwellings, and up to 18 feet for 
multistory duplexes or multi-family dwellings.

3. Building Separation for Detached ADU, Minimum. Staff revised the building separation 
distance from 3 ft. to 5 ft. after conferring further with the Building and Safety Division 
and the Fire Department. 

4. Accessory Building or Accessory Structure Conversion. Staff revised the language in 
Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) 23.306.030(A)(3) to clarify that a conversion of an 
existing, legally established accessory building or accessory structure is allowed 
provided that the converted ADU maintains the same location and dimensions and 
meets fire and safety standards, consistent with Government Code (GOV) 
65852.2(a)(D)(vii). Staff also removed the minimum 3-year time limit based on when the 
structure was created, consistent with HCD guidance.2

5. Front Setback, New Construction. Staff revised the language in BMC 23.306.030(A)(4). 
This language was originally added to be compliant with AB 2221, which adds front 
setbacks to the list of development standards that may not preclude the construction of 
at least an 800 square foot ADU.3 Staff have revised the language to clarify that ADUs 
may not occupy front setbacks, except in the case that the front setback requirements 
precludes an 800 square foot ADU. 

6. Attached ADU. Staff added BMC 23.306.030(A)(5) to establish a clear distinction 
between attached and detached for the purposes of ADUs, given that attached ADUs 

1 PRC 21155(b): For the purposes of this section, a high-quality transit corridor means a corridor with fixed route bus service with 
service intervals no longer than 15 minutes during peak commute hours. A project shall be considered to be within one-half mile of a 
major transit stop or high-quality transit corridor if all parcels within the project have no more than 25 percent of their area farther 
than one-half mile from the stop or corridor and if not more than 10 percent of the residential units or 100 units, whichever is less, in 
the project are farther than one-half mile from the stop or corridor.
2 HCD ADU Handbook, July 2022. https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/ADUHandbookUpdate.pdf pg. 
21
3 GOV 65852.2(c)(2)(C): “Any requirement for a zoning clearance or separate zoning review or any other minimum or maximum size 
for an accessory dwelling unit, size based upon a percentage of the proposed or existing primary dwelling, or limits on lot coverage, 
floor area ratio, open space, front setbacks, and minimum lot size, for either attached or detached dwellings that does not permit at 
least an 800 square foot accessory dwelling unit with four-foot side and rear yard setbacks to be constructed in compliance with all 
other local development standards.”

Page 2 of 87

Page 222

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=21155.&lawCode=PRC
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/ADUHandbookUpdate.pdf
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65852.2&lawCode=GOV


ADU Amendments, Supplemental Material PUBLIC HEARING
September 19, 2023

  

Page 3

are now permitted a maximum height of 25 feet per SB 897. ADUs are now considered 
attached if sharing a common wall with a primary dwelling.

7. ADU Noticing. Staff revised the language for Noticing procedures in BMC 
23.306.040(B), removing the term “Neighbor” from the header and changing the term 
“tenants” to “occupants.” These changes have been made to better reflect the intent of 
the proposed subsection: to provide a courtesy notice to all non-owner occupants of the 
subject property. Staff are unable to obtain tenant names or contact information from 
the Rent Board’s Rent Registry and rely on unit and occupant data from the County tax 
assessor records).

8. Minimum Parking Required in the Hillside Overlay. Staff revised the requirements to use 
the Public Resource Code (PRC) Section 21155 definition of a major public transit or 
high-quality transit corridor, instead of subdivision (d)(1)4 and (j)(11)5 of Government 
Code Section 65852.2, as proposed in the July 25th recommended draft ordinance. This 
change relies on a different interpretation of the definition of “public transit” in 
Government Code 65852.2, supported by the use of the phrase “including, but not 
limited to,” which may allow for use of the PRC definition in the parking context, in 
addition to the height context. Staff are unclear whether or not HCD would support this 
interpretation. 

Various bus service lines throughout Berkeley that qualify as “public transit” per 
subdivision (d)(1) and (j)(11) of Government Code Section 65852.2 have limitations that 
should be considered, including no weekend service and 30 minute headways. The 
broader GOV 65852.2 definition exempts almost all of the HO from providing one off-
street parking space per ADU (Figure 1). The PRC definition would require a significant 
portion of the HO to provide one off-street parking space per ADU (Figure 2).

Policy Alternatives

Staff prepared additional policy alternatives for standards and procedures where the City 
has discretion from state law. The policy alternatives are listed in Attachment 2. Staff have 
also prepared a table (Attachment 3) comparing the recommended ordinance revisions 
(July 2023 vs. September 2023) to their source(s)—state law, HCD guidance, HCD 
October 2022 letter, Planning Commission, and Planning staff.

4 GOV 65852.2(d): Notwithstanding any other law, and whether or not the local agency has adopted an ordinance governing 
accessory dwelling units in accordance with subdivision (a), all of the following shall apply: (1) The local agency shall not impose 
any parking standards for an accessory dwelling unit in any of the following instances: (A) Where the accessory dwelling unit is 
located within one-half mile walking distance of public transit.
5 GOV 65852.2(j)(11) “Public transit” means a location, including, but not limited to, a bus stop or train station, where the public may 
access buses, trains, subways, and other forms of transportation that charge set fares, run on fixed routes, and are available to the 
public.

Page 3 of 87

Page 223

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65852.2&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65852.2&lawCode=GOV


ADU Amendments, Supplemental Material PUBLIC HEARING
September 19, 2023

  

Page 4

1. Policy Alternative 1:  New Construction ADUs within the front setback. The first policy 
alternative proposes adding additional prescriptive standards to ensure that ADUs that 
require area in the front setback are sited as far from the from the front lot line as 
possible. This would both allow for as minimal encroachment possible into the front of 
the lot; however, it also has the potential to obscure more of the primary dwelling unit as 
applicants attempt to maximize space in the front setback in accordance with these 
additional prescriptive standards. 

2. Policy Alternative 2: Building Separation. The second policy alternative proposes adding 
an additional building separation standard for Detached ADUs within the Hillside 
Overlay to Table 23.306-2. This standard, which would increase the building separation 
required in the Hillside Overlay only from 5 ft. to 8 ft., matches the existing required 
minimum building separation between buildings on adjacent parcels and is intended to 
address fire safety concerns. It also would effectively limit the allowable area where 
ADUs are permitted on a property and could potentially push ADUs closer to front, side, 
or rear lot lines. 

3. Policy Alternative 3: Converted ADUs – Time Limits. The third policy alternative 
proposes maintaining the existing provision that a legally established accessory building 
or structure can be converted to an ADU only after three years has elapsed. Staff 
removed the minimum time limit in the recommended draft ordinance, consistent with 
HCD guidance, because the conversion of a legally established building or structure is 
ultimately allowed. However, state law is unclear on this issue and HCD’s interpretation 
is not determinative. 

4. Policy Alternative 4: Neighbor Noticing. The fourth policy alternative proposes keeping 
the neighbor noticing procedures as-is, with the exception of removing owner(s) of the 
subject property from the list of required noticing recipients. The recommended draft 
ordinance reflects the Planning Commission’s recommendation to only notice “tenants” 
of the subject property. The Planning Commission made this recommendation to 
address neighbor expectation, which is explained in page 10 of the staff report 
published as part of the July 25, 2023 City Council Agenda packet.

Page 4 of 87

Page 224



ADU Amendments, Supplemental Material PUBLIC HEARING
September 19, 2023

  

Page 5

Figure 1: Areas within 1/2 mile of "Public Transit"

Figure 2: Areas within 1/2 mile of "Major Transit Stops" and "High Quality Transit 
Corridors"

Page 5 of 87

Page 225



  

ORDINANCE NO.       -N.S.

REPEAL OF THE WILDFIRE HAZARD EVACUATION RISK MITIGATION 
ORDINANCE (BMC 12.99), AND AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF 

MEASUREMENT (BMC 23.106), ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT (ADU) ORDINANCE 
(BMC 23.306), PARKING AND LOADING (BMC 23.322), EXEMPTIONS TO 

NONCONFORMING USES, STRUCTURES, AND BUILDINGS (BMC 23.324.060), 
AND DEFINED TERMS (BMC 23.502.020) RELATING TO ADUS

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1. General Findings

A. California Government Code Sections 65852.1, 65852.2 and 65852.22 provide 
for the creation of accessory dwelling units in areas zoned to allow single-family 
or multifamily dwelling residential use.

1. California Government Code Section 65852.2(d)(1)(A) and (j)(11) finds 
that a local agency shall not impose any parking standards for an 
accessory dwelling unit where the accessory dwelling unit is located within 
one half-mile walking distance of public transit.

2. California Government Code Section 65852.2(c)(2)(D)(ii) uses the 
proximity of parcels to major transit stops and high quality transit corridors 
as defined in Section 21155 of the California Public Resources Code.

B. Accessory dwelling units are statutorily exempt from the California Environmental 
Quality Act by Guidelines Section 15282(h).

C. Policy H-18 of the City of Berkeley’s 2023-2031 Housing Element encourages 
the addition of accessory dwelling units on properties with single-family and 
multi-unit homes.

On May 3, 2023, the Planning Commission held a public hearing to consider proposed 
amendments to Title 23 relating to ADUs and unanimously recommended staff’s 
proposal with three modifications, which were incorporated with modifications into the 
proposed amendments: (1) Regulating bay window and balcony projections using 
setback requirements; (2) Revising Neighbor Noticing requirements to subject property 
tenants; (3) Permitting ADUs to reach maximum allowable height without requiring an 
Administrative Use Permit.

Section 2. Specific Findings

A. On October 17, 2022, the City received a letter from the State Department of 
Housing and Community Development (HCD) stating that the City’s current ADU 
ordinances (BMC Sections 23.306 and 12.99, the “Ordinances”) do not comply 
with Government Code Section 65852.2.

Page 6 of 87

Page 226

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=21155.&lawCode=PRC


  

1. HCD found a discrepancy between the definition of “Efficiency Kitchen” 
contained within Ordinance No. 7,797-N.S. (Chapter 23.306) and 
Government Code §65852.22(a)(6)(A) and requested that the City remove 
the sink requirement from its zoning definition, as well as the reference to 
a working refrigerator in the definition of a “Junior Accessory Dwelling 
Unit.” 

2. Regarding Ordinance No. 7,799-N.S (Chapter 12.99), HCD found that the 
City did not make adequate findings with respect to ADU and Junior ADU 
development impacts on traffic flow and public safety when the City 
adopted limitations on ADU and Junior ADU development in the Hillside 
Overlay zoning district.

B. Berkeley’s Hillside Overlay is comprised of Berkeley’s Very-High Fire Hazard 
Severity Zones and Wildland-Urban Interface (WUI) Fire Areas. The Hillside 
Overlay has unique conditions, including limited transit access, and hazards, 
including wildfires, earthquakes, and landslides, that put residents of the Hillside 
Overlay at greater risk:

1. The Hayward Fault bisects the Hillside Overlay, traversing the full length 
of these zones, with violent (Level 9 of 10) shaking predicted in the US 
Geologic Services Hayward Fault earthquake scenario (HayWired). 

2. A majority of streets in the Hillside Overlay are less than 26 feet in width, 
and include conditions such as steep slopes, sharp curves and acute-
angled corners. These factors compromise the emergency access egress 
and accessibility for emergency responders.

The majority of transit within the Hillside Overlay does not meet the 
definition of major transit stops and high quality transit corridors as defined 
in Section 21155. Bus service (Line 65) runs at 30-minute headways and 
does not offer weekend service. By applying the broader California 
Government Code Section 65852.2(d)(1)(A) and (j)(11) for minimum 
parking requirements, and increasing density and intensity in the Hillside 
Overlay, exacerbates the hazardous conditions that currently exist with 
respect to traffic flow and public safety in the likely event of a catastrophic 
wildfire or earthquake, necessitating reasonable limitations that reduce 
exposure to hazardous conditions.

3. The 2014 Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities 
calculated that there is a 33-percent likelihood of a large (magnitude 6.7 or 
greater) earthquake occurring on the Hayward Fault within three decades. 
On March 9, 2015, a report published by the U.S. Geological Survey found 
that the Bay Area has a 72% chance of having at least a magnitude 6.7 
earthquake in the same time period.

Page 7 of 87

Page 227

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=21155.&lawCode=PRC


  

4. On December 10, 2019, the City adopted a Hazard Mitigation Plan that 
identifies Earthquake and Wildland-Urban Interface Fire as "Likely" and 
"Catastrophic" events.

5. On June 10, 2021, a study published by UC Berkeley researchers 
concluded that continued development in the WUI will make California’s 
supply of housing more vulnerable, undermine state efforts to curb carbon 
emissions, further degrade the state’s wildland habitats, and create fiscal 
challenges for state and local governments in the event of post-disaster 
recovery. Furthermore, the insurance impacts of continued development in 
high-risk areas of the WUI threaten to impose high costs on homeowners 
and destabilize the insurance industry.

6. On August 10, 2021, a study published by UC Berkeley researchers 
concluded that in the best-case scenario, if each household evacuated 
from the Berkeley hills with one vehicle, estimated evacuation time would 
be two hours and 245 vehicles would be exposed to immediate fire 
danger. However, if each household evacuated with 1.7 vehicles, 
evacuation time would increase to three hours and 782 vehicles would be 
exposed to immediate fire danger.

Section 3. That Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 12.99 is hereby repealed.

Section 4. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.106.020(B) is amended to read:

B. Exclusions. The lot coverage calculation excludes: 

1. Uncovered porches, landings and stairs;

2. Uncovered decks, except that a deck on the roof of a building or accessory 
structure or over an enclosed space or paved ground area is included in the lot 
coverage calculation; and

3. The area of the roof of a subterranean structure, when such a structure is not 
more than 3 feet above finished grade.

4. The area of any existing or proposed accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory 
dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet per lot. See 23.306 Accessory Dwelling 
Units.

Section 5. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.106.030(D) is amended to read:

D. Excluded Areas. The following areas are excluded from gross floor area calculation:

1. Covered or uncovered areas used for off-street parking or loading spaces.

2. Driveways ramps between floors and maneuvering aisles of a multi-level parking 
garage. 

3. Mechanical, electrical, and telephone equipment rooms below finished grade. 

Page 8 of 87

Page 228



  

4. Areas which qualify as usable open space.

5. Arcades, porticoes, and similar open areas for non-residential uses which are:

(a) Located at or near street level; 

(b) Accessible to the general public; and 

(c) Are not designed or used as sales, display, storage, service, or production 
areas.

6. The floor area associated with any existing or proposed accessory dwelling unit 
or junior accessory dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet per lot. See 23.306 
Accessory Dwelling Units.

Section 6. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.106.080(A) is amended to read:

A. Measurement. Building separation is measured as the distance between the surface 
of a main building or ADU’s outer wall and the outer wall surface of the closest 
neighboring main building.

Section 7. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.106.090(A)(1) through (3) is amended to 
read:

A. Average Building Height. 

1. Average Building Height: The vertical distance from the average level of the 
highest and lowest point of that portion of the lot covered by the building (or, in 
the case of residential additions, that portion of the lot covered by the addition) to 
the roof features shown in Table 23.106-1: Average Building Height 
Measurement. See Figure 23.106-4: Average Building Height.

2. Figure 23.106-4: Average Building Height.

2. Dormers are not included in the average building height calculation.

3. Attached accessory dwelling units are not included in the average building height 
calculation.

Section 8. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.306 is amended to read: 

Sections:
23.306.010– Purposes
23.306.020– Applicability and Definitions
23.306.030– Development StandardsPermit Procedures
23.306.040– Permit ProceduresDevelopment Standards
23.306.050– Deed Restrictions

Page 9 of 87

Page 229



  

23.306.060– Neighbor Noticing
23.306.070– Rooftop Decks and Balconies

23.306.010 Purposes.
The purposes of this Chapter are toThis Chapter establishes accessory dwelling unit 
(ADU) and junior accessory dwelling unit (Junior ADU) standards that:

A. Implement California Government Code Section 65852.1, 65852.2 and 65852.22.

B. Increase overall supply and range of housing options in Berkeley.

C. Expedite small-scale infill development.

D. Support Housing Element goals of facilitating construction of accessory dwelling 
units and increasing the number of housing units that are more affordable to 
Berkeley residents.

E. Encourage development of accessory dwelling units in zoning districts with 
compatible land uses and infrastructure.

F. Reduce potential impacts of new development in Very-High Fire Hazard Severity 
Zones and Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Areas as designated in the BMC Chapter 
19.48 and as may be amended from time to time, and the Hillside Overlay District 
(HOD) due to unique conditions and hazards within these areas that require 
additional restrictions on ADUs and JADUs because of impacts of traffic flow and 
public safety consistent with Government Code 65852.2, subdivision (a)(1)(A), 
which allows local agencies to regulate ADUs based on "adequacy of water and 
sewer service, and the impacts of traffic flow and public safety."

23.306.020 Applicability and Definitions.
A. The provisions of this chapter apply to zoning districts where residential uses are 

permitted, on lots that have at least one existing or proposed Dwelling Unit or 
Group Living Accommodation that is not a Fraternity House, Sorority House or 
Dormitory.

B. For purposes of this Chapter the Hillside Overlay District (HOD) includes all lots 
within Berkeley’s designated Very-High Fire Hazard Severity Zones and Wildland-
Urban Interface Fire Areas that are zoned R-1H (Single-Family Residential—
Hillside Overlay), R-2H (Restricted Two-Family Residential— Hillside Overlay), R-
2AH (Restricted Multiple-Family Residential—Hillside Overlay), or ES-R 
(Environmental Safety-Residential).

B. Number of ADUs and JADUs Permitted Per Lot. See Table 23.306-1—ADU and 
Junior ADU Maximum Number of Units per Lot.Except as expressly modified by 

Page 10 of 87

Page 230

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.22
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/19.48
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2


  

Chapter 12.99, the following number of ADUs and JADUs shall be the maximum 
number of accessory units permitted on lots subject to this Chapter.

C. Density Exemption. ADUs and Junior ADUs are not included in the minimum or 
maximum density established by the underlying zoning district.

TABLE 23.306-1—ADU AND JUNIOR ADU MAXIMUM NUMBER OF UNITS PER LOT

Use, Primary ADU and Junior ADU, Maximum Per Lot
Single Family Dwelling, one unit on lot 1 ADU and 1 Junior ADU, both are permitted
Single Family Dwelling, more than one 
unit on lot

1 ADU

Duplex or Multi-Family Dwelling 2 detached ADUs and at least one interior ADU up 
to 25% of the total number of existing duplex or 
multi-family dwelling units on the lot

Group Living Accommodation 1 ADU

1. Lot with one Single Family Dwelling: One ADU and/or one JADU.

2. Lot with more than one Single Family Dwelling: One ADU.

3. Lot with a Duplex or Multiple-Family Dwelling, either:

(a) Up to two detached ADUs; or

(b) At least one ADU converted from non-habitable portions of the existing Main 
Building that are not within the living space of a Dwelling Unit (e.g. basement, 
attic, garages storage room). The maximum number of ADUs converted from 
portions of the existing Main Building that are not within the living space of a 
Dwelling Unit shall not exceed 25% of the total number of existing Dwelling 
Units on the lot.

4. Lot with a Group Living Accommodation that is not a Fraternity House, Sorority 
House or Dormitory: One ADU

23.306.030 Permit Procedures.
A. Zoning Certificate. An application for an ADU or JADU shall be allowed with a 

Zoning Certificate. Review must be completed within 60 days of submission of a 
completed application. A completed application must include evidence of 
compliance with this Chapter, including Development Standards, Deed Restrictions, 
and Neighborhood Noticing.

1. If an application to create an ADU or JADU is submitted as part of a project that 
requires discretionary review, a Zoning Certificate for a Building Permit shall not 
be issued for the ADU or JADU until the discretionary approval(s) has/have been 
granted and any applicable appeal periods have expired.

Page 11 of 87

Page 231

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/12.99


  

2. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate shall not be denied for the construction or 
conversion of an ADU or JADU that complies with the requirements of 
Government Code Section 65852.2(e)(1).

3. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate for the construction or conversion of an ADU or 
JADU shall not be denied based on the failure of an applicant to correct a 
nonconforming zoning condition.

23.306.0340Development Standards.
A. Basic Standards. See Table 23.306-21: ADU and JADU Development Standards. 

TABLE 23.306-21. ADU AND JADU DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
Basic Standards Supplemental Standards
Gross Floor Area, Maximum

Studio or 1 bedroom 850 sq. ft.
2+ bedrooms 1,000 sq. ft.

23.306.030(A)(1); 
23.306.030(A)(2); 
23.306.030(A)(3) 

Building Height, Maximum
Conversion Same as existing structure 23.306.030(A)(1); 

23.306.030(A)(3)
Detached, New Construction See Table 23.306-3
Attached, New Construction 25 ft. 23.306.030(A)(5);

23.306.030(A)(7)
Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum

Front of Interior Lot Same as underlying district
Front of Through Lot Same as underlying district or 10 

ft. on the secondary frontage as 
determined by the Zoning Officer

Rear 4 ft.
Interior Side 4 ft.
Street Side 4 ft.

23.306.030(A)(3);
23.306.030(A)(4);
23.306.030(A)(6)

Building Separation for 
Detached ADU, Minimum

5 ft.

Required Off-Street Parking 
Spaces

See 23.322.030– Required 
Parking Spaces

TABLE 23.306-3. ADU BUILDING HEIGHT – DETACHED NEW CONSTRUCTION

Lot Consists of Existing Or 
Proposed:

Within 0.5 mile of a major 
transit stop or a high 
quality transit corridor [1]

Not within 0.5 mile of a 
major transit stop or a high 
quality transit corridor [1]

Single-Family Dwelling(s), 
one or more unit on a lot, 
one or more stories

18 ft., with additional 2 ft. if 
needed to align roof pitch of 
ADU with the existing roof 

16 ft.

Page 12 of 87

Page 232

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2(e)(1)


  

Duplex or Multi-Family 
Dwelling, single-story 16 ft.

Duplex or Multi-Family 
Dwelling, multistory

pitch of the primary 
dwelling(s)

18 ft.

Note:
[1] Major transit stop or a high-quality transit corridor as defined in Public Resources Code 
Section 21155.

1. Existing Building Conversion. An ADU created entirely through conversion with 
no modifications to the existing building envelope that exceeds the development 
standards for maximum gross floor area in Table 23.306-2. ADU Development 
Standards is allowed a physical addition of no more than 150 square feet. The 
addition must comply with maximum height and setback requirements.

2. Duplex or Multi-Family Dwelling Conversion. Interior ADU(s) must be created 
entirely through non-habitable residential portions of the existing main building 
that are not within the living space of a dwelling unit (e.g. basement, attic, 
garages, storage room).

3. Accessory Building or Accessory Structure Conversion. An ADU converted from 
a legally established accessory building or accessory structure is allowed to 
maintain non-conformity to the same location and dimensions of the existing 
accessory building or accessory structure, provided that the ADU meets fire and 
safety standards set forth in the California Building Standards Code adopted in 
BMC Title 19. Any physical additions to the existing accessory building or 
accessory structure shall comply with the development standards in Table 
23.306-2 ADU Development Standards.

4. Front Setback, New Construction. An ADU shall not occupy area within the front 
setback, unless the requirement would preclude an ADU of 800 square feet. 

5. Attached ADU. An ADU shall be considered attached if sharing a common wall 
with a primary dwelling.

6. Detached ADU Setback Exceptions. If there is a lesser setback allowed in 
23.304.060-Accessory Buildings and Enclosed Accessory Structures for a 
comparable accessory building or accessory structure in the underlying zoning 
district, that setback shall apply.

1.7. Attached ADU, New Construction Height. Attached ADUs with height 
greater than 14 ft. and up to 25 ft. allowed with a Zoning Certificate.

ADU1 JADU

Maximum Size Outside of HOD2 500 sf

Studio or 1 bedroom 850 sf N/A

Page 13 of 87

Page 233



  

ADU1 JADU

2 + bedrooms 1000 sf

Maximum Size Within HOD 800 sf 500 sf

Maximum Height Outside of HOD 20 ft.

Maximum Height Within HOD 16 ft.

Front Yard Setback Same as underlying district

Rear Setback 4 ft3

Side Setback 4 ft3

N/A

Required Off-Street Parking 
Outside of HOD

None4

Required Off-Street Parking 
Within HOD

The lesser of 1 space per 
bedroom or ADU5, 6

None6

[1] An ADU converted from an Accessory Building or Accessory Structure legally established at 
least three years prior to submission of an ADU application that does not comply with the Maximum 
Height, Size, and/or Rear and Side Setback requirements is allowed to maintain non-conformity to 
the same dimensions of the existing Accessory Building or Accessory Structure, provided that the 
existing side and rear setbacks are sufficient for fire and safety as set forth in California Building 
Standards Code adopted in BMC Title 19. Any physical additions to the existing Accessory Building 
or Accessory Structure shall comply with the development standards in this table.

[2] An ADU created entirely through conversion with no modifications to the existing building 
envelope that exceeds the development standards for Maximum Size in this table is allowed a 
physical addition of no more than 150 square feet. The addition must comply with Maximum Height 
and Setback requirements in this table.

[3] If there is a lesser setback allowed for a comparable Accessory Building or Accessory Structure 
in the underlying zoning district, that setback shall apply.

[4] Replacement parking is not required. Replacement of off-street parking for the Main Building is 
allowed and does not need to comply with Parking Maximums (BMC 23.322.070) nor Parking 
Layout and Design (BMC 23.322.080).

[5] No off-street parking shall be required for ADUs that satisfy the criteria defined in subdivision (d) 
of California Government Code section 65852.2 or any successor provision thereto.

[6] If an applicant provides off-street parking for an ADU or a JADU in the HOD, parking shall be 
allowed in any configuration on the lot, including within the front yard setback.

B. Junior ADUs.

Page 14 of 87

Page 234

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/19
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.070
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2


  

1. Basic Standards. A Junior ADU shall be contained entirely within an existing or 
proposed single family dwelling or its attached garage, and have no more than 
500 square feet in floor area.

2. Shared Sanitation Facility. If a Junior ADU shares a sanitary facility with a single-
family dwelling, an internal connection between the Junior ADU and the main 
living area of the single family dwelling is required.

3. Junior ADU Floor Area. The Junior ADU gross floor area calculation excludes 
any shared sanitation facility with the single family dwelling.

B. Projections. 

C.

Except as limited by Paragraph B.2 of this Section, architectural features 
(Outside of the Hillside Overlay.  

1. Attached ADU. Chimneys, wWater hHeater eEnclosures, fFlues, hHeating and 
cCooling eEquipment, eEaves, cCornices, cCanopies, aAwnings, bay windows, 
and balconies) may project two feet into the required front and side setbacks, so 
long as there remains at least a two-foot setback from property lines. Bay 
windows and balconies may not project into a required rear ADU setback.

2. Within the Hillside Overlay. No projections shall be allowed within athe required 
setback on lots that are within the Hillside Overlay District.

C.D. Rooftop Decks within the Hillside Overlay. Roofs on ADUs within the Hillside 
Overlay may not be designed, converted, or used as usable open space.

23.306.0450Permit ProceduresDeed Restrictions.
A. Zoning Certificate. An application for an ADU or Junior ADU shall be allowed with a 

Zoning Certificate. Review must be completed within 60 days of submission of a 
completed application. A completed application must include evidence of 
compliance with this Chapter, including development standards, deed restrictions, 
and neighborhood noticing.

1. If an application to create an ADU or Junior ADU is submitted as part of a project 
that requires discretionary review, a Zoning Certificate for a building permit shall 
not be issued for the ADU or Junior ADU until the discretionary approval(s) 
has/have been granted and any applicable appeal periods have expired. See 
23.404.060(A) Post-Decision Provisions (Effective Dates).

2. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate shall not be denied for the construction or 
conversion of an ADU or Junior ADU that complies with the requirements of 
Government Code Section 65852.2(e)(1).

Page 15 of 87

Page 235

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65852.2.&lawCode=GOV


  

3. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate for the construction or conversion of an ADU or 
Junior ADU shall not be denied based on the failure of an applicant to correct a 
nonconforming zoning condition.

B. Noticing.

1. Scope and Timing of Notice. Notice of an ADU application shall be mailed to all 
occupants of owners and tenants of the subject, adjacent, confronting and 
abutting propertiesthe subject property, excepting the property owner(s), within 
ten working days of submission of the building permit application to the Planning 
DepartmentCity. 

2. Content of Notice. Notice shall provide the address of the project and include 
allowable hours of construction, a link to the City’s ADU webpage identifying 
permit and construction resources, and contact information for a Rent Board 
Housing Counselor.

1.3. Mailing Fees. The applicant shall be responsible for the cost of materials, 
postage, and staff time necessary to process and mail the notices.

D.C. Deed Restriction. The property owner shall file a deed restriction with the 
Alameda County Recorder which states:

1. The Junior ADU shall not be sold separately from the main building;

2. The ADU shall not be sold separately from the main building unless the 
conditions of BMC 23.306.0450(D) ADUs Developed by a Qualified Nonprofit 
Developer  B are met;

3. The ADU and/or Junior ADU shall not be rented for a term that is shorter than 30 
days; and

4. If the property includes a Junior ADU, the Junior ADU, or the Single Family 
Dwelling in which the Junior ADU is located, shall be owner-occupied.

E.D. ADUs Developed by a Qualified Nonprofit Developer. An ADU built or developed 
by a "qualified nonprofit corporation" may be sold or conveyed separately from the 
mMain bBuilding to a "qualified buyer," as such terms are defined in subdivision (b) 
of Section 65852.26 of the California Government Code. The ADU must be held 
pursuant to a recorded tenancy in common agreement recorded on or after 
December 31, 2021 that includes the following elements:

1. Delineation of all areas of the property that are for the exclusive use of a 
cotenant;

2. Delineation of each cotenant’s responsibility for the costs of taxes, insurance, 
utilities, general maintenance and repair, and improvements associated with the 
property;

Page 16 of 87

Page 236

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.26


  

3. Procedures for dispute resolution among cotenants before resorting to legal 
action;

4. Allocates to each qualified buyer an undivided, unequal interest in the property 
based on the size of the dwelling each qualified buyer occupies;

5. A repurchase option that requires the qualified buyer to first offer the qualified 
nonprofit corporation to buy the ADU or primary dwelling if the buyer desires to 
sell or convey the property;

6. A requirement that the qualified buyer occupy the ADU or primary dwelling as the 
buyer’s principal residence; and

7. Affordability restrictions on the sale and conveyance of the ADU or primary 
dwelling that ensure the ADU and primary dwelling will be preserved for low-
income housing for 45 years for owner-occupied housing units and will be sold or 
resold to a qualified buyer.

8. If requested by a utility providing service to the primary residence, the ADU shall 
have a separate water, sewer, or electrical connection to that utility.

23.306.060 Neighbor Noticing.

A. Scope and Timing of Notice. Notice of an ADU application shall be mailed to 
owners and tenants of the subject, adjacent, confronting and abutting properties 
within ten working days of submission to the Planning Department.

B. Content of Notice. Notice shall provide the address of the project, allowable 
hours of construction, a link to the City’s ADU webpage, and information for 
tenants of the subject property on how to contact a Rent Board Housing 
Counselor by e-mail or phone and any other resource information deemed 
relevant.

C. Mailing Fees. The applicant shall be responsible for the cost of materials, 
postage and staff time necessary to process and mail notices.

23.306.070 Rooftop Decks and Balconies.

A. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Title to the contrary, roofs on lots within 
the Hillside Overlay District may not be designed, converted or used as Usable 
Open Space.

Section 9. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.322.020(C) is amended to read: 

C. Changes of Use.

1. Commercial Districts. In the Commercial Districts, off-street parking is required 
for a change in use only when the structure is expanded to include new floor 
area.

Page 17 of 87

Page 237



  

2. Manufacturing and R-SMU Districts.

(a) In the Manufacturing and R-SMU districts, off-street parking is required for a 
change in use only when:

i. The structure is expanded to include new floor area; and/or

ii. The use is changed to one with a numerical parking standard greater 
than the district minimum.

(b) If the new use is changed to one with a higher numerical parking standard 
than the district minimum, the new use must provide the incremental 
difference between the two numerical parking standards. A higher numerical 
parking standard may be reduced to the district minimum as provided in 
Section 23.322.050(.A)(.2) (Change of Use).

(c) As used in this section, the “district minimum” parking requirement is:

iii. 2 spaces per 1,000 square feet of floor area in the Manufacturing 
Districts; and

iv. 1 space per 1,000 square feet of floor area in the R-SMU district.

3. All Other Residential Districts. In all Residential Districts except for R-SMU, off-
street parking spaces are required for all changes in use.

D. Location Exemption. Off-street parking spaces are not required for new uses or 
buildings, or an enlargement or intensification of an existing use or structure, that is 
located within 0.5 miles of a major transit stop, as defined by Section 21155 of the 
California Public Resources Code, unless otherwise authorized by Government 
Code Section 65863.2. 

Section 10. That the section named; Residential Uses; in Berkeley Municipal Code 
Table 23.322-1, Required Off Street Parking in Residential Districts, within 
Berkeley Municipal Code 23.322.030, Required Parking Spaces, is 
amended to read: 

TABLE 23.322-1: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS

Land Use Number of Required Off-street Parking Spaces
Residential Uses

Accessory Dwelling 
Unit

Junior ADU: None required
ADU outside of Hillside Overlay: None required
ADU within Hillside Overlay: 1 per ADU unless the parcel is 
located within 0.5 mile of a major transit stop or a high-quality 
transit corridor as defined in Public Resources Code Section 
21155. See Chapter 23.306

Page 18 of 87

Page 238

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=21155.&lawCode=PRC
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65863.2.&lawCode=GOV
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65863.2.&lawCode=GOV


  

Land Use Number of Required Off-street Parking Spaces

Dwellings, including 
Group Living 
Accommodations

R-3, R-4, and R-5 Districts (1-9 units): If located on a roadway 
less than 26 feet. in width in the Hillside Overlay: 1 per unit.
R-3, R-4, and R-5 District (10 or more units): If located on a 
roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the Hillside Overlay: 1 
per 1,000 sq. ft. of gross floor area
All Other Districts: If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in 
width in the Hillside Overlay: 1 per unit
All Other Locations: None required

Dormitories, Fraternity 
and Sorority Houses, 
Rooming & Boarding 
Houses, Senior 
Congregate Housing

If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the 
Hillside Overlay: 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager.
All Other Locations: None required.

Rental of Rooms
If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the 
Hillside Overlay: 1 per each two roomers
All Other Locations: None required

Section 11. That Berkeley Municipal Code Table 23.322-2 is amended to read: 

TABLE 23.322-2: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS IN COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICTS (EXCLUDING C-T)

Land Use Required Parking Spaces
Residential Uses
Accessory Dwelling 
Unit See Chapter 23.306None required

Dwellings, including 
Group Living 
Accommodations

If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the 
Hillside Overlay: 1 per unit

All Other Locations: None required
Hotel, Residential None required
Mixed-Use Residential 
(residential use only) None required

Senior Congregate 
Housing None required

Non-Residential Uses
All non-residential 
uses except uses 
listed below

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Page 19 of 87

Page 239



  

Land Use Required Parking Spaces
Hospital 1 per each 4 beds plus 1 per each 3 employees

Library
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per 500 sq. ft. of publicly 
accessible floor area

Nursing Home 1 per 3 employees

Medical Practitioners C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per 300 sq. ft.

Hotels, Tourist

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites
C-C, C-U, C-W Districts: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or 
suites plus 1 per 3 employees
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Motels, Tourist

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites
C-C, C-U, C-W Districts: 1 per guest/sleeping room plus 1 
for owner or manager [1]
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Large Vehicle Sales 
and Rental

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-SA District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Small Vehicle Sales 
and Service

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-SA District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Manufacturing
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-W District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft [1]
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Wholesale Trade 
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-W District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Live/Work
If workers/clients are permitted in work area, 1 per first 
1,000 sq. ft. of work area and 1 per each additional 750 sq. 
ft. of work area

Notes:
 [1] Spaces must be on the same lot as building it serves

Section 12. That the section named; Residential Uses; in Table 23.322-4, Required 
Off Street Parking in Manufacturing Districts, within Berkeley Municipal 
Code 23.322.030, Required Parking Spaces, is amended to read: 

Page 20 of 87

Page 240



  

TABLE 23.322-4: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING IN MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS

Land Use Required Parking Spaces
Residential Uses
Accessory Dwelling 
Unit See Chapter 23.306None required

Dwellings None required 
Group Living 
Accommodation None required

Section 13. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.322.080 is amended to read: 

23.322.080– Parking Layout and Design

A. Traffic Engineering Requirements.

1. All off-street parking spaces, access driveways, circulation patterns, and ingress 
and egress connections to the public right-of-way must conform to the City of 
Berkeley’s Traffic Engineering requirements.

2. The Traffic Engineer shall determine whether the size, arrangement, and design 
of off-street parking spaces, access driveways, circulation patterns, and ingress 
and egress connections to the public right-of-way are adequate to create usable, 
functional, accessible, and safe parking areas, and are adequately integrated 
with Berkeley’s overall street pattern and traffic flows.

B. Dimensional Standards. Dimensional requirements and standards for off-street 
parking spaces, driveways, and other access improvements, and maneuvering 
aisles shall be incorporated in administrative regulations, subject to the review and 
approval by the City Manager and ZAB.

C. Access Orientation in Non-Residential Districts. Access to new parking areas in a 
Non-Residential District that serve commercial uses shall be oriented in such a way 
as to minimize the use of streets serving primarily residential uses.

D. Residential Parking Lots in Non-Residential Districts. Parking lots in a non-
residential district used exclusively for residential parking must comply with 
standards in Section 23.322.080 that apply in Residential Districts.

D.E. Placement--Residential Districts.

1. Side Setback Areas.

(a) One new off-street parking space in a required side setback area, where none 
exists, is allowed by right.

Page 21 of 87

Page 241



  

(b) The space must be constructed of a permeable surface unless the Public 
Works Department or Office of Transportation determines it is infeasible.

(c) The space must be screened as required by 23.322.080.HG (Screening).

(d) The location of the space shall minimize impact on usable open space.

2. Other Setback Areas. No portion of an off-street parking space may be located in 
a required front, street side, or rear setback area unless:

(a) The parking space location is authorized by Chapter 23.306 (Accessory 
Dwelling Units); or

(b) The Zoning Officer approves an AUP, in consultation with the Traffic 
Engineer, and the space meets all applicable requirements in this section.

3. Multifamily Buildings.

(a) An off-street parking space may not be located closer than 10 feet in 
horizontal distance from a door or a window of a building with three or more 
dwelling units where the space is on the same or approximately the same 
level as the building.

(b) For the purposes of this section, a window whose bottom edge or point is 
more than 6 feet in vertical height from the level of the subject off-street 
parking space is not considered on the same or approximately the same 
level.

(c) The Zoning Officer may approve and AUP to grant an exception to this 
requirement.

E.F. Placement--Non-Residential Districts.

1. Where Prohibited. Except when otherwise allowed by this chapter, ground-level 
off-street parking spaces are not permitted within 20 feet of the lot’s street 
frontage unless the parking is entirely within a building with walls.

2. Corner Lots. For a corner lot, the ZAB may approve a Use Permit to allow the 
parking within 20 feet of the street frontage facing the secondary street.

3. C-W District.

(a) Off-street automobile parking in the C-W district is not permitted between the 
front lot line and a main structure within a designated node.

(b) Outside of a designated node, off-street automobile parking may be allowed 
between the front lot line and a main structure with a Use Permit or AUP. If 
the project requires ZAB approval, a Use Permit is required. An AUP is 
required for all other projects.

(c) To approve the AUP or Use Permit, the review authority must find that one or 
more of the following is true:

Page 22 of 87

Page 242

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.306


  

i. Parking in the rear or on the side of the property is impractical because 
of the lot’s depth and/or width.

ii. Parking in the rear of the property would result in adverse impacts on 
abutting residential or other uses.

iii. Parking in the rear or on the side of the property would result in the 
placement of a driveway in an unsafe location.

iv. Continuation or re-establishment of parking in front of the building is 
necessary for the reuse of an existing structure which is substantially 
set back from the front lot line.

G. Placement--ADU. 

1. On a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, replacement of required off-street 
parking for the main building or required off-street parking for an ADU is allowed 
in any configuration on the lot, including within the front setback; or

2. Within the Hillside Overlay on a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, where no 
legal off-street parking exists for the main building, required parking provided for 
the main building is allowed in any configuration on the lot, including within the 
front yard setback.

F.H. Grade Change. This subsection applies to off-street parking spaces in all 
districts, except for parking decks in Residential Districts.

1. The difference in elevation between a parking space and the finished grade on 
adjacent areas of the lot may not exceed 5 feet at any point.

2. Where there is a difference in elevation between a parking space and adjacent 
finished grade, the parking space shall be setback from a lot line as shown in 
Table 23.322-7.

TABLE 23.322-7. REQUIRED SETBACKS FOR PARKING SPACES WITH ADJACENT 
GRADE CHANGES

DIFFERENCE IN ELEVATION MINIMUM SETBACK

Parking space lower than finished grade
3 to 5 ft 4 ft.
Less than 3 ft No min. setback
Parking space higher than finished grade 6 ft.

G.I. Screening.

1. Table 23.322-8 shows required parking space screening. Screening must 
effectively screen parked vehicles from view from buildings and uses on 
adjacent, abutting, and confronting lots. Screening may not interfere with 
pedestrian safety.

Page 23 of 87

Page 243



  

TABLE 23.322-8. REQUIRED PARKING SPACE SCREENING
DISTRICTS WHEN REQUIRED REQUIRED SCREENING 

FEATURE
SCREENING 
FEATURE HEIGHT

All Residential 
Districts

2 or more parking 
spaces, or any 
parking space partly 
or entirely within a 
required rear setback 
area

Continuous view-obscuring 
wood fence, masonry wall, 
or evergreen hedge which 
may be broken only for 
access driveways and 
walkways

4 ft. min and 6 ft. 
max.

All Commercial 
and 
Manufacturing 
Districts

2 or more parking 
spaces

Wall, fence, or evergreen 
shrubbery hedge in a 
landscape strip

Parking adjacent to 
public right-of-way 
or front lot line: 3 ft. 
min. and 4 ft. max.
Parking adjacent to 
rear or side lot line:
4 ft. min and 6 ft. 
max.

2. In the C-W, M, MM, MU-LI districts, screening and landscape buffers are not 
required for any portion of a parking lot adjacent to Third Street (Southern Pacific 
Railroad).

H.J. Landscape Buffers.

1. All paved areas for off-street parking spaces, driveways, and any other vehicle-
related paving must be separated from adjacent lot lines and the public right-of-
way by a landscaped strip as shown in Table 23.322-9.

TABLE 23.322-9. REQUIRED LANDSCAPE BUFFERS
MINIMUM WIDTH OF LANDSCAPE STRIP

DISTRICT/NUMBER OF SPACES AREAS ADJACENT TO SIDE 
OR REAR LOT LINES

AREAS ADJACENT TO PUBLIC RIGHT-
OF-WAY OR FRONT LOT LINE

Residential Districts
1-3 spaces 2 ft. 2 ft.
4 spaces or more 4 ft. [1] 4 ft. [1]

Commercial and 
Manufacturing Districts

1 space None required None required
2-3 spaces 2 ft. 3 ft.
4 spaces or more 4 ft. [1] 4 ft. [1]

Note:
[1] Calculated as average width along the full length of landscape strip.

Page 24 of 87

Page 244

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]


  

2. In all districts, this landscape buffer requirement does not apply to driveways that 
serve two adjacent lots when adjacent to a side lot line.

3. In the Residential Districts, this landscape buffer requirement also does not apply 
to pedestrian walkways that are separated from such areas by a landscaped strip 
at least two feet wide.

I.K. Paved Setback Areas. In Residential Districts, the total area of pavement 
devoted to off-street parking spaces, driveways, and other vehicle-related paving 
may not exceed 50 percent of any required setback area that runs parallel to and 
abuts a street.

J.L. Driveway Width.

1. A driveway may not exceed 20 feet in width at any lot line abutting a street or 
one-half of the width of the street frontage of the lot, whichever is less.

2. In a Non-Residential district, the Zoning Officer may modify this requirement with 
an AUP.

K.M. Driveway Separation. On a single lot in a Residential District, driveways must be 
spaced at least 75 feet from one another, as measured along any continuous lot 
line abutting a street.

L.N. Tandem Parking. Tandem spaces that provide required off-street parking require 
an AUP, except when allowed by right by Chapter 23.306 (Accessory Dwelling 
Units).

M. Residential Parking Lots in Non-Residential Districts. Parking lots in a non-
residential district used exclusively for residential parking must comply with 
standards in this section that apply in Residential Districts.

N.O. Carports. A carport shall meet the minimum horizontal and vertical dimensions 
specified by the City’s Traffic Engineer to be used for one or more legal parking 
spaces required under this chapter.

Section 14. That Berkeley Municipal Code is amended to add a new Section 
23.324.060(C) to read:

C. Accessory Dwelling Units. The following alterations of a lawful nonconforming 
existing structure or building that is an existing ADU or proposed to be converted to 
an ADU are permitted with a Zoning Certificate:

1. New windows, doors, or other openings to a portion of a building or structure 
within a minimum required setback. 

2. New windows, doors, or other openings to a portion of a building or structure 
exceeding the height limit.

Page 25 of 87

Page 245

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.306


  

Section 15. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(A)(4) is amended to read:

4. Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU). An attached or detached secondary dwelling unit 
that is located on the samea lot as a proposed or existing single family dwelling, 
duplex, multi-family dwelling use, or group living accommodation in a zoning 
district where residential uses are permitted and provides independent living 
facilities for one or more persons. An ADU must comply with local building, 
housing, safety and other code requirements, except as expressly modified in 
Chapter 23.306, and provide the following features independent of other dwelling 
units on the lot: Exterior or independent access to the ADU, living and sleeping 
quarters, a full kitchen, and a full bathroom. An ADU also includes the following: 
(a) An efficiency unit, as defined in Section 17958.1 of the Health and Safety 
Code, or (b) A manufactured home, as defined in Section 18007 of the Health 
and Safety Code.

Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (Junior ADU). A unit that is contained entirely 
within the walls of an existing or proposed single family dwelling, or a single 
family dwelling unit’s attached garage. A Junior ADU must include a separate 
exterior entrance and, at minimum, an efficiency kitchen with a working 
refrigerator. A Junior ADU may include separate sanitation facilities or may 
share sanitary facilities with a single family dwelling. The property-owner 
must reside in either the Single Family Dwelling or the JADU.

(a) with a proposed or existing Single Family Dwelling, Duplex, Multi-Family 
Dwelling Use or Group Living Accommodation. An Accessory Dwelling Unit 
must comply with local building, housing, safety and other code requirements, 
except as expressly modified in Chapter 23.306, and provide the following 
features independent of other dwelling units on the lot: 1) exterior or 
independent access to the Accessory Dwelling Unit; 2) living and sleeping 
quarters; 3) a full kitchen; and 4) a full bathroom. An Accessory Dwelling Unit 
also includes the following:

(b)(a) An efficiency unit, as defined in Section 17958.1 of the Health and Safety 
Code.

Section 16. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(A)(8) is amended to read:

8. Addition, Residential. The creation of any new portion of a main building which 
results in a vertical or horizontal extension of the building, or results in additional 
residential gross floor area to an existing main building, as long as such new 
gross floor area does not exceed 15 percent of the lot area or 600 square feet, 
whichever is less. For purposes of this definition gross floor area does not 
include:

(a) Additions of gross floor area devoted to required off-street parking spaces, 
creation of mezzanines or lofts within the building’s shell;

Page 26 of 87

Page 246



  

(b) Making previously unusable attics into habitable floor area (except where new 
areas with vertical clearance of 6 feet or greater are created through 
expansions of the building shell);

(c) Excavations of earth within the existing building footprint (i.e. expansion of 
existing basements or new basements), or

(d) Replacement of existing floor area that was lawfully constructed and is 
located entirely within the addition’s shell.

(d)(e) The floor area associated with any existing or proposed accessory 
dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet per lot.

Section 17. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(A)(9) is amended to read:

9. Addition, Major Residential.

(a) A residential addition greater than 15 percent of the lot area or 600 square 
feet. Floor area from all residential additions since October 31, 1991, with the 
exception of:

i. Additions that are entirely subsumed within previously existing floor 
area; and 

ii. The floor area associated with any existing or proposed accessory 
dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet 
per lot.

(b) The floor area of subsequent stories where the addition does not exceed the 
district residential addition height limit, shall count towards the calculation of 
gross floor area for the purposes of this definition.

(c) Any new floor area, except as exempted under (9)(a), shall be treated as a 
new major residential addition for the purpose of permit processing, when the 
cumulative square footage exceeds 15 percent of the lot area or 600 square 
feet, whichever is less.

Section 18. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(E)(1) is amended to read:

1. Efficiency Kitchen. A kitchen that includes a sink, a cooking facility with 
appliances (e.g. microwave, toaster, oven, hot plate), and food preparation 
counter space and cabinets.

Section 19. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(J) is amended to read:

Page 27 of 87

Page 247



  

J. "J" Terms.

Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (JADU). A unit that is contained entirely within the 
walls of a Single Family Dwelling. A JADU must include a separate exterior 
entrance and an Efficiency Kitchen with a working refrigerator. A JADU may 
include separate sanitation facilities or may share sanitary facilities with a Single 
Family Dwelling. The property-owner must reside in either the Single Family 
Dwelling or the JADU.

Section 20. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(N)(1) is amended to read:

N. "N" Terms.

1.   New Construction. Construction of a new main building or accessory dwelling 
unit.

Section 18. Severability.

If any provision or clause of this Ordinance or any application thereof to any person 
or circumstance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or clauses or 
applications of this Ordinance. To this end the provisions and applications of this 
Ordinance are severable, and the Council of the City of Berkeley hereby declares 
that it would have passed this Ordinance and each provision or clause without 
regard to whether any other portion of this Ordinance or application thereof would be 
subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional.

Section 19. 

Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the display 
case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 Martin 
Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in 
a newspaper of general circulation.

Page 28 of 87

Page 248



Attachment 2

ADU POLICY ALTERNATIVES

Policy Alternative 1. Additional prescriptive standards for New Construction 
ADUs within the front setback (Section 8 of the Recommended Draft Ordinance)

4. Front Setback, New Construction. An ADU shall not occupy area within the front 
setback, unless the requirement would preclude an ADU of 800 square feet. 
comply with the same front setback that is required for the underlying district, 
unless the requirement would preclude an ADU of no more than 800 square feet 
on the parcel. Should an ADU require area—either partially or fully—within the 
front setback, both of the following shall apply:

(a) The ADU shall be sited no farther from the main building than the minimum 
required building separation.

(b) The ADU shall maintain a minimum 10-foot setback from the front lot line, 
unless such reduced setback would preclude an ADU of no more than 800 
square feet on the parcel. If a 10-foot setback would preclude an ADU of 800 
square feet, the ADU shall maintain a 5-foot setback from the front lot line. If a 
5-foot setback from the front lot line would preclude an ADU of 800 square 
feet on the parcel, the ADU may be sited up to the front lot line.

Policy Alternative 2. Different building separation requirements for detached 
ADUs within versus outside of the Hillside Overlay (Section 8 of the 
Recommended Draft Ordinance)

TABLE 23.306-2. ADU DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
BASIC STANDARDS SUPPLEMENTAL STANDARDS
Gross Floor Area, Maximum

Studio or 1 bedroom 850 sq. ft.
2+ bedrooms 1,000 sq. ft.

23.306.030(A)(1); 
23.306.030(A)(2); 
23.306.030(A)(3) 

Building Height, Maximum
Conversion Same as existing structure 23.306.030(A)(1); 

23.306.030(A)(3)
Detached, New Construction See Table 23.306-3
Attached, New Construction 25 ft. 23.306.030(A)(5);

23.306.030(A)(7)
Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum

Front of Interior Lot Same as underlying district
Front of Through Lot Same as underlying district or 10 

ft. on the secondary frontage as 
determined by the Zoning Officer

Rear 4 ft.
Interior Side 4 ft.

23.306.030(A)(3);
23.306.030(A)(4);
23.306.030(A)(6)

Page 29 of 87

Page 249



  

Key
Black Text: Recommended Draft Ordinance dated September 19, 2023
Red Text: Policy Alternative

Street Side 4 ft.
Building Separation for Detached ADU, Minimum

In the Hillside Overlay 8 ft.
All Other LocationsBuilding 
Separation for Detached 
ADU, Minimum

5 ft.

Required Off-Street Parking 
Spaces

See 23.322.030– Required 
Parking Spaces

Policy Alternative 3. Converted ADUs: Maintain time limit based on when the 
accessory building or structure was created (Section 8 of Recommended Draft 
Ordinance)

23.306.030 Development Standards.
3. Accessory Building or Accessory Structure Conversion. An ADU converted from 

an legally established accessory building or accessory structure legally 
established at least three years prior to submission of an ADU application that 
does not comply with the maximum height, size, and/or rear and side setback 
requirements is allowed to maintain non-conformity to the same location and 
dimensions of the existing accessory building or accessory structure, provided 
that the ADU meets fire and safety standards set forth in the California Building 
Standards Code adopted in BMC Title 19. Any physical additions to the existing 
accessory building or accessory structure shall comply with the development 
standards in Table 23.306-2 ADU Development Standards.

Policy Alternative 4. Keep Neighbor Noticing Procedures as-is except removing 
noticing to owner(s) of subject property (Section 8 of Recommended Draft 
Ordinance)

23.306.040 Permit Procedures

B. Neighbor Noticing.

1. Scope and Timing of Notice. Notice of an ADU application shall be mailed to 
tenants of the subject property, and all occupantsowners and tenants of the 
subjectadjacent, confronting and abutting properties, y, excepting the property 
owner(s), within ten working days of submission of the building permit to the 
Planning DepartmentCity. 

2. Content of Notice. Notice shall provide the address of the project,  and include 
allowable hours of construction, a link to the City’s ADU webpage, and 

Page 30 of 87

Page 250



  

Key
Black Text: Recommended Draft Ordinance dated September 19, 2023
Red Text: Policy Alternative

information for tenants of the subject property on how to contact identifying 
permit and construction resources, and contact information for a Rent Board 
Housing Counselor by e-mail or phone and any other resource information 
deemed relevant.

3. Mailing Fees. The applicant shall be responsible for the cost of materials, 
postage, and staff time necessary to process and mail the notices.

Page 31 of 87

Page 251



Attachment 3
Table 1. Current and Proposed ADU Ordinances and Source Comparison

Section/
Standard

Current ordinance
(BMC Ch. 23.306)

July 2023 Recommended 
Ordinance

September 2023 
Recommended Ordinance 

(Ordinance Section(s))

Source(s) for 
September 2023 

Recommendation
Ch. 12.99 Wildfire 
Hazard 
Evacuation Risk 
Mitigation 
Ordinance

No more than one ADU or JADU shall be 
permitted per lot in the HOD.

Repeal and remove references No change from July 2023. 
(Sections 3, 8)

HCD Letter dated 
October 17, 2022 (pg. 2)

Lot coverage and 
gross floor area 
calculations

Not specified. Exempt up to 800 sf from lot 
coverage and gross floor area 
calculations associated with ADU

No change from July 2023. 
(Sections 4, 5, 16, 17)

State law.
GOV 65852.2(c)(2)(C)

Building 
separation 
measurement 
definition

A. Measurement. Building separation is 
measured as the distance between the 
surface of a main building’s outer wall 
and the outer wall surface of the closest 
neighboring main building.

Not included Revised to include ADUs and 
changed “neighboring main 
building” to “neighboring 
building.” (Section 6)

Staff recommendation 
based on Fire, Building 
and Safety.

ADU building 
height calculations

Not specified. Specify that attached ADUs are 
not included in average building 
height calculations.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 7)

Staff recommendation

Density exemption Not specified. Exclude ADUs and Junior ADUs 
from density established by the 
underlying zoning district

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 8)

State law. 
GOV 65852.2(a)(10)

Quantity of ADU– 
Single Family 
Dwellings

1 ADU or 1 Junior ADU 1 ADU and 1 Junior ADU 
citywide

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 8)

HCD Letter dated 
October 17, 2022 (pg. 3)

Quantity of ADU– 
Duplex or Multi-
Family Dwellings

a. Up to two detached ADUs; or

b. At least one ADU converted from non-
habitable portions of the existing Main 
Building that are not within the living 
space of a Dwelling Unit (e.g. basement, 
attic, garages storage room). The 
maximum number of ADUs converted 
from portions of the existing Main 
Building that are not within the living 
space of a Dwelling Unit shall not exceed 
25% of the total number of existing 
Dwelling Units on the lot.

2 detached ADUs and at least 1 
interior ADU up to 25% of the 
total number of existing duplex or 
multi-family dwelling units on the 
lot.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 8)

HCD ADU Handbook 
dated July 2022 (pg. 20)

Gross floor area, 
maximum

Outside of HOD: 
- Studio or 1-bed: 850 sf
- 2+ bed: 1000 sf

Citywide:
- Studio or 1-bed: 850 sf
- 2+ bed: 1000 sf

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 8)

HCD Letter dated 
October 17, 2022 (pg. 2) 

Page 32 of 87

Page 252



  

Section/
Standard

Current ordinance
(BMC Ch. 23.306)

July 2023 Recommended 
Ordinance

September 2023 
Recommended Ordinance 

(Ordinance Section(s))

Source(s) for 
September 2023 

Recommendation
- Junior ADU: 500 sf

Within HOD: 
- ADU: 800 sf
- Junior ADU: 500 sf

- Junior ADU: 500 sf in combination with state 
law. 
GOV 65852.2(c)(2)(B);
GOV 65852.22(i)(1)

Building height, 
maximum

Outside of HOD: 20 ft.
Within HOD: 16 ft.

Citywide:
Attached: 25 ft.
Detached: 20 ft.

Revised to match state law.  
See Tables 23.306-2 and 
230.306-3. (Section 8)

State law. 
GOV 65852.2(c)(2)(D)

Building 
separation for 
detached ADU, 
minimum

Not specified. 3-foot 5-foot (Section 8)

See Policy Alternative 2

Staff recommendation 
based on Fire, Building 
and Safety

Accessory 
Building or 
Accessory 
Structure 
Conversion

- Must be legally established at least 
three years prior to submission of an 
ADU

- Allowed to maintain nonconforming 
Maximum Height, Size, and/or Rear 
and Side Setback to the same 
dimensions of the existing Accessory 
Building or Accessory Structure 

- Existing side and rear setbacks meet 
fire and safety as set forth in 
California Building Standards Code 
adopted in BMC Title 19.

No change from current 
ordinance

Allowed to maintain non-
conformity to the same 
location and dimensions of the 
existing legal nonconforming 
accessory building or 
accessory structure, without 
minimum time limits based on 
when the structure was 
created. (Section 8)

See Policy Alternative 3

Location and dimensions 
- State law GOV 
65852.2(a)(D)(vii) 

No limits based on when 
the structure was 
created - HCD ADU 
Handbook dated July 
2022 (pg. 21)

Lot line setbacks, 
minimum

Front: Same as underlying zoning district
Rear: 4 ft.
Side: 4 ft.

Exception: If there is a lesser setback 
allowed for a comparable Accessory 
Building or Accessory Structure in the 
underlying zoning district, that setback 
shall apply.

Front (no change): Same as 
underlying zoning district

Front of Through Lot: Same as 
underlying district or 10 ft. on the 
secondary frontage as 
determined by the Zoning Officer

Rear (no change): 4 ft.
Interior side (no change): 4 ft.
Street side: 4 ft.

Added supplemental standard: 
(Section 8)

(4) Front Setback, New 
Construction. An ADU shall 
not occupy area within the 
front setback, unless the 
requirement would preclude 
an ADU of 800 square feet. 

See Policy Alternative 1

Staff recommendation 
based on state law. 
GOV 65852.2(c)(2)(C)

Attached ADU, 
standard 

Not specified. Less than 3-foot building 
separation

Sharing common wall (Section 
8)

5. Attached ADU. An ADU 
shall be considered attached if 
sharing a common wall with a 
primary dwelling.

Staff recommendation 
based on state law GOV 
65852.2(c)(2)(D)(iv)

Page 33 of 87

Page 253



  

Section/
Standard

Current ordinance
(BMC Ch. 23.306)

July 2023 Recommended 
Ordinance

September 2023 
Recommended Ordinance 

(Ordinance Section(s))

Source(s) for 
September 2023 

Recommendation
Attached ADU, 
New Construction 
Height

An ADU proposed as an addition with a 
maximum height exceeding 14 ft. 
requires an AUP.

Attached ADUs with height 
greater than 14 ft. and up to 25 
ft. allowed with a Zoning 
Certificate.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 8)

State law
GOV 65852.2(c)(2)(D)

Junior ADUs 
Shared Sanitation 
Facilities

Not specified. If a Junior ADU shares a sanitary 
facility with a single-family 
dwelling, an internal connection 
between the Junior ADU and the 
main living area of the single 
family dwelling is required.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 8)

Staff recommendation 
based on state law GOV 
65852.22(i)(1)

Projections Architectural features may project two 
feet into the required setbacks, so long 
as there remains at least a two-foot 
setback from property lines. Bay windows 
may not project into a setback. Bay 
windows and balconies shall not project 
into a setback.

No projections shall be allowed within the 
required setbacks on lots that are within 
the Hillside Overlay District.

Added bay windows and 
balconies may not project into a 
required rear ADU setback.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 8)

Planning Commission 
recommendation, May 
2023

Noticing, Scope Mail to owners and tenants of the subject, 
adjacent, confronting and abutting 
properties within ten working days of 
submission to the Planning Department.

Mail to all tenants of subject 
property, excluding property 
owner(s).

Revised Header to read 
“Noticing” instead of “Neighbor 
Noticing” and “tenant” to read 
“occupant” (Section 8)

See Policy Alternative 4

Staff recommendation 
based on Planning 
Commission 
recommendation, May 
2023, while addressing 
implementation concerns

Off-Street Parking 
requirement, 
minimum

JADU: None.
Outside of HOD: None. 
Within HOD: The lesser of 1 space per 
bedroom or ADU.

No off-street parking shall be required for 
ADUs that satisfy the criteria defined in 
subdivision (d) of California Government 
Code section 65852.2 or any successor 
provision thereto. 

-

JADU: None
Outside of HOD: None
Within HOD: 1 per ADU unless 
satisfies the criteria in 
subdivision (d) of Government 
Code Section 65852.2.

JADU: None
Outside of HOD: None
Within HOD: 1 per ADU 
unless the parcel is located 
with 0.5 mile of a major transit 
stop or a high-quality transit 
corridor as defined in Public 
Resource Code Section 
21155.
(Section 10)

State law
GOV 
65852.2(c)(2)(D)(ii); 
GOV 65852.2(d)(1), 
PUB. RES. 21155

Replacement 
Parking 
requirement

Replacement parking is not required. 
Replacement of off-street parking for the 
Main Building is allowed and does not 
need to comply with Parking Maximums 

No change from current 
ordinance.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 13)

State law 
GOV 
65852.2(a)(1)(D)(xi)

Page 34 of 87

Page 254



  

Section/
Standard

Current ordinance
(BMC Ch. 23.306)

July 2023 Recommended 
Ordinance

September 2023 
Recommended Ordinance 

(Ordinance Section(s))

Source(s) for 
September 2023 

Recommendation
(BMC 23.322.070) nor Parking Layout 
and Design (BMC 23.322.080).

Parking Placement 
for ADUs

If an applicant provides off-street parking 
for an ADU or a JADU in the HOD, 
parking shall be allowed in any 
configuration on the lot, including within 
the front yard setback.

1. On a lot with an existing or 
proposed ADU, replacement 
of required off-street parking 
for the main building or 
required off-street parking for 
an ADU is allowed in any 
configuration on the lot, 
including within the front 
setback; or

2. Within the Hillside Overlay 
on a lot with an existing or 
proposed ADU, where no 
legal off-street parking exists 
for the main building, 
required parking provided for 
the main building is allowed 
in any configuration on the 
lot, including within the front 
yard setback.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 13)

Staff recommendation 
based on state law GOV 
65852.2(a)(1)(D)(xi)

Alterations of 
lawful 
nonconforming 
existing structures 
or buildings to 
ADUs

Not specified. The following alterations are 
permitted with a Zoning 
Certificate:

1. New windows, doors, or 
other openings to a portion of 
a building or structure within 
a minimum required setback. 

2. New windows, doors, or 
other openings to a portion of 
a building or structure 
exceeding the height limit.

No change from July 2023. 
(Section 14)

Staff recommendation

“Junior ADU”, 
definition

Requires a working refrigerator Removes this requirement No change from July 2023. 
(Section 15)

HCD Letter dated 
October 17, 2022 (pg. 1)

“Efficiency 
Kitchen”, definition

Requires a sink Removes this requirement No change from July 2023. 
(Section 18)

HCD Letter dated 
October 17, 2022 (pg. 1)

Page 35 of 87

Page 255



Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

PUBLIC HEARING
September 19, 2023

(Continued from July 25, 2023)

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Jordan Klein, Director, Planning and Development

Subject: Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and 
Repeal of Chapter 12.99 to Conform to State Law and Respond to Guidance 
from the California Department of Housing and Community Development

RECOMMENDATION
Conduct a public hearing and, upon conclusion, adopt the first reading of an Ordinance 
amending Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) Title 23, and repealing BMC Chapter 12.99, 
relating to Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units.

SUMMARY
Staff have prepared amendments to Title 23 (Zoning) of the BMC in response to: (a) 
recent changes in state laws pertaining to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) and Junior 
Accessory Dwelling Units (Junior ADUs) that took effect on January 1, 2023, and (b) 
feedback from the California Department of Housing and Community Development 
(HCD) finding that the City of Berkeley’s current ADU Ordinance does not comply with 
state law. 

The proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments (Attachment 1) and the repeal of Chapter 
12.99 (Wildfire Hazard Evacuation Risk Mitigation Ordinance) per HCD guidance will 
bring the City’s ADU Ordinance into compliance with current state law and address 
concerns raised in HCD’s letter to the City, dated October 17, 2022. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The proposed amendments are intended to simplify the planning review process and 
facilitate the development of ADUs and Junior ADUs in accordance with state law. The 
proposed amendments may result in a modest decrease in staffing-related expenditures 
due to streamlined review.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
A local ADU ordinance supports the City’s Strategic Plan goal to create affordable 
housing and housing support services for our most vulnerable community members. 
Over the past five years, Berkeley has adopted four comprehensive ADU Ordinance 
amendments in order to maintain compliance with changing State ADU law. Between 

Page 36 of 87

Page 256

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager


Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 2

2018 and 2022, the City issued 528 building permits for ADUs and Junior ADUs, and 
entitled an average of 78 ADU permits per year.

On October 17, 2022, the City received a letter from HCD (Attachment 2) stating that it 
had reviewed the City’s current ADU Ordinances (BMC Sections 23.306 and 12.99, the 
“Ordinances”) and found that the Ordinances do not comply with Government Code 
Section 65852.2.

Efficiency Kitchen Definition
HCD found a discrepancy between the definition of “Efficiency Kitchen” contained within 
Ordinance No. 7,797-N.S. (Chapter 23.306) and Government Code §65852.22(a)(6)(A) 
and requested that the City remove the sink requirement from its zoning definition, as 
well as the reference to a working refrigerator in the definition of a “Junior Accessory 
Dwelling Unit.”

Wildfire Hazard Evacuation Risk Mitigation Ordinance
Regarding Ordinance No. 7,799-N.S (Chapter 12.99), HCD found that the City did not 
make adequate findings with respect to ADU and Junior ADU development impacts on 
traffic flow and public safety when the City adopted limitations on ADU and Junior ADU 
development in the Hillside Overlay zoning district.

HCD asserts that the traffic simulation study referenced in Chapter 12.99 is not specific 
to ADUs and Junior ADUs and therefore cannot be used to justify the restriction on the 
number of ADUs in the Hillside Overlay. Additionally, the traffic simulation study does 
not provide data on how many lots are likely to add ADUs and Junior ADUs, does not 
identify specific impacts new ADUs and Junior ADUs may have on evacuations, and 
does not account for the potential for ADUs and Junior ADUs to be excluded from 
requiring a parking space given the availability of public transit in the Hillside Overlay. 
Furthermore, HCD adds that even if the City adequately justified the restriction of ADUs 
and Junior ADUs, it may not justify restrictions on ADUs or Junior ADUs that fall under 
subdivision (e) of Government Code section 65852.2, because local development 
standards do not apply to ADUs created under that subdivision. Government code 
section 65852.2, subdivision (e) requires local agencies to ministerially approve building 
permit applications for the creation of ADUs and Junior ADUs within any residential or 
mixed-use zone, subject only to specific limitations.  

Regarding BMC Section 12.99.030 – Total Number of Units Permitted, HCD asserts 
that the City’s decision to limit the number of units allowed per lot in the Hillside Overlay 
to one ADU or one Junior ADU conflicts with Government Code Section 65852.2, 
subdivisions (e)(1)(A), (B), (C), and (D), which requires a local agency to ministerially 
approve an application for a building permit within a residential or mixed-use zone to 
create one ADU and one Junior ADU per lot. Lines (A) through (D) of subdivision (e) 
identify the following ADU categories:

(A) One ADU and one Junior ADU within the proposed space of a single-family 
dwelling, or existing space of a single-family dwelling or accessory structure

Page 37 of 87

Page 257



Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 3

(B) One detached, new construction ADU
(C) Multiple ADUs within the portions of existing multifamily dwelling structures 
that are not used as livable space
(D) Not more than two ADUs that are located on a lot that has an existing or 
proposed multifamily dwelling, but are detached from that multifamily dwelling

State Law Updates
In addition to HCD’s letter, on January 1, 2023, the most recent round of state ADU 
regulations came into effect, impacting maximum height limits, prohibiting front setback 
standards that would preclude at least an 800 square foot ADU, and requiring internal 
connections between Junior ADUs and main dwelling units.

Staff recommend making the following amendments to Title 23 of the BMC:
1. Remove standards that provide a distinction between parcels within and 

outside of the Hillside Overlay, and apply non-Hillside Overlay ADU standards 
citywide where residential uses are permitted; 

2. Bring the City’s zoning code into compliance with current State ADU law, 
including SB 897, AB 2221, and AB 2097, and respond to HCD’s letter; and

3. Clarify and/or correct minor technical edits associated with the related 
Ordinance sections, and edit for consistency with the existing BMC. 

Public safety remains a significant concern regarding increasing density in the Hillside 
Overlay. To address these concerns, staff are working with the Fire Department to 
collect additional data on the health and safety impacts of increased development in the 
Hillside Overlay. 

On March 14, 2023, the Fire Department was authorized by the City Manager to 
execute a contract with KLD Engineering, P.C., for Evacuation and Response Time 
Modeling from April 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 as part of an effort to collect data 
and forecast the number of vehicles and people that may need to be evacuated during a 
wildfire or other emergency.1 The study will also be analyzing how major evacuation 
routes will operate under emergency conditions, and whether there would be any public 
safety impacts resulting from projected development of new ADUs and Junior ADUs, 
including parking and additional vehicular travel in the Very High Fire Hazard Severity 
Zone.

In addition to this study, the City is in the process of updating the Local Hazard and 
Mitigation Plan and Disaster Preparedness and Safety Element, which will similarly 
provide an opportunity to collect data and engage community members.

Together, the data collected from the evacuation study as well as input received from 
community members could enable the City Council to make the findings to support the 

1 https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-14%20Item%2004%20Contract%20KLD%20Engineering.pdf 

Page 38 of 87

Page 258

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-03-14%20Item%2004%20Contract%20KLD%20Engineering.pdf


Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 4

reinstitution of controls on ADU development in the Hillside Overlay. Staff plan to bring 
the Fire Department’s study findings, as well as other research and community 
engagement findings, back to Planning Commission and City Council by Summer 2024.

Proposed Ordinance
The Ordinance recommended by the Planning Commission would amend Title 23 of the 
BMC as follows:

23.106 Rules of Measurement
Consistent with the provisions of Subdivision (c) in Government Code 65852.2, staff 
propose amending 23.106.020(B) and 23.106.030(D) to exclude up to 800 square feet 
of area associated with an existing or proposed ADU or Junior ADU from lot coverage 
and gross floor area calculations. Presently, once an ADU is built, it counts towards lot 
coverage and gross floor area, which can mean that even minor future additions to the 
main dwelling would require an Administrative Use Permit (AUP). By amending 
23.106.020(B) and 23.106.030(D) to exclude up to 800 square feet of ADU area, the 
regulation is consistent with state law, removes a barrier to development, and aligns 
with the State’s goal of streamlining the development of ADUs.

In addition, staff propose amending 23.106.090(A) to exempt attached ADUs from 
inclusion in average building height calculations. This would allow for residences, in 
particular those on a slope, to add an attached ADU without technically increasing the 
average building height and thereby limiting the ability to make other structural changes 
in the future. 

23.306 Accessory Dwelling Units (Organization)
The proposed Ordinance simplifies the ADU chapter by consolidating seven sections 
into four, maintaining consistency with other chapters of Title 23 (see Table 1).2

Table 1: Chapter 23.306 - Existing and Proposed Sections
Existing Sections Proposed Sections
23.306.010– Purposes 23.306.010– Purpose
23.306.020– Applicability and Definitions 23.306.020– Applicability
23.306.030– Permit Procedures 23.306.030– Development Standards
23.306.040– Development Standards
23.306.050– Deed Restrictions
23.306.060– Neighbor Noticing
23.306.070– Rooftop Decks and Balconies

23.306.040– Permit Procedures

The proposed Ordinance adds a reference to the latest California Government Code 
Section 65852.1 and removes subsection (f) which states that the purpose of the 
chapter is to reduce potential impacts of new development in the Very High Fire Hazard 

2 The proposed ordinance includes Deed Restrictions and Neighbor Noticing under Section 23.306.040 (Permit Procedures), and 
Rooftop Decks and Balconies under Section 23.396.030 (Development Standards).

Page 39 of 87

Page 259



Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 5

Severity Zones (VHFHSZ), Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Areas, and Hillside Overlay. 
This complies with HCD’s finding that the current Ordinances do not meet the 
requirements of state law.

23.306.020 Accessory Dwelling Units (Applicability)
The proposed Ordinance removes subsection (b), which defines the Hillside Overlay for 
the purposes of the ADU chapter, and removes the reference to Chapter 12.99 to 
comply with HCD’s finding that the City does not sufficiently justify the creation of a 
separate set of regulations for the Hillside Overlay.

The proposed amendment includes a new subsection clarifying that ADUs and Junior 
ADUs do not count towards density calculations established by the underlying zoning 
districts. This is consistent with HCD guidance in the HCD ADU Handbook Update3. 

Staff also propose amending the maximum number of units permitted on a lot with a 
duplex or multi-family dwelling to allow for two detached ADUs and at least one interior 
ADU (see Table 2). In 2022, HCD changed its interpretation regarding the total number 
of ADUs that "must" be allowed by local governments on any given parcel. Whereas in 
the 2020 ADU Handbook, HCD wrote that "local governments are not required to allow 
(A) and (B) together or (C) and (D) together," in the July 2022 ADU Handbook, HCD 
rewrote that "local governments must allow (A) and (B) together or (C) and (D) 
together." Although this change in HCD's interpretation is not supported by any 
corresponding change in state law, the proposed Ordinance is drafted to be consistent 
with HCD's new interpretation for lots with a duplex or multi-family dwelling.

Table 2: Existing and Proposed Maximum Density Standards on a Lot with a Duplex or 
Multi-Family Dwelling

Existing Maximum Density Proposed Maximum Density
Either:

a. Up to two detached ADUs; or
b. At least one ADU converted from non-

habitable portions of the existing Main Building 
that are not within the living space of a Dwelling 
Unit (e.g. basement, attic, garages storage 
room). The maximum number of ADUs 
converted from portions of the existing Main 
Building that are not within the living space of 
a Dwelling Unit shall not exceed 25% of the 
total number of existing Dwelling Units on the 
lot.

Two detached ADUs and at least one interior 
ADU up to 25% of the total number of existing 
duplex or multi-family dwelling units on the lot

3 July 2022 HCD ADU Handbook. https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/ADUHandbookUpdate.pdf. 

Page 40 of 87

Page 260

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/ADUHandbookUpdate.pdf


Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 6

23.306.030 Accessory Dwelling Units (Development Standards)
In response to HCD’s letter and to bring the development standards section into 
compliance with state law, staff propose removing standards that are specific to parcels 
located in the Hillside Overlay. Instead, the development standards will apply to ADUs 
and Junior ADUs citywide.

Staff also recommend a number of technical revisions to the development standards 
section, including removing Junior ADU standards from the development standards 
table and including all relevant information in subsection (B), and replacing footnotes 
from the development table with a subsection for supplemental standards. 

Within subsection (C), staff propose technical edits to amend the provisions pertaining 
to building projections into yards to align with other sections of the code and in response 
to Planning Commission’s recommendation. This includes permitting bay windows and 
balconies to project two feet into the required setbacks so long as there remains at least 
a two-foot setback from front and side property lines, and does not permit bay windows 
and balconies to project into the required rear ADU setback, which is four feet. This 
would allow for ADUs to benefit from the same projection allowances as single-family 
homes of the same size, while still ensuring that the projections are a reasonable 
distance from the property lines.

In addition to these technical revisions, a number of the standards have been changed 
to match state law. Tables 3 and 4 provide the proposed development standards and 
the rationale informing the recommended changes. This table does not include all ADU 
development standards; it only includes the standards that are proposed to be 
amended.

Table 3: Proposed Revisions to ADU Development Standards & Rationale
Basic Standard Proposed Standards Rationale/Intent

Detached, New Construction – 
20 ft.

Building Height, 
Maximum Attached, New Construction – 25 

ft.

Increase the maximum building height for 
Attached, New Construction from 20 ft. to 25 ft. 
to match state law (SB 897). The current 20 ft. 
maximum building height for Detached, New 
Construction already exceeds the 18 ft. and 2 
ft. roof pitch accommodation required by state 
law.

Front of Interior Lot – Same as 
underlying district

Lot Line 
Setbacks, 
Minimum

Front of Through Lot - Same as 
underlying district or 10 ft. on 
the secondary frontage as 
determined by the Zoning 
Officer

Add a standard for front setbacks on through 
lots to ensure that there are standards for such 
parcels, consistent with existing regulations for 
accessory buildings.

Page 41 of 87

Page 261



Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 7

Building 
Separation for 
Detached ADU, 
Minimum

3 ft.

Add a minimum building separation standard 
(in addition to below “Detached or Attached 
ADU” supplemental standard) for consistency 
with standards for Accessory Buildings.

Required Off-
Street Parking 
Spaces

See 23.322.030 – Required 
Parking Spaces

Move to BMC 23.322 – Parking and Loading to 
be consistent with other parking standards.

Table 4: Proposed Revisions to ADU Development Supplemental Standards & Rationale
Supplemental 
Standard

Proposed Standards Rationale/Intent

State Exemption 
ADU

No lot coverage, floor area ratio, open 
space, front setback, or minimum lot 
size standard in the underlying district 
shall preclude at least an 800 square 
foot ADU.

Match state law.

Junior ADU 
Shared 
Sanitation 
Facility

If a Junior ADU shares a sanitary 
facility with a single-family dwelling, 
an internal connection between the 
Junior ADU and the main living area 
of the single-family dwelling is 
required.

Match state law.

Junior ADU 
Floor Area

The Junior ADU gross floor area 
calculation excludes any shared 
sanitation facility with the single-family 
dwelling.

Clarify the rules of measurement for gross 
floor area if a sanitation facility is shared.

Detached or 
Attached ADU

If an ADU is located within 3 feet of 
an exterior wall of a main building, it is 
considered attached.

Establish a Building Separation standard 
for Detached ADU, Minimum (see also 
“Building Separation for Detached ADU, 
Minimum” above).

Attached ADU, 
New 
Construction 

Attached ADUs with height up to 25 
feet are permitted with a Zoning 
Certificate. 

Eliminate the requirement for AUP 
approval for ADUs to achieve maximum 
permitted height to conform with state law 
and in response to Planning Commission 
recommendation. (GOV 65852.2(c)(2)(D).

Page 42 of 87

Page 262



Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 8

Figure 1 – Examples of Additions Over 14 ft. Containing Attached ADUs

23.306.040 Accessory Dwelling Units (Permit Procedures)
Currently it is required that notice of an ADU application shall be mailed to owners and 
tenants of the subject, adjacent, confronting and abutting properties within ten working 
days of submission of a building permit to the Planning Department, and shall include 

Page 43 of 87

Page 263



Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 9

the project address, allowable hours of construction, a link to the City’s ADU webpage, 
and information for tenants of the subject property on how to contact a Rent Board 
Housing Counselor. The cost of materials, postage, and staff time is paid for by the 
applicant – currently a fixed fee of $460.

Figure 2 – Existing ADU Notice (Front and Back)

Page 44 of 87

Page 264



Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 10

The requirement for neighbor noticing presents a number of challenges for applicants 
and members of the public. ADU permits are building permits, and plans associated 
with building permit applications are protected under copyright law, and cannot be 
printed out or shared online with members of the public (unlike plans associated with 
zoning permits). For neighbors interested in seeing proposed ADU plans, this means 
that they must visit the Permit Service Center in-person and look at the plans 
accompanied by a staff member. Additionally, ADU permits are non-discretionary 
permits, so members of the public cannot appeal a conforming proposed ADU. The 
noticing procedure can create an expectation that there is a discretionary review 
process involved, and there is not.

In order to address these concerns, Planning Commission recommended amendments 
to the neighbor noticing requirements as follows:

1. Require mailing a notice to tenants of the subject property only. The 
Planning Commission recommended amending the Ordinance to provide notice 
only to tenants of the subject property. Staff propose requiring project applicants 
to attest to whether any tenants live on site as part of the project application. The 
presence of tenants would trigger the mailing of a notice to tenants of the subject 
property.

2. Increase clarity of the notice. The Planning Commission recommended more 
clearly indicating the non-discretionary nature of the permit and noting that permit 
and construction information and resources can be found on the City’s ADU 
webpage. 

23.322.020 Parking and Loading (Applicability)
Staff propose amending BMC Tables 23.322-1, 23.322-2, and 23.322-4 to relocate off-
street parking standards for ADUs in Residential, Commercial, and Manufacturing 
Districts into the Parking and Loading chapter of the BMC (previously specified in 
Chapter 23.306). Required parking for ADUs within the Hillside Overlay remains one 
parking space per ADU unless it is located within 0.5 miles of a transit stop as defined in 
Government Code Section 65852.24 or otherwise satisfies subdivision (d) of the same 
section.

23.322.080 Parking Layout and Design (Placement)
Staff propose the creation of a new subsection (G) in BMC 23.322.080 to provide 
guidance on parking placement for ADUs, and includes the following parking placement 
exceptions:

4 “Public transit” means a location, including, but not limited to, a bus stop or train station, where the public may access buses, 
trains, subways, and other forms of transportation that charge set fares, run on fixed routes, and are available to the public. 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65852.2&lawCode=GOV

Page 45 of 87

Page 265

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65852.2&lawCode=GOV


Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 11

a. On a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, replacement of required off-
street parking for the main building or required off-street parking for an ADU, 
is allowed in any configuration on the lot, including within the front yard 
setback; or

b. Within the Hillside Overlay on a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, where 
no legal off-street parking exists for the main building, required parking 
provided for the main building is allowed in any configuration on the lot, 
including within the front yard setback.

Currently, parking flexibility only applies to replacement parking for main dwelling units 
and new parking provided for an ADU. To account for ADU projects seeking to provide 
new parking spaces for both the main dwelling and the ADU, staff propose allowing for 
the same flexibility in lot configuration for the main dwelling unit’s proposed new parking 
space as is allowed for the ADU’s parking space. Encouraging off-street parking in the 
Hillside Overlay can partially mitigate safety and evacuation access concerns. 

23.324.060 Exemptions to Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings
In the current zoning code, minor alterations of nonconforming structures within required 
setbacks, such as for windows and doors, require an AUP. To reduce the administrative 
costs associated with providing new openings for ADUs, staff propose allowing by right 
openings to lawful nonconforming existing structures or buildings that are proposed to 
be converted to an ADU. Staff proposes to add BMC 23.324.060(C) to include the 
following standards:

C. Accessory Dwelling Units. The following alterations of a lawful nonconforming 
existing structure or building that is an existing ADU or proposed to be converted to 
an ADU are permitted with a Zoning Certificate:

1. New windows, doors, or other openings to a portion of a building or 
structure within a minimum required setback.

2. New windows, doors, or other openings to a portion of a building or 
structure exceeding the height limit.

23.502.020 Defined Terms
Junior ADU. Staff propose relocating the definition for “Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit” 
within the definition of “Accessory Dwelling Unit” and striking out the reference to a 
working refrigerator in response to HCD’s findings. 

Addition, Major Residential. Staff propose amending the definition for “Addition, Major 
Residential” to add a subsection that exempts the floor area associated with an existing 
or proposed accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit, up to 800 square 
feet. This would eliminate the requirement for an AUP to add an ADU or Junior ADU to 
a house, thus matching the State’s intent of streamlining the processing of ADU 
development.

Page 46 of 87

Page 266



Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 12

Efficiency Kitchen. Staff propose amending the definition of an “Efficiency Kitchen” by 
removing the requirement for a sink to match the State’s definition and in response to 
HCD’s findings.5 Note that while kitchen sinks are required in dwelling units, Junior 
ADUs are not required to have a sink because they do not meet the definition of a 
“dwelling unit” in California Building Code Section 202.6

New Construction. Staff propose amending the definition of “New Construction” to 
include ADUs, in addition to new main buildings.

BACKGROUND
On May 3, 2023, the Planning Commission held a public hearing to consider proposed 
amendments to Title 23 developed by staff (Attachment 3). Following public comment 
and a discussion, the Planning Commission unanimously recommended staff’s proposal 
with three modifications, which were incorporated into the proposed amendments as 
follows: 

1. Regulating bay window and balcony projections using setback 
requirements. The Commission recommended a technical edit to permit bay 
windows and balconies on all ADUs outside the Hillside Overlay, with projections 
measured by setback distance from the property line. Staff previously 
recommended separate standards for attached versus detached ADUs, with 
attached ADUs permitted to project two feet into the required setbacks as long as 
there remains at least a two-foot setback from property lines. In this 
recommendation, detached ADUs were not permitted to have projections. 
However, the Commission found that the goal of allowing for more flexibility with 
projections while also limiting proximity of a dwelling unit to the property line 
could be achieved more simply by regulating projections for all ADUs using 
property setbacks.

2. Revising Neighbor Noticing requirements for clarity and efficiency. The 
Commission recommended revising the neighbor noticing requirement so that 
public notices for ADUs link to the City’s ADU webpage and identify additional 
permit and construction information, and only need to go to tenants on the 
subject property. Staff amended the noticing requirements accordingly. Staff plan 
to further revise the existing ADU notice to clearly communicate the non-
discretionary nature of the permit, in accordance with the Commission’s 
recommendations.

3. Removing the AUP requirement for attached ADUs proposed as additions 
to streamline ADU building permit applications. Planning Commission 
recommended allowing for attached ADUs to reach maximum allowable height 

5 The only other reference to an “efficiency kitchen” in the Berkeley Municipal Code pertains to the definition of a Junior ADU.
6 California Building Code Section 202, https://codes.iccsafe.org/content/CARC2022P1/chapter-2-definitions.

Page 47 of 87

Page 267

https://codes.iccsafe.org/content/CARC2022P1/chapter-2-definitions


Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) PUBLIC HEARING
and Repeal of Chapter 12.99 September 19, 2023

Page 13

without requiring an AUP to match the State’s goal of streamlining the ADU 
development process.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
ADUs are generally low impact infill development that have the potential to decrease 
vehicles miles traveled and greenhouse gas emissions and increase availability of 
housing near various community amenities, the university campus, transit services and 
employment opportunities. 

Environmental Determination. The project is statutorily exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act by Guidelines Section 15282(h), the adoption of an ordinance 
regarding second units in a single-family or multifamily residential zone by a city or 
county to implement the provisions of Sections 65852.1 and 65852.2 of the Government 
Code as set forth in Section 21080.17 of the Public Resources Code.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments to Title 23 relating to ADUs are required 
to ensure that the Zoning Ordinance conforms to all applicable state laws and 
addresses HCD’s letter to the City, dated October 17, 2022.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
The Planning Commission considered a range of amendments and recommended 
modifications in response to feedback and deliberations, as discussed above.

CONTACT PERSON
Zoe Covello, Assistant Planner, Planning and Development Department, 510-981-7418
Grace Wu, Principal Planner, Planning and Development Department, 510-981-7484

Attachments: 
1: Zoning Ordinance
2: HCD’s Letter, dated October 17, 2022
3: Staff Report from May 3, 2023 Planning Commission Meeting
4: Notice of Public Hearing

Page 48 of 87

Page 268



Page 49 of 87

Page 269



  

ORDINANCE NO.       -N.S.

REPEAL OF THE WILDFIRE HAZARD EVACUATION RISK MITIGATION ORDINANCE 
(BMC 12.99), AND AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF MEASUREMENT (BMC 
23.106), ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT (ADU) ORDINANCE (BMC 23.306), PARKING 
AND LOADING (BMC 23.322), EXEMPTIONS TO NONCONFORMING USES, 
STRUCTURES, AND BUILDINGS (BMC 23.324.060), AND DEFINED TERMS (BMC 
23.502.020) RELATING TO ADUS

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1. That Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 12.99 is hereby repealed.

Section 2. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.106.020(B) is amended to read as 
follows:

B. Exclusions. The lot coverage calculation excludes: 

1. Uncovered porches, landings and stairs;

2. Uncovered decks, except that a deck on the roof of a building or accessory 
structure or over an enclosed space or paved ground area is included in the lot 
coverage calculation; and

3. The area of the roof of a subterranean structure, when such a structure is not 
more than 3 feet above finished grade.

4. The area of any existing or proposed accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory 
dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet per lot. See 23.306 Accessory Dwelling 
Units.

Section 3. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.106.030(D) is amended to read as 
follows:

D. Excluded Areas. The following areas are excluded from gross floor area calculation:

1. Covered or uncovered areas used for off-street parking or loading spaces.

2. Driveways ramps between floors and maneuvering aisles of a multi-level parking 
garage. 

3. Mechanical, electrical, and telephone equipment rooms below finished grade. 

4. Areas which qualify as usable open space.

5. Arcades, porticoes, and similar open areas for non-residential uses which are:

(a) Located at or near street level; 

(b) Accessible to the general public; and 

Page 50 of 87

Page 270



  

(c) Are not designed or used as sales, display, storage, service, or production 
areas.

6. The floor area associated with any existing or proposed accessory dwelling unit 
or junior accessory dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet per lot. See 23.306 
Accessory Dwelling Units.

Section 4. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.106.090(A)(1) through (3) is amended to 
read as follows:

A. Average Building Height. 

1. Average Building Height: The vertical distance from the average level of the 
highest and lowest point of that portion of the lot covered by the building (or, in 
the case of residential additions, that portion of the lot covered by the addition) to 
the roof features shown in Table 23.106-1: Average Building Height 
Measurement. See Figure 23.106-4: Average Building Height.

2. Figure 23.106-4: Average Building Height.

2. Dormers are not included in the average building height calculation.

3. Attached accessory dwelling units are not included in the average building height 
calculation.

Section 5. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.306 is amended to read as follows: 

Sections:
23.306.010– Purposes
23.306.020– Applicability and Definitions
23.306.030– Development StandardsPermit Procedures
23.306.040– Permit ProceduresDevelopment Standards
23.306.050– Deed Restrictions
23.306.060– Neighbor Noticing
23.306.070– Rooftop Decks and Balconies

23.306.010 Purposes.
The purposes of this Chapter are toThis Chapter establishes accessory dwelling unit 
(ADU) and junior accessory dwelling unit (Junior ADU) standards that:

A. Implement California Government Code Section 65852.1, 65852.2 and 65852.22.

B. Increase overall supply and range of housing options in Berkeley.

C. Expedite small-scale infill development.

Page 51 of 87

Page 271

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.22


  

D. Support Housing Element goals of facilitating construction of accessory dwelling 
units and increasing the number of housing units that are more affordable to 
Berkeley residents.

E. Encourage development of accessory dwelling units in zoning districts with 
compatible land uses and infrastructure.

F. Reduce potential impacts of new development in Very-High Fire Hazard Severity 
Zones and Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Areas as designated in the BMC Chapter 
19.48 and as may be amended from time to time, and the Hillside Overlay District 
(HOD) due to unique conditions and hazards within these areas that require 
additional restrictions on ADUs and JADUs because of impacts of traffic flow and 
public safety consistent with Government Code 65852.2, subdivision (a)(1)(A), 
which allows local agencies to regulate ADUs based on "adequacy of water and 
sewer service, and the impacts of traffic flow and public safety."

23.306.020 Applicability and Definitions.
A. The provisions of this chapter apply to zoning districts where residential uses are 

permitted, on lots that have at least one existing or proposed Dwelling Unit or 
Group Living Accommodation that is not a Fraternity House, Sorority House or 
Dormitory.

B. For purposes of this Chapter the Hillside Overlay District (HOD) includes all lots 
within Berkeley’s designated Very-High Fire Hazard Severity Zones and Wildland-
Urban Interface Fire Areas that are zoned R-1H (Single-Family Residential—
Hillside Overlay), R-2H (Restricted Two-Family Residential— Hillside Overlay), R-
2AH (Restricted Multiple-Family Residential—Hillside Overlay), or ES-R 
(Environmental Safety-Residential).

B. Number of ADUs and JADUs Permitted Per Lot. See Table 23.306-1—ADU and 
Junior ADU Maximum Number of Units per Lot.Except as expressly modified by 
Chapter 12.99, the following number of ADUs and JADUs shall be the maximum 
number of accessory units permitted on lots subject to this Chapter.

C. Density Exemption. ADUs and Junior ADUs are not included in the minimum or 
maximum density established by the underlying zoning district.

TABLE 23.306-1—ADU AND JUNIOR ADU MAXIMUM NUMBER OF UNITS PER LOT

Use, Primary ADU and Junior ADU, Maximum Per Lot
Single Family Dwelling, one unit on lot 1 ADU and 1 Junior ADU, both are permitted
Single Family Dwelling, more than one 
unit on lot

1 ADU

Duplex or Multi-Family Dwelling 2 detached ADUs and at least one interior ADU up 
to 25% of the total number of existing duplex or 
multi-family dwelling units on the lot

Page 52 of 87

Page 272

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/19.48
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/12.99


  

Group Living Accommodation 1 ADU

1. Lot with one Single Family Dwelling: One ADU and/or one JADU.

2. Lot with more than one Single Family Dwelling: One ADU.

3. Lot with a Duplex or Multiple-Family Dwelling, either:

(a) Up to two detached ADUs; or

(b) At least one ADU converted from non-habitable portions of the existing Main 
Building that are not within the living space of a Dwelling Unit (e.g. basement, 
attic, garages storage room). The maximum number of ADUs converted from 
portions of the existing Main Building that are not within the living space of a 
Dwelling Unit shall not exceed 25% of the total number of existing Dwelling 
Units on the lot.

4. Lot with a Group Living Accommodation that is not a Fraternity House, Sorority 
House or Dormitory: One ADU

23.306.030 Permit Procedures.
A. Zoning Certificate. An application for an ADU or JADU shall be allowed with a 

Zoning Certificate. Review must be completed within 60 days of submission of a 
completed application. A completed application must include evidence of 
compliance with this Chapter, including Development Standards, Deed Restrictions, 
and Neighborhood Noticing.

1. If an application to create an ADU or JADU is submitted as part of a project that 
requires discretionary review, a Zoning Certificate for a Building Permit shall not 
be issued for the ADU or JADU until the discretionary approval(s) has/have been 
granted and any applicable appeal periods have expired.

2. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate shall not be denied for the construction or 
conversion of an ADU or JADU that complies with the requirements of 
Government Code Section 65852.2(e)(1).

3. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate for the construction or conversion of an ADU or 
JADU shall not be denied based on the failure of an applicant to correct a 
nonconforming zoning condition.

23.306.0340Development Standards.
A. Basic Standards. See Table 23.306-21: ADU and JADU Development Standards. 

TABLE 23.306-21. ADU AND JADU DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
BASIC STANDARDS SUPPLEMENTAL STANDARDS
Gross Floor Area, Maximum 23.306.030(A)(1); 

Page 53 of 87

Page 273

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2(e)(1)


  

Studio or 1 bedroom 850 sq. ft.
2+ bedrooms 1,000 sq. ft.

23.306.030(A)(2); 
23.306.030(A)(3); 
23.306.030(A)(4) 

Building Height, Maximum
Conversion Same as existing structure 23.306.030(A)(2); 

23.306.030(A)(4)
Detached, New Construction 20 ft. 23.306.030(A)(5)
Attached, New Construction 25 ft. 23.306.030(A)(5);

23.306.030(A)(7)
Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum

Front of Interior Lot Same as underlying district 23.306.030(A)(1)
Front of Through Lot Same as underlying district or 10 

ft. on the secondary frontage as 
determined by the Zoning Officer

Rear 4 ft.
Interior Side 4 ft.
Street Side 4 ft.

23.306.030(A)(6)

Building Separation for 
Detached ADU, Minimum

3 ft. 23.306.030(A)(5)

Required Off-Street Parking 
Spaces

See 23.322.030– Required 
Parking Spaces

1. State Exemption ADU. No lot coverage, floor area ratio, open space, front 
setback, or minimum lot size standard in the underlying district shall preclude at 
least an 800 square foot accessory dwelling unit.

2. Existing Building Conversion. An ADU created entirely through conversion with 
no modifications to the existing building envelope that exceeds the development 
standards for maximum gross floor area in Table 23.306-2. ADU Development 
Standards is allowed a physical addition of no more than 150 square feet. The 
addition must comply with maximum height and setback requirements.

3. Duplex or Multi-Family Dwelling Conversion. Interior ADU(s) must be created 
entirely through non-habitable residential portions of the existing main building 
that are not within the living space of a dwelling unit (e.g. basement, attic, 
garages, storage room).

4. Accessory Building or Accessory Structure Conversion. An ADU converted from 
an accessory building or accessory structure legally established at least three 
years prior to submission of an ADU application that does not comply with the 
maximum height, size, and/or rear and side setback requirements is allowed to 
maintain non-conformity to the same dimensions of the existing accessory 
building or accessory structure, provided that the existing side and rear setbacks 
are sufficient for fire and safety as set forth in California Building Standards Code 
adopted in BMC Title 19. Any physical additions to the existing accessory 

Page 54 of 87

Page 274



  

building or accessory structure shall comply with the development standards in 
Table 23.306-2 ADU Development Standards.

5. Detached or Attached ADU. Detached ADUs shall maintain a minimum 3-foot 
separation from other buildings on the lot. If an ADU is located within 3 feet of an 
exterior wall of a main building, it is considered attached for the purposes of 
applying the development standards in Table 23.306-2 ADU Development 
Standards.

6. Detached ADU Setback Exceptions. If there is a lesser setback allowed in 
23.304.060-Accessory Buildings and Enclosed Accessory Structures for a 
comparable accessory building or accessory structure in the underlying zoning 
district, that setback shall apply.

1.7. Attached ADU, New Construction Height. Attached ADUs with height 
greater than 14 ft. and up to 25 ft. allowed with a Zoning Certificate.

ADU1 JADU

Maximum Size Outside of HOD2 500 sf

Studio or 1 bedroom 850 sf

2 + bedrooms 1000 sf
N/A

Maximum Size Within HOD 800 sf 500 sf

Maximum Height Outside of HOD 20 ft.

Maximum Height Within HOD 16 ft.

Front Yard Setback Same as underlying district

Rear Setback 4 ft3

Side Setback 4 ft3

N/A

Required Off-Street Parking 
Outside of HOD

None4

Required Off-Street Parking 
Within HOD

The lesser of 1 space per 
bedroom or ADU5, 6

None6

[1] An ADU converted from an Accessory Building or Accessory Structure legally established at 
least three years prior to submission of an ADU application that does not comply with the Maximum 
Height, Size, and/or Rear and Side Setback requirements is allowed to maintain non-conformity to 
the same dimensions of the existing Accessory Building or Accessory Structure, provided that the 
existing side and rear setbacks are sufficient for fire and safety as set forth in California Building 
Standards Code adopted in BMC Title 19. Any physical additions to the existing Accessory Building 
or Accessory Structure shall comply with the development standards in this table.

[2] An ADU created entirely through conversion with no modifications to the existing building 
envelope that exceeds the development standards for Maximum Size in this table is allowed a 

Page 55 of 87

Page 275

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/19


  

physical addition of no more than 150 square feet. The addition must comply with Maximum Height 
and Setback requirements in this table.

[3] If there is a lesser setback allowed for a comparable Accessory Building or Accessory Structure 
in the underlying zoning district, that setback shall apply.

[4] Replacement parking is not required. Replacement of off-street parking for the Main Building is 
allowed and does not need to comply with Parking Maximums (BMC 23.322.070) nor Parking 
Layout and Design (BMC 23.322.080).

[5] No off-street parking shall be required for ADUs that satisfy the criteria defined in subdivision (d) 
of California Government Code section 65852.2 or any successor provision thereto.

[6] If an applicant provides off-street parking for an ADU or a JADU in the HOD, parking shall be 
allowed in any configuration on the lot, including within the front yard setback.

B. Junior ADUs.

1. Basic Standards. A Junior ADU shall be contained entirely within an existing or 
proposed single family dwelling or its attached garage, and have no more than 
500 square feet in floor area.

2. Shared Sanitation Facility. If a Junior ADU shares a sanitary facility with a single 
family dwelling, an internal connection between the Junior ADU and the main 
living area of the single family dwelling is required.

3. Junior ADU Floor Area. The Junior ADU gross floor area calculation excludes 
any shared sanitation facility with the single family dwelling.

B. Projections. 

C.

Except as limited by Paragraph B.2 of this Section, architectural features 
(Outside of the Hillside Overlay.  

1. Attached ADU. Chimneys, wWater hHeater eEnclosures, fFlues, hHeating and 
cCooling eEquipment, eEaves, cCornices, cCanopies, aAwnings, bay windows, 
and balconies) may project two feet into the required front and side setbacks, so 
long as there remains at least a two-foot setback from property lines. Bay 
windows and balconies may not project into a required rear ADU setback.

2. Within the Hillside Overlay. No projections shall be allowed within athe required 
setback on lots that are within the Hillside Overlay District.

C.D. Rooftop Decks within the Hillside Overlay. Roofs on detached ADUs within the 
Hillside Overlay may not be designed, converted, or used as usable open space.

Page 56 of 87

Page 276

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.070
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.2


  

23.306.0450Permit ProceduresDeed Restrictions.
A. Zoning Certificate. An application for an ADU or Junior ADU shall be allowed with a 

Zoning Certificate. Review must be completed within 60 days of submission of a 
completed application. A completed application must include evidence of 
compliance with this Chapter, including development standards, deed restrictions, 
and neighborhood noticing.

1. If an application to create an ADU or Junior ADU is submitted as part of a project 
that requires discretionary review, a Zoning Certificate for a building permit shall 
not be issued for the ADU or Junior ADU until the discretionary approval(s) 
has/have been granted and any applicable appeal periods have expired. See 
23.404.060(A) Post-Decision Provisions (Effective Dates).

2. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate shall not be denied for the construction or 
conversion of an ADU or Junior ADU that complies with the requirements of 
Government Code Section 65852.2(e)(1).

3. Issuance of a Zoning Certificate for the construction or conversion of an ADU or 
Junior ADU shall not be denied based on the failure of an applicant to correct a 
nonconforming zoning condition.

B. Neighbor Noticing.

1. Scope and Timing of Notice. Notice of an ADU application shall be mailed to 
tenants  of owners and tenants of the subject, adjacent, confronting and abutting 
propertiesthe subject property within ten working days of submission of the 
building permit to the Planning DepartmentCity. 

2. Content of Notice. Notice shall provide the address of the project and include 
allowable hours of construction, a link to the City’s ADU webpage identifying 
permit and construction resources, and contact information for a Rent Board 
Housing Counselor.

1.3. Mailing Fees. The applicant shall be responsible for the cost of materials, 
postage, and staff time necessary to process and mail the notices.

D.C. Deed Restriction. The property owner shall file a deed restriction with the 
Alameda County Recorder which states:

1. The Junior ADU shall not be sold separately from the main building;

2. The ADU shall not be sold separately from the main building unless the 
conditions of BMC 23.306.0450(D) ADUs Developed by a Qualified Nonprofit 
Developer  B are met;

3. The ADU and/or Junior ADU shall not be rented for a term that is shorter than 30 
days; and

Page 57 of 87

Page 277

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=65852.2.&lawCode=GOV


  

4. If the property includes a Junior ADU, the Junior ADU, or the Single Family 
Dwelling in which the Junior ADU is located, shall be owner-occupied.

E.D. ADUs Developed by a Qualified Nonprofit Developer. An ADU built or developed 
by a "qualified nonprofit corporation" may be sold or conveyed separately from the 
mMain bBuilding to a "qualified buyer," as such terms are defined in subdivision (b) 
of Section 65852.26 of the California Government Code. The ADU must be held 
pursuant to a recorded tenancy in common agreement recorded on or after 
December 31, 2021 that includes the following elements:

1. Delineation of all areas of the property that are for the exclusive use of a 
cotenant;

2. Delineation of each cotenant’s responsibility for the costs of taxes, insurance, 
utilities, general maintenance and repair, and improvements associated with the 
property;

3. Procedures for dispute resolution among cotenants before resorting to legal 
action;

4. Allocates to each qualified buyer an undivided, unequal interest in the property 
based on the size of the dwelling each qualified buyer occupies;

5. A repurchase option that requires the qualified buyer to first offer the qualified 
nonprofit corporation to buy the ADU or primary dwelling if the buyer desires to 
sell or convey the property;

6. A requirement that the qualified buyer occupy the ADU or primary dwelling as the 
buyer’s principal residence; and

7. Affordability restrictions on the sale and conveyance of the ADU or primary 
dwelling that ensure the ADU and primary dwelling will be preserved for low-
income housing for 45 years for owner-occupied housing units and will be sold or 
resold to a qualified buyer.

8. If requested by a utility providing service to the primary residence, the ADU shall 
have a separate water, sewer, or electrical connection to that utility.

9. 23.306.060 Neighbor Noticing.

10.Scope and Timing of Notice. Notice of an ADU application shall be mailed to 
owners and tenants of the subject, adjacent, confronting and abutting properties 
within ten working days of submission to the Planning Department.

11.Content of Notice. Notice shall provide the address of the project, allowable 
hours of construction, a link to the City’s ADU webpage, and information for 
tenants of the subject property on how to contact a Rent Board Housing 
Counselor by e-mail or phone and any other resource information deemed 
relevant.

Page 58 of 87

Page 278

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/CA/GOV/65852.26


  

12.Mailing Fees. The applicant shall be responsible for the cost of materials, 
postage and staff time necessary to process and mail notices.

13.23.306.070 Rooftop Decks and Balconies.

14.Notwithstanding any provisions of this Title to the contrary, roofs on lots within 
the Hillside Overlay District may not be designed, converted or used as Usable 
Open Space.

Section 6. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.322.020(C) is amended to read as 
follows: 

C. Changes of Use.

1. Commercial Districts. In the Commercial Districts, off-street parking is required 
for a change in use only when the structure is expanded to include new floor 
area.

2. Manufacturing and R-SMU Districts.

(a) In the Manufacturing and R-SMU districts, off-street parking is required for a 
change in use only when:

i. The structure is expanded to include new floor area; and/or

ii. The use is changed to one with a numerical parking standard greater 
than the district minimum.

(b) If the new use is changed to one with a higher numerical parking standard 
than the district minimum, the new use must provide the incremental 
difference between the two numerical parking standards. A higher numerical 
parking standard may be reduced to the district minimum as provided in 
Section 23.322.050(.A)(.2) (Change of Use).

(c) As used in this section, the “district minimum” parking requirement is:

iii. 2 spaces per 1,000 square feet of floor area in the Manufacturing 
Districts; and

iv. 1 space per 1,000 square feet of floor area in the R-SMU district.

3. All Other Residential Districts. In all Residential Districts except for R-SMU, off-
street parking spaces are required for all changes in use.

Section 7. That the section named; Residential Uses; in Berkeley Municipal Code 
Table 23.322-1, Required Off Street Parking in Residential Districts, within Berkeley 
Municipal Code 23.322.030, Required Parking Spaces, is amended to read as 
follows: 

Page 59 of 87

Page 279



  

TABLE 23.322-1: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS

Land Use Number of Required Off-street Parking Spaces
Residential Uses

Accessory Dwelling 
Unit

Junior ADU: None required
ADU outside of Hillside Overlay: None required
ADU within Hillside Overlay: 1 per ADU unless satisfies the 
criteria in subdivision (d) of Government Code Section 
65852.2.See Chapter 23.306

Dwellings, including 
Group Living 
Accommodations

R-3, R-4, and R-5 Districts (1-9 units): If located on a roadway 
less than 26 feet. in width in the Hillside Overlay: 1 per unit.
R-3, R-4, and R-5 District (10 or more units): If located on a 
roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the Hillside Overlay: 1 
per 1,000 sq. ft. of gross floor area
All Other Districts: If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in 
width in the Hillside Overlay: 1 per unit
All Other Locations: None required

Dormitories, Fraternity 
and Sorority Houses, 
Rooming & Boarding 
Houses, Senior 
Congregate Housing

If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the 
Hillside Overlay: 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager.
All Other Locations: None required.

Rental of Rooms
If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the 
Hillside Overlay: 1 per each two roomers
All Other Locations: None required

Section 8. That Berkeley Municipal Code Table 23.322-2 is amended to read as 
follows: 

TABLE 23.322-2: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS IN COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICTS (EXCLUDING C-T)

Land Use Required Parking Spaces
Residential Uses
Accessory Dwelling 
Unit See Chapter 23.306None required

Dwellings, including 
Group Living 
Accommodations

If located on a roadway less than 26 feet. in width in the 
Hillside Overlay: 1 per unit

All Other Locations: None required
Hotel, Residential None required
Mixed-Use Residential None required

Page 60 of 87

Page 280

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65852.2


  

Land Use Required Parking Spaces
(residential use only)
Senior Congregate 
Housing None required

Non-Residential Uses
All non-residential 
uses except uses 
listed below

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Hospital 1 per each 4 beds plus 1 per each 3 employees

Library
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per 500 sq. ft. of publicly 
accessible floor area

Nursing Home 1 per 3 employees

Medical Practitioners C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per 300 sq. ft.

Hotels, Tourist

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites
C-C, C-U, C-W Districts: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or 
suites plus 1 per 3 employees
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Motels, Tourist

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites
C-C, C-U, C-W Districts: 1 per guest/sleeping room plus 1 
for owner or manager [1]
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Large Vehicle Sales 
and Rental

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-SA District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Small Vehicle Sales 
and Service

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-SA District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft.
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Manufacturing
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-W District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft [1]
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Wholesale Trade 
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft.
C-W District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft
All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft.

Live/Work
If workers/clients are permitted in work area, 1 per first 
1,000 sq. ft. of work area and 1 per each additional 750 sq. 
ft. of work area

Notes:
 [1] Spaces must be on the same lot as building it serves

Page 61 of 87

Page 281



  

Section 9. That the section named; Residential Uses; in Table 23.322-4, Required 
Off Street Parking in Manufacturing Districts, within Berkeley Municipal Code 
23.322.030, Required Parking Spaces, is amended to read as follows: 

TABLE 23.322-4: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING IN MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS

Land Use Required Parking Spaces
Residential Uses
Accessory Dwelling 
Unit See Chapter 23.306None required

Dwellings None required 
Group Living 
Accommodation None required

Section 10. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.322.080 is amended to read as follows: 

23.322.080– Parking Layout and Design

A. Traffic Engineering Requirements.

1. All off-street parking spaces, access driveways, circulation patterns, and ingress 
and egress connections to the public right-of-way must conform to the City of 
Berkeley’s Traffic Engineering requirements.

2. The Traffic Engineer shall determine whether the size, arrangement, and design 
of off-street parking spaces, access driveways, circulation patterns, and ingress 
and egress connections to the public right-of-way are adequate to create usable, 
functional, accessible, and safe parking areas, and are adequately integrated 
with Berkeley’s overall street pattern and traffic flows.

B. Dimensional Standards. Dimensional requirements and standards for off-street 
parking spaces, driveways, and other access improvements, and maneuvering 
aisles shall be incorporated in administrative regulations, subject to the review and 
approval by the City Manager and ZAB.

C. Access Orientation in Non-Residential Districts. Access to new parking areas in a 
Non-Residential District that serve commercial uses shall be oriented in such a way 
as to minimize the use of streets serving primarily residential uses.

D. Residential Parking Lots in Non-Residential Districts. Parking lots in a non-
residential district used exclusively for residential parking must comply with 
standards in Section 23.322.080 that apply in Residential Districts.

D.E. Placement--Residential Districts.

Page 62 of 87

Page 282



  

1. Side Setback Areas.

(a) One new off-street parking space in a required side setback area, where none 
exists, is allowed by right.

(b) The space must be constructed of a permeable surface unless the Public 
Works Department or Office of Transportation determines it is infeasible.

(c) The space must be screened as required by 23.322.080.HG (Screening).

(d) The location of the space shall minimize impact on usable open space.

2. Other Setback Areas. No portion of an off-street parking space may be located in 
a required front, street side, or rear setback area unless:

(a) The parking space location is authorized by Chapter 23.306 (Accessory 
Dwelling Units); or

(b) The Zoning Officer approves an AUP, in consultation with the Traffic 
Engineer, and the space meets all applicable requirements in this section.

3. Multifamily Buildings.

(a) An off-street parking space may not be located closer than 10 feet in 
horizontal distance from a door or a window of a building with three or more 
dwelling units where the space is on the same or approximately the same 
level as the building.

(b) For the purposes of this section, a window whose bottom edge or point is 
more than 6 feet in vertical height from the level of the subject off-street 
parking space is not considered on the same or approximately the same 
level.

(c) The Zoning Officer may approve and AUP to grant an exception to this 
requirement.

E.F. Placement--Non-Residential Districts.

1. Where Prohibited. Except when otherwise allowed by this chapter, ground-level 
off-street parking spaces are not permitted within 20 feet of the lot’s street 
frontage unless the parking is entirely within a building with walls.

2. Corner Lots. For a corner lot, the ZAB may approve a Use Permit to allow the 
parking within 20 feet of the street frontage facing the secondary street.

3. C-W District.

(a) Off-street automobile parking in the C-W district is not permitted between the 
front lot line and a main structure within a designated node.

(b) Outside of a designated node, off-street automobile parking may be allowed 
between the front lot line and a main structure with a Use Permit or AUP. If 

Page 63 of 87

Page 283

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.306


  

the project requires ZAB approval, a Use Permit is required. An AUP is 
required for all other projects.

(c) To approve the AUP or Use Permit, the review authority must find that one or 
more of the following is true:

i. Parking in the rear or on the side of the property is impractical because 
of the lot’s depth and/or width.

ii. Parking in the rear of the property would result in adverse impacts on 
abutting residential or other uses.

iii. Parking in the rear or on the side of the property would result in the 
placement of a driveway in an unsafe location.

iv. Continuation or re-establishment of parking in front of the building is 
necessary for the reuse of an existing structure which is substantially 
set back from the front lot line.

G. Placement--ADU. 

(a) On a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, replacement of required off-street 
parking for the main building or required off-street parking for an ADU is 
allowed in any configuration on the lot, including within the front setback; or

(b) Within the Hillside Overlay on a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, where 
no legal off-street parking exists for the main building, required parking 
provided for the main building is allowed in any configuration on the lot, 
including within the front yard setback.

F.H. Grade Change. This subsection applies to off-street parking spaces in all 
districts, except for parking decks in Residential Districts.

1. The difference in elevation between a parking space and the finished grade on 
adjacent areas of the lot may not exceed 5 feet at any point.

2. Where there is a difference in elevation between a parking space and adjacent 
finished grade, the parking space shall be setback from a lot line as shown in 
Table 23.322-7.

TABLE 23.322-7. REQUIRED SETBACKS FOR PARKING SPACES WITH ADJACENT 
GRADE CHANGES

DIFFERENCE IN ELEVATION MINIMUM SETBACK

Parking space lower than finished grade
3 to 5 ft 4 ft.
Less than 3 ft No min. setback
Parking space higher than finished grade 6 ft.

Page 64 of 87

Page 284



  

G.I. Screening.

1. Table 23.322-8 shows required parking space screening. Screening must 
effectively screen parked vehicles from view from buildings and uses on 
adjacent, abutting, and confronting lots. Screening may not interfere with 
pedestrian safety.

TABLE 23.322-8. REQUIRED PARKING SPACE SCREENING
DISTRICTS WHEN REQUIRED REQUIRED SCREENING 

FEATURE
SCREENING 
FEATURE HEIGHT

All Residential 
Districts

2 or more parking 
spaces, or any 
parking space partly 
or entirely within a 
required rear setback 
area

Continuous view-obscuring 
wood fence, masonry wall, 
or evergreen hedge which 
may be broken only for 
access driveways and 
walkways

4 ft. min and 6 ft. 
max.

All Commercial 
and 
Manufacturing 
Districts

2 or more parking 
spaces

Wall, fence, or evergreen 
shrubbery hedge in a 
landscape strip

Parking adjacent to 
public right-of-way 
or front lot line: 3 ft. 
min. and 4 ft. max.
Parking adjacent to 
rear or side lot line:
4 ft. min and 6 ft. 
max.

2. In the C-W, M, MM, MU-LI districts, screening and landscape buffers are not 
required for any portion of a parking lot adjacent to Third Street (Southern Pacific 
Railroad).

H.J. Landscape Buffers.

1. All paved areas for off-street parking spaces, driveways, and any other vehicle-
related paving must be separated from adjacent lot lines and the public right-of-
way by a landscaped strip as shown in Table 23.322-9.

TABLE 23.322-9. REQUIRED LANDSCAPE BUFFERS
MINIMUM WIDTH OF LANDSCAPE STRIP

DISTRICT/NUMBER OF SPACES AREAS ADJACENT TO SIDE 
OR REAR LOT LINES

AREAS ADJACENT TO PUBLIC RIGHT-
OF-WAY OR FRONT LOT LINE

Residential Districts
1-3 spaces 2 ft. 2 ft.
4 spaces or more 4 ft. [1] 4 ft. [1]

Commercial and 
Manufacturing Districts

1 space None required None required

Page 65 of 87

Page 285

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]


  

2-3 spaces 2 ft. 3 ft.
4 spaces or more 4 ft. [1] 4 ft. [1]

Note:
[1] Calculated as average width along the full length of landscape strip.

2. In all districts, this landscape buffer requirement does not apply to driveways that 
serve two adjacent lots when adjacent to a side lot line.

3. In the Residential Districts, this landscape buffer requirement also does not apply 
to pedestrian walkways that are separated from such areas by a landscaped strip 
at least two feet wide.

I.K. Paved Setback Areas. In Residential Districts, the total area of pavement 
devoted to off-street parking spaces, driveways, and other vehicle-related paving 
may not exceed 50 percent of any required setback area that runs parallel to and 
abuts a street.

J.L. Driveway Width.

1. A driveway may not exceed 20 feet in width at any lot line abutting a street or 
one-half of the width of the street frontage of the lot, whichever is less.

2. In a Non-Residential district, the Zoning Officer may modify this requirement with 
an AUP.

K.M. Driveway Separation. On a single lot in a Residential District, driveways must be 
spaced at least 75 feet from one another, as measured along any continuous lot 
line abutting a street.

L.N. Tandem Parking. Tandem spaces that provide required off-street parking require 
an AUP, except when allowed by right by Chapter 23.306 (Accessory Dwelling 
Units).

M. Residential Parking Lots in Non-Residential Districts. Parking lots in a non-
residential district used exclusively for residential parking must comply with 
standards in this section that apply in Residential Districts.

N.O. Carports. A carport shall meet the minimum horizontal and vertical dimensions 
specified by the City’s Traffic Engineer to be used for one or more legal parking 
spaces required under this chapter.

Section 11. That Berkeley Municipal Code is amended to add a new Section 
23.324.060(C) to read as follows:

C. Accessory Dwelling Units. The following alterations of a lawful nonconforming 
existing structure or building that is an existing ADU or proposed to be converted to 
an ADU are permitted with a Zoning Certificate:

Page 66 of 87

Page 286

https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.322.080(H)(1)#23.322.080(H)(1)__[1]
https://berkeley.municipal.codes/BMC/23.306


  

1. New windows, doors, or other openings to a portion of a building or structure 
within a minimum required setback. 

2. New windows, doors, or other openings to a portion of a building or structure 
exceeding the height limit.

Section 12. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(A)(4) is amended to read as 
follows:

4. Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU). An attached or detached secondary dwelling unit 
that is located on the samea lot as a proposed or existing single family dwelling, 
duplex, multi-family dwelling use, or group living accommodation in a zoning 
district where residential uses are permitted and provides independent living 
facilities for one or more persons. An ADU must comply with local building, 
housing, safety and other code requirements, except as expressly modified in 
Chapter 23.306, and provide the following features independent of other dwelling 
units on the lot: Exterior or independent access to the ADU, living and sleeping 
quarters, a full kitchen, and a full bathroom. An ADU also includes the following: 
(a) An efficiency unit, as defined in Section 17958.1 of the Health and Safety 
Code, or (b) A manufactured home, as defined in Section 18007 of the Health 
and Safety Code.

Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (Junior ADU). A unit that is contained entirely 
within the walls of an existing or proposed single family dwelling, or a single 
family dwelling unit’s attached garage. A Junior ADU must include a separate 
exterior entrance and, at minimum, an efficiency kitchen with a working 
refrigerator. A Junior ADU may include separate sanitation facilities or may 
share sanitary facilities with a single family dwelling. The property-owner 
must reside in either the Single Family Dwelling or the JADU.

(a) with a proposed or existing Single Family Dwelling, Duplex, Multi-Family 
Dwelling Use or Group Living Accommodation. An Accessory Dwelling Unit 
must comply with local building, housing, safety and other code requirements, 
except as expressly modified in Chapter 23.306, and provide the following 
features independent of other dwelling units on the lot: 1) exterior or 
independent access to the Accessory Dwelling Unit; 2) living and sleeping 
quarters; 3) a full kitchen; and 4) a full bathroom. An Accessory Dwelling Unit 
also includes the following:

(b)(a) An efficiency unit, as defined in Section 17958.1 of the Health and Safety 
Code.

Section 13. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(A)(8) is amended to read as 
follows:

8. Addition, Residential. The creation of any new portion of a main building which 
results in a vertical or horizontal extension of the building, or results in additional 

Page 67 of 87

Page 287



  

residential gross floor area to an existing main building, as long as such new 
gross floor area does not exceed 15 percent of the lot area or 600 square feet, 
whichever is less. For purposes of this definition gross floor area does not 
include:

(a) Additions of gross floor area devoted to required off-street parking spaces, 
creation of mezzanines or lofts within the building’s shell;

(b) Making previously unusable attics into habitable floor area (except where new 
areas with vertical clearance of 6 feet or greater are created through 
expansions of the building shell);

(c) Excavations of earth within the existing building footprint (i.e. expansion of 
existing basements or new basements), or

(d) Replacement of existing floor area that was lawfully constructed and is 
located entirely within the addition’s shell.

(d)(e) The floor area associated with any existing or proposed accessory 
dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet per lot.

Section 14. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(A)(9) is amended to read as 
follows:

9. Addition, Major Residential.

(a) A residential addition greater than 15 percent of the lot area or 600 square 
feet. Floor area from all residential additions since October 31, 1991, with the 
exception of:

i. Additions that are entirely subsumed within previously existing floor 
area; and 

ii. The floor area associated with any existing or proposed accessory 
dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet 
per lot.

(b) The floor area of subsequent stories where the addition does not exceed the 
district residential addition height limit, shall count towards the calculation of 
gross floor area for the purposes of this definition.

(c) Any new floor area, except as exempted under (9)(a), shall be treated as a 
new major residential addition for the purpose of permit processing, when the 
cumulative square footage exceeds 15 percent of the lot area or 600 square 
feet, whichever is less.

Page 68 of 87

Page 288



  

Section 15. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(E)(1) is amended to read as 
follows:

1. Efficiency Kitchen. A kitchen that includes a sink, a cooking facility with 
appliances (e.g. microwave, toaster, oven, hot plate), and food preparation 
counter space and cabinets.

Section 16. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(J) is amended to read as 
follows:

J. "J" Terms.

Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (JADU). A unit that is contained entirely within the 
walls of a Single Family Dwelling. A JADU must include a separate exterior entrance 
and an Efficiency Kitchen with a working refrigerator. A JADU may include separate 
sanitation facilities or may share sanitary facilities with a Single Family Dwelling. The 
property-owner must reside in either the Single Family Dwelling or the JADU.

Section 17. That Berkeley Municipal Code 23.502.020(N)(1) is amended to read as 
follows:

N. "N" Terms.

1.   New Construction. Construction of a new main building or accessory dwelling 
unit.

Section 18. Severability.

If any provision or clause of this Ordinance or any application thereof to any person 
or circumstance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or clauses or 
applications of this Ordinance. To this end the provisions and applications of this 
Ordinance are severable, and the Council of the City of Berkeley hereby declares 
that it would have passed this Ordinance and each provision or clause without 
regard to whether any other portion of this Ordinance or application thereof would be 
subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional.

Section 19. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the 
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be 

Page 69 of 87

Page 289



  

filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation.

Page 70 of 87

Page 290



STATE OF CALIFORNIA - BUSINESS, CONSUMER SERVICES AND HOUSING AGENCY GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor  
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DIVISION OF HOUSING POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
2020 W. El Camino Avenue, Suite 500 
Sacramento, CA  95833 
(916) 263-2911 / FAX (916) 263-7453
www.hcd.ca.gov

October 17, 2022 

Jordan Klein, Director 
Planning and Development Department 
1947 Center Street, 3rd Floor 
City of Berkeley, CA 94704 

Dear Jordan Klein: 

RE: Review of Berkeley’s Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Ordinance under State 
ADU Law (Gov. Code, § 65852.2) 

Thank you for submitting the City of Berkeley’s (City) accessory dwelling unit (ADU) 
Ordinance Nos. 7,797-N.S. and 7,799-N.S. (collectively, Ordinances), both adopted on 
February 8, 2022, to the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development (HCD). The Ordinances were received on February 23, 2022. HCD has 
reviewed the Ordinances and submits these written findings pursuant to Government 
Code section 65852.2, subdivision (h). HCD finds that the Ordinances do not comply 
with section 65852.2 in the manner noted below. Under that statute, the City has up to 
30 days to respond to these findings. Accordingly, the City must provide a written 
response to these findings no later than November 17, 2022.  

The Ordinances address many statutory requirements; however, HCD finds that the 
Ordinances do not comply with State ADU Law in the following respects:   

Ordinance No. 7,797-N.S. 

• Section 23.502.020.E.1and J.1 – Efficiency Kitchen – The Ordinance defines
efficiency kitchen as including a sink and having a working refrigerator.
However, the sink requirement, previously specified in Government Code
section 65862.22, subdivision (a)(6), was removed and statute does not specify
any type of appliances, thereby creating more options to satisfy the appliance
requirement. Efficiency kitchen is now defined as “[a] cooking facility with
appliances.” (Gov. Code, § 65852.22, subd. (a)(6)(A).) It shall include “[a] food
preparation counter and storage cabinets that are in reasonable size in relation
to the size of the junior accessory dwelling unit.” (Gov. Code, § 65852.22, subd.
(a)(6)(B).) The City must remove the sink requirement as well as the reference
to a working refrigerator to comply with existing statute.

ATTACHMENT 2
Page 71 of 87

Page 291

http://www.hcd.ca.gov/


Jordan Klein, Director 
Page 2 
 
 

 
Ordinance No. 7,799-N.S. 
 

• Section 12.99 – Wildfire Hazard Evacuation Risk Mitigation Ordinance – To 
restrict ADUs and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units (JADUs) in the Hillside 
Overlay District, the Ordinance relies on a local agency’s ability to designate 
areas where ADUs may be permitted based on the impact on traffic flow and 
public safety per Government Code 65852.2, subdivision (a)(1)(A). The 
Ordinance provides general information regarding the Hillside Overlay District 
and its topography and location within Berkeley’s Very High Fire Hazard 
Severity Zone (VHFHSZ). In addition, the Ordinance refers to a study published 
by UC Berkeley, and upon further communication by HCD with the City on 
March 4, 2022, the City provided information regarding a traffic simulation study 
(Developing Transportation Response Strategies for Wildfire Evacuations via 
an Empirically Supported Traffic Simulation of Berkeley, California, Wong, 
2021) conducted within the Hillside Overlay District.  
 
However, while HCD is sympathetic to concerns about fire safety and the need 
to ensure adequate evacuation in the event of a fire, the City has not 
adequately demonstrated that new ADUs will actually impact public safety in 
the VHFHSZ. The traffic simulation study is not specific to ADUs and JADUs, 
and therefore its information and conclusions do not adequately justify the 
restriction of ADUs in the Hillside Overlay District per Government Code 
65852.2, subdivision (a)(1)(A). Specifically, the City relies on the study, which 
looks at total vehicular use, to conclude that additional ADUs will create an 
evacuation hazard. This study, however, does not provide data on how many 
lots are likely to add ADUs or what specific impact new ADUs might have on 
evacuations. Moreover, the City does not account for the potential for ADUs to 
be excluded from requiring a parking space given the availability of public 
transit in the Hillside Overlay District. HCD is aware that AC Transit serves the 
Berkeley Hills location, exempting many, if not all, potential lots from parking 
space requirements for new ADUs.  
 
Furthermore, even if the City would provide adequate justification for this 
restriction on ADUs under this subdivision, the City may not justify such a 
restriction on ADUs that fall under subdivision (e), as local development 
standards (such as an area restriction based on VHFHSZ designation) 
provided by the Ordinance pursuant to Government Code section 65852.2, 
subdivisions (a) through (d), do not apply to ADUs created under Government 
Code section 65852.2, subdivision (e). 
 
In summary, the City must remove these restrictions and permit applications 
pursuant to Government Code 65852.2, subdivisions (a) and (e). 
 

Page 72 of 87

Page 292



Jordan Klein, Director 
Page 3 
 
 

 
• Section 12.99.030 – Total Number of Units Permitted – The Ordinance limits 

the number of units allowed per lot in the Hillside Overlay District to one ADU or 
JADU. However, this limitation conflicts with the Government Code section 
65852.2, subdivisions (e)(1)(A) and (B), requirement to allow for both an ADU 
and JADU on a lot with a proposed or existing single-family dwelling, should 
certain conditions be met. In addition, this limitation conflicts with Government 
Code section 65852.2, subdivisions (e)(1)(C) and (D), for lots with existing 
multifamily structures. The City must amend this prohibition to explicitly permit 
applications per Government Code 65852.2, subdivision (e). 

 
In response to the findings in this letter, and pursuant to Government Code section 
65852.2, subdivision (h)(2)(B), the City must either amend the Ordinances to comply 
with State ADU Law or adopt the Ordinances without changes. Should the City choose 
to adopt the Ordinances without the changes specified by HCD, the City must include 
findings in its resolution that explain the reasons the City finds that the Ordinances 
comply with State ADU Law despite the findings made by HCD. Accordingly, the City’s 
response should provide a plan and timeline to bring the Ordinances into compliance.  
 
Please note that, pursuant to Government Code section 65852.2, subdivision (h)(3)(A), 
if the City fails to take either course of action and bring the Ordinances into compliance 
with State ADU Law, HCD may notify the City and the California Office of the Attorney 
General that the City is in violation of State ADU Law.  
 
HCD appreciates the City’s efforts in the preparation and adoption of the Ordinances 
and welcomes the opportunity to assist the City in fully complying with State ADU Law. 
Please feel free to contact Mike Van Gorder, of our staff, at (916) 916-776-7541 or at 
mike.vangorder@hcd.ca.gov. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
David Zisser 
Assistant Deputy Director 
Local Government Relations and Accountability 

Page 73 of 87

Page 293

mailto:mike.vangorder@hcd.ca.gov


Planning and Development Department 
Land Use Planning Division 

STAFF REPORT 

DATE:  May 3, 2023 

TO: Members of the Planning Commission 

FROM:  Zoe Covello, Assistant Planner 
Grace Wu, Principal Planner 

SUBJECT: Amendments to Title 23 Relating to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) to 
Conform to Current State Law and Guidance from the California 
Department of Housing and Community Development 

RECOMMENDATION 
Planning Commission is asked to hold a public hearing, receive and provide comment 
on the proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments pertaining to Accessory Dwelling Units 
and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units, and make a recommendation for consideration by 
the City Council. 

SUMMARY 
City staff have prepared amendments to Title 23 (Zoning Ordinance) of the Berkeley 
Municipal Code (BMC) in response to: (a) recent changes in State laws pertaining to 
Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) and Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (Junior ADU) that 
took effect on January 1, 2023, and (b) feedback from the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development (HCD) finding that the City of Berkeley’s current 
ADU ordinance does not comply with State law.  

These amendments will serve to bring the City’s ADU ordinance into compliance with 
current State law and HCD guidance. 

This report provides: 

1. Background on Berkeley’s existing ADU ordinance and fire safety concerns;
2. A summary of new State ADU Law;
3. A summary of HCD’s finding of noncompliance and staff’s proposed response for

addressing the issues raised; and
4. Proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments and rationale.

BACKGROUND 

ATTACHMENT 3
Page 74 of 87

Page 294



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 2 of 12 

 
ADU Regulations in the City of Berkeley 
The City of Berkeley’s current ADU Ordinance was amended in accordance with the 
State of California law (Government Code Sections 65852.21 and 65852.222) and took 
effect on March 17, 2022. The primary ordinance regulating ADU development in the 
City is Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC), Chapter 23.306: Accessory Dwelling Units. This 
chapter allows ADUs on properties located in a zoning district that permits residential 
use, and provides development standards based on the location of the property. The 
ordinance currently includes separate development standards for properties that are 
located in certain zoning districts within the Hillside Overlay [R-1(H), R-2(H), R-2A(H)] 
and the ES-R district. 
 
In addition to Chapter 23.306, the City adopted Chapter 12.99: Wildfire Hazard 
Evacuation Risk Mitigation Ordinance, which serves to “permit and promote the 
construction of accessory dwelling units and junior accessory dwelling units while 
protecting human life and health, promoting the public health, safety, and general 
welfare, and minimizing public and private losses due to dangerous conditions in 
specific areas” in accordance with Government Code 65852.2, subdivision (a)(1)(A), 
which allows local agencies to regulate ADUs based on "adequacy of water and sewer 
service, and the impacts of traffic flow and public safety."3 
 
Chapter 12.99 was adopted in response to a short-term Council referral in January 
2021. The referral provided direction to amend the local ADU zoning ordinance and 
Berkeley’s Fire Code, requesting that a set of ordinance amendments and 
implementation programs be evaluated and recommended to Council to address 
emergency access and egress. The referral also requested parking and objective 
development standards to address the constraints presented by the high fire hazard 
conditions and narrow and curving roadways in Fire Zones 2 and 3. 
 
In response to the January 2021 referral, Planning and Development Department staff 
proposed revisions to development standards to limit allowable ADU size and increase 
front yard setbacks in the City’s Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zone, which 
encompasses a significant portion of the Hillside Overlay. 
 
On April 7, 2021, the Planning Commission held a public hearing and recommended 
staff’s proposed amendments to City Council, adding that the maximum height for ADUs 
be increased from 16 feet to 18 feet. City Council adopted Chapter 23.306 (Accessory 
Dwelling Unit Ordinance) as submitted by the City Manager with amendments from 

                                            
1 Government Code Section 65852.2, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/selectFromMultiples.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65852.2  
2 Government Code Section 65852.22, 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65852.22  
3 Prior to adopting Chapters 23.306 and 12.99, the City had previously prohibited the construction of ADUs in the ES-R district (Zone 
3) and on any lot with frontage on a roadway of less than 26 feet width in the Hillside Overlay, subject to discretionary review. After 
the ADU ordinance adopted in December 2019 expired on December 4, 2020, the City had been operating without any local 
provisions for ADUs; all ADUs in residential districts were regulated only by State law, allowing their development without regard to 
street width or parking. 

Page 75 of 87

Page 295

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/selectFromMultiples.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65852.2
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65852.22


   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 3 of 12 

Councilmember Kesarwani.4  City Council further amended the ordinance with regards 
to the three-year rolling date for ADU conversions and the addition of balconies to 
prohibited projections. 
 
On October 26, 2021, City Council referred to the City Manager a request to develop a 
set of public safety regulations that address public safety issues stemming from new 
development in fire-prone areas. Those safety regulations resulted in the adoption of 
Chapter 12.99 (Wildfire Hazard Evacuation Risk Mitigation Ordinance) on January 25, 
2022. 
 
2022 State ADU Law Updates - SB 897, AB 2221, and AB 2097 
 
Three new State ADU laws took effect January 1, 2023, codified in Government Code 
section 65852.2 pertaining to ADUs, necessitating an update to the City of Berkeley’s 
ADU ordinance. These new State ADU laws relate to:  
 

1. Maximum height limits. SB 8975 increases ADU height standards for both 
attached and detached ADUs in the following circumstances: 

o An attached ADU on a lot in any permissible zoning district shall have a 
height limitation no less than 25 feet.  

o A detached ADU that is located either on a lot in any permissible zoning 
district that is within a 0.5 mile of a major transit stop or high-quality transit 
corridor as defined in Public Resources Code (PRC) Section 21155 or on 
a lot with an existing or proposed duplex or multi-family, multi-story (two or 
more stories) building shall have a height limitation of no less than 18 feet. 

An additional two feet (totaling 20 feet maximum height) is allowed for a 
detached ADU on a lot in any permissible zoning district that is within 0.5 miles of 
a transit stop or high-quality transit corridor as defined in PRC Section 21155 to 
accommodate a roof pitch on the ADU that is aligned with the roof pitch of the 
primary dwelling unit.  

2. Prohibiting development standards that preclude 800 square foot ADUs. 
Under AB 22216, local agencies are prohibited from establishing lot coverage, 
floor area ratio, open space, or minimum lot size standards that would physically 
preclude construction of an 800 square foot ADU, including a minimum front 
setback.  

3. Required connections between a Junior ADU and the main dwelling unit. 
SB 897 requires both a separate entrance to the Junior ADU from the main 
entrance to the structure and an interior connection to the main living area of the 

                                            
4 Councilmember Kesarwani’s amendments included protection for non-habitable space in multi-family buildings, clarified rules that 
apply to Accessory Structures being converted into ADUs, clarified owner occupancy requirements for JADUs, and modified noticing 
requirements for tenants and neighbors. https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2022-01-
18%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20-%20WEB.pdf 
5 Senate Bill 897, https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB897. 
6 Assembly Bill 2221, https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2221. 

Page 76 of 87

Page 296



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 4 of 12 

single family dwelling if a Junior ADU shares sanitation facilities with the primary 
dwelling unit. 

4. Changes to off-street parking related to ADUs. While parking may be provided 
voluntarily, per AB 20977 no off-street parking may be required for an ADU or a 
Junior ADU if the lot is located within a 0.5 mile of public transit, as defined in 
PRC Section 21155. Note, the existing ADU ordinance already has provisions for 
reduced parking requirements within a 0.5 mile walking distance of public 
transit.8 

The proposed revisions to the zoning ordinance reflect these changes, which can be 
found in the Discussion section below. 

2022 Letter from HCD Requesting Amendments to the City’s ADU Ordinance 
 
On October 17, 2022, the City received a letter from HCD stating that they had reviewed 
the City’s current ADU ordinances (BMC Sections 23.306 and 12.99, the “Ordinances”) 
and found that the Ordinances do not comply with Government Code Section 65852.2 
(see Attachment 4). 
 
Efficiency Kitchen Definition 
HCD found a discrepancy between the definition of “Efficiency Kitchen” contained within 
Ordinance No. 7,797-N.S. (Chapter 23.306) and Government Code §65852.22(a)(6)(A) 
and requested that the City remove the sink requirement from its zoning definition, as 
well as the reference to a working refrigerator in the definition of a “Junior Accessory 
Dwelling Unit.” 
 
Wildfire Hazard Evacuation Risk Mitigation Ordinance 
Regarding Ordinance No. 7,799-N.S (Chapter 12.99), HCD found that the City did not 
make adequate findings with respect to ADU development impacts on traffic flow and 
public safety when the City adopted limitations on the quantity and size of ADU 
development in the Hillside Overlay. 
 
HCD asserts that the traffic simulation study referenced in Chapter 12.99 is not specific 
to ADUs and Junior ADUs and therefore cannot be used to justify the restriction on the 
number of ADUs in the Hillside Overlay. Additionally, the traffic simulation study does 
not provide data on how many lots are likely to add ADUs, does not identify specific 
impacts new ADUs may have on evacuations, and does not account for the potential for 
ADUs to be excluded from requiring a parking space given the availability of public 
transit in the Hillside Overlay. Furthermore, HCD adds that even if the City adequately 
justified the restriction of ADUs under this subdivision, it may not justify restrictions on 
ADUs that fall under subdivision (e) because local development standards do not apply 
to ADUs created under Government Code section 65852.2, subdivision (e). 
                                            
7 Assembly Bill 2097, https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB2097. 
8 GOV 65852.2(j)(11)  “Public transit” means a location, including, but not limited to, a bus stop or train station, where the public may 
access buses, trains, subways, and other forms of transportation that charge set fares, run on fixed routes, and are available to the 
public. 

Page 77 of 87

Page 297



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 5 of 12 

Government code section 65852.2, subdivision (e) requires local agencies to 
ministerially approve building permit applications for the creation of ADUs within a 
residential or mixed-use zone.   
 
Regarding Section 12.99.030 – Total Number of Units Permitted, HCD asserts that 
the City’s decision to limit the number of units allowed per lot in the Hillside Overlay to 
one ADU or one Junior ADU conflicts with Government Code Section 65852.2, 
subdivisions (e)(1)(A), (B), (C), and (D), which requires a local agency to ministerially 
approve an application for a building permit within a residential or mixed-use zone to 
create one ADU and one Junior ADU per lot.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
To conform to State ADU law and respond to HCD’s letter, staff recommend 
amendments to Title 23 of the BMC that achieve the following purposes: 
 

1. Remove standards that provide a distinction between parcels within and outside 
of the Hillside Overlay, and apply non-Hillside Overlay ADU standards citywide 
where residential uses are permitted9;  

2. Bring the City’s zoning code into compliance with current State ADU law and 
guidance, including SB 897, AB 2221, and AB 2097; and  

3. Clarify and/or correct minor technical edits associated with the related ordinance 
sections, and edit for consistency with existing BMC style guidelines. 

 
23.106 Rules of Measurement 
Consistent with the State Exemption ADU provisions of Subdivision (c) in Government 
Code 65852.2, staff propose amending 23.106.020(B) and 23.106.030(D) to exclude up 
to 800 square feet of area associated with an existing or proposed ADU or Junior ADU 
from lot coverage and gross floor area calculations. Presently, once an ADU is built, it 
counts towards lot coverage, which can mean that even minor future additions would 
require a Use Permit. By amending 23.106.020(B) and 23.106.030(D) to exclude up to 
800 square feet of area, the regulation is consistent with State law, removes a barrier to 
development, and aligns with the State’s goal of incentivizing the development of ADUs. 
 
23.306 Accessory Dwelling Units (Organization) 
The proposed ordinance simplifies the ADU Chapter by consolidating seven sections 
into four, maintaining consistency with other Chapters of Title 23 (see Table 1). 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
9 Staff will also recommend to City Council to repeal BMC Section 12.99. However, as this public hearing is only pertaining to Title 
23 of the BMC, this action is not up for discussion this evening.  

Page 78 of 87

Page 298



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 6 of 12 

Table 1: Chapter 23.306 - Existing and Proposed Sections 
Existing Sections Proposed Sections 
23.306.010– Purposes 23.306.010– Purpose 
23.306.020– Applicability and Definitions 23.306.020– Applicability 
23.306.030– Permit Procedures 23.306.030– Development Standards 
23.306.040– Development Standards 23.306.040– Permit Procedures 
23.306.050– Deed Restrictions 
23.306.060– Neighbor Noticing 
23.306.070– Rooftop Decks and Balconies 

 
 
23.306.010 Accessory Dwelling Units (Purpose) 
The proposed ordinance adds a reference to the latest California Government Code 
Section 65852.1 and removes subsection (f) which states that the purpose of the 
chapter is to reduce potential impacts of new development in the Very High Fire Hazard 
Severity Zones (VHFHSZ), Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Areas, and Hillside Overlay. 
This allows for compliance with HCD’s finding that the current ordinances do not meet 
the exceptions included in State law that allow for the creation of a separate set of 
regulations in the Hillside Overlay. 
 
23.306.020 Accessory Dwelling Units (Applicability) 
The proposed ordinance removes subsection (b), which defines the Hillside Overlay for 
the purposes of this chapter, and removes the reference to Chapter 12.99, to comply 
with HCD’s finding that the City does not sufficiently justify the creation of a separate set 
of regulations in the Hillside Overlay. 
 
The proposed amendment includes a new subsection clarifying that ADUs and Junior 
ADUs do not count towards density calculations established by the underlying zoning 
districts. This is consistent with HCD guidance in the HCD ADU Handbook Update.10 
 
Staff also propose amending the maximum number of units permitted on a lot with a 
duplex or multi-family dwelling to allow for two detached ADUs and at least one interior 
ADU (see Table 2). In 2022 HCD changed its interpretation regarding the total number 
of ADUs that "must" be allowed by local governments on any given parcel. Whereas in 
the 2020 ADU Handbook, HCD wrote that "local governments are not required to allow 
(a) and (b) together or (c) and (d) together," in the 2022 ADU Handbook HCD rewrote 
that "local governments must allow (a) and (b) together or (c) and (d) together." 
Although this change in HCD's interpretation is not supported by any corresponding 
change in state law, the proposed ordinance is drafted to be consistent with HCD's new 
interpretation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                            
10 HCD Accessory Dwelling Unit Handbook, https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/ADUHandbookUpdate.pdf.  

Page 79 of 87

Page 299

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-07/ADUHandbookUpdate.pdf


   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 7 of 12 

Table 2: Existing and Proposed Maximum Density Standards on a Lot with a Duplex or 
Multi-Family Dwelling 

Existing Maximum Density Proposed Maximum Density 
Either: 

a. Up to two detached ADUs; or 
b. At least one ADU converted from non-

habitable portions of the existing Main 
Building that are not within the living space of 
a Dwelling Unit (e.g. basement, attic, garages 
storage room). The maximum number of 
ADUs converted from portions of the existing 
Main Building that are not within the living 
space of a Dwelling Unit shall not exceed 
25% of the total number of existing Dwelling 
Units on the lot. 

Two detached ADUs and at least one interior 
ADU up to 25% of the total number of existing 
duplex or multi-family dwelling units on the lot 

 
23.306.030 Accessory Dwelling Units (Development Standards) 
In response to HCD’s letter and to bring the development standards section into 
compliance with State law, staff propose removing standards that are specific to parcels 
located in the Hillside Overlay. Instead, the development standards apply to ADUs and 
Junior ADUs citywide. 
 
Staff also recommend a number of technical revisions to the development standards 
section, including: removing Junior ADU standards from the development standards 
table and including all relevant information in subsection (B), as well as replacing 
footnotes from the development table with a subsection for supplemental standards.  
 
Within subsection (C), staff propose technical edits to amend the provisions related to 
projections to align with other sections of the code, including permitting bay windows 
and balconies on attached ADUs outside of the Hillside Overlay as long as there 
remains at least a two-foot setback from property lines, as the code allows for non-
ADUs of the same placement and size to have both. However, because detached ADUs 
are permitted to be built much closer to the property line than primary dwelling units 
(and attached ADUs), staff propose continuing to prohibit the projections of bay 
windows and balconies into setbacks for those types of ADUs citywide.  
 
In addition to these technical revisions, a number of the standards have been changed 
to match State law. Table 3 provides the proposed development standards and the 
rationale informing the recommended changes. This table does not include all ADU 
development standards; it only includes the standards that are proposed to be 
amended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80 of 87

Page 300



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 8 of 12 

Table 3: Proposed Revisions to ADU Development Standards & Rationale 
Basic Standard Proposed Standards Rationale/Intent 

Building Height, 
Maximum 

Detached, New Construction – 20 ft. 
The maximum building height for 
Attached, New Construction has 
been increased from 20 ft. to 25 ft. 
to match State law (SB 897). The 
current maximum building height for 
Detached New Construction already 
exceeds the 18 ft. required by State 
law. 

Attached, New Construction – 25 ft. 

Lot Line 
Setbacks, 
Minimum 

Front of Interior Lot – Same as underlying 
district 

Staff propose adding a standard for 
front setbacks on through lots to 
ensure that there are standards for 
such parcels, consistent with existing 
regulations for Accessory Buildings.  

Front of Through Lot - Same as 
underlying district or 10 ft. on the 

secondary frontage as determined by the 
Zoning Officer 

Building 
Separation for 

Detached ADU, 
Minimum 

3 ft. 

To conform with Building Code’s 
definition of attached versus 
detached buildings, staff propose 
adding a minimum building 
separation standard (in addition to a 
Detached ADU supplemental 
standard – see below). 

Required Off-
Street Parking 

Spaces 

See 23.322.030 – Required Parking 
Spaces 

Move to BMC 23.322 – Parking and 
Loading to be consistent with other 
parking standards. 

Supplemental 
Standard   

State Exemption 
ADU 

No lot coverage, floor area ratio, open 
space, front setback, or minimum lot size 

standard in the underlying district shall 
preclude at least an 800 square foot 

accessory dwelling unit. 

To match the State Law. 

Junior ADU 
Shared 

Sanitation 
Facility 

If a Junior ADU shares a sanitary facility 
with a single family dwelling, an internal 
connection between the Junior ADU and 
the main living area of the single family 
dwelling is required. 

To match the State Law. 

Junior ADU 
Floor Area 

The Junior ADU gross floor area 
calculation excludes any shared 

sanitation facility with the single family 
dwelling. 

To clarify the rules of measurement 
for gross floor area if a sanitation 
facility is shared. 

Detached or 
Attached ADU 

If an ADU is located within 3 feet of an 
exterior wall of a main building, it is 

considered attached.  

See the rationale/intent for 
establishing a Building Separation, 
Minimum (above). 

 
 AUP for Addition over 14 feet. While this section does not regulate residential 

additions, staff note that attached ADUs proposed as residential additions over 
14 feet would be required to receive AUP approval in order to reach their 
maximum allowable height (they can now go up to 25 feet – see Table 3).11 
Removing the AUP process would be in keeping with the State’s intent to 
streamline the ADU development process and further remove barriers to 

                                            
11 Residential additions can go up to 14 ft., but require an AUP to go up to 28 ft. 

Page 81 of 87

Page 301



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 9 of 12 

development. The Planning Commission is asked to consider removing the AUP 
requirement for residential additions for attached ADUs. 

 
23.306.040 Accessory Dwelling Units (Permit Procedures) 
 
Under the current procedure, it is required that notice of an ADU application shall be 
mailed to owners and tenants of the subject, adjacent, confronting and abutting 
properties within ten working days of submission of a building permit to the Planning 
Department, and shall include the project address, allowable hours of construction, a 
link to the City’s ADU webpage, and information for tenants of the subject property on 
how to contact a Rent Board Housing Counselor. The cost of materials, postage, and 
staff time is paid for by the applicant – currently a fixed fee of $460.    
 
The requirement for neighbor noticing presents a number of challenges for staff, 
applicants, and members of the public. ADU permits are building permits, and cannot be 
printed out or shared online with members of the public (unlike zoning permits). For 
neighbors interested in seeing proposed ADU plans, this means that they must visit the 
Permit Service Center in-person and look at the plans accompanied by a staff member. 
Additionally, ADU permits are non-discretionary permits, so members of the public 
ultimately do not have a means of providing feedback on or appealing a proposed ADU. 
Staff have found there is often an expectation from public posting or receiving notice of 
a proposed ADU that there is a public review process involved, and there is not. 
 
 Neighbor Noticing. While staff made no changes to Neighbor Noticing, with the 

exception of moving it to the Permit Procedures section, staff are asking Planning 
Commission to consider removing the Neighbor Noticing requirement. 

 
23.322.020 Parking and Loading (Applicability) 
Per AB 2097, no off-street parking may be required for an ADU or a Junior ADU if the 
lot is located within a 0.5 mile of public transit, as defined in PRC Section 21155. The 
City of Berkeley’s existing ADU ordinance already has provisions for reduced parking 
requirements within a 0.5 mile walking distance of public transit. To comply with AB 
2097, staff recommend adding a location exemption for parking, which would state that 
“Off-street parking spaces are not required for new uses or buildings, or an enlargement 
or intensification of an existing use or structure, that is located within 0.5 miles of a 
major transit stop, as defined by Section 21155 of the California Public Resources 
Code, unless otherwise authorized by Government Code Section 65863.2.” This change 
will also be brought as a part of the State Law Technical Edits ordinance amendments 
package, which is why it is shown in blue in Attachment 1. 
 
Staff propose amending BMC Tables 23.322-1, 23.322-2, and 23.322-4 to specify off-
street parking standards for ADUs in Residential, Commercial, and Manufacturing 
Districts (previously specified in Chapter 23.306). Staff also propose amending Table 
23.322-1 to bring the residential off-street parking standards into compliance with State 
law by allowing for one parking space per ADU unless it is located within 0.5 miles of 

Page 82 of 87

Page 302



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 10 of 12 

public transit as defined in Section 21155 of the Public Resources Code or it satisfies 
the criteria defined in subdivision (d) of Government Code Section 65852.2. 
 
BMC 23.322.080(E)(2) Other Setback Areas  
 
This section, formerly referred as BMC 23.322.080(D)(2), is recommended to be 
amended to include the following standards: 
 
a. On a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, replacement of off-street parking for the 

main building or required off-street parking for an ADU, is allowed in any 
configuration on the lot, including within the front yard setback; or 

b. Within the Hillside Overlay on a lot with an existing or proposed ADU, where no legal 
off-street parking exists for the main building, required parking provided for the main 
building is allowed in any configuration on the lot, including within the front yard 
setback. 

Currently, parking flexibility only applies to replacement parking for main dwelling units 
and new parking provided for an ADU. To account for ADU projects seeking to provide 
new parking spaces for both the main dwelling and the ADU, staff propose allowing for 
the same flexibility in lot configuration for the main dwelling unit’s proposed new parking 
space as is allowed for the ADU’s parking space. Encouraging off-street parking in the 
Hillside Overlay can mitigate safety and evacuation access concerns.  
 
23.324.060 Exemptions to Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings 
 
Notably, in the current ADU ordinance, minor alterations in nonconforming setbacks, 
such as for windows and doors, as well as minor excavations, require an AUP. To 
reduce the amount of process, time, and money for staff and applicants seeking to 
make minor alterations to their ADUs, staff propose allowing “by-right” alterations to 
nonconforming existing structures or buildings that are proposed to be converted to an 
ADU. Staff proposes to add BMC 23.324.060(C) to include the following standards: 
 

C. Accessory Dwelling Units. The following additions or enlargements of a lawful 
nonconforming existing structure or building that is an existing ADU or proposed to 
be converted to an ADU are permitted with a Zoning Certificate: 
 
1. Alterations of a portion of a building or structure (including windows and other 

openings) within a minimum required setback. 
2. Alterations of a portion of a building or structure (including windows and other 

openings) exceeding the height limit. 
 
23.502.020 Defined Terms 
Junior ADU. Staff proposes relocating the definition for “Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit” 
within the definition of “Accessory Dwelling Unit” and striking out the reference to a 
working refrigerator in response to HCD’s findings.  
 

Page 83 of 87

Page 303



   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 11 of 12 

Addition, Major Residential. The definition for “Addition, Major Residential” is 
recommended to be amended to add a subsection that exempts the floor area 
associated with an existing or proposed accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory 
dwelling unit, up to 800 square feet, from qualifying. This would eliminate the 
requirement for an AUP to add an ADU or Junior ADU to a house, thus matching the 
State’s intent of streamlining the processing of ADU development locally. 
 
Efficiency Kitchen. The proposed ordinance amends the definition of an “Efficiency 
Kitchen” by removing the requirement for a sink in response to HCD’s findings. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
 
The project is statutorily exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act by 
Guidelines Section 15282(h). 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 
Staff recommend that Planning Commission adopt the proposed revisions. The next 
step will be to advance these proposed revisions – as well as repeal of Chapter 12.99 – 
to City Council.  
 
Public safety remains a significant concern regarding increasing density in the Hillside 
Overlay. As stated in California Government Code Section 51175, the Legislature has 
found that wildfires pose a serious threat to the preservation of the public peace, health 
and safety. The legislature has determined that it is necessary that all levels of 
government work to implement preventive measures to ensure the preservation of the 
public peace, health, and safety. 
 
Due to these state- and locally-recognized safety concerns, staff are working with the 
Fire Department to collect additional data on the health and safety impacts of increased 
development in the Hillside Overlay. On March 14, 2022, the Fire Department was 
authorized by the City Manager to execute a contract with KLD Engineering, P.C., for 
Evacuation and Response Time Modeling from April 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 as 
part of an effort to collect data and forecast the number of vehicles and people that may 
need to be evacuated during a wildfire or other emergency.12 The study will also be 
analyzing how major evacuation routes will operate under emergency conditions, and 
whether there would be any public safety impacts resulting from projected development 
of new ADUs, Junior ADUs, and their associated extra vehicles in the Very High Fire 
Hazard Severity Zone. 
 
In addition to this study, the City is in the process of updating the Disaster and Safety 
Plan, which will similarly provide an opportunity to collect data and engage community 

                                            
12 Revised Agenda, Berkeley City Council Meeting, March 14, 2023. Item 4: Contract: KLD Engineering, P.C. for Evacuation and 
Response Time Modeling From: City Manager. https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2023-03-
14%20REVISED%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20%28WEB%29.pdf  

Page 84 of 87

Page 304

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2023-03-14%20REVISED%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20%28WEB%29.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/city-council-meetings/2023-03-14%20REVISED%20Agenda%20Packet%20-%20Council%20%28WEB%29.pdf


   
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) - Amendments to Conform to State Law Planning Commission 
Staff Report  May 3, 2023 
 
 

 
Page 12 of 12 

members, which could inform the making of findings to support the reinstitution of 
provisions or other controls on ADU production in the hills. 
 
Staff plan to bring the Fire Department’s study findings, as well as other potential 
research and community engagement findings, back to Planning Commission and City 
Council by summer 2024. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
 
1. Draft Amended Ordinance  
2. Ordinance No. 7,797-N.S. (Chapter 23.306), dated January 18, 2022. 
3. Ordinance No. 7,799-N.S. (Chapter 12.99), dated January 25, 2022. 
4. Letter from HCD - Review of Berkeley’s Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Ordinance 

under State ADU Law (Gov. Code, § 65852.2), dated October 17, 2022. 
5. Public Hearing Notice 

Page 85 of 87

Page 305



  
Attachment 4

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING – BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL

Adoption of Zoning Ordinance Amendments to Title 23 and Repeal of Chapter 
12.99 of the Berkeley Municipal Code to bring the Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) 

Ordinance into Compliance with State Law & Guidance

The Department of Planning and Development is proposing Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments to Title 23 and the repeal of Chapter 12.99 of the Berkeley Municipal 
Code to respond to recent changes in Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) and Junior 
Accessory Dwelling Unit (Junior ADU) State laws that took effect on January 1, 2023 
and a letter from the California Department of Housing and Community Development 
(HCD) requiring the City of Berkeley take action to bring its Ordinance into compliance 
with State ADU Law. The amendments would modify the following sections: BMC 
Chapter 12.99 and Sections 23.106 (Rules of Measurement), 23.306 (Accessory 
Dwelling Unit (ADU) Ordinance), 23.322 (Parking and Loading), 23.324.060 
(Exemptions to Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings), and 23.502.020 
(Defined Terms) relating to ADUs. The proposed amendments also include conforming 
technical edits to the BMC (for example, renumbering of tables and figures).

The project is statutorily exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act by 
Guidelines Section 15282(h), the adoption of an ordinance regarding second units in a 
single-family or multifamily residential zone by a city or county to implement the 
provisions of Sections 65852.1 and 65852.2 of the Government Code as set forth in 
Section 21080.17 of the Public Resources Code.
 
The hearing will be held on Tuesday, July 25, 2023 at 6:00 PM. in the Berkeley Unified 
School District Board Room located at 1231 Addison Street, Berkeley CA 94702.

A copy of the agenda material for this hearing will be available on the City’s website at 
www.berkeleyca.gov as of July 13, 2023. Once posted, the agenda for this meeting 
will include a link for public participation using Zoom video technology, as well as 
any health and safety requirements for in-person attendance.

For further information, please contact Zoe Covello, Assistant Planner, at 510-981-
7418.

Written comments should be mailed or delivered directly to the City Clerk, 2180 Milvia 
Street, Berkeley, CA 94704, or e-mailed to council@berkeleyca.gov in order to ensure 
delivery to all Councilmembers and inclusion in the agenda packet.

Communications to the Berkeley City Council are public record and will become part of 
the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  Please 
note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not 
required, but if included in any communication to the City Council, will become 
part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact 
information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service 

Page 86 of 87

Page 306

http://www.berkeleyca.gov/
mailto:council@berkeleyca.gov


  

or in person to the City Clerk.  If you do not want your contact information included in 
the public record, please do not include that information in your communication.  Please 
contact the City Clerk at 981-6900 or clerk@berkeleyca.gov for further information.

Published:  July 14, 2023 – The Berkeley Voice 
Public Hearing required by BMC 23.412.050 and Govt Code 65853; notice provided 
according to Govt Code 65090 and BMC 23.404.040.
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
I hereby certify that the Notice for this Public Hearing of the Berkeley City Council was 
posted at the display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek 
Building, 2134 Martin Luther King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on July 13, 
2023. 

__________________________________
Mark Numainville, City Clerk

Page 87 of 87

Page 307

mailto:clerk@berkeleyca.gov


Page 308



Internal

Office of the Mayor

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7100 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@cityofberkeley.info

ACTION CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Members of the City Council

From: Mayor Arreguin (Author), Councilmember Robinson (Author), Councilmember 
Wengraf (Co-Sponsor)

Subject: Authorizing the City Attorney to Submit an Amicus Brief in Support of the UC 
Regents in Make UC a Good Neighbor v. Regents of University of California

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the City Attorney to submit an amicus brief in support of 
the University of California Regents’ in Make UC a Good Neighbor v. The Regents of 
University of California, currently before the California State Supreme Court on appeal.

BACKGROUND
In 2021, Make UC a Good Neighbor filed a lawsuit against the Regents of University of 
California, arguing that the Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for the University’s 
planned development at People’s Park and its 2021 Long Range Development Plan 
violates the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). In August 2022, the Alameda 
County Superior Court ruled that construction could proceed, and that the proposed 
development does not violate CEQA. However, construction was placed on pause, and 
shortly following an appeal by the plaintiff, the State Court of Appeals issued a stay order 
pausing construction. 

On February 24, 2023, the California Court of Appeals in the First District issued a ruling 
that effectively halted the proposed project at People’s Park by noting that student 
residents generate negative external impacts due to noise, and that these impacts must 
be mitigated by the University. Such noise is argued to have the potential to disrupt 
neighboring residential areas, despite the fact that such concerns are already addressed 
through the City of Berkeley’s Noise Ordinance and UC Berkeley’s Residential Code of 
Conduct. In addition, the decision ruled that the University did not conduct a thorough 
review of alternative sites in addition to People’s Park for the planned housing 
project.  Shortly after the ruling, the University announced its intent to appeal the decision 
to the California Supreme Court. The ruling received widespread condemnation, including 
from the Governor and Lieutenant Governor. 

On March 21, 2023, the Berkeley City Council authorized the City Attorney to file an 
amicus curiae letter in support of UC’s petition for review in the California State Supreme 
Court, a copy of the filed amicus letter is attached. The University appealed the decision 

Page 1 of 9

Page 309

NSalwan
Typewritten Text
18



Internal
Authorizing Amicus Brief in Support of the UC Regents ACTION CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 2

to the Supreme Court in April, and the court granted review shortly thereafter. The case 
is currently pending before the State Supreme Court for adjudication. 

On August 28, 2023, the California State Legislature approved Assembly Bill (AB) 1307, 
which amends the Public Resources Code to clarify that the noise generated by the 
occupants or guests of a housing project is not a significant impact required to be studied 
under CEQA. The bill also provides that an EIR need not consider alternatives to the 
project if specific conditions are met. Senate amendments provide that a public university 
need not study alternative locations for a residential or mixed-use project if it is on a site 
of no more than 5 acres and surrounded by urban uses and the project has been 
evaluated in a recent EIR for the campus long-range development plan. The bill is now 
on Governor Newsom’s desk for signature. If signed, the bill would take effect 
immediately.

Despite the passage of AB 1307 which amended CEQA to clarify two key findings in the 
case, the issue still needs to be adjudicated in the Supreme Court before construction of 
the People’s Park housing project can commence. 

The Supreme Court must apply the new statute to this case and determine that the EIR 
for the project met legal requirements. The trial court determined that the EIR was legally 
adequate, and the city’s contention is that the EIR meets legal requirements and 
adequately studies and mitigates any impacts. 

Resolution of this case is critical to advance an important project providing over 1,000 
beds of needed student housing and 125 units of permanent supportive housing. The City 
has committed $14.5 million in housing funds to support the construction of the 125 unit 
supportive housing project at People’s Park. It is in the city’s interest to intervene in this 
case and file an amicus brief in support of UC’s position. 

Rationale for recommendation

The construction of this development is essential to reducing strain on our housing market 
and providing needed housing for our unhoused residents. The City has partnered with 
the University to ensure that its development of the People’s Park site serves the interests 
of students, of the Berkeley community, and especially of unhoused residents. The 
University’s development plans for the site will provide over 1,000 units of urgently 
needed housing for students and over 100 units of permanent supportive housing for 
unhoused residents.

A portion of the planned development on People’s Park will be set aside for the 
construction of a permanent supportive housing development that will end homelessness 
for dozens of unhoused residents by providing over 100 units of badly needed permanent 
supportive housing (PSH). The City has already committed $14.5 million1 to the 
construction of this planned permanent supportive housing. Permanent supportive 

1 2021 Housing Trust Fund Request for Proposals Funding Reservations

Page 2 of 9

Page 310

https://records.cityofberkeley.info/PublicAccess/api/Document/AWz0b4VxwRWNjosjv4QHb6V%C3%81%C3%89QexoEdq3tw9oNJCW%C3%89coZW%C3%89xLbsKkf51vu%C3%89AyZvyMNbEBNklQFnd2jZGaDaKSQo%3D/


Internal
Authorizing Amicus Brief in Support of the UC Regents ACTION CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 3

housing has been proven to end homelessness by combining wraparound services with 
stable, permanent housing for unhoused people.2

In addition to committing funding to the permanent supportive housing project that will be 
built on-site, the City is working in partnership with the University to provide temporary 
housing at the former Rodeway Inn for unhoused residents who previously resided at 
People’s Park. 

The City has committed millions of dollars to providing housing to the unhoused residents 
who previously resided at People’s Park — both by committing to fund the permanent 
supportive housing development the University is planning on-site and by partnering with 
the University to make the Rodeway Inn available as temporary housing and, now, 
potentially as permanent supportive housing.

In addition to the impact this decision has on the People’s Park project, this new 
interpretation of CEQA concluding that the noise impacts of the residents of a housing 
project must be studied and mitigated has the potential to delay or derail the construction 
of student housing off-campus in the city’s jurisdiction. The City is currently developing 
new zoning in the Southside area immediately adjacent to the UC Berkeley campus. This 
decision could enable parties who oppose student housing, affordable housing or any 
kind of residential or commercial development to delay projects arguing that noisy 
occupants are an environmental impact. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
This resolution has no direct financial implications. However, further delay of the 
University’s development project at People’s Park may cause the City to incur costs to 
continue temporarily housing unhoused residents, in addition to additional staff time.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
None.

CONTACT PERSON
Mayor Jesse Arreguín 510-981-7100
Councilmember Rigel Robinson 510-981-7170

Attachments: 
1: Resolution
2: April 20, 2023 Amicus Curiae Letter in Support of Petition for Review in Make UC a 
Good Neighbor et al. v. The Regents of the University of California (Resources for 
Community Development)

2 Permanent Supportive Housing - National Alliance to End Homelessness

Page 3 of 9

Page 311

https://endhomelessness.org/ending-homelessness/solutions/permanent-supportive-housing/


Internal

RESOLUTION NO. ##,###-N.S.

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY ATTORNEY TO FILE AN AMICUS BRIEF IN 
SUPPORT OF THE UC REGENTS PETITION FOR REVIEW IN MAKE UC A GOOD 

NEIGHBOR V. THE REGENTS OF UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

WHEREAS, students are an essential part of the community of the City of Berkeley; and

WHEREAS, the City of Berkeley has committed $14.5 million to the construction of 
permanent supportive housing units to provide essential permanent housing to unhoused 
community members in the University’s planned housing development at People’s Park; 
and

WHEREAS, The University of California has demonstrated through a thorough 
environmental impact report its commitment to identifying and mitigating any impacts 
caused by the housing development at People’s Park; and

WHEREAS, the February 23, 2023 decision by the Court of Appeals of the State of 
California states that the Regents of University of California ought to have considered 
alternative sites in their CEQA analysis; and

WHEREAS, the February 23, 2023 decision also interprets student noise to be an 
admissible negative impact under the California Environmental Quality Act; and

WHEREAS, on March 21, 2023, the Berkeley City Council authorized the City Attorney 
to file a letter in support of the UC Regents’ petition for review in the California Supreme 
Court. The city’s amicus letter was filed on April 20, 2023; and

WHEREAS, the California State Supreme Court granted review of the case in April and it 
is pending hearing in the court; and

WHEREAS, the court concluded that the noise impacts of the residents of a housing 
project must be studied and mitigated has the potential to delay or derail the construction 
of student housing off-campus in the city’s jurisdiction; and 

WHEREAS, the City is currently developing new zoning in the Southside area 
immediately adjacent to the UC Berkeley campus; and

WHEREAS, this decision could enable parties who oppose certain student housing, 
affordable housing or residential or commercial developments to delay projects arguing 
that noisy occupants are an environmental impact; and 

Page 4 of 9

Page 312



Internal
[Title of Report] ACTION CALENDAR

September 19, 2023

Page 5

WHEREAS, on August 28, 2023, the California Legislature gave final passage to 
Assembly Bill 1307 (Wicks) which amends the Public Resources Code to clarify that the 
noise generated by occupants or guests of a residential housing project is not an impact 
under CEQA. The bill also clarifies that if a university has studied a residential project in 
an EIR for a long-range development plan, analysis of additional project locations is not 
needed; and

WHEREAS, the bill is currently on Governor Newsom’s desk for signature. If adopted, it 
would take effect immediately; and

WHEREAS, Given the adoption of AB 1307, the Supreme Court must apply the new law 
to this case, if the bill is signed by the Governor. The Court must also find that the project 
EIR is legally adequate; and

WHEREAS, the City’s contention is that the project EIR is legally adequate and is the 
result of several years of public input including written comments by the City and verbal 
comments by the City Council; and

WHEREAS, given the critical shortage of student housing and affordable housing, it is in 
the City’s interest to intervene in this case in support of the UC Regents in order to ensure 
that the People’s Park housing project can proceed to construction. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the 
City Attorney is hereby authorized to submit an amicus brief in support of the UC Regents 
in the Supreme Court of the State of California in Make UC a Good Neighbor v. The 
Regents of University of California.

Page 5 of 9

Page 313



   

 
2180 Milvia St., 4th Flr., Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.6998    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981.6960 

E-mail: FBrown@cityofberkeley.info 

 
 

Office of the City Attorney 
 
 
April 20, 2023 
 
 
Chief Justice Patricia Guerrero and 
Associate Justices 
Supreme Court of California 
350 McAllister Street 
San Francisco, CA 94102-4783 

 

Re: Supreme Court Case No. S279242: Amicus Curiae Letter in Support 
of Petition for Review in Make UC a Good Neighbor et al. v. The 

Regents of the University of California (Resources for Community 

Development)  
 
Dear Honorable Chief Justice Patricia Guerrero and Associate Justices: 

Pursuant to Rule 8.500(g) of the California Rules of Court, the City of Berkeley 
respectfully requests that the Supreme Court grant the Petition for Review of filed in 
Make UC a Good Neighbor et al. v. The Regents of the University of California 

(Resources for Community Development), Supreme Court Case No. S279142.  

The Petition seeks review of the published opinion of the Court of Appeal, First 
District, Division Five, which held that Petitioner The Regents of the University of 
California (“the Regents”) violated the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) 
by not analyzing the potential noise impacts of constructing urgently needed student 
housing at the University of California, Berkeley (“UC Berkeley”). As the Petition states, 
this holding could set new and dangerous precedent that public agencies must analyze 
and mitigate not just environmental impacts of projects, but also perceived social impacts 
that may be caused by their intended occupants as well. This added layer of analysis, 
coupled with the potential for stereotypes and biases to affect it, finds no basis in 
CEQA—the State’s principal environmental protection law—and could significantly 
disrupt and delay much-needed housing development across the state. For this reason, the 
City of Berkeley urges the Court to grant the Petition for Review. 

I. Statement of Interest of Amicus Curiae 

The City of Berkeley is a charter city duly organized and existing under 
Government Code sections 34000, et seq. It is also the home of UC Berkeley. As such, 

Supreme Court of California
Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically RECEIVED on 4/20/2023 1:39:08 PM

Supreme Court of California
Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically RECEIVED on 4/20/2023 1:39:08 PM

Page 6 of 9

Page 314

mailto:FBrown@cityofberkeley.info


   
Chief Justice Patricia Guerrero  
and Associate Justices 
April 20, 2023 
Page 2 
 

 

the City is keenly aware of the need for additional, on-campus student housing. The lack 
of such student housing at UC Berkeley has had ripple effects throughout the community 
for years. Not only does it lead to significant disadvantages for UC Berkeley students—
ranging from unaffordable housing to overcrowded living conditions off-campus to 
student homelessness—but it also places significant strain on the City’s housing market 
for other residents, increasing housing prices and displacing long-time members of the 
community. According to the Terner Center for Housing Innovation at UC Berkeley, 
“Racial disparities in the region’s migration patterns are pronounced: Hispanics and 
Blacks make up a disproportionately large share of low-income out-movers, and are more 
likely than others to move to the more affordable parts of California.” available at: 
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/Disparity_in_Departure.pdf). 
The impacts of this housing strain are felt most acutely by the City’s historically 
disadvantaged, minority communities.  

The City is also aware of the desperate need for supportive housing for the 
region’s unhoused residents. According to recent counts, there are nearly 1,000 people 
living without shelter in the City of Berkeley. City of Berkeley Homeless Count and 
Survey Comprehensive Report 2019 at 13 (available at https://everyonehome.org/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/2019HIRDReport_Berkeley_2019-Final.pdf). When asked, 
approximately 42% of these unhoused residents indicated that they suffered from 
“psychiatric or emotional conditions,” while over 30% indicated they had drug or alcohol 
abuse issues and/or PTSD. Id. at 34. To address these issues, the City has prioritized 
“[c]reat[ion of] affordable housing and housing support services for our most vulnerable 
community members” in its long-term planning. (See City of Berkeley Strategic Plan, 
summarized at https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/our-work/strategic-plan.)  

Given this backdrop, the City strongly supported the Regents’ plan to build more 
than 1,000 units of student housing and more than 100 units of permanent supportive 
housing for unhoused residents on the UC Berkeley campus. The City worked with the 
Regents to ensure that this development would serve the interests of students and the 
community, especially its unhoused members.  

In fact, the City committed $14.5 million to the construction of the supportive 
housing project. Permanent supportive housing has been proven to end homelessness by 
combining wraparound services with stable, permanent housing for unhoused people. The 
City is also working in partnership with the Regents to provide temporary housing for 
unhoused residents who previously resided on the project site, which is known as 
People’s Park.  

Because of the City’s geographic, historic, and financial connection to the project 
at issue in this case, it submits this letter in support of granting review. 

Page 7 of 9

Page 315

https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/Disparity_in_Departure.pdf
https://everyonehome.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/2019HIRDReport_Berkeley_2019-Final.pdf
https://everyonehome.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/2019HIRDReport_Berkeley_2019-Final.pdf


   
Chief Justice Patricia Guerrero  
and Associate Justices 
April 20, 2023 
Page 3 
 

 

II. Review by this Court is necessary to ensure that CEQA analysis remains 

focused on environmental impacts, not social impacts perceived to be associated 

with particular groups of people. 

The Supreme Court may grant review of an appellate decision to secure uniformity 
of the law and to settle important legal questions. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.500, 
subd. (b)(1).) Here, the legal question at issue is whether the CEQA (Public Resources 
Code sections 21100 et seq.) requires public agencies to consider, analyze and mitigate 
potential project impacts caused by perceived social traits of the people who will 
ultimately inhabit the project. The court of appeal answered this question in the 
affirmative, opening the door to an entirely new realm of analysis—and entirely new 
bases for legal challenge under CEQA. 

As the Petition notes, requiring this new analysis could dramatically impact the 
process for approving not only the project at issue in this case, but all projects designed to 
house groups of people that have historically been excluded from our communities due to 
racism, classism, and other prejudice. It does not require much imagination to envision 
the comment letters the City and others will face when processing future affordable 
housing projects, group homes, senior facilities, daycare centers, rehabilitation facilities, 
etc., if this ruling is allowed to stand. Not only could these comments slow down the 
development process substantially, but they may also require special “mitigation” for 
such impacts, making these much needed projects ever more expensive to develop. 

CEQA does not require this result. The purpose of CEQA is to require public 
agencies to consider, minimize, and mitigate the environmental impacts of their actions. 
(See, e.g., Pub. Resources Code, §§ 21100 [EIRs are required for projects that “may have 
a significant effect on the environment”], 21151.) Economic and social changes, on the 
other hand, are not required to be addressed under this statute. (See, e.g., CEQA 
Guidelines §§ 15064, subdivision (e) [“[e]conomic and social changes resulting from a 
project shall not be treated as significant effects on the environment”], 15382 [“[a]n 
economic or social change by itself shall not be considered a significant effect on the 
environment”]; Preserve Poway v. City of Poway (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 560, 577 
[CEQA does not require analysis of a project’s impacts on “community character”].) 

The court of appeal’s decision to expand CEQA’s focus in this case and require 
analysis of impacts associated with student parties is especially misguided here, given 
that the purpose of the project is to alleviate overcrowding in student housing and reduce 
the need for students to live off-campus in Berkeley’s residential neighborhoods, where 
many of the noise complaints cited by the Court of Appeal occur. (See, e.g., Make UC a 

Good Neighbor v. Regents of the University of California (2023) 88 Cal.App.5th 656, 
686 [“noise from student parties is a problem in Berkeley’s residential neighborhoods 
near the campus”]; id. [“In 2007, the City of Berkeley found that parties in residential 

Page 8 of 9

Page 316



   
Chief Justice Patricia Guerrero  
and Associate Justices 
April 20, 2023 
Page 4 
 

 

areas “frequently become loud and unruly,” cause “excessive noise,” and constitute a 
public nuisance].) The City is directly involved with the issues of off-campus “mini-
dorms,” which include large, single family homes in residential neighborhoods rented to 
numerous students with no oversight from the University, and adopted an ordinance 
regulating them due to their potential neighborhood impacts. (See generally Berkeley 
Municipal Code Chapter 13.42)  

But the project at issue in this case is designed to address the reason why these 
problematic “mini-dorms” have sprung up in residential neighborhoods in the first place: 
the lack of sufficient on-campus student housing. (See Berkeley Municipal Code 
§ 13.42.010(A).) The student housing proposed for People’s Park would be supervised, 
unlike these “mini-dorms,” with on-site Resident Assistants, Resident Directors, and a 
Residential Code of Conduct and a formal Residential Conduct Process. Thus, in addition 
to being inconsistent with the purpose of CEQA, the court of appeal’s decision also 
appears to mistake the remedy for the cause of the neighborhood impacts alleged in the 
case. 

For all of these reasons, the City supports the Regents’ Petition for Review. Thank 
you for your consideration of our views. 

 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
Farimah Faiz Brown 
City Attorney 
 

 

 

Page 9 of 9

Page 317



Page 318



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Rashi Kesarwani
Councilmember, District 1
                                                                                                                               

ACTION CALENDAR
                                                                                                      September 19, 2023

TO: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

FROM: Councilmember Kesarwani (Author), Councilmember Taplin (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Robinson (Co-Sponsor), Councilmember 
Wengraf (Co-Sponsor)

SUBJECT: Referral to Rezone Gilman Street to Maximize Revenue Productivity 
Per Acre  

RECOMMENDATION 
Refer to the City Manager and Planning Commission to rezone Gilman Street—a 
major thoroughfare for entering and exiting the City—from San Pablo Avenue to 
Interstate 80 to maximize revenue-generating and job-creating uses. Specifically, the 
rezoning of Gilman Street should consider the following:

● Potential for applying the Manufacturing, Research and Development (M-RD) 
zoning district currently planned for the Pacific Steel Casting site to a portion 
of Gilman Street. The M-RD zoning district seeks to better align with 
development interest by: allowing research and development, office, 
laboratory, and light manufacturing uses currently not permitted by the 
existing Manufacturing (M) zoning; and removing protections for existing 
manufacturing uses and constraints associated with certain development 
standards; and/or

● Consider a new zoning designation for a portion of Gilman Street west of San 
Pablo Avenue to I-80 that maximizes revenue productivity per acre via 
permitted uses and associated development standards; and 

● Extend West Berkeley Commercial District (C-W) zoning on Gilman Street 
from Ninth Street further west for a certain number of blocks and enhance the 
flexibility of C-W development standards to increase the likelihood of 
redevelopment—in coordination with “Keep Innovation in Berkeley” Council 
referral (passed on Sept. 13, 2022) that seeks to allow research and 
development uses in C zones.1 

1 Robinson, Rigel, Item #30 Referral: Keep Innovation in Berkeley, 
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-09-

Page 1 of 6

Page 319

NSalwan
Typewritten Text
19



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Refer $250,000 to the FY 2024-25 budget process for consulting services to assist 
with the planning process and associated environmental review and economic 
analyses.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Current Gilman Street Zoning Not Aligned to Development Interest. Gilman 
Street is a major thoroughfare connecting North Berkeley to I-80. Currently, 
Manufacturing (M) zoning covers four blocks from I-80 to the west side of Fifth 
Street. Mixed Use Light Industrial (MU-LI) spans four blocks from the east side of 
Fifth Street to the west side of Ninth Street. West Berkeley Commercial District (C-
W) applies to two blocks from the east side of Ninth Street to the east side of San 
Pablo Avenue. The current M zoning encourages heavy manufacturing uses that are 
misaligned with growing innovation sectors in need of biotechnology laboratories, 
warehouse and commercial uses, and office space.2 The new Manufacturing, 
Research and Development (M-RD) zoning for the Pacific Steel Casting site is 
proposed to align to growing economic sectors and expand the City’s tax base, with 
the following key features: 

● Support a mix of uses, such as light manufacturing and research and 
development (R&D), particularly those which retain a diversity of employment 
opportunities in West Berkeley and can provide high-quality employment for 
people at all educational levels and add significantly to the tax base; 

● Allow office and laboratory uses that support light industrial and R&D uses, 
and provide for high employment density; 

● Provide opportunities for an urban campus-like environment with high-quality 
design and site planning that includes amenities for employees and visitors; 
and

● Support the development of industrial uses which satisfy performance 
standards that protect the environment.3 

City’s Office of Economic Development 2023 Report Cites Unmet Demand to 
Locate in West Berkeley Among Innovation Sector Industries. A City of Berkeley 
Office of Economic Development (OED) report from February 2023 notes that 
innovation companies spin out of University of California, Berkeley and the Lawrence 
Berkeley National Lab, fueled by campus-based accelerators like Berkeley SkyDeck, 
Bakar Labs, and CITRIS Foundry or the Berkeley Lab’s science-based entrepreneur 

13%20Item%2030%20Referral%20Keep%20Innovation%20in%20Berkeley.pdf, Sept. 13, 2022 
Regular City Council Meeting
2 Planning Commission Agenda Packet, Item #12 Pacific Steel Casting Zoning and General Plan 
Amendments and EIR Update, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-
agendas/2023-03-01%20PC%20Agenda_packet-edit_0.pdf, March 1, 2023, p. 63
3 Planning Commission Agenda Packet, Item #12 Pacific Steel Casting Zoning and General Plan 
Amendments and EIR Scoping Session, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-
meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf, Feb. 1, 2023, p. 90

Page 2 of 6

Page 320

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-03-01%20PC%20Agenda_packet-edit_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-03-01%20PC%20Agenda_packet-edit_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf


2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

mentorship program, Activate – Berkeley (also known as Cyclotron Road).4 
Innovation sector industries—including software, life sciences, clean technology, 
food tech, and other science, technology, engineering and math (STEM) industries—
that have grown out of Berkeley institutions often seek to locate their enterprises in 
the City of Berkeley, but face land-use restrictions that are hard to navigate, 
according to the OED report.5 Berkeley’s location in the inner Bay Area and its 
position as an engine of major innovation and entrepreneurship means that it is well 
positioned to attract a greater share of R&D and advanced manufacturing uses to 
West Berkeley under the right set of allowable land uses and development 
standards.  

Significant Economic Benefits Are Associated with West Berkeley Zoning that 
Can Attract A Greater Share of Innovation Sector Industries. Research and 
development (“R&D”) refers to a land-use defined in the City’s zoning code, but also 
to “an industry and set of activities that companies undertake to create innovative, 
commercially-viable products and services,” according to the OED report. Berkeley’s 
R&D industry includes the following sectors: software, life sciences (biotechnology 
and health care), hardware, clean tech, and food and beverage. These sectors are 
growing, with life sciences a leading source of U.S. employment growth, according to 
the OED report. Average annual salaries for R&D-intensive industries are 2.2 times 
higher than the $62,000 average annual salary for traditional manufacturing 
industries in the Bay Area.6 We note additional economic benefits associated with 
this sector: 

● Jobs for People of All Education Levels. R&D-intensive industries employ  
many types of technicians with associate’s or community college degrees. 
Nearly half of all life sciences employees in Alameda County do not have a 
bachelor’s degree.7 Further, this sector can offer educational opportunities 
and career pathways for Berkeley Unified School District and Berkeley City 
College students.  

● Economic Multiplier Effect. In Alameda County, every one direct job in the life 
science industry creates 3.18 jobs overall.8 Life sciences campuses, such as 

4 Office of Economic Development, The Innovation Ecosystem in West Berkeley: An Economic 
Snapshot, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-
01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf, Feb. 1, 2023, p. 140
5 Office of Economic Development, The Innovation Ecosystem in West Berkeley: An Economic 
Snapshot, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-
01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf, Feb. 1, 2023, p. 141
6 Office of Economic Development, The Innovation Ecosystem in West Berkeley: An Economic 
Snapshot, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-
01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf, Feb. 1, 2023, p. 137
7 Office of Economic Development, The Innovation Ecosystem in West Berkeley: An Economic 
Snapshot, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-
01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf, Feb. 1, 2023, p. 138
8 Office of Economic Development, The Innovation Ecosystem in West Berkeley: An Economic 
Snapshot, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-
01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf, Feb. 1, 2023, p. 137

Page 3 of 6

Page 321

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf


2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

the one expected at the Pacific Steel Casting site, typically rely on unionized 
construction labor and will create hundreds of temporary construction jobs.  

● Enhancing Jobs-Housing Balance Within Berkeley. Rezoning Gilman Street 
has the potential to create job opportunities for Berkeley residents who 
currently commute elsewhere for these same jobs, thereby improving 
Berkeley’s job-housing balance and reducing negative impacts associated 
with lengthy commutes. 

● Neighborhood Vitality and Expanded Tax Base. Underutilized or vacant 
parcels in West Berkeley can become magnets for unwelcome activities, 
including crime, graffiti, illegal dumping and problematic street behavior that 
negatively impacts nearby businesses and drains City staff resources. 
Rezoning Gilman Street helps to ensure that parcels turn over quickly for 
productive uses that generate revenue, create jobs, and grow the City’s tax 
base.  

Pacific Steel Casting Case Study Shows Zoning Modifications Can Be Used to 
Attract Investment and Promote Economic Development in West Berkeley. The 
M-RD zoning district planned for the Pacific Steel Casting site seeks to revitalize this 
vacant blighted ten-acre property. In April 2021, the City Council unanimously 
passed a referral to rezone the Pacific Steel Casting property, citing numerous 
issues of public concern, including neighborhood blight, environmental 
contamination, and hundreds of former Pacific Steel Casting employees owed their 
pension benefits from the bankrupt former employer.9 This referral initiated the City’s 
development of the planned M-RD zoning district. In August 2023, Berkeleyside 
reported that the ten-acre parcel had been acquired by a development team with the 
goal of transforming the property into a life sciences campus, demonstrating the 
importance of zoning modifications to attract investment and promote economic 
development.10 The project is estimated to create more than 2,700 permanent life 
science related jobs on site, with an additional 405 jobs for supporting and service 
employment.11 The acquisition and redevelopment will also remediate environmental 
contamination and fund pensions owed to workers. 

BACKGROUND

9 Kesarwani, Rashi, Item #35 Referral to the Planning Commission to Establish a Zoning Overlay at 
the Pacific Steel Casting Property, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-04-
20%20Item%2035%20Referral%20to%20the%20Planning%20Commission.pdf, April 20, 2021 
Regular City Council Meeting 
10 Savidge, Nico, Pacific Steel site sold in step toward major new life sciences campus, 
https://www.berkeleyside.org/2023/08/02/pacific-steel-site-sold-in-step-toward-major-new-life-
sciences-campus, Berkeleyside, Aug. 2, 2023 
11  Office of Economic Development, The Innovation Ecosystem in West Berkeley: An Economic 
Snapshot, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-
01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf, Feb. 1, 2023, p. 146

Page 4 of 6

Page 322

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-04-20%20Item%2035%20Referral%20to%20the%20Planning%20Commission.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-04-20%20Item%2035%20Referral%20to%20the%20Planning%20Commission.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/legislative-body-meeting-agendas/2023-02-01%20PC%20Agenda%20Packet_0.pdf


2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

West Berkeley Plan Approved 30 Years Ago With Few Revisions to Date. The 
West Berkeley Plan was adopted by the Berkeley City Council in 1993. The plan, 
which created a new set of land uses and zoning districts for West Berkeley, was the 
first set of revisions since the Special Industrial Zone was created in 1956.12 The 
West Berkeley Plan, like the City’s General Plan and other neighborhood-specific 
area plans, states the community’s priorities and values and helps guide 
development within the area. Its six established elements—land use, economic 
development, environmental quality, transportation, physical form (urban design), 
housing and social services—provide a framework for policies and development 
within the area, with the ultimate goal of improving the quality of urban life for West 
Berkeley residents. The Plan Concept and Vision portion notes that the area plan 
and policies were developed to extend through 2005.13 While amendments to the 
West Berkeley Plan were adopted in 2011, no significant revisions have since been 
adopted.14 

FISCAL IMPACT
Staff time to implement the referral, and $250,000 for consulting services to assist 
with the planning process and associated environmental review and economic 
analyses.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT
Underutilized or vacant parcels in West Berkeley can become magnets for crime, 
graffiti, illegal dumping, and problematic street behavior that negatively impacts 
nearby businesses. Rezoning Gilman Street can help to ensure that parcels turn over 
quickly for productive uses that remediate any existing environmental hazards, 
generate revenue, and create jobs.  
 

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Rashi Kesarwani, District 1                                 (510) 981-7110

12 West Berkeley Plan,  https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-
03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-
%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Pla
n%3B.pdf, Dec. 14, 1993, p. 169
13 West Berkeley Plan,  https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-
03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-
%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Pla
n%3B.pdf, Dec. 14, 1993, p. 164
14 Proposed Amendments to the West Berkeley Plan, https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-
03/3_22_2011%3B%20CLK%20-
%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2065210%3B%20%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Proj
ect_%20Amending%20the%20West%20Berkeley%20Plan%20and%2C%20by%20Reference%2C%2
0the%20General%20Plan.pdf, March 22, 2011  

Page 5 of 6

Page 323

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/12_14_1993%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2057301%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Area%20Plan%3B.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/3_22_2011%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2065210%3B%20%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Project_%20Amending%20the%20West%20Berkeley%20Plan%20and%2C%20by%20Reference%2C%20the%20General%20Plan.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/3_22_2011%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2065210%3B%20%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Project_%20Amending%20the%20West%20Berkeley%20Plan%20and%2C%20by%20Reference%2C%20the%20General%20Plan.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/3_22_2011%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2065210%3B%20%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Project_%20Amending%20the%20West%20Berkeley%20Plan%20and%2C%20by%20Reference%2C%20the%20General%20Plan.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/3_22_2011%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2065210%3B%20%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Project_%20Amending%20the%20West%20Berkeley%20Plan%20and%2C%20by%20Reference%2C%20the%20General%20Plan.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/3_22_2011%3B%20CLK%20-%20Resolution%3B%20City%20Council%3B%2065210%3B%20%3B%20West%20Berkeley%20Project_%20Amending%20the%20West%20Berkeley%20Plan%20and%2C%20by%20Reference%2C%20the%20General%20Plan.pdf


2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7110  ● Fax: (510) 981-7111
E-Mail: rkesarwani@cityofberkeley.info

Page 6 of 6

Page 324



  

Office of the City Manager

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

INFORMATION CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Farimah Brown, City Attorney

Subject: Settlement with California River Watch of Notice of Intent to File Suit

INTRODUCTION
Under Berkeley Municipal Code section 2.06.120G, all settlements that are not 
announced at the conclusion of a closed session are provided to the Council and the 
public via an information report.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Pursuant to the Council’s authorization on July 24, 2023, the City has entered into the 
attached Settlement Agreement and Release.

BACKGROUND
The Berkeley Transfer Station collects and discharges stormwater, and therefore it is an 
industrial facility subject to certain permit requirements overseen by the State Water 
Resources Control Board under the federal Clean Water Act. As required by these 
authorities, the City has developed a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 
that includes (1) Best Management Practices (BMPs) to (a) minimize exposure of 
stormwater to the Transfer Station’s industrial activities, (b) control and contain 
stormwater to reduce discharges, and (c) provide basic treatment on site; and (2) 
procedures for discharge monitoring, sampling, and reporting.

On or about October 24, 2022, the City received a letter sent on behalf of California 
River Watch, alleging various violations of the City’s requirements to address 
stormwater discharges from the Berkeley Transfer Station. The letter is styled as a 
“Notice of Violations and Intent to File Suit Under the Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act (Clean Water Act)” (Notice), indicating River Watch’s intention to file suit in federal 
court based on its perception of violations of the Clean Water Act.

City staff and environmental consultants evaluated the Notice’s allegations and 
engaged with River Watch to identify specific BMPs and other SWPPP updates to 
address the alleged violations. On July 24, 2023, the Council agreed that these SWPPP 
updates and payment to River Watch of its claimed attorneys’ fees, in exchange for a 
release from River Watch, represented a positive and responsible resolution of the 

Page 1 of 10

Page 325

mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
NSalwan
Typewritten Text
20



Settlement with California River Watch of Notice of Intent to File Suit INFORMATION CALENDAR
September 19, 2023

Page 2

issues raised by the Notice. The attached Settlement Agreement and Release reflects 
the terms reached by the parties consistent with the Council’s approval.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
The operational changes being implemented at the Berkeley Transfer Station can 
reasonably be expected to reduce the amount and increase the quality of any 
stormwater discharged from the facility, thereby reducing the City’s impact to local water 
resources.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
None considered.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
Not applicable (no possible future actions considered).

CONTACT PERSON
Farimah Brown, City Attorney, 510-981-6950

Attachments: 
1: Settlement Agreement and Release

Page 2 of 10

Page 326



Page 3 of 10

Page 327



Page 4 of 10

Page 328



Page 5 of 10

Page 329



Page 6 of 10

Page 330



Page 7 of 10

Page 331



Page 8 of 10

Page 332



Page 9 of 10

Page 333



Page 10 of 10

Page 334



   

 

 
 

Communications 
 
 
 
 
 

All communications submitted to the City Council are 
public record.  Communications are not published directly 
to the City’s website.  Copies of individual communications 
are available for viewing at the City Clerk Department and 
through Records Online. 
 
City Clerk Department 
2180 Milvia Street 
Berkeley, CA 94704 
(510) 981-6900 
 
Records Online 
https://records.cityofberkeley.info/ 
 
To search for communications associated with a particular City Council 
meeting using Records Online: 



   

 

1. Select Search Type = “Public – Communication Query (Keywords)” 
2. From Date: Enter the date of the Council meeting 
3. To Date: Enter the date of the Council meeting (this may match the 

From Date field) 
4. Click the “Search” button 
5. Communication packets matching the entered criteria will be 

returned 
6. Click the desired file in the Results column to view the document as 

a PDF 
 


	2023-09-19 Agenda - Council
	2023-09-19 Item 01 Contract Amendment for Extending
	2023-09-19 Item 02 Execute contract with Housing
	2023-09-19 Item 03 Formal Bid Solicitations
	2023-09-19 Item 04 2024 Tax Rate Transportation Network
	2023-09-19 Item 05 Contract Options Recovery Services
	2023-09-19 Item 06 Authorizing a Lease of 830 University
	2023-09-19 Item 07 Revenue Grant California Office
	2023-09-19 Item 08 Revenue Grant Cannabis Tax
	2023-09-19 Item 09 License Agreement – RM Ventures
	2023-09-19 Item 10 Contract No. 32200073 Amendment
	2023-09-19 Item 11  Agreement with Goldsmiths
	2023-09-19 Item 12 Amendment to the Agreement
	2023-09-19 Item 13 Contract No. 9977C Amendment
	2023-09-19 Item 14 Contract No. 32000078
	2023-09-19 Item 15 Contract  Turnstone Data Inc
	2023-09-19 Item 16 Budget Referral  Berkeley Food Network
	2023-09-19 Item 17 Amendments to Title 23
	2023-09-19 Item 18 Authorizing the City Attorney
	2023-09-19 Item 19 Referral to Rezone Gilman Street
	2023-09-19 Item 20 Settlement of California River
	2023-09-19 Communications



